Image removed

Image rermoved

Image removed

Image removed

Image removed

Image removed

Image removed

Image removed

Image removed

grainger plc

Annual Report
and Accounts 2023

b
<
[=)
o
=2
—
<
v

HIIEA

30/03/2024 #350

COMPANIES HOUSE

Image removed



Strategic report

Grainger remams ina very
strong pasiuon

Qur year in roview a2
Chair's staterment 04
Chief Executive’s statement s
A year of record delivery as
The shape and strength of our business 22
Cur business model 30
Our markot 32
key performance indicators 34
Non-financial/ESG KPls 36 Image removed
Chief Financial Officer's review 37
ESG introduction 43
Qur people 46
Qur assets 50
Our ervironment 52
Task force on Clmate-related Financial sa
Disclosures
Section 172 &1
Risk managemenrt 62 p
Principal risks and Jncertainties 64
Viability staternent 68
Accelerating growth, through record delivery
Governance Avrecord year, delivering 1,707 new tiomeas and 439 more later this
) ) calendar year.

Chah ‘s mtroduction to governance 70
Leadership and purpose 72
Civision of respensibility 30
Cirﬁpositiom, succession and evaluation 82
Respansible business hig
Audit. rskand cortrol. 88
RQemuneration 93
Dircctors report 12

Irmage removed
Financial statements
Independent auditor's report 118
Consalidated income statement 126
Consolidated statement 157
of comprehensive ncorre _;
Corsolidated sta_temt:nt 128
of financial position -
Consclidated statcrment 139 1)05
of changes in cquity ] _
Consolidated statement 130 Chief Executive’s statement
I?Jfoctiz::(t):;sﬁnanmalStatements 131 We remain in @ very si76ng pOSIOn to deliver great performar e and a 6reat
—— sz e v 7 rental oxperience 10 our customers,
Paterwt compajy staterment 169
of financial posit.on
Parent com_pany statermont 169
of changes in equity
Notes to the parent compariy 170
financial slatements o
CPRA performance measures 175 e -
{unauditod) Image rermaovec Image removedd
Other information
Alternative performance measures 180 04 37
Sherenoiders wiormaton et | P P
Glossary of terms 182
Ay sers 133 Chair’s statement Chief Financial Officer’s review

Ancther year of
cxecellent performance.

GRAINGER PLC AN L4 -FTST AN 4aC7 7L 5 202




TTTTTTTTTTTTTTT

A good home is the
foundation for a good life.

At Grainger we understand
the importance of
providing good quality
homes for our customers and
communities, ultimately



STRATEGIC REPORT

OUR YEAR IN REVIEW
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An outstanding year
of record delivery

Grainger continues to deliver strong performarce
across the business Inthe year, we delivered 1,207

new harmes, with a further 439 to come durirg the
remainder of the ca.endar year, which will increase net
rental inceme by £17m. We launched & new schemes in
key target citics and continued to create communities
for our custormers to put down rogts The outlook for
Grainger remains strong as we cantinue to lead the
sector. Qur medium-term growth 1s assurea with projects
secured, planning permission and funding \n place and
debt ard construction costs fixed

Highlights

TOTAL OPERATIGNAL PORTFOLIO SIZE*

Image removed

Our investment case

1. Secured growth

10,208

TOTAL PORTFOLIO VALUE*

£3.3bn

NEW HOMES LAUNCHED

1,201

SCHEMES DELIVERED

5. Strong demand-side characteristics

Post tax EPRA earnings to double from FY22. £35m of net rent
growth from the fully-funded, committed pipeline

2. Strong balance sheet

Finance costs fixed in the mid 3% for the next 5 years

3. Resilient valuations

Strong leasing and rental growth offsetting yield expansion
and supporting valuations

4. Strong inflation link

Strong rental growth of 7.7% closely aligned to wage inflation

Defensive and resilient demand at our mid-market price point

6. Healthy customer affordability

On average our customers pay ¢.28% of income onrent with
strong correlation between rent and wage growth

7. Politically supportive landscape

Rent controls ruled out by Canservatives and tabour

8. Vast market opportunity

Opportunity to increase market share as PRS undersupply
worsening as small landlords exit

GRAINGER PLC L2 _ Bo=T<1 ANL LT770 T2 200
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LIKE-FOR-LIKE RENTAL GROWTH {PRS}

+8.0%

LIKE-FOR-LIKE RENTAL GROWTH

(o

NET RENTAL INCOME

+12%

£96.5m,

(FY27 £86.3m)

NET RENTAL INCOME

VEM)

Chart remaved

Chart removed

OCCUPANCY (PRS)

98.6%

CUSTOMER RETENTION

63.2%

GRAINGER PLC ANMN_AL RFBORT AN &¢ ¢

LENGTH QF STAY {PRS}

32 months

RENT PAID ON TIME

8%

TOUNTS 2023

CUSTOMER SATISFACTION (NPS}

+43

PRS PROPERTIES - EPC A-C

1%
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CHAIR'S STATEMENT
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for the future

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to report that Grainger has continued

to perform strongly over the past year, despite the
challenging macro-ecocnomic environment. This is
testament to the Grainger team who have worked
tirelessly in a very busy year and to the robustness of
the company’s operating platform. Given the strength
of the balance sheet, the company’s funding position
and the disciplined approach to capital management,
the business continues to be well positioned to deliver
streng growth going forward.

In 2023 the Company nas delivered even h'gher levels

of occapancy. rental growth, and customer satisfacuon
scores alongside a record vear for new homes delivered.
Despite higher interest rates, Grainger 1s protected from
rising debt costs, having fixed them for the noxt five years.
Residential property valuations have proven highly resitient,
relative to other real estate assct classes, supporiced by the
grow!hin rental returns.

Cur comm:tment te operating responsibly remains strong
across all areas including sustamability wnere we are fully
reparting Scepe 3 carbon emissions fo- the first time
Health and sa‘ety continues to be a priornty across the

bus ness, with a particular focus on build.ng safety where
we have led the sectar Grainger's imvestrment in affordab.e
housing now provices nearly 1,000 afferdablo homes to
low-income households and key workers wherg access to
afforcable homes 1s most challenged

Gramger continuaes to enhance iLs position as a top emoloyer
delvering i7s peopie strategy focused on welloeing, reward
ard recogniticn, diversily anainclusion In a market where
there s increasing competbon for talent, resulis from

our col.eague engaygement sJrvey have contnded to
irprave materialy.

Being an ermp.oyer and a lanclord that welcomes people

of all backgrounds s core to Grainger, reflacting one of our
four values "People at the Heart' The doard is very proud of
the work done to date on diversity anc ‘ncuusion, inciuding
the Company's commutmrent to achieving the ighest
standard for Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. the Nazicnal
Equal'ty Standard.

4

Grainger’s commitmenrt to ‘ts core purpose of ‘Renting Homes,
Enriching Lives s evident inits strong customer satisfdac tion
scores, achieving a Net Promoter Score inits annual survey of
+43 1t 15 the Board's view that the waork being done across the
business to imprave cur customaers’ experfence of renting will
drive value to tne bottom Line by enhancing occupancy lovels
whilst reducing costs. It was great to see Grainger’s progress
haing recognised as tne ‘Build to Rent Operator of the Year' in
the naugural BTR360 awards in Gctober,

We have increased our political outreach activity, in light

of renta: reform proposals and the forthcoming General
Clectior. We have engagad with Government and the main
noposition parties and believe we have good levels of support
for providirg good guality, professionally managed, md
market rental properties which are seen as a key ingredient
to delivering mare hames in the future,

During tne year we saw the retirement of Rob Wilkinsor
as a Non Fxecutive Director who made an outstarding
contribution to tne Board given his wealth of proper Ly
experience. We were very pleased to welcome Michae.
Brodtman to the Beard as the replacement for Rob and he
15 areany fuly éngaged in the business.

In line with our policy wo distribate t1e equivalent of 50% of
ret rental income, the Board is pleased o pronose a final
dividend per share of 4.37p. This will resa.tin a total dvidend
of 6.65p por share, anincrease of 11% from last year

G ven the strenglh of tre developmenrt pipelire, the Board 15
confdent that it will ke able to deliver substantial growth over
the next five years and it wl. continuc to prigritise investment
bayond that in the vary bast new oppor tanities whlst driving
continued assct recycling te help fund its aspirations.

Granger remains in a very strong position to deliver or ts
growth ambitions whilst providing a great exper:ence for
Iits growing numibeor of customers. The Board has assolute
confidence in the Company's continued suecoss

Mark Clare
Chair

21 Movember 2023
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S STATEMENT
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An outstanding
year of

Eecord Deli

Income

LIKE-FOR-LIKE RENTAL GROWTH

7.7%

+302bps
(FY22:4.79%)

NET RENTAL INCOME

£96.5m

+12%
(FY22. £86€ 3m)

ADIUSTED EARNINGS

£97.6m

(FY22 £93.5m)

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£27.4m

-971%
(FY22: £298.6m)

DIVIDEND PER SHARE

6.65p

+11%
(FYZ22:397p)

Capital

EPRA NTA

305pps

-d4%
(FY22 317pp<)

LOAN TO VALUE

36.8%

+340bps
(t Y22 33.4%)

TOTAL PRCPERTY RETURN

0.4%

-713bps
(FY22: 7 5%)

IFRS NET ASSETS

260pps

-2%

(FY22  265pps)

' EPRA NDV

314pps

-6%

- {FY22:337%pps)

GRAINGER PLC ANNUAL REPO2™ AND ACCO UNTS 2023

It is with great pleasure that | can report another year
of strong performance for your Company.

This year marks a year of record delivery of new homes
for Grainger, leading to strong growth in net rentat
income and your dividend. We are delivering 1,640 new
homes, 1,201 of which are completed and a further 439
completing later this calendar year.

We are now delivering our pipeline at pace and are set to
deliver market-leading earnings growth, a culmination of
years of planning and implementation since setting out the
Company strategy in 2016,

Th's year, we have in<reased net rental income by 12%,
exceeding more than £100m of anrual net rental income on
a passing basis, which is more than three times what it was at
the start of the strategy.

Despite the macro-economic turbulence that marked the
beginning of our inancial year, the Grainger business has
performed exceptionally well, with our market-leading
operating platform, robust balance sheet and disciplined
approach to capital atlocation.

We now own and operate more than 10,000 rental homes
nationally and this 1s set to grow significantly over the
coming years.
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT
(CONTINUED)
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Cur market leading operating platform continues to drive
value both for Shareholders and residents, PRS cccupancy
remains at an all-time high of 98.6% Like-for-like rental
growth is also exceptionaly strong at 8.0% for our PRS
portfolio. which now repreosents 77% of our portfolio by value
Like-for iike rontal growth on new lets in our PRS portfolio
was 9.3% for the year while Like for-like rental growth for
rencwals was 7 2%, demorstrating our commuitment to
custormer loyalty

Custarner satisfact':on has continued o rise, and occupancy
and rerention have continued to increase. On average.
aur PRS customers stay with us for 32 months

We arc achieving industry-leading custormer satisfaction
lovels, with our Net Promoter Score now +43. ahead of many
woll-known consumer brand names

We remain very conscous of the affordahility challenges
facing nany renters, and therefore closely rmonitor rents
against wage growth to protect affordability evesir
our venta, communities across the UK On average, our
customers spend 28% of therr ircome on rent, below the
national average.

Desprte the turrrollin the iinarcia. markets and rising interest
rates, which has bad.y afected other real estate markets
throughout tre U< and globally, UK residential has proven
resiient, with Granger's valuations holding up well, only

2 2% down in tne year, urderpinned by exceptional -ental
growth This s reflected in the movements in Profit Before
Tax and EPRA SNTA 1m the year Inthe year pricn P3T was
enranced by the transfor of trading assets in preparation
for REIT conversicr In September 2022, in the wake of
the reini-Budgot. we put in place an outperformanco plan
wihich delverec anincrease 10 adjusted earnings despire
macro-cconomic headwinds We deliverec a s7-ong sales

performance ir a challenging market with £194m of sales
including our accelerated asset recycling programme,
consisting of regulated tenancies, old style PRS assets and
stralegic land.

We have closely managed costs, and while facing energy,
insurance and other rising costs, we mantaned our gperating
costs in line with Last year wilh stabilised gross-te-net held at

25.5%

Cur capital disciphine puts us in a strong position from a
balance sheet perspective, with our cost of debt fixed in the
mid 3% for Lhe next five years, enabling us to deliver on our
committed pipeline and continus our growth trajectory

There's much to lock forward to

In the mext three years, post-tax EPRA earnings will double
compared to last year, as we deliver our pipeline.

Qur enhancements o our cperating platform. our investment
in technology, data science and analysis, and customer
expertence, will continue to support our growth, deliver
eficioncies and improve our res.dents’ expenence of renting

Our market opportunity

The UK private rented sector comprises 5.5 mithon
households | arge-scale, institutional landlords {often referred
to as build-to rent), like Gramge-, make up orly ~ 7% of Lhe
sector. The total adaressable market we have in front of us s
therefore vast and itis growirg, with the demand for renting
expanding while supply is reducing. This year we have seen
many small landlords continue to exit tne market, further
increasing the dernand for our homes,

Al of this s underpmbed by the smygle biggest defining
charactenstic of the UK housing market, which is one of
severe uncersupply of all types and tenures of housing. It is
estimated that the shortfalis 4.3m homes! and growing
as housing supply numbers continue to fall short of
increasing demand

As these rumbers show, thare is a huge opportunity for
Grainger to increase odr markeat share and support the UK
in detivering more, high quality rental homes.

Qur commitment to acting responsibly

As a leading housing provider in the UK we take this
responsibility very seriously from how we treat our customers,
collcagues and sapplicrs through butding safety, “educing
our envirenmental imnact and continging to erhance our
positive soclal impact.

Fram the Board <0 our on-site teamns. everyone plays a part

I am pleased that. for the ficst time, we are now able to

fully report our carbon emissions acoss a.l Scopes 1, 2 and

3 This enables us to build on our ex'sting comnitment to

he net zero carbon m operations by 2030, and we have sot
ourse.ves A mow target ta redace upfront emood o camoon by
40% exciud ng offsettirg for direct developmeant schames in
desigm by 2030

Qur avirg a Greongr Life carrpaign, which sunports aur
reaidents in reaucing their carpon footprint twhich s by far
ore o Grainger's larges: compaorents of our carbon erissions
in Scope 3). was recognisaed by industry peers as markel-
leauing, wher we were awarded the Outstanding Contribution
to Society Award for Environmert by EPRA, tire Zuropean
Public Real Estate Association,

GRAINGER PLC ~ron 2 5=0BT AL S 0070 TS 202
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We are leading the sector in our approach to bullding safety,
going beyond what's been set out in the new Building Safety
Act, continuing to build on our Live Safe programme,

Thraugh an innovative partnership with the White Rose
charity, we have enabled residents to give 18.700kg of
clothing to charity, generating ¢.£100,000 for the charity
and saving 67 tonnes of carbon in the process.

Positively engaging in the political debate on housing
Grainger is cornmitted to improving the experience of
rentars and s taking a proactive approach to engagntg with
all political parties to help inform and shape public policy
affecting housing and renting. This year, more than ever, we
have engaged cn issues impaor fant to us and our residents,
from raising standards in the rental sector to building safety
and energy efficiency standards. We are working hard to make
the case for the importance of encouraging nstitutional
investment into the bulld-to-rent sector and the benefits
that it can bring to regional growth, economic productivity
and regeneration.

wWe were pleased when the Conservative Government

and Labour Party both publicly ruled out rent controls in
England. recognising the damage Lthey would do to sLpply,
and ultimately renters. Equally, we were pleased to see the
proposals for rental reform in Parliament reflect many of the
points we made to Government throughout the consultation
process, and that these reforms align to our responsible
business maodel.

“I am proud that Diversity
& Inclusion is integral
to all our thinking at
Grainger and our now well-
established D&I network
is continuing to flourish
and proving influential
in driving change within
the business.”

Me Sidhu
Diversity & Inclusion network lead Grainger

Find out more about our inclusive
and diverse workplace.

—> SEE PAGE 46
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Putting people at the heart of our business

To maintain our leading position in the sector and to support
cur growth ambiticns, it1s important that we can continue to
attract and retain the best possible talentinto the secteor and
our business Our Pcople Strategy, and the detailed action
planning that sits behind it, ensures Grainger can maintain our
position as a top employer,

Arvimportant aspect of this is our listening culture, which

we support through our internal engagement programme
Colleague feedback is regularly sought and acted upon, with
close attention paid by the Board and Executive Committee,

I am therefore very pleased to report that our employee
engagemnent scores have once agan improved materially, and
recognise Grainger as a ‘Very Good place to work, All areas
of te business have now achieved a ‘Star rating’ in our annual
enmployee engagement survey.

Fqually, we recogmise that Grainger’s future success is
predicated on being welcoming to as many talented
calleagues and residents from as many walks of Ufe as
possible. Two very compelling reasons behind our strong
commitment to promoting Diversity, Equality and Inclusion
{DED) both for colleagues and residents alike.

We continue to support greater diversity of all types acrass
all levels of the busincss, with, for example, our gender pay
gap continuing to reduce, due to the deliberate actions we
arc taking. We now have exceptionally high diversity data
coverage for our colleagues, which will enable the business

Imagye rermoved
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S STATEMENT
(CONTINUED)

to effectively support its colleagues across all aspects

of diversity, A notable step this year, was the Company’s
commitment to achieving the UK's highest standard for DEI,
the Naticnal Equality Standard.

Another strong performance with a confident outlook

The business delivered another strong performance for
the year, and remains in a good position to continue to
successfully deliver on our strategic growth nlars, the
quality of our proauct and our commitment to excellent
customer scrvice.

Qur disciplined investment approach means we nave the
funding in place to deliver cur sizeable pipeline of committed
projects Our reliable cashflow from the unwinding of

our regulated tenancy portfolio and cur successful asset
recycling programme provides us sufficient capazity for
continucd growth

We remain in a very streng position to continue to deliver
great performance and a great rental experience to
Qur customers

I'd like to thank the whole Grainger team and thair
tremendous effort and commitment to delivening on our
collective purposs of ‘Renting homes and Fnriching Lives”

Helen Gordon
CEQ

21 November 2023
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“From the moment we
moved in, we've been
greeted with a warm and
welcoming community.
The management team is
incredibly responsive and
helpful, ensuring our needs

are always met prompily.”

Grainger resident,
Enigrna Sguare

GRAINGER PLC Anc o4 B« 200 207000
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Nautilus Apartments, Canning Town,
East Londan

In a record year, we are delivering
1,201 new homes and 439 more
later this calendar year. Over the
following pages, we feature our
newest developments and show
how, using data and insights to
make key decisions, we continue to
build our consurmer brand, deliver
excellent customer service and create
communities where customers can
put down roots.

A YEAR OF RECORD DELIVERY

(4

record delivery.

Imagoe romoved
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The Mint. Guildtord

pl8

Fnigma Square. Milton Keynes

Image removed
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Narme: Nautitus
Apartments
Location: Canning
Town, East London
Homaes: 146

Image -emoved
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Investi

Graphic removed

FORTUNES

DOCK

Part of Grainger’s East London cluster and
adjacent to Argo Apartments, Nautilus
Apartments forms part of a wider three-
phase build-to-rent development at
Hallsville Quarter in Canning Town called
Fortunes Dock, totalling 412 homes.

Located less than a five-minute walk from

Canning Town underground station, Nautilus
Apartments comprises 146 new homes with
a mix of one and two-bedrocm apartments.

The build-to-rent development features
several social spaces and amenities including
a resident’s lounge, co-working space
including werking booths and pods, and a
dedicated on-site Resident Services team.

ng in our

cluster strategy,

driven

GRAINGER PLC ANKNUAL SFRCRT AND ACCCUNTS 2003
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A YEAR OF RECORD DEUVERY
(CONTINUED)

Building scale

in key cities

OUR MAIN BUILD-TO-RENT CLUSTERS

girmingharm

London

Through our investment and research process,
we identify cities and locations with the greatest
rental demand and greatest growth prospects.

We target these locatiors and allocate our capital
in a discipined manner i1 line with cur discerning
mvestmert criteria.

vhen we «dentify a surtable weation, we look to build scale
through a cluster of schemes within relatively close proximity
This enables us to capitalise on the opporturnity whilst also
ganerating maragement efficiencies and enhancing the
service offer'ng.

Our p'opflﬂa-'y data, and our research, ersure that we
know who will Likely rent from us, and enable us to balarce
customer’s aforaability and mvestment retums.

Customer insight

“hrough the use of CONNECT our techrology platform we
harness a large amount of data and insight, which provides

us with a single source of truth enabling consistent, disciplined
and transparent management of our business

COMNECT not only improves operatioral performance, bus
it enables us to aggregate and utitise cur data to provide a
better rental cxperence for cur customers.

The CONNECT platform does exactly what 1t says, It connects
Grainger to our present and future castomers, it connects
them to ther safe, well managed homes; ana It connects us
as ateam.

12
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out of 23 Larget cities investod
in to data
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10,208

operabonal homes

5,634

mpelne homes
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OUR CAST LONDOM CLUSTER

Irrage removed

Fortunes Dock,
Canning Town

Millet Place,
Pantoen Dock

Abbeville
Apartments,
Barking

amoved
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Collecting data throughout a customer’s journecy with
Grainger enables our teams to analyse and gain insight into
who our customers are, what they like and how they Jse the
building in which they live. For example, through analysing
the control access data of our gyms, we can see that the gym
facilities are used 24/7 1n our buildings by those who work
shifts, reinforcing our decision to keep our gyms available
throughout the day for our residents across the portfolio.

Creating operational efficiencies

By creating clusters in key cities, we can benefit from
cperational efficiencies By sharing Residents Services team
members across s'tes and usng the same suppliers and
mamntenance contractors, for example, we benefit from the
economies of scale ard can share facilities, knowledge and
best practice from our more established schermes within the
area as we grow.

Within our clusters, General Managers oversee the Resident
Services Teams, ersuring all team members within the cluster
are tramed within the local buildings, support and cover can
be guickly arranged, providing seamless and consistent service
to our customers.

Listening to our customers

By using the data and insights we collect tnrough our
research, surveys, and feedback, we know what our customers
want, what is working welt and what we need toimprove
upon This continual feedback loop feeds back into how we
design and run our buildings and how we serve our customers
By continuously reviewing and analysing this feedback we can
improve, adapt, and evolve our market leading proposition

We are also able to target different demographics within

the arca by catering for differant needs price points and
reguirements within our buildings For example, through
rmanitoring the use of cur shared spaces we have seen an
ncrease inremote working and increased usage of co-working
areas. We have therefore increased the space dedicated o
co-working and ensure appropriate furmture and refreshment
facilities are avalable.

“Our new buildings
are built to our
exacting standards,
with the customer
at the heart of our
design: attractive,
modern, very energy
efficient and in
excellent locations.”

Michael Keaveney,
Director of Land and Development

13
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THE

MINT

An exciting addition to Guildford’s
rental market and centrally located
at Guildford train station, The Mint
provides 98 one, two and three
bed homes.

Boasting Grainger’s excellent
service and amenity offering, The
Mint includes a range of inviting
sacial spaces such as a private
dining rcom and roof terrace,
along with a dedicated on-site
Resident Services team, ready to
offer a warm welcome and assist
residents throughout their stay.

The Mint is the ideal place to
call home.

to life in tl

B’. :

Graphic remigveg

1¢ heart

of Guildfo
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Name: The Mint
Location: Guildfcrd
Homes: 98
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A YEAR QOF RECORD DELIVERY Graphic remaoved
(CONTINUED)

A consistent
warm welcome

From the start of a customer’s fourney, we ensure they 111
know they are renting with Grainger and dealing directly The apartment and
with the Grainger team, from the first piece of marketing the sta are all

they see, the first email they receive and the first person

they speak to. This fully integrated approach is unique in exceptlonal. Every

the UK.

Although all cur builldings have therr own name and identity, member QfStQﬁgoeS
Gramnger's name is clearly displayed throughout the build ing b d b d

and on atl our communications from the first markeling email a Ove an eyon

they receive, the welcome card in their nome oa move-in day k h b 'ld *

and the MyGranger App which they will use throughout their tO ma e t e ul lng
stay to log mairtenance, sign up to social events and hear all l l‘k h ”

about what's happening in and around their home ee l e Ome.

Cur Residents Services team have all taken part in service Grainger resident,

style traming 1n the ‘Grainger Way', so every cistomer The Filaments, Manchester

receives consistertly excellent service whether they are in

any of our locations. such as Nowcastle, Lordon or Leeds
From day one oJr customers receive a warm we.come from

the onsite teams who are clearly identifiable by wearing
branded name badges and lanyards They are avalable to help
througnout the day, whether it be arranging maintenance
within a resident’'s homeoe, organising social and commuruty
avents of just being a foendly face to say good mornng.

Grainger’s Service style

Every member of the Grainger team has undertakrn
Granger's bespoke service style traimng mciuding the
Executive Leadership team.

3y conducting this trainmng and reling it out to all colleagues,
the Grainger team have a solid foundation and consistent
approach to service delivery.

Image removed

In-house management

Cne of Gramnger’s key differentiaiors s our in-nouse
management ang integrated businass mouel

By keeping the rmanagement, marketmg, and lettngs of our
buildings in-hguse, we can better ensure the provision of great
homes, great service and, ultimately, & great rental experignce.
Trws o turn halps nramtan hgh levels of satisfact on avd high
levels of occupancy and custormrer retenuicn.

1. RESIDENT WELCOME CARD

2. EXPERIENCED SERVICE TEAM

3. MY GRAINGER APP

15 GRAINGER PLC AMNITAL #E20RT AND A0 TLNTE
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Imago removed

Image removed
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Industry recognition

This year Grainger’s dedication to delivering an excellent
customer experience has been recognised at a number

of industry’s most prestigious awards, includ'ng the RESI
Awards, where we were awarded Landlord of the Year and at
the inaugural BTR360 Awards, where we were awarded BTR
Operator of the Year The judges recogrised our pivatal role
in establishing build-to-rent (BTR) in Lthe UK, noting “You have
revolutionised the BTR sector with innovative ideas, excellent
service and a strong strategic vision”

Understanding our customer through data

Threughout a customer’s journcy with Grainger, we track and
record all interactions which feed inte our CONNECT Insight
Platform and informs cur decision making

By using this data, we can identify those most likely to rent
with us, as well as those who will stay with us for longer,

We also use the data gathered through touch point surveys
throughout a customer's stay. which includes asking for
feedback on repairs and maintenance and the tenancy
renewal process. We conduct an annual customer satisfaction
NPS survey, which gives valuable imsight on what customers
want and what areas we can continue to improve.

All of this data and insight 1s harnessed by the business and
informs cur decisions, from the design of our buildings and
processes, through to our operations and product offering,
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can put down roots.
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Name: Enigma Square
Location: Milton Keynes
Homes: 267

GRAINGER PLC ANNLAL RLPGRI AND ATTOUNTS 2023

ENIGMA

SQUARE

Offering 261 new homes to rent, Enigma
Square comprises studio, one, two and three-
bedroom apartments. Launched in October
2022, we have engaged with residents through
a range of initiatives and events, building a
thriving and active community.

Across our whole portfolio, from quizzes to
summer parties, charitable collections and
online yoga courses, kids crafting to mince pies
at Christmas, there is something for everyone,
whether you want 1o stay in the comfort of
your home or get to know your neighbours.

Graphic removed
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A YEAR OF RECORD DELIVERY
(CONTINUED)

Graphic remcvea

Creating homes and
communities for all

Our aim is to redefine the way that people rent homes.

With the delivery of six new schernes this year we are
creating brand new communities across the country,
building on our rich histary and experience from
eartier schemes,

We are creating brilbant new communities that combin the
floxibybity of renting. with bigh quality homes and a
professional service to our residents. Renfing with Grainge:
pravides a professionally run option for peopie at alt stages of
their tives. from recent graduales, professionat couples and
frienus sharing, to young families and down-sizers.

Our dedicated on-site tearms develop a programme of regular
resident engagement events in all our buildings to encadrage
the creation of a comemunity, whilst also working witn tacal
businesses to support and promote them to residents

Resident events

We deliver a variety of resident events throughout the
year, ensuring there 1s something to st everyone's tastes,
avalability, and caomfort level. Frorm kids' nomewaork clubs
and craft events to cheese and wine nights, dog shows and
surmmer parties at all of our buildings. Residents can get
involved inas much o alittle as they want

£100,000 for charity through our clothes donation
programme for residents

“The staff really make
a difference, creating
a community
with events and a
personal approach.
A new way of living.”

Grainger resident,
Pin Yard, Leeds

1. FAMILY CRAFT EVENTS

2. ONLINE YOGA CLASSES

3. RESIDENT GAMES NIGHTS

4. FRIENDLY ON-SITE TEAMS

Image romavwed

Across 12 of our schemes,
1 we provide residents the
opportunity to recycle pre-

with White Rose chanty
our Tesidonts rocyced

18, 700kg of clotning.
generating over £100,000

projected reveriue for the

of CO em-ssions.

residert evonts over the pas:
year at our schepios

20
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loved clothing in partnership

During the year. collcctively

charity and saving 67 tonnes

420+
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Working with local businesses to promote wellness
and wellbeing

Grainger continues to partner with R1SE Yoga, a commercial
occupler based at one of our communities, Brook Place

in Sheffeld, to offer residents and collzagues a range of
complimentary online Pilates and yoga classes, which can be
accessed fram the comfort of the resident’s home or within
our on-s'te fitness studios.

lmage removed

image removed

Image removed
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The shapeandss

of our business

We are the UK’s leading publicly listed provider of private rental homes.
We own and operate rental homes across the country.

111

Years in operation

10,208

Operational homes

2z

20,000+

Customers

5,634

Pipeline homes

Our newest Build to Rent (BTR) schemes

Image removed

The Mint, Guildford

Irage removed

Nautilus Apartments, London

Image removed

The Tilt Works, Sheffield

Imaye removed

The Condor, Devby

Image removed

Copper Works, Cardiff

Inmzage remaved

Image removed

Weavers Yard, Newbury

The Barnum, Nottingham
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STRATEGIC REPORT

Private rental homes (PRS)

We have gver 8,000 private rental homes across the country, and a
fur thet 5,634 i ow pipeline, Wilhin our por Uolio, we uller a Lruad
mix of well-located homes from apartment buildings to suburban
housing, all leased at mid-market rents. Our new bulldings are built
to high standards and technical specifications and unlike many
landlords, we manage our propertics in-house to ensure the best
customeoer expericnce possible.

8,427 £2.5bn

PRS homes Portfolio valuation
9 8 ° 6 A) 8 ° 0 /O
Occupancy Like-for-like rental growth

Cur Strate__gic transition toc PRS (investmggﬁvatue)

® PR: @ Fegularsc tenancy

The Barnum, Nottingham

Image removed

A N A
2015 2023 Post-pipeline
delivery

Regulated tenancy homes

We own and manage 1,781 regulated tenancy homes across the
UK. These are historic tenancy agreements that were created
before 1989, where the tenant has the right to reside for life.
Rents are set every two years at levels typically below the open
market by independent local rent officers, but the capital uplift on
the eventual sale is significant

When these properties are vacated, we typically sell them,
generating significant cash flow cach year, providing funding
for growth in our FRS portfolio

£760m  -1.9% 7.8%

Portfolio value Average sales price Properties sold
achieved within on vacancy
valuation

Bethnal Green, London

Image removed
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THE SHAPE AND STRENGTH OF CUR BUSINESS
(CONTINUED)

24

Our competitive advantage

Using data and insights to drive decision making

Our places

« Proprietary cities strateqy research

« Locations with strongest fundamentals
« Nationwide coverage

» Established acquisitions process

» Asset clustering strategy

Our customers

» Long-term structural trends
» Growth of our key demographics

+ Healthy affordability levels, higher than
average wage growth and protection
against inflation

» Customer insight pregramme

A clear strategy...

We setl oul aslrategy in 2016 to reshape the business
and focus our investment into PRS assets {build-to rent),
a strategy which remains just as relevant today.

This strategy s underpinned by three pillars (1) Lo grow
rents, (2) simplify the business, and (3) build on our
experience as a leading, responsiole residential landlord for
over 110 years. The business today 1s much sintpler than

it was, but we continue to lock for efficiencies that will
Improve performance

CQur fecus on growing rents, being a responsible tandord
and bostin class remain our top priorities.

Our assets
» High guality, purpose-built
rental assets

» Customer-centric Grainger design
and specification

« Strong ESG credentials

* Experienced in-house
development team

Our service

e Market-leading in-house platform

o CONNECT technology

» Grainger service style & customer
experience programme

« Strong NPS score and high
customer satisfaction

...and integrated
business model

Cur business model covers every element o the rental
process, from seurcing the right site in a good location to
designing and bu'ld ng hemes, to seving the pecple who
live in them Tais model ard sca.gble in-house operating
platfcrm sets us apart from the competitior,

— READ MORE ON PAGES 30 AND 31

¥
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A strong consumer brand

wWe are bullding a brand to engage our residents. A brand
that promoles vur values and commitment to delivering a
great customer experience. This experience supports our

residents to live sustainably, provides communitics and

services that strengthen customer loyalty and celebrates

the efforts of our own people

—> READ MORE ON PAGES 14 TO 2t

Customer retention

63.2% +43

Customer satisfaction
(NPS)

Image rernoved

Image removed

Image removed

Image remaoved

Image removed

bus'ness, from being a best in class
employer, to delivering the best
customer service, providing sustainable
homes that enhance wellbeing and
creating social value for our custormers
and communities, is cmbodded
throughout the business.

Cur commitment to being a responsible

FSG integrated through the business

-5% 424 -40%

Reduction in Resident and Target to reduce

Scope 1-3 carbon community events  embodied carbon on

emissions per m? direct developments
in design by 2030

Image removed

Image removed

Image removed

People

We are committed to baing a great
employer to cur people, a great landlord to
our customers, and to delivering long-term
social value to communities.

—> SEE PAGE 46

Assetsr

Environment

We desigr and create quality hormes with
hugh standards of sustainability that attract
customers and retain them, which helps to
deliver long-term value to our stakeholders

—> SEE PAGE 50

Abgned to our goal of pretecting the
long-term future of our business, we are
committed to reducing our environmental
impact, including our commitment to boing
net zerg carbon in operations by 2030

—> SEE PAGE 52

GRAINGER PLC ANK AL RZPCRT AND AZZCUNTS J052

25
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THE SHAPE AND STRENGTH OF OUR BUSINESS
(CONTINUED)

Our earnings are set to double
Growth locked-in and de-risked

Bullding on our scale, over half of cur pipelinc of 5,632 homes rapresenting £1.6 billion of investmient, is locked
inand de-risked Pe-missions and funding are in place. constructicn and cebt costs are fixed ard they arc under
corstruction This pipeline of committed 1mvestrient will de.iver a doubl'ng of cur pest tax CPRA carnings from
Y22 within approximately three years.

Operational PRS Pipeline
10,208 homes, £3.3bn 5,634 homes, £1.6bn

£760m £2,500m £72Im  £54lm  £316m

Regulated
Tenancies

PRS portfolic Committed Secured Planning/Legals

SOET e ISR TS R ) P PR LE I A [ FERE PN AT

“In lad g vesia oo nesstmant 1A momees ot Mller Place

Strong financials

Net rental income o Debt costs fixed in mid 3% for ¢ 5
growth of 12% years, with no material refinancing
due until 2028
o Dividend per share Resilient valuation with EPRA NTA
up 11% down 4% at 305p supported by

strong ERV growth of 8.1%
o Strong balance sheet

Earnings and dividend growth over the last ten years ® ymresdiat o[RS ® Uoend e
(PENCE)

Chart removed
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Research led investme

Cur investment process begins with compreheansive
researcl by vun in-house resaarch learm using macro and
micro-level data to identify cities and locations with the
greatest rental demand and greatest growth prospects.

At the macro-level, we assess cities on their demaographic,
cconemic and real estate fundamentals, to ensure that
we invest in prosperous, dynamic areas that will deliver
growing customer demand and rental growth across the
real ostate cycle.

Discipliged research-led investment decisions

nt decisions

At the micro-level, we build a full understanding of the
surroundings, using a gecgraphical information systam to
build an accurate picture of local amenities, walkability,
public transport, access to employment centres and green
space - confirming it's an attractive iocation for customers.

We can then target the right locations and allocate our
capitalin a disciplined manner in line with our discerning
investment criteria,

In-house
knowledge
and expertisc

Macro-
cconomic
analvsis

Image rermoved

Proprictary
operational
data and
insight Bottom-

up micro-
cconomic GIS

analysis

{ligh demand  supply fundamentals tigh demand  supply fundamentals
and low growth potential and high growth potential
Larndon —4.
Manchester
) Y Oxford )
Birmmgham Bristal .
. \. Cardiff l ./ '
. Derby Southampton .. Leeds Py
® ./ |
B L ] Mlton [ ] Exaler 1
3 o e ®
= o & ® : ‘ Keyres @ g—Newcastle
g [ ] Nottingham
LI NP S B W .
= L ] Sheffield @& - -
S - S ‘
z .
S . *
b7
T lLowdemand / supply lndamenials Low demand - supply fundamentals
¢ 2 andlow growth potential and high growth potential
-}
C S Growth potential ! i
) d o - A
® Schemezsorurad @ Target wocsticns @ Under reviews @ Not urder corsideration
Analysed 329 local Ranked on six
authorities success factors
e Anatysed 58 cities Underpinned by 22 economic
data sets
Targeting top Detailed demographic
ranking cities and rental market analysis
Seoltab ot as exclneled fram the analy-r svarg b data avalabiliny 35 cus strategis des=ion net mopest in 5ot land ar peesent aur ta et coeteos
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THE SHAPE AND STRENGTH OF OUR BUSINESS

(CONTINUED)

Creating the UK’s leading private rental portfolio

PRS PORTFOLIO PRS VALUE

PIPELINE PIPELINE VALUE

8,427 £2.5bn 5,634 £1.6bn

HOMES

: NEW SCHEMES

'

Launched:
1,201 homes

; Weayprs Yi.il‘(l, Newibury

The MinL, Gu idford

HOMES
T T Geographic breakdown of our eperational
PRS portfolio by number of homes
Launching by end of 2023: Cent-al Londan 14%
439 homes Outer Londan 13%
gufh Cast 17%

Weavers Yard, Newbury

06 iomes n OBt omes

4
P

| Nautilus Apts, The Condor, Derby
. Fortunes Dock, Longen 5z
| — h AT E 259 omes
146 homes - ,
o ‘ The Tilt Works,
I'he Barnum, Sreffield
© Mottirgham* 284_
: — " homes
k 348 homes p
I T mted cont Laur and

NATIONAL RENTAL PORTFOLIO"
North West

(Manchester & Liverpool)

]
1,789 | f

North Fast (vewcastle) : , |
381 .
Yorkshire '
([ eeds, Shelfield) ! T
1,043 , 1
Last & Midlands |
(Birmingham, Derby, Nesitingham) Lo
835 ‘
348  The Barnam, Nottmgham
375  Slver Yard Brmingham
South West & Wales 1
{Bristol, Cardift, I'neter)
514 C
307
231
468
230

London (Sec overlean
2,428*%*
2,728

South Last
(Guildford, Southampton)

i
1,437 i i
132 '\‘-.fea\‘-:-elea"d,Nt-wbu/('ema\'?ing)--’: |
150

The Copoor Worss Caraff
Millxright Place, Bristol
Classhouse 5q, Redeuf, Bristo!

Exmout Juncuor, Exeter

S

Wnst Way Sq. Geforg

28

; Sovth Wesr 5%
132 homes p [ - - . N .

| East & Midlands 0%
I'he Copper Works, " North woest 530
Cardiff — - -
- -_— T I Other regions 179
307 homes B - ” A -

Total: 1,640 homes
S | ’ Newcastle

Key
’ Operation clusta
' Pipeline schames

Cormected Living
| ondon schemas (TR

’ Leeds

' Manchester

Liverpool ' p Sheffield

Nettingham*

F Derby

' Birmingham

’ Milton Keynes

. Oxford
p Newbury
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p London
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LONDON RENTAL PORTFOLIO

2023
265

7T 2
]
1
¥ ¢ 2026+

Through our growing national
presence, we have developed
a series of well-balanced,

; operationally efficient clusters
| across the country

North London
162 Arnas Grove (CLLY

351 Cockfosters {CLL)

North Fast London
163 Apex Gardens
108  Windlass Apts
65 ‘Hale Wiharf 2’

{‘ast l.ondon
00 Aboeville Apts, Barking
134 érgo Apt:‘, Fortunes Dack,
anning town

Nautilus Apts, Fortunes

146 Dock, Canning Town

236 Mot Place, Pontoen Dock BB |
Seraphina Apts. Fortunes

132 pna o Prt-»

Dack. Canning town

UEw Uweew v
i _

London City Iringe
90 Ability Towers
1 Ability Plara
&85 Springfield House
122 Ciher

South East London
208  TheGardens Dulwich w

Image removed

= ch )

324 Besson Street, Lewisharm W - r _l+ Key
I ’ Operation cluster
Inner London P .
= Shillington Cld School, ‘ ’ Pipcline schemes
36 Clapham Jurction p Connected | raing

100 Mitre Road, VWaterloo w London schemes (TFL)

215 Waterloo Estale, Waterloow P +

Montford Place,
139 Kennington (CLL) @ ===r= "
470  NineElms €L Br--r-»

Woest London i
98 Kew Bridye Court, Kew w
MM Merrick Place, Southall B4 ===
460 soutnalisidingsCLD PR q-rq P

D3lsten.Lrzticn

Batsergea Tk

P Be.

154 prisate ronted horaes, Co-usered vtk e desta Y B2 affurdanle homes, whictl; wwr e vwitbin G nger Trast
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OUR BUSINESS MODEL

 Owr speniilingy ploform.

market leading, fully integrated, scalable

The inputs to our bus

9 Our people e Data insight and knowledge

Cadl e

—> SEE PAGE 46 —» SEE PAGE 12 — SEE PAGE 11

Cur property portfolio
Our relationships Property OFinancial capital

and pipeline

— SEE PAGE 49 > SEE PAGE 28

Cutputs that benefit our key stakeholders

@ Customers @ Local communities

—|_/ L PR - ," ST
id 424 events 69%
Net Promoter Score (NPS) Spent locally (within Skm)

Dividend per share @ Employee survey score @
@ Shareholders Colleagues Government

6.65p ‘Very good’ c.1,000

up +11% Tetal dividend per share workplace engagement

affordable homes provided

—> SEE PAGE 26
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How we create value

Cur fully integrated business model and operating platform ensures we are
investing in, designing and operating the best possible homes while providing
excellent service. Great homes and great service means higher customer
satisfaction, higher occupancy, better rental growth and better valuations,
enabling us to deliver market leading, sustainable returns for our Shareholders,
and creating value for all our stakeholders.

Originate Invest
Planning, design Research-backed
and delivery investing
Controlling the delivery and quality  Allocating capitalin the strongest
of our pipeline of new homes locations and best assets
-» SEE PAGE 28 ~> SEE PAGE 27

Rent well,

live well

Operate

Scalable platform
Through technology, our market
leading operating platform is scalable
to support our continued growth

— SEE PAGE 17
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OUR MARKET

A year when the residential rental
market has proven its

This ime last year, rising interest rates - compounded by the  ENGLAND HOUSING TENURE
impact of the mini-budgat - were seen as a negative for the ™

UK property market. In the t me since we nave scen the UK
Bank Rate n'ove to 5.25%. mortgage rates rise concurrently,
and levels of mortgage lending and transaction activity
contract sharply

Despite this, Uk house brices have proven resilient and
have declinea oty 3.3% over the past vear Supported oy
815 of UK residential mortgages being fixed rate, the
large quantum of outright owners in the market - 54% of
al awners have no mortgage debt — and housing's status,
alorgside food, as a houschold priority.

Chart removed

® Ttz @ Buyngeathmoart ;s @ ST vde s ntars gy all ool rortes

R R TR R D

The rental market has shown the strength of
its underlying fundamentals...

Whilst the averali resilience of UK markedly post-Covid, and a groving incontrast to many of the now lettings
Fousing derrand has helped cushion buld-up of urfulfilled rental demand asking price measures from the search
capital value falls agamnst the rising from previous years. Additionally, engine property portals which are
cost of money, the rental market despite economic growlth slowing, showing rental growth of 10%+ wiy.
—a more fundamental measure the UK's flexible employmenrt market ) )

P ) o ) - In stark contrast to the commerc al
of demand - has conlinued o see has ensured that we are close to ‘
demand rise strongl full employrment market, where rents can be Pighly

° = gy ploy ' cyciical and tend to rise and fall with

This s atunction of both the UK Consequently, according to the ONS, the economy, residential rents nave
populatior continuing to grow rapidly, rental growth, mcluding in-place proven their resilicnce across the
wit™ migrabiar increasing terancies, was 5.7% y/y in September, business cycle

RESIDENTIAL RENTS MORE RESILIENT THAN COMMERCIAL
TOMMERCIAT S HESITENLTA REMTAL (M.NCES, DEC-25 100

@ et Ees fent Fectind oo OM S @y o nermal Ranta! g lnaox CRR 2

Chart remoeved
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Although the structural undersupply
of housing in the UK is well known,
forward-looking indicators are
highlightirg a worsening situation.
For example, accordirg to the Homre
Builders Faderation, the number of
scheres granted planning permission
during Q2 of 2023 (2,456) was the
lowest since their Housing Pipeline
Report began recording the data in
2006, I'his number was 10% down on
the previcus quarter and 209 lower

(%

than ayear orier. An increasingly
challenging planning system, political
uncertainty, high construction inflation
and the rises in interest rates in the
past year have created a situation likely
to constramn heusing supply in the
years to come.

At the same time, smali private
landlords’ share of the rental market
15 reducing. Data from the Bank

of England shows a sharp failin
mortgage advances to buy-to-let

AN QOPPORTUNITY AS PRIVATE LANDLCRDS CONTINUE TO EXIT
SHARE OF GROSS MORTGAGE ADVANT =S | O BUY-TD-LET PURROGTS {FURIHAST 3, REMORIGAGE AND FIURIHER ADVANTE.

And the market’s structural supports have
only strengthened.

landlords in the first balf of 2023 - on
an absolute and share of market basis
—with rising rates and concerns over
future regulation forcing many private
landlords from the market.

Consequently, the UK private

rental market's demand and supply
imbalarce looks Likely to waorsen in the
coming years, creating an opportunity
for Grainger and other large-scale
institutional, build-to-rent lanulords
to plug the gap.

Crart removed

Saane [0

Image rermocved
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Driving income returns

Our key performance indicators (‘KPIs’} are aligned to the business strategy.
These measures are used by the Board and senior management to actively
monitor business performance.

Link to strategy

NET RENTAL INCOME
(£M)

Chart removed

KP! definition

Gross rental Income
after deducting proporty
operating ocxpenses

Comment

Inc-case of 12% dup

o mgh levels of PRS
nmvestment i new
opnnngs (£4.3m) strorg
Like-for-lke rontal growtn
(£8 7} Mgt derrand
for our prodact, and our
platforrde ving Rgher
d/eTage Greupanty,
offs=t by disoosals

(B2 am]

Link to strategy

0

Notes

Soe Mote 6 to tne
fAnancial staternents.

34

o Grow rents

PRS RENTAL GROWTH
(%)

Chart removed

KP! definition

Line for-like average
growth of rents
Arross our PRS portfous

Comment

£ 0% Like-for-like growth
ncur PRS rental incose
drives by aur strong
leastny parformance,
with strong growthn
new 23 Wiand
renowals (7 27%)

Link to strategy

o

Notes

See Glossary on page
132 for def nition ard
calcuaton basis

PROPERTY OPERATING
COST {GROSS TO NET)
(%}

Chart removed

KPI definition

Property operatng
costs expressed as a
parcentage af gross
rental income:

Comment

Gross te net performarce
raflects the loverof new
laanches completed in
the year. as we conlinue
Tastabilse now opemirgs
Stabilised gross to net
performarace G exstirg
assets s 25 3% and

1IN Une b prion vears
reflecting our strong
cost control

Link to strategy

000

Notes
Seq Note £ to the
Saarcal statements

e simplify ard foous o Build on our experience

ADJUSTED EARNINGS
(EM)

Chart removed

KP| definition

Froft before tax.
valuation movements
or Investment assats
and dervativos, and
other adustmonts, that
are one-ofbin nature,
which donot form part
of the 1ormal on-gaing
revarus or Casts of

the busnoss

Comment

Increase of 4%
deliveres due 1a strong
growtninnet rental
mcome and reslicnt
sales pertormance

Link to strategy

000

Notes

SooMNote 2t tng
francial statenerts
‘orexplanaton and
for reconcilianion Lo
StatLIory mModsures

GRAINGER PLC =MN

PROF|T BEFORE TAX
[f35)}

Chart removed

KP1 definition

Prafit before taxis a
statutory IFRS megasure
as presorted.ntna
Group's consolidated
MComoe statement

Comment

Decrease of 915

driven by the marka:
Irpact on property
valuattans £y¥22 incladed
£81 2m apuft from

cne off trans’ers from
trading property to
irvestrnent pranorly

Link to strategy

000

Notes

S5ce Consoudated mcome
staterment on nage 126

LA < EPDRT ANL AT N T 22



STRATEGIC REPORT

Delivering capital returns

EPRA NTA
{PPS}

Chart removed

KPI definition

EPRA NTA {het Tangible
Asscishis the market
value of property assets
after deducting deferred
tax antrading assels,
oxcluding intangible
assots and dervatives,

Comment

2p reduction in the
year, primarily driven
by markel impact on
property valuations.

Link to strategy

00

Notes

See page 41 for further
detailon CPRA NTA
and page 175 for CPRA
perfarmance measures.

GRAINGER PLC ANNLAL ScPOST AND ATCOLN T

EPRA NDV
{PPS)

Chart removed

KPI definition

EPRA MNDV {MNet Disposal
Value) 1s EPRA NTA after
dedurting deferred tax
on investmaent proparty
revaluations and
mcluding market value
adjustments of debt

and dervatives.

Comment

20p reductionin the
vear reflecting valuation
performance, as well

as market movements
in fixed rate debt

and dorivatives

Link to strategy

o

Notes

See Note 4 to the
financial statements

for reconciliation to
statutory measures

and EPRA performance
measures from page 1/5

S2022

TOTAL PROPERTY
RETURN {'TPR'} {%}

Chart remavea

KPI definition

TPR s the change in
gross asset value net

of capital expenditure)
plus property related net
income, expressed as a
percentage of opening
gruss asset value

Comment

Returns of ¢ 4%
demonstrating

strong operational
performance offset by
property valuations.

Link to strategy

000

Notes

See Alternative
Perfarmance
Measures on page 180
for catculation

LOAN TO VALUE
(‘LTV} (%)

Chart removed

KPi definition

Ratio of net debt to

the market valug

of propertios v a
consolidated Group basis

Comment

LTW remams im a strong
position with a modest
increase reflecting
reinvestment of disposal
proceeds inta our

BTR pipeline, partly
offset by a stronger
sales perfarnmance,
together with a resilient
valuation performance,

Link to strategy

Q0

Notes

See Alternative
Perfarmance
Measures on page 180
for calculation,

COST OF DEBT
{AVERAGE} {%)

Chart removed

KPI definition

Average cost of debst for
the yvear including costs
and commitment faes

Comment

Mverage cost of debt at
3 3% as we have locked
Into rates in the mid
A%z range for the next,
flve years.

Link to strategy

Q)

Notes

Sec Note 27 to the
financial statements
for further detail
regarding capital
risk managenment
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NON-FINANCIAL/ESG KPlIs

Non-financial and ESG KPIs

Link to strategy o Grow rents

@ siepbify and focus ° Builas on our expernience

fmage removed

Image removed

Image rermoved

Qur customers and communities

We continue to mvest in our customer
experience programme including
customer service traming and
enhancng cur offer to our customers
and comemunities,

We are cornmitted te creating thriving
communities that help atlract and
retain castomers anc benefit those
living and wor«ing in the areas close
to our schemes

+43pts

Customer Net “romoter Soore

32 months

average leng b of stay for PRS casiamers

424

“csident and commLmty ayvents

Link to strategy

00

36

Qur people Qur impact on the environment

We are comitted Lo puiting “People
at the heart', which aligns to our focus
on postive colleague engagement,

We continue o invest in our peoole,
therr welloeirng and Lheir development.

Ourindependent cmployee
cngagement survey confirms that we
have a highly engaged workforce

Very Good

rat ng by colleagues in our annual stevey
by Best Companies

84%

response rate te onr emplogee
engagenriert sLoy

71%

of cligible empuoyres {32 montns-
errclomron ae Shareroens

Link to strategy

O

GRAINGER PLC ~MN .7 =257

We have made great progress in
rmeasurng and ~educing our carbon
ernissions In alignment with cur net
zoro carbon pathweay. This year we
reasured our full Scope 3 emissions
for the first time, introduced new flogr
arca iriensity measures to align our
reperting to sector best practice and
undertook venfication of our Scope
1-3 erissians.

-32%

reductior in Scope 1 2 carbon émissions
s rrarket based)

-5%

reduclicnin Scepe 1-32 carhon emrss uns
R

91%

EPCrating
{for PR properiies)

s ' and abinve

Link to strategy

o
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW

Image removed

Tinanciol
redni e

(14

23 was another

year of excellent
performance for the
business driven by the
strength of our platform
and demand for our
mid-market product.”

Rob Hudson
CFO

GRAINGER PLC ANNUAL R=PCRT AND ACCOUNT S Juld

FY23 was ancther vear of excellent performance for

the business driven by the strength of our platform ard
demand for our rud-market product. Cperationally, we have
caprtabced on these dyniarnics and delivered strong results
Occupancy 1s high at 98.6%, LF_ rental growth strong at 7.7%
across the portfolio overall and higner in our PRS portfalic

at B 0% The investment we are making in our pipeline is
continuing to deliver annual step changes 'n our net rent with
a12%increase this year Indeed, FY23 was arecord year of
both investment and delivery (£312m invested in now homes).
with 1,207 new honres delivered and a further 439 scheduled
to complete in calendar year 2023,

Despite Lhe challenying economic backdrop. we have
deliverad excellent sales profits and delivered on our strategy
of increasing asset recycling, with total sales for the year at
£193.7m. Valuations have remaired restlicnt in the pernod,
reducing by just 4% (£70m) with the strong operational
performance driving ERV growth which in turn largely offset
outward yield roverncnt. The close relationship between
rental growth and wage inflation was again evicentn the
vear and demaenstrates cur natural valuation hedge i a high
irflation and interesl rate environment

The balance shect remains in gocd shape with ret debt
broadly flat on the na'f year position and with debt costs fixed
in the mid 3% and no further material refinancing due unti
2028 we have very lmited expasure o rising interest rates in
the mcdium term

With a further 50% increase in net rents to come from our
cormmitted pipeline we are on track to deliver significant
earnings growth over the coming years. The proposed finat
dividend for the year is 4 3/ pence per share. taking tne
total dividend for the year to 6.65 pence per share, up 11%,
demonstrating the continuing growth in net rents
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW
(CONTINUED)

Financial highlights

Income return kY2l FY23 Change
Rental growth il ke-far-bike 4 74, T.7% +332 bps
Nat rental income (Mote 5} fEe 30 £96.5m +71 7%,
Adiusted carnings (Noto 3 £925m £97.6m +170
Profit hefore tax (hote 37 £2958 £27.4m [EREEs!
Drvidend per share (Note 1D 5 ep 6.65p +' %
Capital return Fyls FY23 Change
EPRA NTA oor share (Note 4] 305p [E T
Total Property Return 0.4% {7137 oos
Tota! Accourtng Retarr (NTA basi) (Note 4 HRE- {1.8)% {1.083) bps
Me oebt E£1.202m £1,416m IS
Group LTV 3349 36.8% s 320005
Cont of debt (average: 2% 3.3% +12 bps
Income statement Income statement (£m) [ s Fy23

Ldvusted earnings mcereased by +4% 10 £97.6m (FY22 £93.5m} | et ontal incorme 96.5

as arosult of another strong year of increasmg nat rents which | prafr an sale of asosts -

were L 123, and a resiiont sales performance with vacant conidentiag n5 % 57.8 T

salas profits up despite the naturaly shrinking portfonio.

IFRS Profit before tax was £27. 11 cown fraom £298.&mar
the prior year as a resulf of the one-off £81 Zmivaluaton gain
from the transfer of tradimng assots in FY22 in propa-atior “or
REIT conversion, aleng with a lower valuauea performance

The oparational leverage inherent i ow nusiness made!
means that EPRA carnings have increased by 47% to £33 8n
Y220 £28 2mh as we contirued to deliver our pineline and
launch rew homes

CHARM incoes (Note 25

Haragemert fees
Overreads

Pre-conlragt costs

Jolnt vantiuies and associates ; . o

Fot ooanc 27

Adjusted earnings
Vvaluaticr rrovements : 4
Other valuza?

Other adustments

Profit before tax

IRyt NTFE S AN

b

Imago removed
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Rental income
(£rm)

Chart removed

Image remeoved

Rental income

Nel remal income was up +12% during the year at £96 5m
(FY22: £86.3m) reflecting cont.nued delivery of our PRS
pipeline. Like-for-tike growth was strong at 7.7% (FY22: 4.7%),
broad.y in line with national wage growth. with 8.0% rental
growth in our PRS portfolio (Fy22 4.8%) and 5.9% in our
requlated tenancy portfolio (FY22: 4.6%). Now lets in cur PRS

Image removed

portfolio delivered 9 2% rental growth with a lower lovel of
7 2% on renewals, reflecting our retention strategy.

FY 23 was arecord year of deliveries with 1,201 honies
delivered across 6 schemes with a combined et 1ent roll

of £13m which will benefit next year's net rent by c.£8m.
We continue to remain focused on cost efficiency with gross
to net for the period on our stabilised portfolio at 25.5%,
cansistent with previous pericos.

GRAINGER PLC ANNUALI RFPCRT AND ACCO.NTS 20003

+120%0

Net rental income

+7.7%

Total like-for-like
rental growth
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW
(CONTINUED)

“We have a very
strong liquidity and
cash position, our
committed pipeline is

e fully funded and our
debt costs are near

fully hedged.”

Rob Hudson
CFO

Sales and development activity

Saley reveruesircreasad i lire vath our plan of deliverng
high wevels of asset recyclinrg. Overall sales profits were
£57.8 1 {FY22: £65.3m), reflecting the mix of trading and
irvestmoent sales with revenues increasing 1o £193 7m

(FY22: £174.7m). We delivered £34 1m of profif from vacant
property sales (FY220 £32 4y fraom evenues of £701m
(FY22 E729m) with sales prces achleved that were a madest
-1 9% of provious valuations reflectirg the attractiveness of
thaose unique assets

Sales of terantes properties deliversa £1%.4m of profit
(FY22: L300 9m) From revonues of L88 1 (FY22. £74.8m,

the lawer profit margins reflec ting tne higher lrvel of
irvestment sales comparea to trading tenanted asset sales,
Development srefits noreased Lo £1 2 (FY22 £2Cm) frem
revenues of £355m (FY22; £26.0m;} as aresull o a profitasle
exit from alegacy scheme at Scever S'sters and strorg land
sags al ol- Berewood site.

Y2 FY23
Sales {fm} EANNSRS e fir Revenue Profit \
image removed Residential sawes o vacanc, 739 324 70.1 34.1
Tenanted and uther sal == 743 a0 88.1 19.4
Residential sales total tA57 HE3 158.2 53.5
seselopmerl actvity 280 2.0 5.5 4.3
Overall sales 747 503 193.7 57.8

Balance sheet

Our ba:ance shest remains ina strong position w.ih LTV of
36.8% 1FY22: 33 4% follevang arecord year of invastrment n
our prelne This represents a soral increase ar the half year
posttion (HY 23,36 1535,

Yie have a very sirang iguiaity ang cash position veth
hesdcom of 85190 (5Y 22 £6E€3m;), our cormimntted pipe ne
is fully funded and cur debt costs are amost fully hedgec
mearirg we bave minimal exposure 1o patent al intersst
rate fiscs over the next hva years Follewng astreny

yzar of del'ver y oo PRS portfolio now represcnts 77%

of our asset past.
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EPRA net tangible assets (NTA)
Pence per share

Charbremoved

Market value balance sheet (Em) T 22 FY23
Resdental - PRS 2,189 2,423
Res'dential - regulated terancies 812 693
Residential - mortgages (CHARM)Y 2] o7
Forwa-d furded - PRS workan progress 456 441
Development work i proyross 182 126
Investrient In JVsjassociates EE} 91
Total investments 2773 3,841
Net debe {1252 (1,416)
Other habilities (1) (66}
EPRA NRV 2470 2,359
Deferred ard contingent tax - trading assets n (91)
Exclude mtangible assets - (1)
EPRA NTA 2.359 2,267
Add back intangible assets - 1
Deferred and contigent tax - nvestment assets (116} (108)
Fair value of fixad rate debt and dervatives 240 171
EPRANDV 2,482 2,333
EPRA NRV pence per share EEE] 318
EPRA NTA pence per share 317 305
EPRA NDW pence per share 234 314

EPRA NTA decreased 4% during the year Lo 305p per share
(FY22: 317p per share). The decrease was largely driven by a
13p reduction from valuations with a 5o positive contribuTion
from EPRA earnings, offset by the payment of aur final
dividena (&p). This NTA measure excludes the mark to market
of our fixed rate debt whichis £171m ar 273 pence per share.

GRAINGER PLC ANNJAL REPOST AND AZCOUNTS 2023

Image removed
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CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER’S REVIEW
(CONTINUED)

image ramaoved

Financing and capital structure

Qur captal strociure ramams in a very streng position

Net debt for the year was £7 116 {(EY22 £1.2027) with
£269m of operational cashflows. including asset recycling
offset by £312m of investrnant in our PRS pipeline. £47m of
dividends and £4m of tax and other payments This however
reoresents an increase of only £22m comparcd to the hal?
year (AYZ3 £7 394} as canex spend docreasec and asset
recycling mcreased

Jaring the year wo successfully extended £975m of bark
faciities by one yoaand now have no matenal refinanc ng
requiremonts until 2028, The average cost of dent increased
orly margmally o 3.3% (FY22° 3 1%) dunng the peniod as a
resull of our sreng hedg ng profile with a matunty of five
yedrs that will ensure our intecest costs renanin the mid
3% From FY24 onwards we expoect capex to be funded by
cporationa. cashflows including asset recycling

Property portfolio performance

Our overall po-tfolio valuation was down 2 4% {TY 22 increase
of 4.4%) vrith our stabilised PRS nortfolio decreasing by

2 3w (FYZZzincrcase of 2.6%) and our rogulated po-tfolo
decreasirg by 2 0% (FYZ22 ircrease of 4.1%) Whie vields on
oLr PRS portfolio moved out by ¢ 4Dbps as a result of the
MAact o-econe TIC onv ranmeant, the majority of the va.Lation
impact vias offeel by the 8.7% FRY growth that we delivered
duting tne year CLr Regional PRS sortfolio outoerformed
London and the South East given that it only experienced
30bps yield shift compared to 50bps it Landon. FRV growth
in London anc South East was 8.8% comparcce tc 7.3% 0
ne Ragions

Capital  Tetal valuation
Portfolio Region value movement
{Em) £m %

“RY Londen & 5F 1,324 67 (3 2):4

Regiors s 1° i

PRS Total 2,423 (56) (2.3)%
PEw’ Condor 85E 50 {1 (e,

Ray ons 133 (3; (Ehie

REGS Total 693 (14} (2.00%
Operational
portfolic 3,116 (70) {(2.2)%

SRS

Develapirent 7 270 (335,
Total portfolio 3,683 (91) (2.4)%

a2

Fr2z Fr23
“atdebt £ 2562m £1,416m
Loan to value 334 36.8%
Costof daob: 3.3%
Headroom £519m
Weighted avorage faclity matunty years: 55 5.5
Fedig g 979, 95%

Summary and outlook

Follovs ng another strong year of pe-formance. we see the
high leve s of growth in ret rents and carnings set to continue
a= aJr pipeline continuas to celiver, With a solid nalance
sneet and strong eperationat cashlow generation wo are well
placed Lo continue our growlh trajectery,

Jespite the macro-cennomic challongss, the nature of our
bus ness model and tne resilience of our income straam rmean
that aur growth contrnues, wiln a fully funded pipeline ard
dubt cosls fxed, we will continue to see a sleo change ir rents
ard earmings cover the coming years,

Rob Hudson
Chief Financial Officer

27 November 2023
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image removed
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GRAINGER'S APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

Grainger’s approach
to sustainability

Image rernaved

Qur sustainability approach ensures

we deliver positive outcomes for our
colleagues and our communities,
create high quality homes for cur
residents, and secure a strong future
for our business, our sector and the
wider environment in which we operate.

Our strategic focus areas are supported by long-term
commitments that directly address material risks and
oppertunities for our business and our stakeholders.
For more information on how we are creating value for
our stakeholders.

—> SEE PAGE 31

Strategy

Sustainability is fuily integrated into Grainger's business
strategy and infarms our koy decision-making through the
inclusion of sustainablity requircmeants in our key policies and
processes, for example our asset hicrarchy ana specification
for rew developments.

Cur plannea net zoro investmoenrt has been incorporated
inte our business financal pranning and this year we further
developed odr nct zero pathway to incorporate our plans for
recucing Scope 3 ermssions

See an overview of our net zero trans o0 pathway

-> SEE PAGE 58

44

Metrics and targets

This year for the first time we measurad and verified our
Scope |3 emissions. and we plan to set a Scope 3 carbon
reduction target in FY24. Floor arca intensity metrics were
introduced to algn cur measurement to sector best practice
We established our embodied carbon roadmap with a
target to reduce upfront embedied carbon by 40 % for direct
development schemcs in design by 2030

Sce cur Streambined Fnergy and Carbon report
—> 5EE PAGE 113

Governance

in the year we transtioned our Sustainability function into
the Finance area of cur business to delver enhancemoents

in quantify'ng our performance. The 2023 LTIP scheme
incorporates caroon emssions metrics for the first time (sce
Remuaneration Comm ttee report on page 93)

[he delivery of cur Sustainability programme is monitared
with strong oversight from our Cxecutive Committee and ouar
Board, including our Respansible Busiress Committee.

See our Rosponsible Business Comimitiee report
—> SEE PAGE 86 AND 87

Risk management

Sustainabitity s integratca intc Grainge~’s corporate

risk management framewark which consigers current

and emarg.ng risks incluaing net zero related policy and
regulation, and physicalrisks to cur property portfolios

In FYZ3 we comualeted a deep dve into cimate change nisk
and all climate-related risks are monitored ag quarterly
reviews by "is< oversight committees, We have also increased
our moritoring of susta nability-relateg emerging risks such as
Eiodiversity and are preparing to report in alignirent with *he
Sustainability Disclosure Requirerents.

Seeour TOFD report

—> SEE PAGES 54 TO 60
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Qur highlights from FY23

Our people
Ensure Grainger’s workforce is engaged and reflective of society

0 O « Commenced process
0 0 to achieve the National

Equality Standard

response rate to employee survey response rate to Jiversity
achieving rating of very Good Workforce Tracking guesticrnaire

Measure and deliver positive social value cantribution to our customers and local communities

+ Introduced new framework
424 £ 190 ’ OOO for local charity engagement

residents and communrity events total cormmumty investrment * Measured social value across
held m our buildings our operational portiolio

Our assets

Deliver enhanced investment decisions through incerporating
ESG considerations including risks, costs and returns

0 + Implemented pilot net zero
0 ’ m audits on long-term hold assets
of PRS properties total mvestment in grean « Inhanced sustainability criteria
rated ERPC A-C buildings rated EPC B or above in our assct hierarchy )

£173m

total investment in
affordable homes

Our environment

Achieve net zero carboen for our operations by 2030

O O + Measured and veriflied Scope 3
90 /0 4 /0 emissions

Renewable elactrnicity Roductionin Gra_mger obtamgd + Established a reduction target
purchased: lke-for-like energy consumption of 40% for upfront cmhbodicd
carbon intensity from direct

5 0/ deselopments in design by 2030

» Extended our net zero carbon
Reduction in Scope 1-3 pathway to include Scope 3
CMISSICRs per e

tract, amd this excludos commoercia, auset,

TThere g leg 1 Erae s Baning new dsstbs over fotho o
et b e e lap rent and sssets car e food

wal
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GRAINGER’S APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY
(CONTINUED)

Image removed

Our People

Our Colleagues

Context

Grainger places people at the heart of everyth ng we do,
and this includes prionitising wellbeing and providing an
inclusive living ard working ervironment for cur residents
and sur colleagues,

Our commitment

Ensure Grainger’s workforce is refective of sovety,

Actions in 2023
Implementation of our People Strategy

Our People Strategy identifics the strategic people loves
required to help our people embrace our Compary values
and culture, It further develops our coldeague experience and
custormer sabisfaction. wrile bulding a better Grainger. tthas
supported the next evo.ut.on of HR transformation ard builds
on an already successful and inclusive culture, in which cur
peaple cat thrive

The way in wrich we deliver our Gramger values (see page
48). and in particular People at the Heart, continues to be a
key driver to how we engage with col.cagues, ircluding the
retention, attraction ard development cf high perferming
talent within the business,

Listening and acting on feedback

We vaLe the foedback and views of our colleagues anc
provide mrultiple chanrels for them to share insight,
suggestions or ask questions sach as regular Company-wide
calls includ'ng ar cpen Q&A sessinn airectly with our CZ0,
plus regular engagement surveys

Thes year, we contnued to follow a coileague contric approach
By gairing colleague and eacor input into mmatives set out in
our People Strategy and adopting a test and tean” approacn
with plot growps to gain feedback, we ensure new mitiatives
are .arding well and enhancing colleague exoerience A great
example of tris s our calleague sociai events programme
which has been enhanced following feedback to improve
inclusiveness for atl teamis

46

Creating an inclusive and diverse workplace

At Grainger we warl everyone Lo be thernselves, creating a
diverse workforee and inclusiva culture where all callcagues
thrive. Our D&l strategy is for everyone to feel ‘ncluded,
valued and supported, which is why our continued focus on
D& remams a top priority.

To support our diversity and inclusion (D&1) ambitions, this
year we committed to working Towards achieving the National
Fquality Standard, an external benchmark that will help guide
and steer further enhancements and imoroverments

D&l is 1ntegral to all our thinking and cur well-established
employee-led Diversity & Inclusior Network cortinues to
flourish. undertaking an extensive programme of awarencss-
raising act vities and campaigns for both colleagues

and residents,

Following the launch of our D&! guestionnaire last year to
track the diversity of cur coligagues, we have updatea the
datawe hold, which now covers 82% of aur workforce up 11
percentage points ‘from last year We have taken the following
steps to support colleagues:

« We enhanced family leave provision inresponse to
colleague foedhack supporting all colleagues, genders and
roates to parenthoad

« We are a member of Carers UK which provides
suppoert, guidance and resodrces to colleagues via an
external puatform

» For office based colieagues, we bave a hybria working policy
with core office days and flexibility around days worked
from home

Image remeved
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Supporting colleagues to develop Lheir skills for
the future

Training and development is an impor tant focus Tor us, to
cnsure that we can retain and attract the best possible talent
for our business and ensure we, as a team, can continue to
‘lead the way' in our sector.

Service Style Training - As part of every new colleague’s
inducticn, customer service style train'ng is provided through
our Service Style Network of internat t-ainers and network
of Ambassadors, suppaorting the delivery of excellent
customer service

Career Development Framework buueprint - ‘Unlocking
Your Potential’ - We have developed a Carcer Development
Framoework biueprint to support the development of greater
transparency and clanty of tho skills, behaviours and
competencies required for key roles across the business.

The pathway for build-to-rent teams has been launched and
we continue to roll out the lramework across the business to
support careers at Grainger and as a mechanism to support
celleague development.

Managerent Developmenl — We have developed bite-sized
People Manager training modules as parl of a learning
sute on Successful Recruitment, Cnboarding & Induction
and Successful Performance Reviews, to support the
development of our leadership capability.

Mentoring - Following the launch in 2022 of our Grainger
Mentoring Programime, we have seen this go from strength
to strength with more menters and mentees joining, to grow
the scheme from 13-25 in the past year.

Further Frincation and Apprerticeships - We are delighted
to hava supported 17 colleagues with therr apprenticeships
or achieve professional qualifications to support them in
their role

Wellbeing

Colleague wellbeing is at the forefront for Grainger which
is why we launched our Wellbeing Strategy, with feedback
sought from collcaguces to help shape cur approach.

We deliver the strategy through our wellbeing calendar,
which includes educational events, training, and mental
health champions.

Looking ahead

Wo will continue to implement our People Strategy and
further develop our diversity & inclusion strategy including
working towards the National Equality Standard.

GRAINGER PLC ANNULAL RZPCRT &aND ALCOUNITS 2ull
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GRAINGER’S APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

(CONTINUED)

Image removed

Our Values

Our values direct how we make
choices, perform at our best
and set Grainger apart for our

customers, employees, investors

and partners.

“The place is just fabulous,
people are welcoming all
the time. They are very
responsive... I enjoy living
there as it is really comfy
and safe. Would like to keep

living there for a long time.

Grainger resident,
Gilders Yard

Every home
matters

Renting
homes,
Enriching
lives

’”

Exceeding
expectations

Image remaved

Image -emoved

Image removed

Image remavead

Every home matters

At Grainger we know that
overy home matters and we
put people at the heart of
evarything vie do We are
passionate about providing
every customer wth a great
place to rent and call horme

48

People at the heart

We want our resigents to
fecl safe, sccure ard happy in
the'r harmes ard ~ent vath us
for the long term

Leading the way

We are ambitious about
leading the viay and giving
people the best renting
expererce and aways ook
for smart and creative ways
to imorove cur offering.
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Exceeding expectations
With over 100 years of
exporierce, we know what
weo're doing and what our
custarmers naed to enjoy
their hormias in full
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QOur Communitics

Context

Creating a community within ard around our buildings is
central to Grainger’s approach and supports high levels of
custemer satisfaction and retenticn. We want to ensure
everyone feels at homae in their Grainger commuanity and to
provide opportunities for cur colleagues and customers to
support the development of a thriving local neighbourhood
where our residents car put down roots.

Our commitment

Measure and deliver posilive social value contribution to our
customers and local communities

Actions in 2023

This year we invited our residents to join Grainger in giving
something back to our local communities. We developed
a charity engagement strategy for cur operational sites
and piloted engaging with local charty partners at four
key clusters.

The charities we selected all help local pecple Live well; they
are aligned to Grainger's values and represent causes that
our residents care about. We have seen really high levels of
engagement with colleagues and residents getting involved
in arange of activities including velunteering, collecting
donations and fundraising

I NeweasLle we have partnered with The People’s Kitlcnen
to provide donations and volunteering, helping pecple
access meals and suppoert just around the corner from

cur head office. Our Salford colleagues and residents have
partnered with Salford Food Bank to collect donations ard
provide toiletries packs for local people in need. In Leeds
we are working with Emmaus, a charity hélping people to
work their way out of homelessness. who are also collecting
and restoring our customers’ pre-loved furniture, Qur East
London clustor residents participated in a series of activities
supporting Your Place, a local chanty that provdes a safe
place for local people experiencing homelessness.

We also continued to provide six hames rent free to refugee
farrilies from Uxraine

Looking ahead

we will further develop our asset tevel community
engagement plans and continue te roll-cut our operalional
charity engagement strategy.

“The resident services team are
epic at not just making it a home,
but a community to be proud of
and be involved in.”

Grainger resident,
Clippers Quay

PROVIDING HOMES THAT MATTER

1,201 ¢.1,000

new homes delivered affordable homes now
irkY23and.. operational

SUPPORTING OUR PEOPLE

we launched our new colleague
welibeing strategy and held

20

initiatives for colleagues including
ayoga partaership with one of our
commaercial tenants

32

How we are delivering positive social impact

ENHANCING QUR RESIDENTS' WELLBEING

BUILDING INCLUSIVE COMMUNITIES

30 events

held in our bulldings for local charities as part
of our operational chanty engagement

CREATING POSITIVE LOCAL IMPACT

through employing

7 28

local people to rur our now partnerships with local
schemes and . businesses

12

llbeing events held in our tramned mental health first
buildings alders supparting our rosidents
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GRAINGER’S APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY
(CONTINUED)

Image removed

Our Assets

Context

Grainger s committed to delivering new homes that arc
affordable for local people to live in. The design of our
buildings 1s informed by feedback from our residents and
sceks ta maximise encrgy officioncy, resident wellbeing
and community creation We take an active approach

to asset ranagement, to ensure aur portfolio s future-
procfed against physical climate risks and future pelicy
and compliance requirements. Through Living a G eener
Life. sustainability is embeaded into our customer
experience programme, ensurning we provide cur residents
with an affordable, inclusive and environmentally friendly
renting experence.

Our commitment

Deliver enhanced investment decisions through incorporating
ESG considerations including risks, costs and returns

Actionsin 2023

In a recora year of delivery, we continued 1o invest in new
cnergy efficient hormes and improve the environmental
performance of our portfolio. Gur hames are desigred to be
frghly energy efficient, and 92% of now units delvered in the
year have EPC ratings of 8 or above

Several years ago wo updateac our specification o prefer
fassil-fuel free schemes, 62% of our new build-to rent homes
have low carbon heating and we row nave no further schemes
wilh or-site fossil fuel heating in cur secured pipeline.

Wo continue to incorporate sustamabiety enhancements
into odr specfication and to consider sustamability critesia
the procuremrent of new product and service partnerships.

In FY¥23 we nt-oduced a neyr partrérship for gym eguiorment
with TecrnoGym which delivers mare erergy efficient and
human powered equipment. reducing energy consumption,
Tne partnership enables our residents to connect to an app
where they can work on treir Fealth and ftness in ther
apartments and the vader community ir addition to their
or-site gym.

50

Image removed

“The gym, lounge, co-working
space, terrace and dining
area are all added amenities
that are unbelievable extras
in this place, I now call home!
The area is safe, secure and

Jriendly, with town, shops,
schools and key local places
very close by!”

Grainger resident,
Enigrna Square

We also increased our focus onsastainability critera in our
asset hierarchy toirform which assets we nold long-term,
wh'ch ones we refurbish and whch we recycle Pilot net zero
audits were unacrtaken at twe long-term hold assets to
irform the development of net zere asset plans

Looking ahead

We plan to develop assct level ret zero clans for all long-term
hold assets which will iform aur net 7erg transiticr plan
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Living a Greener Life
Living a Greener life focuses on five key areas:

and understanding of their build relationships in their local communities
environmental impact

o Raising residents awareness o Encouraging residents to suppeort local and

Helping residents save energy Introducing initiatives in our buildings to
and reduce their running costs promote greener living and support our
journey to net zero

Promoting waste minimisation
and increased reuse and recycling

Living a Greener Life is our customer engagement
campaign helping our residents live well and live
greener with Grainger.

The campaign is informed by resident feadback and surveys.
Our residents told us that waste and recycling was ther
pricrity area of interest and this year we have implemeanted
a series of events and campaigns focused on reducing
waste, including a food swap shop in support of Stop Food
Waste Day.

We have rolled out clothing recycling bins in our buildings
and in FY23 diverted 19 tonnes of waste from landfill,
saving 67 tonnes of CO,. We alsg launched a community
marketplace through the My Grainger app o0 residents can
share pre-loved items with other Grainger residents.

image remaoved

Encrgy saving is also a key focus for our customers.

We know that 74% of residents in our BTR buildings use

the co-workirg space in their building to help save cnergy
This year we neld an Energy Saving Week with events in our
bulldings and tips shared on socjal media and we introduced
ancw greener living guide that all residents can access

on our app. Living a Greener Life was recognised by FPRA
with an Cutstanding Contribution 1o Sociely Award for the
Environmental category.

“The app and all the clubs and

graphic removed celebratory days or socials

we have had or been notified

about including green and eco

50 changes or help is something
1 think is wonderful to have in

Greener living themed evenls held SUCh a place_”

inour builldings

1,500

Residents are active members of our
marketplace for sharing pre-toved items

Grainger resident,
Enigma Square
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GRAINGER’S APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY
(CONTINUED)

Image ~emoved

Our Environment

Context

Grainger is committed to decarbenising our busiress in
alignment with the Uk's net zero target. Grainger plans

to own cur new buildings for the long-ierm and therefore

we are committed to reducing the carbon asscdated with
thair developmeant and occupation over their Wfetime

Gur largest carbon sources are from developnment of new
buitdings and our custorrers’ use of energy In their homes.
Cellaborating with our custemers and supply chain to
measure and reduce Graingers Scope 3 emissions s tnerefore
key 1o our nel zero transition,

Our commitment
Achieve net zero carbon for our operatons by 2030

Actions in 2023

A key focus for our net zero carbon prograrmme for FY23
was measuring our Scope 3 emissions. We arc row able to
report Scope 3 emissions for all relevant categorics in our
Streamiined Cnergy and Caroon Report (sec page 113),

Cur carbion tinked to development prajects is currently our
largest source of cmssions. As a developer of residential
accommodation Grainger's key social contribution is ta help
address housing shortages in the UK. Qur task ‘s to deliver this
social purpose in a carbon effcient way and so while absalute
emissions wilo vary with housng delivery, we will focus on the
cabon intensity of our housing growth,

This year we centinued our work te measure the embodied
cartzan enmssions for our development projects and nave
row estathished a baseline for embodied carbon gererated
frorm a wypical Grainger project We have agreed a reduction
target to reduce embediea carbon by 40% for direct
development schemes in desigr by 2030, We expect 20% of
this reduction to be achieved through lean design and 20%
througn purchasing lower carbon materials and improving
construction procosses On schnemes carrently in the design
stage. we are exploring appar tuntties for leane' nuilding
design with the design tearss Our net zers carbon pathway
which is avarlable on our websita seis gut the assumptions
tnat sit nefund our targets including supply chain innovation,
technological gevelopmearts and grid decarbonisation.

52

Our other significant emissions sources are eimissions
generated from aur customers using energy 11 their homes
and emissions related to the supply of purchased goods ard
services. Our Living a Greener Life custorner engagemenrt
campaign and custorner emissions strategy are driving strong
pragress on measuring and requcing customer émISSions
(see pages 51 te 53) We continue 1o mvest in energy
efficiency improvernents to our existing assets and 81% of
PRS properties are now rated EPC A-C. The average carbon
emissions from Gramnger's portfolio continues to reduce
and the carbon per m’ from our properties reduced by 7%
between FY22 and FY23

We are focusing our supply chain ergagement on the most
matarnia products and services ESG criteria are considered
in the procurement of key products and services. such as
tonders for furniture, repairs ara mantenance and external
groperty management services

We are committed to supporting ndustry wde change
towards net zero and ¢continue to participate in industry and
political engagermert, Fighlights from the year include joming
the British Praperty Federat'on's Sustamability Comimittee.
feeding into the ceveloprment of science based targets
gudance for the buildings sector and attending workshops
with the UK Governrment ta exple-e opportunities to measure
eneryy data from residentia!l burldings

Looking ahead

We are committed to reducing cur enssions 1o alignment
with the UK's net zero carbon target. In FY24 we planto set a
carbon reduction target covering our Scope 1 ta 3 emissiors

Image removead
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Measuring our customer energy use

Grainger’s residents purchase their own energy and
data protection requirements present a significant
challenge to gathering data on actual energy use in
our buildings. To overcome this, last year we developed
our customer emissions strategy which we are now
implementing on our PRS portfolio.

We have included a green lease clauze in all new tenancy
agreements and renewals to ensure we have our residents
consent to obtain their energy data.

Reaoings are now taken when a property is void following
a customer move out and before a new custormer moves

in and during interim property inspections, if the resident
provides their consent.

We have now collated over 43,000 meter readings and
have Increased our coverage of actual data to 70% of
PRS properlies,

POQRTFCOLIO CARBON
INTENSITY PER M?

-7%

CUSTOMER EMISSIONS FROM
FOSSIL FUEL HEATING

-6%

Analysis of the data showed that a significant seurce of our
emissions is from heating homes. and this data is informing
our decarbonisatior: plans We have reduced emissions from
fossil fuel heating by 6% between FY22 and FY23,

Emissions we have calculated from actual energy
consumption data are lower than the previous estimates we
reported from data on Energy Performance Certificates and
demonstrate that our properties are more energy efficient
than predicted and generate less carbon than typical

UK homes.

We are also inputting our data into a .andmark academic
study to benchmark energy use in build-to-rent ard have
shared our learnings with the UK Government and our
industry via the British Property Federation,

“m really glad you're aiming to
be carbon neutral and it makes
me so glad I chose to live here.”

Grainger resident,
The Forge

Image remaved
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES

TCFD Summary

Introduction Grawnger responds annually to tne COP Climate Change
Programme and our responses are publicly availlable at:

Grainger is committed to assexsing, managing and reporting )
N https: /fwww.cdp net/en/responses

climate -related risks. This TCFD Report summarises Grainger's

respunse to the TCRD recommendations. Chimate-related The climate related impacts of Grainger's property
information is alse roperted elsewhere in this Annual Repert, portfolio are reported in the EPRA Sustamability
and 15 signpested in the following table Report published on Grainger's website at:

https://corperate graingerple co uk/responsibility

TCFD recommendations Description Section

Governance

Board oversight of climate- Grainger’s Board has oversight of the Company’s sustainability strategy includmng Audit

related risks and opportunities  climate Grainge's Audit Committee undertakes a twice-yearly revievr of the Company’s Comnutiee
prinapal rsks mciuding climate change. The Respongiblo Busmass Commiitao reviews report page
climate-related nsks and opporivaities and strateqic implications as well as rmomtors 23

orogress against cimate-relateg objectives ara workstieams

Management’s role in Uitmate roseansisility for all sustamaoility matters mcluding climate-retated issuas lies Page 5/
assessing and managing with Grainger's Chief Execulive and the Executive team The CRO has oversight of the
climate-related risks and sustamabinty function To better undersiand how inhibitars ard oppartunities mpact o0
opportunities our strategy, we regularly revicw our detalled chmate-related risk assessment imvolving

the senior managemeant team Qur forward-looking risk taxonomy drives a strongor
focus onerrarging risks including the transition to net zaro This supports our managers
to pnontse nsks that marter most and rake sound and strategic business docisions.

Strategy

Climate-related risks and Chmate-related ks aro renorted within principal risks. Matenal risks and opportunities Risk page
opportunities over the short, affecting the business over the short termnclade mcreasing regulation and flood risk 67
medium, and long-term and over the medum tolong-terer incude chronie temperatare change and impacts on

customer and nvestor derrand
The impact on the Chimate-related risks arc considered in property devciopment, acquisition, refurbishiment Fage 57
organisation’s businesses, and recycling decsions. The bugness’s transibion o net zero s considerad in strategic and
strategy, and financial Anancial planning with increasad investmant planned woimprove Granger 's long-tarm hold

planning portfolic A summary of our ngl zorc carbor transiion pathway 15 orovided on page 58

Resilience of the arganisation’s  Granger bas assessed the organisation’s property portfolio agamst two climata related Page ba
strategy, based on different scanaros RCP 2 6and 8 6) over tiee tmeframes—current position, shot t-terrm (20304
climate-related scenario and rmud to lang-term (20505 and beyond) The strateqic focus o doveloping net 7eo

ready buld-to-rent properties and upgrading the energy eficiency and guality of our

iong-term hold portfolio supports the Campany's long-term resibence.

Risk management

Processes for identifying, The detaled climate-related nisk assessment dentified transitonal and physical nsks and Risk page
assessing, and managing apporturnities Those risks have been proritised over the short. mediam and lorg-term 67
climate-refated risks and and aepropriate actions put In place

integration of those processes Clhmrate-relatea risks are revigwed quarterly at relgvant managemaent comnyttecs

into the risk management AclLaing the fnvestment Commtles. Finance Committee, Devespiment Badard and

framework Cuerations Board Climate-related kPls and prucesses forr part of our inte-nal audit olan.

Metrics and targets

Metrics to manage climate- The Key Performance Ind'cators usen Lo manage climate-related rsks and opportuniues  KPIs page
related risks and opportunities  are reportad or page 26 36
Disclosure of Scope 1, 2 and Gramnger repoits Stope 1 2 and 3 GHT ermssions in o Stream ned Enctgy and Carpar SFCR
where appropriate Scope 3and  Report onpage 113 Statemrent
related risks page 113
Targets used by the Grainger has commutted ta achuving net zero carbon for Scope @ anc Scope 2 GRG EST page
organisation to manage Cmissions by 20370 Progress towards 0o targst 1s cenor led on page 22 We are also 44
climate-related risks urrently explorrg an appropriate carbon reducton targat imclading cus Scope 3

and opportunities and crmssions, follovang the establshment of nur baseling i 2023 Granaer sets annual

performance against targets ESG ohyecties inked to Fxecuative remuneahion, and progress agamst these chiectives
15 regorted enpage 103 This year vee ar2 alsaincorporating Carbon metncs wwto gur LTIP

scherme for the first tore
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Governance
Board oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities

Climate-related risks and opportunities are twice-yearly
scheduled agenda items at meetings of the Board's
Responsible Business and Audiz Committcees, both of which
are attended by all Board members, The Responsible Business
Committee receives an update on £SG strategy and specific
related action plans, reviews progress against climate-related
targets and objectives and receives a standing update on the
external environment, which includes current and potential
legislation and findings fram stakeholder engagement,
including those retated to climate matters.

The Audit Committee reviews the company’s principal and
cmerging risks twice yearly, which includes climate-related
risks The Board and members of the Lxecutive team
consider climate-related issues whon setting objectives, in
budget setting and through the Board's annual strategic
review of the business. The Responsible Business Committee
monitors progress against the business’s ESG objectives

and key strategic climate-related workstreams. including
progress towards Grainger's net zero carbon commitment
(see page 87) at allits meetlings. Climate-related issues are
also considered by the Board and Executive team in key
investment and divestment decision-making and in allocating
major capital expenditure. Board competency in retation to
ESGincluding climate-related matters is considered through
the assessments of skills and experience undertaken upon
each appointment to the Board and as part of the annual
Nomirations Committee review.

Management’s role in assessing and managing climate-
related risks and opportunities

The Rrard has assigned respansibilily lfor management of
climate-related issues to the Chief Executive and Executive
team Executive Comrmittee members are allocated ownership
for the business’s ESG objectives, including chimate-retated
abjectives. An FSG update which includes climale-relaled
issues s a standing agenda item at bi-monthly meetings of
Grainger's Executive Committee and includes a progress
update against the business’s ESG objectives.

Climate-relaled issues are considered within the Company's

risk management framework which 1s overseen by the

GOVERNANCE OF CLIMATE-RELATED RISKS AND QPPORTUNITIES

Committee

Responsible Busine

Fxecutive Committce and Audit Committee. The Company's
orincipal risks, which inctude climate change, are preserted
Uy the Risk Manager to the Audit Committee and to the
Executive Committee twice yearly. They are also considered
at meetings of various sub-committees which report *nto the
Executive Committec, incuding the Investment Committec
which considers climate-related risks related to praoperty
acquisitions and the Development Board which cansiders
cnvironmental risks and oppartunities on development
projects The Chief Executive attends meetings of these sub-
committees

Examples of the key cimate-related risks and opportunities
discussed at these Committees during 2023 include:

e Investment Committee reviewed climate-related risks and
opportunities for potential acquisitions, refurbishments
and disposals

The designs for Grainger’s Birmmngham and London office
relocations including rouse and recycling of furniture

and energy efficiency improvements were considered at
various Committees

Operations Board reviewed progress in .mplementing
Gramnger’s customer emussions measurement strategy

Executive Committee oversaw the development of the
company’s net zero carbon pathway and long-term actions
tc reduce Scope 3 emissions.

» Asset Management reviews were undertaken on por tfolio
energy efficiency performance and improvement plans

The Chief Financial Officer holds day-to-day management
responsibility for assessing managing climate-related nsks and
opportunities The Head of Sustainability & CSR reports to the
Chicf Minancaial Officer. Their responsibilities include ensuring
the implementation of the Company’s sustainability strategy,
and monitoring progress towards Grainger's net zero carbon
commitment through regular analysis of encrgy and carbon
data which is presented to senicr management at quarterly
roview mectings. The Head of Sustainability & CSR assesses
and manages the opoortunitics and risks arfsing from climate-
related issues day-to-day and ensures that key milestones and
KPls are monitored and reported at the relovant Executive
Committee. This includes KPIs related to Grainger’s net zero
carbon pathway such as FPC ratings of C or above, energy
consumption and Scope 1-3 GHG emissions.

Audit Committee

Prinepal ik

Grainger’s Executive team
CFD o =0 :
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TASK FORCE ON CLIMATE-RELATED FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
(CONTINUED)

Strategy The company’s corporate risk framework s used to determine
which risks have a material financial impact, see pages 62 and
63. Our tisk taxonomy i a classihcation of nisks into categories
and sub-categories supported by a risk matnx to consistently

Climate-related risks and opportunities Grainger hias
identified over the short, medium, and long-term

We have defined a longer tme horizen for cimate-reiated assess the imaact of all risks inclucing climate-related nsks
risks compared to other principal risks, based on the sector It uses definitions for five different tavels of risk assessed
inwhich we operate, the geography and bfe of our assets, for impact and probability. Risks allecated to the top two
Short-term nisks are forward looking to 2030, megium-term categories (major’ and "extreme’) would have a supstantial
nsks forward looking to 2050 and tong-term nsks are oking | Anancial (E500k+) and/ or strategic impact on the business,
Leyond 2050 Grainger is a long-term hwestor in cur assets For mere mformation on these assessments please refer to
and therefore we consider thase t'me horizons appropriate as our CDP respanse (section C7 - Risks and Opportunities) at:
they reflect the full asset fecycle, which can extend @ 100 hitps/fwww.cdp retjenfresponses

years ¢ beyond

The potential climate-related risks and appor lunities we have idertified that could have a material financial impact on the
orgamsation are:

Category Risk / opportunity Timeline Business response
Transttion Costs and technology imphications of Short-term - Spectficavon for new develcoments algned 1o
mecting Increased legislaicn such as (<2030 Future Homes Standard

Puture Homes Standard

Technoiogy stratzgy resewed through an ESG lens

increased revenues from developrment Snost-term - Graingers B5C approach including cimate-related
opportunitics mecting the increased demand for - (<2230 strategies s integrated into tid docamentation
encrgy cfiicient nomies in response to climate- For potential developments and inreoarting 1o
related changes m customeor expectations development partners

Increased acress to camtal from resporsibie Short-termm - Sustanable Finance Frameveork

nvestons (203 - Extensive ESG disclosure Yo mvestors

IPcreasing enargy Costs ant enargy seclinity 1Issues Short-torm - Lnergy broker partnarsmip and central encrgy
resuttmg fram climate-srelated charges to the UK's (<2030) contracts for Granger procu-ed enelgy

Cnergy squrces - Refurbishments programme ta .ncrease energy

aefficiency

~ Investng in energy cfficent buldings ard reducing
our customars’ enargy bills

- Reducing rebance an energy netwarks operated
Loy thured par ties and explonrg adernative energy
supples far now developmients

Impact on investor demand for ron-compuart Short-term - Climate-related critonia Ntegrated A0 asset
assels May be impacted by the investor (=2030) investment and recycling strategies
COMmMuUnTy’s own responsg to chmate-relatad - Strategy to enhance the eneigy efficiency of aur
LEUES assets and ensure comphiance
Impatts of changmg wealkor pattorns ard Long-term - Duedinygence of acquisitions and vasling assots
cnergy effic ency on customer acand (=205 inciudes cimate nsks and enargy efficiency
- Returbsnments programme o Ncrease snary
efficiency
- Custormer awareness campaigns to mfluenge
Behaviour
Physirat increased risk of fioodimg Short-term - Duzdl gence of azqu sibons ano existing asssts
1< 2030) includss flooa nsk
- Mouagatior strategios incading Hood management
pans 1 aperation at assets vothidentifisd
potertial rsk
Increased sevarnty and frequency of extremc Medium-term - Comarebensive Busimess Contnt oy Pragrammae
wzather esents (2050 In place

- Duc dibgence of acguisiticns and cxisting assets
ncluges physical curnate risks

- Mugation strateges in operation at assotswith
identihan potennal risk
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Impact of climate-related risks and opportunities on
Grainger’s business, strategy, and financial planning

The impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on
Grainger's business inciude

Products and services: Increased wear and
tear on buildings: increased assel values
following refurbishments

.

Adaptation and mitigation activities: Increased
investment in adaptlation measures for assets
with potential climate-related risks; increased
insurarce costs

» Investment in research and development: Increased
investrment in piloting low carbon heating technelogies

« Operations and supply chain: Business disruption,
infrastructure damage,; communication network
damage; reputational damage

Acquisitions or divestments: Increased investrment
In new developments; ncreased asset recycling

» Access to capital: Increased access to green finance
from responsible investors and lenders

Potential climate-related risks and opportJnities impact
Grainger's business strategles around development,
acquisitions, refurbishment and asset recycling. Climate-
related issues are considered in the development and review
of these strategics and as part of the annual strategic rovicw
of the business Changes made to Grainger's strategies in
response to potential climate related risks and opportunities
include cnhanced asset due diligence pre-acquisition

or pre-develooment, a bespoke specification for new
developments, increased recycling of assets and investrment
in refurbishments to enhance Lthe energy efficiency of assets.
To future-proof our new acquisitions, climate-related critera
are integrated into our specification and due diligence of
potential Investments. We have amended our specification
to include minimurm energy efficiency requirernents and to
prefer non-gas heating systems to minimise future retrofits
Where we are able to, we have updated the scheme design
for new buildings to ciminate fossil fuel heating.

Image removed
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The potential impacts on the Company’s financial position
and financial performance include:

-

Increased costs related to insurance, cnergy
procurement, INvestrment adaptation measures and
compliance with regulation

Increased revenues from rental income and
sales for assets that have undergone energy
efficiency improvemoents

« Increased assets related to increased values of
existing properties and increased investment in
new developments

« Reductionin assets from business disruption and
infrastructure damage associated with any potential
extreme wealher event

« Potential for decreased asset values or early
retirement of assets due to physica. climate-
related risks or any potential non-compliance with
climate regulation

+ Increascd access to capital from responsible tenders
and investors

Grainger's financial planning processes reflect the identificd
risks and opportunities, prieritising any requirerments
necessary to maintan regulalory compliance and then

based on the estimated financial impact on the Company

and its custormers and the impact on our net zero pathway.
The cne-year budget and the five-year business plan both
include estimates of the costs required to improve the energy
efficiency and carbon performance of our assets. This includes
for example expenditure to comply with expected future
building regulations, to meet customer expectations and to
mitigate any identified patential physical climate-related risks.
The scale of this investrment is within Grainger’s normal levels
of capital expenditure and the climate related improvements
usually form part of wider packages of asset improvements
and so we do nol consider it possible to quanUfy the impact
of these considerations on the financial pesition or financia.
perfarmance of tne Company. Cimate-related considerations
farm part of discussions with the external valuers of
Grainger’s assets

The impacts of climate-related risks and opportunities on
dermand for our assets and tuture investment market have
also been considered. When determiming which cnergy
efficiency improvements to make to our buildings. we factor
in the potential effects on running costs for customers

and associated impacts on affordability. satisfaction and
retention, For oxample, we are proposing to commence a
replacerment programme for gas boilers once they reach the
end of their usefultife from 2030 onwards. This is aligned

to the UK Government’s Heat and Buildings Strategy
armbition to achieve cost parity between owning and running
a gas boiler and a heat pump by 2030, ensuring we do not
materially increase running costs fer our customers. We have
considered the potential impact of two climate-related
scenarios (RCP 2.6 and 8.5) on cur financial performance
and position and consider that it is not possible to quantify
an isolated impact from these scenarios. Our assessments
indicate that our portfolic woudd remain operationat albeit
with potentiatly higher levels of fiood and drought risk ir line
with many urban areas.
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Grainger does not currently use an internal carbon price,
however we refer ta external carbon prices in our decision-
making, including the £95 per tonne price set by the Greater
Lendon Authority for carbon offset funds which Grainger
pays Into onits developrments in London.

Grainger’s net zerc transition pathway

Grainger has comnitted to achieving net zero carbon tor
Scope T and Scope 2 GHG enissions by 2030 and our net zerc
carbon pathway se1s out aur approach to achieve this target
and our high-level actions to reduce our Scope 3 emissions
towards net zero The key actions included in our net zero
carbon pathway are:

Net zero carbon in operation
Use less energy Carmunal refurbishnents

Improve 1CC% of PRS properties to FPC
C or abave

Supplying encr gy
efficiently

Replace gas communal heating systems
at end of life cycle with low carbon
alternatives

Feplace individual gas balers at end of
life cycla from 2030 with ww carbor
alternatives

A for all hoat networks Lo be
decarbon sed by 2040 subject to
Goverrment regulation

Renewable cnergy Grainger purchases 100% ronewable

anetgy

Graingor genorales ranewable enargy
through solar PV

Net zero carbon in development

Drect developmert Seek to achiove a £0% reduction in
upfront embodied carnor em 551005 1N
Grangor's direct doveloprnent projects
11 design by 2030 measured against the
Vihole Life Carbon assessment on o
intial desiga for the scheme i question

Direct and forward
funded development

Implernent measuremert and reduction
plars for in-use embod ¢d carbon

Forward funded
development

Reducing our embodied carbor em ssions
from forward funded projects

Strategic land projects Feducing our embodied carbon ermicsons

from strategic land proiesots

Fult deta'ls are published in our net zero
carbor pathway avallable on our website at
wwvygraingerplc co.uk/responsility

Resilience of Grainger’s strategy, taking into consideration
different climate-related scenarios

Granger is supportive of the UK Government’s target to
transit'on to a net zerc carbon economy cons stent with the
Paris Agreement tempaerature goal to Lmit glosal warm ng
o we. below 2°C and pursue efforts towards 15°C, and s
aligning 1ts business strategics to this transit cn As a long-
termnovastorinreal estate assets whch coula be vulnerable
ta physical clmate-related risks. Grainger has also considerad
a scenario congistent with increased physizal chimate-

relatod risks
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In 2022, Willis Towers Watson undertock a physical climate
risk assessment of the Company’s lang-term hold gorifolio
and build-to-rent development pipeling, assessing assat
exposure to a range of acute and chronic climate risks.

This analysis covered all current pipaline schemas and will be
updated to include future acquisiticns, The assessment used
the following climate Repreosentative Concentration Pathways
(RCP) scenarios publisked by the Intergovernmental Panel for
Climate Charge

+ RCP 2 5 which aims to keep global warming at +7 5°C {(below
27°C) above pre-industrial temperatures. This requirés
proempt ard sign ficant reduction of GHG emissions

o RCP 85 which assumres minimal anatement of GHG and
associated global warming of 4°C over the longoer term

¢ These scenargs were considered over three timelines; the
current position, short-term (20305} and mid o long-term
(20505 and teyond).

The assessment identified sarmre acute risk expasure to flood
and vandstorm risks. Windstorm risk is typical for the UK
and could affect all assets with moderate (medum) intensity.
The Company's strategy to mvest i urban locations results
in same exposure to flecod sk in locations such as Bristol,
Lecds and Landon and ene asset in Southampton is éxposcd
to storm surge Affected assets nave appropriate mitigations
incorporated into they gesign and operalion

Under ahigh ermissions sconario from the 20505, drought
stress and heat stress increase and become a medium

risk wnich could iImpact water scarcity and customer
wellbeing, however in the short term or under a low
emiss.ons scenaro, these risks are rated low ar very low nigk
Subsidence conditions also increase beyond 2050 under both
emissions sceraros. We wil. continue to assess potental
risks in due diligence for future acquisitions ana to make
appropriate adaptations where requircd.

We have assessed the business’s exposure to transit.on

risks and believe the business's strategy to sell older, less
efficient assets and wivest in huilding highly efficient build-
Lo-rent properlies ard upgrading our long-term hold PRS
assets leaves us well-placed to meet the requirements of

the net zero transit.on Climate change bas informed ow
asset maragement strategies and we have put policies

and processcs ‘n place to align to future climate-related
regulation and transit.on our portfolio away from fossil Tuels.
We therefore consider the business’s cuy-ent strategy to be
resiient under both climate scenarios The key assumptions
used ir our scenanec analysis are decarbonisation of the gric
By 2035 i line vatk tne LUK Government’s timeline, that heat
pumnps vell be the preferred technology for heating homes
and will achieve cost parity vith gas ba'ers for capital and
rurning costs by 2030 and that heat netwaork decarbonrisation
roguiraments will be introauced.

Risk management

Processes for identifying, assessing and managing
climate-related risks

Climate change s considered to be a principal rsk affecting
leng-term decisions made by the Company such as decisions
cninvestnents and divestments, Theretore 1t is considered

in a broad context within the business's corporate stralegy
and as part of gur corporate risk maragement framework
(see page 67). Graingeridentifics climate-related risks and
opportunities both from within the Cempany through direct,
staff expericnce and engagemaort, and from external scurces,
including through engagemrent with industry bodies that

P ML TS FTRRT SHIL AT oy 2T
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Crainger s a mermber of, our investors And partners, and
through advice from our external sustainability consultants,

Corporate climate-related risks are identified ana assessed
thraugh a number of channels including:

e Periodic sustainability materality reviews, which include
engagement with investors, customers and other
stakeholders to identify the most material sustainability
related risks and opportunities to the business

e Sustainability target-setting, monitering and reporting
processes — Lhrough mternal workshops and meetings of
the Responsible Business Committee

« Regular monitoring of current and emerging legislation

Ongaing manitoring of sustainabitity risks by business
division managers through corporate risk registers and risk
management réevicews

+ Regular mectings of the business's Executive Committae
and Management Committee, where business division
managers feedback risks idertified by their division that
impact the Company or a specific business unit,

Portfolic and asset level climate-related risks and
opportunitics arc identified and assessed through due
diligenice for new acquisitions and risk assessments for
existing assets which cover specific climate-related risks
such as energy officiency ratings of properties and physical
climate risks:

« For new acquisitions - review of sustanability risks for new
acquisitions 1s undertaken by the Investmeant Committee,
Geographical locat’on plays an important part in the
identification of physical risks during the due diligence
process through the use of things such as floocd and
cverheating risk assessienls, dand transiton risks are
identified through additional research and evatuation, such
as assessing the proximity of the assel to public transport

lirks usny WalkScore raungs, and reviewing its energy
cfficiency ratings. Where a nsk 1s identified, the experienced
acquisitions team would work closely with the local
planning authority and the developer to agree appropriate
mitigation strategies

For existing assets - risks are identified through compiling
and analysing data on specific property attributes, suchas
flood risk, subsidence risk and energy efficiency ratings via
¢data obtained from our insurance broker and recorded from
property surveys, This data would typically be analysed
annually and 15 used to ‘nform asset maragement decision
making and the busincss's asset recycling strategy.

Grainger’s risk control framework applies a ‘three iines

of defence' model with clear divisions between each line

The Board of Directors approves the risk management
framework and the Audit Committee supports the Board

by monitoring and reviewing the control processes and
mitigation for the identified risks. The processes for managing
climate-related risks depend on the specific risk identified

but include:

= Business continuity programme which protects the business

against potential impacts from extreme weather events

Membership of Industry bodies including the British
Property Federat'on and UK Green Buillding Council who
assist us with understanding and influencing emerging
regulatory requircments

Implementation of specific mitigation and adaptation
measures at assets identified as being exposed to climate
related risks

» Comprehensive ESG strategy, comnmitments and reporting.

For more details on the Cunnpany™s overall approach 1o risk
management including management of climate change rise,
refer to Principat risks and uncertainties on page 2.

Metrics and targets
Metrics used by Grainger to assess climate related risks and opportunities
Grainger assesses climate-related risks and oppartunities through the following Key Performance Indicators:

Interaal Larken proges ara nat disclased A2 Gravgon dees act 2w rently Pave anate

calcarbos prics

Metric category

Metric

FY22

FY23

GHG ermissions

GHG emiszions (Scope 1and )

1,345 tonnes COe

337 tonnes COZe

GHG emissians

GHG emissions {Scope 3)

G5 605 tonnes CO,e

G4 466 tonnes CO,e

CHG emissions

GHG emissions per unit (based on
emissions reported on CPC cortificates)

21 tonnes CO; per unit

1.9 tonnes CO; per unit

Transition tisks

% of build-to-rent properties with low
carben heating systems

68% of build-to-rent properucs

625 of build-to-rent properties

Tranzition risks

Friergy consumption

13522 MWh

15,240 MWh

Transition rigks

Renewable cnergy consumption

88% renewable energy purchased

90% renewable energy purchased

Climate-related
apportunities

Renewable energy generation

132 MWh

144 M¥/h

Transition risks

FPC Ratings

87% of PRS praperties rated FPC
Band A-C

91° of PRS properties rated EPC
Band A-C

Physical risks Value of assets in locations with medium £532m £R50m
or high exposure to flooding

Physical risks Value of assetsin locations with hugh £1.065m £1.8/8m
or very high baseline water strass (WR]
Aqueduct)

Capital deployment  Investment in energy efficiency £10.5m £91m
Improventents

Climate-related % revenues from ‘low carbon’ products 48 8% 43 8%

opLortuniues

(defined as properties with EPC Rating B

and above)

Remuneration

Proportion of Executive remuneration
linked to climate cansiderations

7% of the 2022 annual bonus
opportunity

7% of the 2023 annual bonus
opportunity
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Irnage removed

Additional disclosures an the Company's environmental
periormance foris property portfolios is provided in the
EPRA sustainability reports available an the website at
wwwegrargerplc couk/responsibility

Scope 1, 2 and 3 GHG emissions and related risks
Grainger reports Scope 1, 72 and 3 GHG emiss'ons in our
Strearnlined Energy and Carbon Report on page 113.
Emissions nave been calculated in lire with the GHG Protocol
Corporate Stanoard and include emissions for the moceding
period ana industry specific efficiency ratios to support
trend analysis

Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions and emissions for material
Scope 3 categories arc externally verified and the verificat on
statements are published on the Company’s website.

Granger’s customers purchase their own encrgy and data
privacy laws make 't cnallenging to obtain actua. custamer
energy data to measure Scope 3 emissions This year we have
implerncented our GDPR corrplant strategy to cbtam actua
customer ermissions data as reporied on page 53 We have
contirued to imolement our 1 iving a Greener Life customer
engagement campaign as réported on page 51

Targets used by Grainger to manage climate-related risks
and opportunities

Grainger has commrtted Lo achieving nat 7ero carbor for
Scope 1 and 2 GHG emissions by 2030 Progress towards
our target is reported on page 59, This s an absclute target
measured against a 2019 basadne We are also carrently
explor ng an appropriate carbon recuction target including
our Scope 3 enussions, following the establishment of cur
baselinein 2023

Granger’s net zero carbon pathway seis out our key

chrectives and act.ons tovsards achieving our targeis
Exarpiesinciude

Improve encrgy efficiency - Ensure 100% of cl gible PR3
propertics achieve EPC Rating C

« Supply energy cfficient.y - Replace gas borlers at their end of
life from 2030 onwards and in & rmanner that ensures vee do
not materally increase running costs for our customers

&D

* Rencwahle cnergy procuremaent - Purcnase renewable
energy for all eligible supples

Grainge~ is commitied to transitioning o net sere carbon in
aligrment with the UK Government’s 2050 target and with
tne goals of the Paris Agreement

Grainger sets annual £SG objectives aligned to the busness’s
long-term ESG cormmitments Performance against the £SG
objectives, including cimate-related objectives, mforms

the non-inancial performance assessment of the bonus
opportunty for the Chief Executive and Chief Financial
Officer 1his year the specific metries linked to Executive
remuneration included

« Basecline carbon emiss.ons for Scopes 1 to 3 to be agreed,
audited and published:

.

Plan to be agreed and published for Scope 1and 2 to
achieve net zoro by 2030,

+ Longer term plan to be agrecd for Scope 3 emissiors: and

= Approach to tackle embeaden carbon to be published pasad
on best practooe,

Refer to the Directors’ Remunerabion report on page 93
We are alsc incorporating carbon metrics into our 2023 LTI2
scheme with a 10% weighting.

Compliance statement
Grainger confirms that

o We begeve our ol mate-related financial disclosures for the
year erded 30 Seplember 2023 are consistent with the Task
Force on Climate-related Frinancal Disclosures (TCFDY
RQecommerdations and Recommended Disclosures (a3
defined in Appendix 1 of the Financial Conduct Authority
uisting Rules)

o Curarnual dsclosure is contamea in the pages above,
please also see the sustainability section an pages 44 ane
4% and our websitc

« We believe that the detail of these climate-relatea financial
disclosures s conveyed in a decision-useful format to the
users of this report
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SECTION 172 STATEMENT

Section 172 Statement

An overview o' the key channels and processes used for
engagement with our stakeholders and outcomes from
this engagement during the year are set cut on page 76

A surmary of the Board's activity and how matters raised
through engagement have been considered in key decis'ons
taken during the year 1s provided on pages 78 and 79

Engagement with our stakeholders

The Board takes its responsibilities to all stakeholders
sericusly, and has acted consistently to promote the long-
term success of the Company for the beneht of Sharcholders,
whilst having due regard to the matters set out in section
172(1a) to (°} of the Companies Act 2006,

Overview FY23 comment Relevant disclosures

Section 172 matter

GRAINGER PLC ANMNUAL

The long tarm

Employees

Business relationships
with suppliers, customers
and partners

he community
and the environment

High standarde
of business conduct

Shareholders

Grainger 1s committed to being a
long-term investor in tomes and
communities, and delivering ‘ong-
term sucrcess to our Shareholders

Employees are at the heart of our
business and our People Strategy
focuses on delivering the highest
levels of learming and dovelopmert,
wellbeing and inclusion

I he relaticnships with our koy
partners and suppliers are critical to
our ability to deliver and maintain
high-gquality rental homes Strong
relationships with our customers
sUppEotts retention asd creales
community within our buildings

We constder communities o
encompass those created within

our buitdings as well as those
around them, and actively scok ways
to promote thriving communities
and to minmise cur impact on the
environment.

Gramnger is proud to be a
FTSE4Good business and adheres
to the highest standards of business
conductin nteractions with all

our stakeholders

We conduct reqular direct
engagemaent wilh our Shareholders
through a range of channels, and
ensure key issues raised are factored
into strateg.c decsion-making.

REFOT AND ACCOUNTS 2003

I he Board undertook a
comprehensive review and

update of the business’s long-term
strategy durmg the year,

The Respansible Business
Cornrnittes overseas employes
engagement and consultation.

This vear we embedded our Peaple
Strategy, conducted D&l activities
and appuead for the National
Equality Standard

Ihe Board considerad reports on
the management of our suppliers,
alternative supplier arrangements
and the review of our approach

1O procurament

The Board receved regular reports
on the business s Customer
Experence Programme

The Responsible Businass
Committee ovorsees community
and environmental matters and
blannaal updates on progress
against Granger's lang-term
FSG commitments, 1ts approach
to net zero carbon and charity
were provided,

Our values set the standards of
conduct for all involved in our
organisation and our values were
a key feature in our refreshed
Company-wide customer service
sty.e training programre,

I his year we continted our
extonsive programme of invesLor
engagement whichincluded over
620 rneetings, 14 conferences ard
a Capital Markets Day with over 60
investors in attendance,

Business model
pages 30 and 31

Our people
pages 45 to 49,

Suppliers
page 79

Suslamability

pages 44 and 45
Responsble Business
Committee report pages
36 ard87

Cur values
page 48.
{Governance
pages /01lo 116

Shareholder
angagemaent
page /6
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RISK MANAGEMENT

Effective risk management contributing
to delivering sustainable growth

Our risk management framework is designed to identify
the principal risks to our business and ensure that they
are being appropriately monitored, suitable controls are
in place and the required actions have clear ownership
and accountability.

Risk management approach

Risk management 1= fundamentatl for rmeeting oar operaticnal
and strategic objectives. The market we operate in requires
effective decision-making, ensuring we properly assess

risks, apply cantrols and balance with returns. We continue
to closely monitor tne exter nal environment accepting

that our influence over external factors can be limited,

and we have demonstrated resilence to risks by focusing

o internal controls and rmitigarts. Risk and resiuence are
important concepts to us that relate to our ability to absorb.
recover, adapt, and transform in the face of stresses, change
and uncertainty,

Qur forward-look ng risk management cthos drives a stronger
focus on emerging risks that have the potential to rapidly
hecome a challenge to our business including the transitior to
net zero Qur appreach is to give appropnate balance 1o being
responsive, forward-iocking, consistent and accountable

At Granger, we seek 1o do this by applying anc reinforcing
oLr rsk management culture in the way we do business and
by adopting a ‘three lines of defence” mocel throughout

ihe business (see ciagram on page 63). Managing risks and
maximising opportunities supports our growth and risk

based decision making has provided ar excetlent outlook for
the future,

We continue to learn and evolve aur mature nsk management
framework which has shown 1ts in-bult “lexibility and 1s
capable of adaoting to a swittly changing environrent.

we have navigated the economic challenges facing the UK
throughout 2023, includ ng rising interest rates 1o contain
inflation, with a strong palance sheet, fully funded pipeline
and fixed cost debt,

Rigorous risk assessment

We cons'der a range of risk categories, including strategic.
market, financial, legal or regulatory. operational, !T. project
and pecple. We ident fy individual risks using both a ‘nottor-
up’and a “top-dewn' approach.

We determine the potential probability and impact of each
risk and give it a gross (before mitigation) and net (aftor
mitigation) score. This identifes whick risks cepend heavily
on irterral mitigating controls, and those that require
further treatment.

We use a ris<-sconng matr-x to ensure we take a consistont
approach when assessing ther overall impact. |his year we
have expanded key impact criteria to other categories of risk
helpng to enhance and further cmbed risk appetite. For nis<s
in operatioral areas, we hase thor likelhood on how often
they occur in a rolt'ng 12-month period. We record therr
impact and likelihood scores in departmental nsk registers
These risk registers are regularly reviewed, reflecting our
adaptability where required. The appropriate internal
commiiiee reviews these registers at least quarterly.

We then collate a Group top risk report for consideration

by the Executive Committee and Auait Committee.

This process has identfied ten princinal risks whoh we monitor
accordingly (sce pages 64 16 67). Three of the prinopal risks
have decreased in taeir likelihood asscssment, whilst seven
remain unchanged from their 2022 asscssment. We have
reached this prudent assessment after considering strong
structural drivers, including a structural supply demand
imbalance. sunported by a pasitive political backdron, the
continusd investrment in our peaple supparted by au” poople
sirategy, and the debivery of cur commitied pipeline reduces
our rse exposdre 1IN 2023 compare Lo 2022 The diagram
below lustrates this assessment.

Mapping our key risks and movement

Current principal risk areas
Marol and transactional

Financal

Feguiatory

Poope

Sunplier

Health and safety
Developrent

Cyner andinformation secunity

Justomers

0000000000

Clmate change

""" P inoicates rsk moverent from last year
¥

Graphic remaved
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We have a structured approach to the identification and
assessment of emerging risks Cur internal committees

are Lasked with identifying nsks on the horzon which may
develop or already exist but a-e difficult to guantfy. We use
a ‘risk radar’ to capture these risks which are monitorec
continuously and reviewed regularly.

The delailed climate-related risk assessment undertaken
during 2022, identified a number of transitional and physical
risks and opportunities. Climate-related risks are inherently
more complex and long-term in nature than most traditional
ousiness risks, and we have prioritised those risks over the
short, medium and long-term and appropriate actions put in
place. Climate change is also one of the Group's key principal
risks {see page &7)

Risk control framework and appetite

The Board has ultimate responsibility for Graingoer's

risk managemoeont and internal control systems, and for
determining the Group's risk appetite. As part of the risk
rmanagement framewark, the structure of nisk appetite
statements align to our principal risks and we have continued
to undertake a detaled assessment of risk appetite for

our principal risks, val:dating a conscious recognition and
acceptance of the risk/reward trade off in pursuit of our
strategy. The Board adopts a generally low tolerance for
risk, particularly for requlatory and reputational matters.
Regarding development risk, a medium risk appetite 15
tolerated by the Board in order to continue to capitalise on
the substantial opporturity withun the PRS, particularly in
relation to buld-to-rent schemes.

The Board approves the risk management framework
developed by the Executive Commitiee. This year we
appointed an external assurance company to cvaluate the
rmatunty of the risk management framewori, the review
concluded Lhat our risk management practices provide a solid
base and the risk management approach is at a maturing
level, Our internal governance structure complements our
evolution to a 'three lines of defence’ model, with a view to
having clear divisions between each ling, This framework
includes varicus management committees, with dedicated
risk registers, overseeing key investment, operational and
corporate functions

The managenent committees and the Exccutive Committee
examine the identified risks, reported controls, mitigation
and the principal nsk report. The Audit Committes supports
the Board by monitoring and reviewing the control processes
and mitigation for the identified risks. This process ensures
we reconsider the principal risks, We moritor the internal
corzrol framewark for these risks through the Internal Audit
manitoring plan and the resulting audit outcomes

—> FOR MORE INFORMATION ON INTERNAL CONTROLS,
PLEASE REFER TO PAGE 88.

Assurance on risk controls is provided by internal
management information, internal audits, external audits
and Board oversight. ¥We also hold assurance maps for our
principal and operational risxs.

Gur risk cullure promotes open communication, however,
we support this by operating an externally supported
whistleblowimng hotline that our people can use anonymously
It they do not wish to use cur other processes for

raising concers

The data protection activities of the business form part

of Grainger’s business as usual processes oversaen by the
Data Protection Committee, consisting af senior people

from across the key areas of the business. The Board and
Audit Committee arc updated regularly on matters arising
and activities undertaken to develop our data protection
compliance regime. Gur health and safety initiative. Live.Safe,
which embeds a culture that puts heatth and safety at the
heart of everything that we do, has remaincd a pricrity.

Looking forward to 2024, we will continue to closely monitor
the external environment, managing risks and maximizing
apportunities and paying particular attertion to emerging
risks. The application of a robust risk management framework
and controls will continue to be fundamentally important,

as well as having the flexibility to adapt to changing

external conditions.

Risk control framework

First line of defence

Management and
financial controls

Policy, procedure and RACMs

Understanding of
risk management.

Board and Audit Committee

Executive Committee

Second line of defence

Risk managerent and compliance
Executive deep dives
Key performance indicators

Owversight by
management commillees

Third line of defence

Internal audit

Risk-based review/audit

Specialist third-party revicws
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Managing our principal risks

and uncertainties

The Directors have systematically assessed the
Group’s principal risks. They have considered them
across four years, which aligns with our viability
staternent on page 68.

Principal risks, uncertainties and opportunities

Risks are considerad by the Beard as an intrinsic part of
stratcgy setting and considerat on of now opportunities

UK outlook

Tneinflationary backdrop of the UK and the pol cies to
bring inflaticn back to its target level have seen interest rate
rses. As inflation begins to cool, rates are Likely to decrease
gradually. In such an environment, people will asually rent
for longer.

Homebuyers are faced with a more ¢nallenging backdrop in
2023 as borrowers, wno already face an increase in their cast
of Lving, will find 1t mere difficutt and more expensive to get a
mortgage. In contrast, the reatal sector wili remain extremely
strong. The sales market has been challenging: Fowever,

we continde to have flexibility over capital recycling and
opticnality to respond to market conditions Qur valuation
poerformance has proven resilient despite wider macro
uncertainty, driven by our rental growth

In 2023. the focus on sustainability issues has intersificd
Disclosure regulation and high energy prices have accelerated
sustainaoility action. Customers that may not have priorit sed
sustainability in the past will demand improved cnergy
eff.cliency to keep bills down.

As the market leager in the private rental sector, Grainger 15
strongly positiored for tne future. The long-term structura
supply constraints remain with puild-to-rent comprising of
only 1 7% of UK private rental sector hoaseholds. We continue
ta support custormer affordability levels through o.r research
which has led Lo ar underslanding that our mid-market
positioning agairst the backdrop of customer affordability
reflects the qual'ty and energy efficiency of our homes.

Alsc. going forward, we continue to scrutinise those risks
most lkely to mpact cur business madel and disrupt
operations, tho impact of energy costs ane the increased
cast of lving on damand in the private rental secior.

&4

Market and
transactional

Unchanged

@

Risk description

I he UK ecanomy s challenging with inflation
remaining elevated, the Labour market slowing.
and interestrate rses to cortaininflabion.

The migh cost of living for howseholds rermams
and benits the abiility of occupiors te deal with
the challenging economic conditions anead

Impact on strategy

Tho impact of energy costs and the rsing
cost of lrang affects demandin the private
rectal seotor

Negative impacls to the vamuation of our
property assets, caused by a reduction in sales
aclisity and the current housimg market as
honewears face significant increases i therr gost

fawer morigage prosucts

Significant costinflation teading to increased
costs on new developments andsor delays
Reduced consumear and investar conhdenge,
Tighter financial conditions set oy baaks
mcluding nsing costs and more imited
availability of inance Insufcent time and
resouces to satisfy cur growth stiategy

000

Key mitigants

Resiuent valuation parformance driven
by strong rental growth, offsetting
yield movemont

Our regulated tenancies crovide res lient
neorme and are appealing to purchasers dua to
rhe inherant @'scount to vacanl possession ard
a higher ievel of cortanty around rental growtn.

The unmodernised nature of our regulated
stock 1s consistently appealng to potental
parchasers onindmidual asset sales

We have a high proportion aof hquio and diverse
assets to enacle sales where necessary, as was
shown clearly in the last economic downiurm.

To support capita. growtn. performance has
heen driven by incomie return, placing the focus
on active asset management in our target
towns aid cities for futu e mvestment

Focus cn PRS with the resibient rature of mid-
man<et cents potentiaily lovorages graater
costomeat flaxdnlty and lowers overall Franc al
commitment cormrpared with home carcrsnp
Renting could be atiractive for customers
dunng uncertam econamic periods, and rertal
growth has historical.y tracked wage growt .
providing a nedge aga nstinflation,
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Impact on our business model

O Trgirate
O Invoit
@ Speerate

IFinancial

Unchanged

@

Risk description

Macre, market, or borrower specific issues
codld rosult in the inability to oblain
sufficient inance at acceptable prces
and/arincrease the cost of any existing
floating rate debt

Impact on strategy

L ack of availatibty from credit markets:
breach of loan and bona covenants;
adverse movement in interest rates could
have an unacceptable impact on the

cost of new debt and existing unhedged
debt adversely impacting delwery of

the growth strategy and our abillity to
nramntam a strong capital structure

000

Key mitigants

we successfully extended the term of our
bank lending for a further year in 2023,
iocking ininterest rates and increasing
our weighted average debt maturity

Our interest rates are very highly

hedged g'ving good protection against
rising rates

We conduct our business within Board-
approved capital operating guidelines and
interest rate hedging policy

We closely monitor our banking
cavenants and our performance agamnst
creditrating criteria and use this
informaticon to drive decision making

We have a diversity of financing sources
and strong relationships with lender s,
We engage early with lenders prior to
funding requirements in order to rmitigate
against refinancing risk

Due to our close monitoring of the
transacbional pipeline, we can control the
timing and number of new acquisitions, to
reduce cash outflows if needed.

CGur strategic focus s to increase income
to provida greater interest cover, We have
aptionality over reultiple sources of
funding including recycling of regulated
tenancies, debt and equity (eguity
markets permitting) with the ability to
flex between sources.

We carry out detalled financial viability
sensitivity testing and develop clear
mitigation and contingency plans

Impact on our strategy

o Grew renl
@ S f g ] oo
° Baldonour oeper eroe

Political and
regulatory

Decreased

00ed

Risk description

Introduction of unfavourable legislation

or regulation affecting Grainger's core
business of developing. owmng and
managing rental hores, carticutarly the
introduction of rent requlation or other
measures whick willimpact on the business’
cperations, income and profitability

Impact on strategy

Newegulation affecting our revenue
streams and prafitabiuty, increasing

the cost of complance through greater
administrative burdens or development
costs. Risk of reduced rental income,
reduced certainty of returns or
profitability: nisk of fines, penalties, and
sanctions, in case aof non-compliance;
damage to reputation loss of operaticnal
efficienay and cormpelitiveness, increased
costs, reductionin market opporturities:
impact on ability to finance opportunities;
inabil'ty to build competitive PRS
portfolio, attracting adverse publicity

Q0

Key mitigants

Proactively we have closc invelvement
with leading industry bodics and
engagement with the relevant
government and poltfical parties

Where required we retain specialist
public affairs consultants to support our
outreach, engagement and influenong on
policy matters.

Qur corporate governance structure
ansures we have the framoework and
oversight to assess our obligations

We have an on-going programme of
rmanagement and staff training

To react to an evolying landscape, we
have mvestad in employing specialist
legal. compliance and corporate
affarrs teams which monitar and
advise internally, and review the
regulatory horizon.

We have well established relationships
with oxpert law firmms and other
professional services organizations who
keop us updated about forthcoming
cnanges to the regulatary framework.

We have strict asset management
controls and compliance processes which
can also adapt to change. Cur position
as the UK's foremost PRS provicler

brings a cultural ethos of leadership and
best practice.
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Cultural link to values
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People

Decreased

RS

Risk description

Failure to afttract. retain, and develop an
inclusive and diverse warkforce 1o ensurc
wi drives business transformation at a
time of business growth

Falture to recognise our talented
colleagues by providing development
opporturities. workplace flexibitity. a
sense of purpose and remuneranon

Impact on strategy

Reduced ability 1o achieve business plan
and strategy, reduced control, inabitity
to grow market share of the PRS, failure
1o innovate and evolve to maintam
competitiveness IN a Customer-anven
market; damage to roputation, increaseo
colleague turnover and lower retention,
failure te recruit a dive-se workfor ce;
ncreased costs for recruitment

00

Key mitigants

We have a strong strategic resaurcing
approach and people strategy which
includes our build-to-rent sites which Fas
lowered churn

Ve Dsten to our colleanues’ views and
opinions by undertaking six monthly
engagernent surveys and act upon
the findings

Wo have a talent identiiication
process and have sucgession plans for
key colieagues.

W have a programme of learning and
devetopment for colleagues.

We carry out reqular performance
reviews with colleagues todentfy
opportunitics to develop. and for internal
caroer progression

We undertake regular reviews of our
benefit structure against the external
market to ensure we remam compelitive,

We are committed to raising awareness
and encouraging diversity amongst

the workfoice through a diversity
network intiative

‘We have Board oversight and a
merrber with specific respansitilities on
colleague engagement.

o
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

(CONTINUED)

Supplier

Unchanged

00d

Risk description

Curranl macraecanomic fackors Croatmg
increased risk of contractor failar
destabilizing the commarual envronment
andimpactng on logistcs and suppiy
cham activties leading to o significant
failure within or by, a key Third-party
supplier of cortractor

Impact on strategy

Reputational damage; increassad

costs mability to achicve performance
objectives, legal actior and regulatory
sanctions, customer dissatisfaction, a
restriction on ability to grow platform,
regative .mpact on orgatisabional

or portfolic growth plars Increased
Grainger werkload to reschoedule reactive
andsor planned maintenance ina

tirely manvier

000

Key mitigants
Cur procurament approach anc policy
promotes having a range of supplicrs

Cur procuremaont approach ano policy
sets our intent towards internal controls
and managenient systams regarding
contractors/suppliers which include
counterparty reviows, and covenant
stre1gth assessmients dre weli developed

The approach ensuies that key
relaticnships are highlighted ard are
managed to a high standard Vie work
closely with a number of lega. specialists
appomted on thor experence of
understanding our businass anu abil tv to
provige appropriate advice

Cur finance team supperis |
ungerstarding tne financal due agligence
of gur supply chain throvgh regalar
dialogue ana revnews

Wowork closety w th our suppy chains
wunderstand any impacts caused oy the
ccanome uncerta aty

BE

Health and safety

Unchanged

00ed

Risk description

A sigarficant health ard salety incdent,
nparticular a fre or gas sately
incident or near-miss OCruTrence,
owing toinalequate o mappropratey
npleriented procedures

<@

Our reputation as a leading landlord
impacted by our ability and responsbility
1w ande stand and follow fire safety

and building control reguirements to
protect our residents Ensunng Thae
performance of our portfolio aligas

to our Frivironmental, Social and
Gouvernance standaras

Impact on strategy

Farrn to custonrers, collcagucs.,
contractors, or visitors, possinle lega.
action o fine, subseguent 1cputatonal
damage. Reduced nvestor interast.

00

Key mitigants

Wee have clear govornance stiuctures in
clace for health ard safety. The Board
sets the diuoction, morifors and reviews
performarce and delegates responsibilioy
to the senicr ranagement team for
orsuring a pos tive health and safety
cdllure Fre safety ard the changesin this
fiewl receves subistartial focus from the
Board and across the nusiness

Qur health and safety management
system s sappor ted by L ve Safe our
inhative 10 promote a positive health ard
safety culture All stalf undertake 2 Safety
Climate survey anaualy

Our techno.angy patform delvers eficient
recording and reporting

Sur sk managernsat frammewmk applios
asystem of cose overaght and reparting
of nealth and safety matters

Voo nave olarned and rear e
rneasures nplace, wnicn
wviater, asbestos, fire

*G

Wie emiplay A deacated dead o Buniding
Safely aswell as expor encec and
0 Lalified 4% professionals

Development

Decreased

R0 @
Risk description

We allocate & portion of aur capital to
development activities whizn may be
romplex and potentially brng multiple
related risks.

Increased costs inGiLoding buila cosr
irflation, l[abou- and rmater ai shartages

Raduction in value through
econoriic ciimate

Impact on strategy

Exposure 1o nisk of cost cverrun, cost
inflation, income shortrall and yoold
expansion, affecting achovemeant of
tre strategy and returns pr deviloping
rent schermes

Q0

Key mitigants

We monitor the capital we deploy to
development matters carefully, following
capital allocation guidelinas and
uidating hurdle rares Lo rafloct provailing
cromomic conditions

Ve carry oat thoraugh dgue aligonce and
in-depth reszarch befere connutting

to a schome, ensunng we have a good
understanding of tne context. the
contractor and its supply chan

Ve proactively monitor cost rflation,
rents end vields to allow us to identify
tremds and understand any negatove
rnsk impact

Vie enter irto fixed grice coatracts with
our sueply cham for constraction

‘e
o

cemploy an experenced team with

coialist development sk'lls anc nave
stablished relaticrships with expert

actvisers ard devaloprment partners

o

Ve haye well-established governance
strucinres wh ch provde strong oversight
w0 our develogment schemas, applving
tho skills of our in-house development
management expests, togethar

with gualified oxterna, consultarts

and professanals

£s part of our PRS strateqgy, the portfalio
of development schemoes now foruses on
Build-to-rernt assets and does not seek
speculative retarns frormnvesting in
dovelopriert that s solely for sale

Ve contnunsta proactively dentify
g.onal supply chain blockages ang are
pivating to more resilent suppuy LNes in a
dyrarmic enyironment
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Impact on our business model

O O g)inate
(’ Imveost
@ Oporate

Cyber and information
security

Unchanged

@

Risk description

Ihe oreach of confidential data or
technology disruption due to an internal
ar external attack on our information
systems and data or by internal security
controb faiture. The delivery of our
technology platform has heighteren this
risk due to the adaption of Cloud SaaS
Solutions and complex APHintegrations,
which broadens our attac< surface

Impact on strategy

Financial loss, fines; reputational damage,
operational and business disruption,

loss of customers; loss of colleagues,
share price devaluation:inability to serve
aur customears, manage our propertics
and conduct our business, compatitive
disadvantage: inability to meet
contractual obligations.

Q0

Key mitigants

We employ an expernenced IT team with
the correct training, knowledge. and
cxperience Lo deflend our networks and
deliver our strategy.

We engage external security expertise 1o
carry out regular penetration testing to
ensure our systems are robust

We have implemented an online Cyber
Security training and awareness system
for all colleagues

We operate a Security Information Event
Management system which uses artificial
intelligence to baseline normal digital
behaviour and 1dentify anomalies through
advanced analytics, alert detection, and
threat visibility

We continue to evolve our suite of
Information Security and Data Protection
policies which provide guidance to
colieagues and align to best practice
standard IS0 27001,

We have a Cloud Security partner
responsible for our scournty improvernent
programime and ta ensure our technology
platformis well undorstood. resilient and
protected now and in the futuze

Impact on our strategy
o Orom rents

@ Sieepl fyoar tous

o Buldd onour exnenerce

Customer satisfaction

Unchanged

00ed

Risk description

Cur ability to succoessfully retain cur
customers caused by a faiture to fulfil
our customer proposition and our service
standards. amidst a hackdrop of cost of
living rises.

Impact on strategy

Negative publicity: increased complants;
poor customer expernence, reputational
damaqe, loss of customers, lower «ental
increases: rent arrears and igher voids,

000

Key mitigants

The UK rental market continues to have a
hugely attractive outleok that favours the
professional, large-scale landlord,

We provide high quality modern homes
with loveer runming costs,

We have a dedicated Customer Service
Desk with a siagle phone number for
residents 1o raise gueries

We embed our ESC strategy across
our business and throughout the
customer experience

Through our technology platform we
have an improved lettings Journey for all
custorners making it easier 1o lease and
renew with us

Ve continue to manage and support
individual arcumstances arising fram the
economic uncertainties,

We have a leading operating pltatform
with substantial experience in managing
a pottfolio of approximately £3 3bn of
assets and of mesating the ~equirements
of our residential customers

Our operating model is designed to
nrovide a platform for optimising a
customer-focused strategy.

Chur proactive asset managerment
means we can gather grealer assetl and
customer knowledge.

We carry out customer service-focused
reviews measuring customer preferences
and satisfaction lovels.

We monter customer feedback through
several channels, such as Google reviews

Qur cotleagues receive CUSLOMEr sCrvice
training, and therr performance is
measured against key metrics,
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Cultural link to values
@ Freery har e matter:

® Pogie e loare

9 leacirg the aay

0 Fxeooding exsectanon:

Unchanged

Climate change
0Ped @
Risk description

Theimpacts of climate change on Grainger's
business and aperations; including an
axtrerne weather eveni adaplation to
changes in weather patterns, cormpliance
with increased climate-related regulation;
ertergy security and price volatiliny, the
cost and technology implications of
transitioning to a 2ero-carbon oLonarny,
customer and investor prefercnee for maore
energy efficient properties and grewing
stakeholder expectations,

Impact on strategy

Business disruption, nfrastructure damage
communication network darmage. mcreased
insurance costs; reputational damage,
increased wear and toar on buldings, cost
of nvestment adaptation maoasures

Decreased asset value, asset impairment
or garly refirement of existing asscts.

Additional capital expandifure to
adapt buldings, increased disclosure
requirernents, tougher building standards

Risk to Company brand and reputation
and associated impact on secuning and
maintairung investment.

Q0

Key mitigants

We wotk closely with Government
bodies to influence and stay abreast of
regulatory developments,

We are members of leading industry bodies
whao influence policy on energy efficiency
and emerging building standards.

Due diligence of acquisitions and existing
assets includes physical nsks and transition
risks such as flood and ERC nisks.

We irvest in improvements to our propartics
to mitigate and adapt o climate change.

We are a responsible business wilh

a strong commitment to rinimising
our impact on cimate change and
comprehensive disclosure on our
performance in alignment with TCRD

We have a detailed net zere carbon
strategy and pathway, with clcar
ohjectives and actions to achieve net zero
carbon for our operatiors by 2030.

Climate-related metrics are integrated
nto Cxccutive remuneration.

Cur Business Continuity planning s
gavernad by our Crisis Managernent team
to ensure we're prepared for disruptions
to aur offices ar sites
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VIABILITY STATEMENT

In accordance with the 2018 UK Corporate Covernance Codo,
the Board has assessed the prospects of the Group over a
longer pericd than the 12 manths required by the ‘Going
Concerrn’ provision. In doing so, the Board conducted the
review considering the Group's financial position, busiress
strategy. the current economic envirormen* and the gotential
impact of our principal risks anag future prospects.

The strategic plan is reviewed and approved by the Board
each year. with year one forming the budget for the nex:
financial year, This plan s regularly reviewed to ensure it
remains reflective of current operating and macro-econcmic
environmerts, and provides a pasis for setting all detailed
financial budgets and strategic actions that are subseguently
uscd by the Board to measure and monitar perfermance and
the Remuneration Committen to set targets for the arnual
ircentive plans.

The Board has reviewed its strategic and financial plans

in detait and belioves that a viabiity assessmert period to

30 September 2027 is appropriate. given this covers the per.od
of the detalea strategy review and incorporates both the
timescales for the significant majority of investments and
returns currently considered as being secured and comrmitted.

The Group’s business medel has provor to be strong and
resilient throughout economic cycles even with higher levels
of gearning, consistently demonstratingits ability to sell
assets and let vacant properties to provide stable income
returns and cash generation, even during challenging market
conditions, Currently the Group directly owns £3.3bn of
residential property assets. many of which arc ¢ a relatvely
granular nature which are attractive to investors and
therefore relatively liquic. as proven througnout previous
praperty cycles

Tne Group would remain viasle even in tha event of severe
and sustained house price deflat'on as it woud be able

to accelerate the natural conversion of cur assets to cash
nciuding the sale of tenanted assets and reduce ¢r suspend
development ang acquisition actvity. Cnly an unprecedented
and continuad long-term decline in residenzial property
valvations, significant reduction in rental income and lack of
Liquidity in UK resident:al property markets s a scenaro that
coutd conceivably cause a matenal threat to the Group. In this
situation. the Group has the eption to continue to let assets to
gengsrate income and protect overall asset value

The financing risks of the Grouw are alse considerad tw have
animpact on the Group’s inarcial viabiuty The two principat
financing risks for the Group are the Group's abil ty to replace
expiring cebt faciit s ard adverse movements in interest
rates The Group has been successful in securing longer-term
furding to deliver the secured PRS pipe.ne and has prepared
the strategic plan on this basis. The Group currently has total
fac lities of £1 985bn wth an average matunity of 5.5 years
ircluding extension options. At 30 September 2023, 1 549br
was drawn, demonstrating the significanl heacreom avalabe.
During the period of this revier, £75m s due tomature n April
2026 (wath extensior options available). ard a further £75m

in July 2026, In additior, the Grcup continues to manage

its interest rate risk exposure through fxed rate borrowing
and w th interest rate swaps matching almest all planned
drawdowns The Group has put in place hedging faci_ties
covering expected drawings to ensure 't rerrains sufficiont.y
hedged untit boyond the pened of th's rovicw

68

The viability assessment was made with the Group strateqy
forming the base case and then recognising the principal risks
that could have an impact on the future performance of the
Corrpany. The base case reflects the Groups assessrment of
the current operating environment and these risks consider
further changes to the macre-ecoromic envircament,

The planning process incorporates severe scenarnic planning,
with the amalgamatior of multiple risks which may result
from potlitical and ecanomic uncertanty, including sensitivities
to rental level, asset valuations. financing and costs to assess
theimpact on the longer-term viability of the Company

The sensitivity analys ¢ involved modelling a nurnber of
scenarios. The most extrerme downturn scenario, reflecting
a severe economic downturn, incorporated the follow ng
assumptions during the assessment perica

« Reducing rental levels with lower PRS occupancy (-15%;)
and lower growth (-15%), impacting both income and
property valuations:

= Further reductiors to property valuations of 20%;

» Costinflatior on canstruction and operating costs of 20%:
and

+ Inlerestrates increase by 5% for the duration of Lhe review
period and our credit rating s downgraded cz.sing Lhe
coupon rates of our two corporate bords to each step up by
1.25%.

The amalgamaticn of these scvere sconarios leads to ar
overall reductiorin asset value of €.35% over the review
period Even at these levels and before any mittigating actions,
LTV and ICR remain comrpiant witn banking covenants
through the periad of this review

Throughout this downside scenario. the Group had sufficient
resources to remain in operation and compliant with its
barking covenants This scenario testing, together witk the
Group's strong financial position, current rent coallection

and leltings evidence, and mitigating actions avaitable
including selling assets and deferring non-committed capital
expenditure, support the assessment that the Group will have
the ability to continue to meet 1ts Iabilities as they fall due.

Based on the Roard’s assessment, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to
continue in cperation and meet its dabilities as they fall due
over the four-year period to September 2027,

Our 2023 Strateg'c Report from pages 1to 68, has been
reviewed ard approved by the Board of Directors on
21 November 2023,

Rob Hudson
Chief Financial Officer

LoMgA
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CHAIR'S INTRODUCTION TO GOVERNANCE

THTOTTICI e

The Board considers leadership, culture and
good governance, taking into account the
interests of all our stakeholders, as essential

to our continuing success

In this report

Leadership and purpose

The Board’s primary function 1s te promote the wong-
term sustamabie suocess of the Company. It does
this by leading by example, promoting the culture

of the businass and ensuring effective engagement
with, and considering the interests of stakeholders,
Mare information can be found on payes 72 to 79

Division of responsibility

The Board ensures that the Campany has the correct
hatance of Executive and Nan-Executive Cirectors

in order to «wad the Campany effcctively, with clear
definition of the respective responsibilities of the Board
and Lhe execulive leadership of tne Company. Please see
pages 80 ana 81 for more details,

Compeaosition, succession and evaluation

The Board mantains an appropriate balance of
skills, experience and knowledge to ensure that

it can effectively lead anc govern the Company.
Effective evaluation of Board performance and
succession planning are crucial in this. To fird out
maore pleasc see pages 82 to 85,

Responsible business

The Board provides oversight of the delivery of the
Company's ESG strategy including its 2030 ‘net zero in
aperalions’ commitment and its diversity ardinclusion
plans. Pleass see pages 86 and 87 for more details of
ou- actions in this arera.

Audit, risk and control

The Boara sots the Company's strategy, taking account
of the need to balance risk and reward With the
cversight of the Beard, the Audit Committee bas
established forma! and transparent processes to
oversee tnerdependence and effectiveness of internal
and exterral aud t functions. Pagos 88 to 92 provide
cetails of those acuvtes

Remuneration

Qur RemiLneration Policy aims to ersure that the
Executive team s appropriately and fairly incentivised,
and aligned with leng-term, sustainable strategic
execution. We also monitor wider colicayus
recruncration across the business More inforration
15 avallable at pages 93 to 171
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Dear Shareholders,

The Directors and | are committed to applying
effective corporate governance and promoting the
highest standards of behaviour and values throughout
the Company.

| am therefore peased tointroduce this vear’s corporate
governance ~eport, ir which we describe ocur governance
arrangements, the aperatior of the Board and ifs committees,
and how the Board discharged its responsibilities.

The Compary has operated successfully macnallenging
macro environment, ansing from poiitical and economic
instability and uncertainty, Througnout the vercd, the
resilionce of Grainger's business modet, and the growth
cpportunities 11 the sector have become increasingly
apparent The Company’s priorities for this period have been
ensuring that this resilicnce continues, we daliver our new
schames effectively and we make the most of the availabe
opportuntios while protecting the interests of our customers,
cotleagues and Shareholdors.

The Board was abie to provide strong support to the
management team We nave considered and debated various
challenging scenarios, taking into account the interests of ail
the Compary’s stakeho.ders

Michacl Brodtman. who joned the Board on 1 _anuary 2023,
has brought significant experionce in the property sector
ardis already adding significant value to our growth and
develocpment plans

This year s set ta be a year of exceptional delivery or our
business strategy. We Fave sever schomes due to complete
this year, delivering a furtrer 1,640 hemes at sites across
the country The Board has focused on ensuring that this
delivery 15 balanced with continuing focus on the effective
rmanagement of our existing vortfolio.

The 2oard has cortirued ta focus heavily on the Company’s
ESG activities, whic1 have seen good progress in embeading
a data driven approach. We have overseen the development
of a 2030 net zero plab and signifcant improvements in

the measurement of cotr our direct erssions and those

of our customers. We bave received regular upaates on

the Corrpany’s activities in creating now commranitics at
our sites and how wo arc Maintaining our nigh customer
satisfaction ratos.
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Image removed

The Board has continued to provide aversight of the proposced
conversion to REIT status over the next two to three years,
enhancing returns for Shareholders.

The Beard conducted an assessment of the Company’s
strategy in June of this yoar. We looked at how the swift
changes in Lhe macra-ecanomic backdrop, particularly the
move from a low inflation, low interest rale environment to
one of high inflation and high interest rates should alfect
our strategy. We concluded that cur drive for growth
should continue and the benefits of increasing scale
remain unchangeaq,

Good governance also means ensuring we have ngorous risk
managerment and controls in place and we have reviewed and
strengthened our approach in this area The application of
the sk'lls and experience of the Directors. coupled with the
wide-ranging work of the Audit Committee, provides strong
governance for the benefit of all sur stakeholders. To learn
more abaut ocur Board activity in 2023, please see page 75

Mark Clare
Chair

21 November 2023
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“Grainger continues to
increase the scale of its
PRS business and
deliver operational
excellence through
its culture, people
and investment in
technology.”

Hignlights

1. Oversight and leadership of the response to the
volatile and challenging macroeconomic environment.

2.Compliance with the Corporate Governance Code
during the year.

3.Enhancement of our ESG regime,

4.Board review and re-affirmation of strategy.

5. The Board visited our asscts and met our team.

6.Focus on the wellbeing of staff and customers,
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LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE
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Non-Executive Chair

Appointment
Appomnited Char
i Eepruar ¢ 2047

Skills, competence and experience
Mark nas wida-rangog expanenco in a
rumber of w2000s and @xiensie kNS o
of the resioent.al property markst, He bas
stbstantial plo-level expe
of Ricardn ple, semor ndspendont dire
of Whckes
diector of Premier Marinas Holdirgs
Lirmited. Mark was ch of executive of Barrart
Develoomerts poo from 2206 10 2075, and

is aformor trustoe of the Building Qeseaich
Esrablsnrrent and the UK Green Zuld ng
Councl Priar toroaming Barratt heoowas an
executive direcior of Centr ca plcand reud &
nurbar of senice roles withun both Certrica
e and Botsh Gas Matk has a'sobeena
P-gxecUTlse chrector of Ul d Ut Unes
Crroap ple, Ladbrokes Coral Groop plo ana
Basple, the arports operator

sce ardis char
tar
Graup plo ansd a non-sxecltive

Tenure
& years and 7 months

Chief Executive

Appointment

Appcinted 1o the Board
in MNovember 2015

Skills, competence and experience
Helenis a b ghly expenenced. proven and
well regardea real estate mvestor She has
SgrflZan T O NG WOrkKing 4oross a wids
ange of real estate asact classes, imcluang
ential property This 5 cominned vath an
oxtensive vrovlcage of the City Helenis the
2N ingependent Nen-oxecutive direcion
of Darwent London ple, a non-excoutize
airector of BusingssLUN, vice chair of EPR
ard a noard member of tha British Progerty
Federat on of which sihe s tho iorner
President, hav a9 stepped dowrin 0
at tneend of her term Sheis a charterad

surveyor ana before joming Grargor

sonbal hzad of R 56y

. fScotane ple
b held senior property positiors
at Legal & Seneral Inveztmert Management,
Ralltrack and Jonn Laing Developmanis

Tenure
Jogears and 175 munths

GRAINGER PLC N~ 0 ¥ 5T s 270 T,
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5. Janette Bell
Nen-Executive Director

OOBE

Appointment
Appointed to the Board in February 2012

Skills, competence and experience
Janette 1s the managmg director of FirstBus,
part of FirstGroup ple She s a director of
the Confederation of Passenger Transport
janctte held the position of chef executive
afficer at P&O Fernes from January 2018 to
Septermnber 20270 Janette s an expenanced
hoard director, with a breadth of operational
experience in customer contric organisations
She was sales & marketing d rector for
Hammersor ple and has also worked in
sanior customen strategy and marketing
positions at PwC, Tesco and Centrica, where
she was sales and marketing director of
Britsh Gas Services

Tenure
4 years and 9 rmonths

GRAINGER PLC ANNLU AL 2 POGRT

diveclors

3. Robert Hudson
Chief Financial Officer

©

Appointment
Appomted to the Board i August 2621

Skills, competence and experience

Rob has nearly 30 vears’ expetience in
finance Rob was previcusly the chief

finance and operations officer and interm
chief executive of St Modwen plc, where he
worked from 2015 to 2021. Pricr to that, Rob
was the group financial controller at Briush
Land ple from 2011 1o 2215, Rab joined
PricewaterbouseCaopers on graduat.on, than
maoved to Experian plein 2000 where he held
anurnber of senior inancial roles, including
glohal finance directar of 1ts Dacision
Analytics business and UK finance director.
Rob s a qualified char tered accountant

Tenure
Zyears and 1 month

6. Carol Hui
Non-Executive Director

OOO®

Appointment
Appointed to the Board in October 2021

Skills, competence and experience

Carol has substantial non-executive
oxporiance N awide range of sectors and
has particular experuse in law, sustainability
and infrastructure Carol s a non-executive
director of Breedon Group ple. where she s
the chair of the sustamability commitiee
Carol 1s also a non-executive director of

the Lord Chamberlam's Comrittee in the
Royal Household and a boara trustee of
Christian Aid Carol was the non-exccutive
charr of Robert Walters ple until 2020 Inan
executive capacity, Carol s mostrecent role
was as chief of staff and general counsel at
Heathrow Airport, stepping down in August
2021 Carolhas served in senior positions

in o1l ana gas, logistics and infras<ructure
companies. Sho was also a corporate finance
laveyer at Slavghler and May.

Tenure
2 yedrs

ANDACICCUNTS 2022

4. Justin Read
Non-Executive Director

GEOOE

Appointment

Appemnted to the Board in February 20717 and
appointed as Semor Independent Director in
February 2327

Skills, competence and experience

Justin has subsrantial experience in roal
estate and corporate finance Justin s a
non-executwve director of lhstack ple, Afainity
Wate L imited and Marshall of Cambridge
Holdings) Limited, chairing the audit
committee of all threc companics Justinis
an adviser to Real Estate Balance and an
incdependent member of the Investrment
Committee of the Legistis pan-Curopean real
estate fund e was group finance director of
SEGRO gle from Augusl 2C11 to December
2076 Between 2008 and 2011, Justin was
group finance director al Speedy Hire ple

Tenure
& years and 7 months

7. Michael Brodtman
Non-Executive Director

HOOH®

Appointment
Appointed to the Board in January 2073

Skilts, competence and experience
Michael was Chairman of the UK adviscry
arm of CBRE. having spent a 40-year career
at the agency. Michacl lad its valuation

and operational real estate departments,

©growing specialist teams in cmarging sectors

and internationatly. He moved into the role
of chairmanin fanuary 2020 and retired on

© 30 June 2022,

Michael 5 a non-executive director of Target
Healthcare REIT. Chair ot the Industral
Dwelling Society and a strategc adviser to
the Unite Student Accommodation Fund

He is a | ellow of the Royal Institution of
Chartered Surveyors and a Trustee of Jewish
Care the health and social welfare chanty
serving London's Jewish community

Tenure

. 9 months
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LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE
(CONTINUED)

Purpose
Grammger’s purpose is to enrich lives by previding high-guality
rental homes and great customer service,

The Board keeps this nurpose in mind when considering all
decisions 1t takes,

Culture

The Board believes that the culture ot a business, n
corjunction with its values, 1s vitally important to its
successful long-term performance and is integral to all that
we do, including governance. How the Board members,
particularly the Executive tearn, conduct themsewes sets the
culture within the Company

The Board assesses and monitors the culture of the business
to ensure that poticy, practices and behaviour throughout are
atigned with the Company’s purpose, values and strategy

In November 2022, the Beard received a detailled presentation
fram the Chiel People Officer on culture and engagement
and how if supports our strategy. The Board was irformed of
our employee engagement survey cesults, highughting what
we do well and the areas where the Compatty andits senor
management can improve The Board monitored actiwities

10 increase diversity and inclusion Tho Responsibe Husiness
Committee provided details of our crmployee crgagement
plans to the Board.

We report further details on cur culture and employce
engagemeant an page 76 During the year, the Board and | have
also spert time with our people from across the business,

on site visits and took these opoartunitics to gauye ther
views on the husinzss, the strategy andits implementation,
The Beard receoved the rosults of areview from the Chair

of the Responsible Busiress Commiftee on employee
engagement activities.

The Board oversaw and recerved reports on the progrossion
of the people strategy, including enhancoments to our
recrurtment. onhoarding anda inducLon pragramimes and
processes. our angoing menlorsnip scheme and our diverse
tatent and future leaders urogrammes.

The Company undertcck a significant project inworking
towards accreditation with the Navonal Equality Standard,
recognising our commitment 1o diversity, equity and incwsion,
Involving interviews with many of our colleagues and a
comprehensive review of our processes and practices.

We firmly believe thal the cutture of the Company is strang
ard has enabled us ta nerform wellin these very challenging
market conditions. Ou- people understana and supoort

the strategic direcuor of the business and are focused ar
delivering it

Stakeholder engagement

The Board belisves that good engagement with stakeholoers
and investors s key to understanding their views. We are

also supportive of the erpphass the Code puts on the wilaer
staxeholder group, particularly the Board's duty under Scction
W72 of the Companies 40t 2000 In order o achicve our amm of
be.ng the UK’s leading residennal andlord. we keep in cortact
with our people, customers, supplicrs and investors 1o ensure
that we harness their views and communicate the Comnany's
progress Please see page 63 for our Section 172 Statement,
page 77 for aur well-receved Capital Markets Day ard page
76 for examples of our work with our stakeholder groups

74

Specifically, regardng our investors, Helen Gordon and Rob
Hudsen had over 600 engagements wath the Company's
Shareholders and analysts throughout the year.

Compliance with the 2078 Corporate Governance Code

The governance rules appiying to all UK companies on the
Official List of the Uk Listing Authority ara set out in the Code,
published by the Financial Reporting Councl (FRCH. You can
obtair copies of the Coge from www frc org.uk. The Board
fully supporis the principles set out in the Code and confirms
we have compued with ad its provisiens throughout the
financal year ended 30 September 2023, except for Code
provisien 38 for which non-compliance existed until January
2023 0 respect of the Executve pension equalisation issue
referred to on page 110,

This report sets out Graingor's governance policios and
practices and includes details of how the Comgpany appliss the
principles and complies with the provsions of the Code.

As required by the Code, this report describes our activities
and key achievermnents dunnqg the year, giving Shareholders
and stakeholders the necessary information to evaluate how
the Code’s Principles have been applied.

{nformation flow

Tha Charr and the Company Secretary ensure the Directors
recewve clear, imely informauon onall relevant matters.
Board papers are airculated wellin advance of meetings to
ensure there is adequate time for thern (o be read and to
faciltate robust and informed discussion.

The papers contain the CEO' S raview, Finance review, reports
o each business area, key Agures and papers on spedific
topics of interest to the Board Minutes of the Executive
Comnuttoe rmeatings and detailed Pnancial and other
supporting imformation are atso provided. The Boara recerved
presentations throughout the year from vanous departments

cross the business and from external advisers on subjects
inciuding fnancing, regulatory issues far listod comparnes.
husiness valuation, ESG and customer feedback, The papers
also contamn infarmation gn how stakeholder interests have
been takan into account when considering decisions taken by
the Cormpany.

The CEO also provides ad hoc updat=s to the Board an
s gnificant matters between meelngs

Effectiveness

The standard Board schedule sots six forrmal meetings
throughcut the year, one of which was a two-day off-<ite
sessior specifically focused o a review of the Caompany's
lorger-term strategy.

The Board has a st of matters reserved Lo it and a rollirg
annual plan of 1items for discussion, agreed petween the Charr
ardthe CEQ. They review the list of reserved matters and
annual plar regularly, to ensu-e tney are properly covered,
together with other koy 1ssues as required. At each Board
mecting, the CEO provides a roview of the business. setting
out how it has beer progressing aga‘nst strateg.c objactives
ard detalls of any issues arsing. I addition. items that require
formal Beard approval are circuated in advance with all
sLpporting paperwork to ad agpropnate decisions.

GRAINGER PLE ~°.%\ 4_=_=7
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Membiers of the Board spent time visiting our buildings,

Solstice Apartments and Enigrna Square, in Milton Keynes,
Gilders Yard in Birmingham and The Headline in Leeds.

Board members mel staffl al these sites. October
The Board activity table below shows examples of the
subjects and matters the Board debated and considered
throughout Lthe year.
Attendance table to 30 September 2023 January
Meetings  Meotanigs eligble
Cxetutive ©orectars attendead o atand
Helen Gordon o |3
Rob Hudson 5 3]
S April
Meatings  Meetirgs eligible
Mor-.xerutive G rectors attenged tovasiend
Mark Clare B _ &
Rob wWilkinson 2 2
J-ustm I_Qead ’ s} s} Ju"y
Janatte Bell 6 5
Caroi Hu 0 5
Michasl Brodtrmar ’ 5 5

Board activity: How the Board spent its time

. ®y
Board mecting b=t

Board meetings 2022/23

Trew :lto

December

Strategic 25%

« Carried cut anin depth roview of
Grainger's strategy It considered
further opportunities for growth inthe
current PRS market. and the macro-
economic conditions of high inflation
and high Interest rates

Received market update reports and
presentations from JPMO and Mumis
regarding performance inrelation to the
market and peoer grodp campanies

= Considered competitor activity in tha
PES scctor

Monitored the econormic, iegislative
and geo-pelitical landscape and
received and considered papers an the
developing impact of the rising cost
of lving, pelitical changes and high
Interest rates

« Considered the ESG strategy for the
business, including our "path to net zaro
carbon’, which 1s now an integral part
of our business, and reviewed progress
reports throughaut the year.

Transactions 15%

+ Reviewed reports on the progress of our
development schemes procecding in
partnership with TfL

Considered matenal transactions and
business cppertunities including, among
others, cur PRS schemes in Milton
Keynes, Guildford, London, Nottingham,
Cardiff. Dorby and Sheffield

Received reparts on the progression of
cur existing development projects in
the UK.

Considered the ESG impact of
prospective transactions,

-

-

People and culture 15%

= Rocewedreports on the activities to
increase the diversity of the busimess
including the actraties of the Employes
Diversity & Inciusion Metwork

= Roceived reports un rourdtables
with ermployees

» Reviewed the culture of the business
and employee engagerent
This included the Chief People Officer
presenting the results of the annual
employee angagemaont survey to
the Board

o Reviewod roports and updates on the
heatth, safety and wellbeing of our
people and customers

Governance 10%

» Underteok and considerad an external
evaluation of the Board's offectivencss,

+ Received briefings on requlatory and
gavernance 1ssues

« Considered Sharehalder relations, in
particular Lhe feedback from investars
and analysts in connection with the
2022 full year results and the 2023
nterim results,

= Received repot ts on development of the
E5G strategy and our activities in this
area, particutarly the ‘Path to Net Zero'
plan

« Received reports from the Nominations,
Audt, Remuneration and Responsibie
Business Cormmittees

Financial 20%

Roviewed the Company's asbt and
capital structure,

Reviewed the Comoany's

financing plans.

Consivered the Group's financial
performance throughout the year
Agreed the continued application of
the dividend policy.

Monitored performance of the agreed
KPls for the pusmaess.

Recaived reports onmnteraction
with the credit ratings agencies and
insurance providers,

Operations 15%

L

Considered health and safety malters.

Considered management of
our supphors, and alterrative
supplier arrangements

Recored reparts from consultants on
our customer service performance and
other operational KPIs.

Qversaw the developrnent of
Grainger's National Equality Standard
accreditation project.

GRAINGER PLC ANXNJal RFPORT AN ATTOUNTS Z022
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LEADERSHIP AND PURPOSE
{CONTINUED)

How the Board understands and responds
to the needs of our stakeholders

The Board takes the interests of stakeholders into
account when making decisions. The relevance of

each stakeholder group may increase or decrease by
reference to the issue in question, so the Board seeks to
understand the needs and priorities of each group during
its deliberations.

This, together with the combination of the consideration
of long-term consequences of decisions and the
maintenance of our reputation for high standards

of business conduct, is integral to the way the

Board operates.

We have continued to embed stakeholder mtorests

inte the culfure and operating modet of our business.
Papers presented to decision-making committeas mclude
a seclign on stakeholders' nterests

)

Customers

Receved reports on customer insight
programme outouls

Rewviewed and fed back on plans to nmmprove
customer servica

Oversaw ESGimnhatives including '1iving a
Creenar Life’ to assist customars toeduce
energy usage

More detail on how Granger delivered forits
customarsisincluded on page 74

o

Sharenolders

Reviewea and corsdered rewarts of
ety with msestors

Cansinered questions and commmaents
from analysrs

Mat wath the Company s brokers to
unaerstand insestor senument

Mare detan an Gra nger's engagement
with Sharelelders s cwded on page 73

@

Suppliers

Considered reperts on key
ard po

/

upplicr relat onerins
fzrmarce and alternatize supaasr lans

Guersaw an overhaul of the Company's
prrocurcrnent strategy and abproach 1o supoy
chain masagerient

More detas on Gramger's engagorment vath
supplbers isincluded onpags 7

76

Grainger plc
Board

A key focus for the Board over the last year has been
developing our FSG acuvities. The Beard receved
presentations and held discussions in relation to our activities
in this area. Tne Board reviewed the actions taken to progress
cur strategy. incluaing the Journey to Net Zero’ strategy and
updates on '£5G and the External Environment”.

For nei zero carbon, the key focus was establishing a Scope !
10 3 erussions baseline against which to measure our future
prograss, and approval of our net zero transition pathway

For the social value priorities, the Board considered the
expectations of all stakeholders and was heavily 'nvolvea in
shaping the prorities. For more information on this please see
page 49

®

Local communities

Bovigwed reports on Grainger s engagement
with local commuarities

Considered schames imwhich Grammger
particisated at developrient sites

Revewad commiinity ehigaiggemant planas
y engaig f

e

Qovernment

Censidered reports on Grainger 's
contnbut ons to Government mMatters

Cvcrsaw Grafngc's elationshigs with
key iocal authority partners

sviev ed reports on reelings stk
nent. shadow goverrment and
ofvials

nart,

Colleagues

Montored employes 21g3gemont survey resulis

Char of Responu.ble Busimess Committ
coleagues i a seres of roundtanle ce=ting
canyas 2rmplo pee visws

Recersed updates ap tne Lompanys agpucausn for
ratwiral Equadty Staadard acoreaitation

Consdared the gende” pay gap for Lro busmoss
and means to address it

Engagement voth ermgoyeses at office and site wiars

Frorived reports oo the actwvity of the Empla e
Orrersity & Inclusion Network

Maore detal on Grainger’s engagsemen' et
wrnnlyyess s incl ded or page 79,

GRAINGER PLLC ~AR&nt 223700 4007
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Key Shareholder events 2022/23

An on-going dialogue with cur Shareholders is funaamental
to ensuring that there is an understanding of the strategy
and governance of the business, and that the Board is aware
of theissues and concerns of our investaors. In this section of
the report, we highlight the key activities of cur Shareholder
engagement prograrmrme throughout the year.

October 2022

April 2023

+ Closed period » Closed peniod

November 2022 May 2023
» Company « Company
Results Roadshow Results Roadshow

+ UBS Global Real Estate .
Conference and property
tour (London)

Kempen Real Estate
Conference (Amsterdam;

» EPRA IR Committee
{Madrid}

December 2022

» EPRA Corporate Access June 2023

Day (I andon) « Morgan Stanley European

Real Estate Conference
{London)

January 2023

+ Company Capital Markets
= Barclays European keal Day (Milton Keynes)
Estate Conference &

Property Tour {London}

September 2023

+« EPRA Annual Conference
{(Londaon)

February 2023

* AGM (Newcastle) » Bank of America Real
Estate Conference

(New York)

+ Societe Generale European
Real Estate Conference
(London)

March 2023

« Citi Global Real Estate CEO
Canference (Miarmi)

« Kempen European
Property Seminar
(New York}

» Berenberg UK Corporate
Conference (UK)

« Bank of Armernca EMEA Real
Estate Conference (London)

SHAREHOLDER BY REGION

& UK
® North Amenca
® Fuiope

Chart removed .-
@ Rest of the world
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Substantial shareholdings

At 30 September 2023 and 371 October 2023 (being the latest

practicable date pricr to the date of this repori), the Company
is awarc of the following interests amounting to 3% or more in
the Company’s shares

29 September 2023 31 Octoher 2023
Holding Holding Heolding Holding
m % m %
BlackRook inc 73.7 8.5 74.9 10.1
MNorges Bank Investmrent
Management 67.9 9.2 67.8 9.2
The Vanguard Group Inc 376 5.1 37.6 5.1
MES Investment
Management 35.7 48 344 4.6
Le:gdl & General Ivestmant
Management 30.2 41 284 39
Man Group 28.6 39 295 4.0
Dimensional Fund Advisers 252 34 25.5 34
FMR LLC 251 3.4 25.2 3.4

Relations with Shareholders

The Group’s website includes a comprehensive investor

relations section, containing all Regulatory News Service
{'RNS’Y annocuncements, share price information, annual
documents available for download and similar matenials.

We send out the Notice of Meeting and Annual Report and
Accounts at least 20 working days before the meeting. We hold
separate votes for each proposed resolution A proxy count

is given in each case, Grainger includes, as standard, a ‘vote
withheld’ category, in ine with best practice. Shareholders can
also lodge their votes through the CREST system.

Thi Board believes that understanding the views of its
Shareholders is a fundamental principle of good corporate
govarnance. Strong cngagement with stakeholders and
nvestors is key to achieving this,

Investor relations are based on the financial reporting calendar,
with additional engagement when considered beneficial to the
Company We have prescented to more than 620 Shareholders,
analysts and potential investors in the year. Helen Gordon,

Rob Hudson and other senior staff members held the vast
majerity of these meetings and manage the Group's investor
relations programme with the Director of Corporate Affairs.
We always seek feedback at these mectings and present it to
the Board. In addition, the Company Secrelary engaged with

a combination of fund managers and corporate governance
officers of the Company’s major Shareholders before the 2023
AGM. We anticipate a similar pre-AGM cngagerent process will
take place in 2024,

Presented to over 620 investors
Attendance at investor meetings

Q'_witéf_E)_c@Cqug . 93%
Chief Financia: Officer ) 92%
Senior executive 98%

~ Capital Markets Day
. On 27 June 2023 we hosted our annual Capital Markets

Day in Milton Keynes, attended by over 60 Sharehotders,

~investors and analysts, opening wilh a tour of cur Enigma

Square scheme, followed by a presentation focusing on
Grainger’'s investment in Milton Keynes, how we are de-risking
development delivery and haw we are harnessing data and
customer insights to drive strong operational performance,
We reccived excellent feedback highlighting Grainger's
impressive operating platform and business model

7
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LEADERSHIP AND PURPCSE
{CONTINUED)

How the business understands
and responds to the needs of
our stakeholders

xpeciations
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Outcomes & exam

B

Customers

For Grainger to provide safe,
high-quality homes and good
service, whilst responding to
their needs promptly.

Understanding our customers and thor
needs, and communmicating effoctively
weth thom, s essential to provding the
areal bomeoes and service toat wie am

T delver

Cur customering ght programme
provides us with this essennal
knowledge and s factorca into tha
dacisions we take, the buldmngs vee
create and how we operate

We use multiple commuamcation
charinels and methods to reflect the
wide range of customers we have

Our far-reaching Cuslomer Expercree
FProgramme s to dewgnnd to continually
enhanca and improve the Gramger
rental expernence for our customers
Itincluday brspeke custamer service
traming {or the entire busmess ingluding
ou” Exacutioes

Comprehensive custormer insight
program:me incadng surseys, NP3
racking, onling review trackng, focus
groups ard data anatysis

o Delvered 7,201 rew nomes

= Refresher customer service trarming
for all collzagues

» PRS Cusiomier Net Promcter Scores
increased by 2096

e 20 10D PRS customers surveyed say
they Really Like’ thoer Gramger home

» FRS average length of stay of
32 months

Sharecholders

For Grainger to generate
long-term, sustainable,
attractive total returns and to
meet Environmental, Social
and Governance (‘ESG’)
expectations.

Ve have a comprehensve mvestor
relations prograrme. which wie

build unar ard extoad each year
Actieitios include rvestor roarttshows
conferences trading updates, proverty
tours and capita markets days

Key cngagement events are renortad
on page 77 W cnsure that we are both
accessible and appreachable and that
we respond promptly to all auernes

Ve sespond snrually to a range of FSG
bonchirrarks, as repor ted on page 26

o Ve nave presented to mere than
620 nvestors, analysts and potental
rvitstors this year

o Wi have spoken at four large pansi
evorts with g corbired atlendaroo of
aver (R0 nvestons

e Recovad 40 peces of analyst
& wath ten analysts
covening Gra nger

'

VesT0r conrferences!

s frtorded B4

events

o Hovted two investor raatzhows. a
Caprzal Markets Day o~ Miltan Keynes,
Witk 60 nvestors n atiendance, and
Len aroperty Lours

GRAINGER PLC ~". % . Fof 3T 2007 0

Local communitics

For Grainger to act
responsibly and make a
positive impact on the local
area while listening to and
taking on board local views,
preferences and concerns.

Gramger seeks te develop thrrang
cormemur tes poth wtinn and around our
buigings We conduct extonsive local
engagement and consultation around
our assets and developments via events,
mecings. and dnect comrmunications

Supporting localis ane of the geals of
our Custemer Expor ence Programime
We sngage vath local authorntes and
create partnershins to suppart local
busiresses and charities

Crr Residerts Events Commitlen
arsures our resdents feelat name m
thear cormnunity through argars g
local actrat es and everts and bulding
relationships with tne local cormmunity

Leveloped a chanty engagement
strategy “or our operatiaral sites

Partrered with The Poopie's kitchen

n hewcastie apon Tyae Salfo-d b ood

Bark m Saltord trormaus in Leods and

Your Tlacen Fast L ondan

e Contoned Do provids six hormes rént
‘re= to rafuges farmiles o Jkraine

o A2 red deats ard commumnty esents
nod thycaghout tre yoar

s g a Grecmer Life customer ard
cal.eague ergagoemrent campaign
awarded CPRA Outstand ny
Contrbution to Society Award

» Lngageo with the Gty of Derby abzuat

ther bondholder scheorre
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Collcagues

For work to be fulfilling and
rewarding. To be fairly
treated, recognised and
remunerated. To operateina
safe and comfortable
environment, with learning
and development
opportunities.

Cur colleague's experience af working
at Grainger is critical to our ongoing
success. We actively seek feedback
and listen to our colleagues and base
our activity programme upon that
feedback Our internal engagement
programme includes surveys, company-
wide calls hosted by our CEC, our
internal nowslettes and our intranet.
We arganise a range of events for
colleagues. including campaigns

from cur employee-led Diversity &
Inclusion (R Network and charnty
fundraising events

Carol Hui a Non-Exccutive Director
and Chair of the Responsible Business
Commuittee, 1s responsible for the
Voice of the Colleague. including
cmployoc engagement.

+ Acted on feedback from the D&|
Network including enhancing the
family leave provision

+ Achioved “Very Good' rating in aur
annual employee survey, run by
Best Cormparnies

» High levals of colirague engagement
evidenced by above average, high
1esponse rates to feedback surveys

» Colleague-led internal roundtable
events on a varicty of topics

« Substartial progress towards Natonal
Cquality Standard accreditation

* Regular Company-wide virtual calls
led by our CEO, Helen Gordon

Suppliers

For us to act with integrity
and professionalism, pay
promptly and ensure that we
are protecting the rights of all
those employed through our
supply chain.

Our key suppliers and pariners
are carefully managed Lo deliver
agreed service levels and positive
customer outcomes

Our robust suppuer seleclion process
15 supporled by Conslructionline and
incorporates our COMMNFECT systen,
including Risk Raddar services,

Proactive contractor managemant
ensures regulatory, heaith and safety
and modern slavery comphance

« invested n addit onal procurement
and supply chain team personnel
and capability

» Enhanced processes and policies
intraducad to managae group
wide expendture

o Consistently paying suppliers withim
our standard 30 day terms

« Regular supplier health and safoty
audits completed, with seven audits
undertaker within the vear

GRAINGER PLC ANNUAL QLPGRT AND ATTOUNTS 2023

Government

For Grainger to lead the sector
as aresponsible employer and
housing provider. To support
Government in delivering its
objectives such as increasing
provision of high-quality
homes and meeting its net
zero carbon ambitions.

Asthe UK's leading landiord, we Lake
a front-tooted, proactive approach to
engagement witn the UK Governmen:,
and the main opposition parties and
other relevant public bodies. such as
Homes Frgland, Greater Manchester
Combined Authority and the Creater
Londan Authority

We respond to relevant Government
consultations, meet with Miristers,
officials and politictans enimportant
topics affecting our sector and actively
particizate and cantribute 1o our
industry trade associations, the British
Property Federation, Business London
and others

« More than 30 ndividual ergagements
with Government and shadow
government rministers and officials,
Local Authoritios and political
think tanks, charity giouos
including through private meetings,
correspandence and property teurs.

« Extensive engagement on the
Renters Reform Bill.

= Weengageo on Stimulating Housing
Supply and Investment, Regional
Growth. Selective Licensing, Building
Safety Lovy, Second staircases,
Rental Affordabilivy and other
proposed legislation,
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DIVISION OF RESPONSIBILITY
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Roles and responsibilities of directors

Role

Resnonsibilities

Chair

Image removed

Responsiple for running the Board and ensuning its effcct:veness. The Chief Executive reports to
the Chair, as does the Company Secretary. on matters of corporate governance. The Chan s the
guardian of the Board's decision-making process and s responsible for ensuring a constructive
relationship betweon Exccutive and Non-Executive Directors and for fostering open debate with
an approprate balance of challenge and support In accordance with the Code, the posts of Chanr
and Chief Executive are soparate, with theu roles and responsibilitics clearly established, set out in
writing and agreed by the Goard

Chief Executive

Image removed

Respons.ble tor running the business and implementing the Board's decisions. She recommends
the strategy to the Board and 15 responsible for implermenting it. She chairs a regular meeting with
the Chiet Financaal Officer and the addit'onal members of the Executive Committee

Chief Financial Officer

image removed

Responsible for the financial stewardship of the Group's resources through compliance and good
judgement He provides financial leadership in the implementation of the strategic husiness plan
and alignment with financial cbjectives.

Non-Executive Directors

Image removed

Responsible for bnnging ndependent and objective judgement and
scriting to all matters before the Board and its committees, using their
substantial and wide-ranging skills, competence and experience. The key
responsibilities of Non-Executive Directors are set aut in their letters of
Image removed appointment and inctude requirements to:

« challenge and contribute to the developmaent of the
Company’s strategy,

Image removed

« scrutinise the performance of management in meeting agreed goals
and ohjectives, and monitor the reporting of performance,

« satisfy themselves that financial irformation 1s accurate. and that
financial controls and systems of risk management are rigorous and
secure; and

s oversee the Company's E5G, non-fnancial KPls and employee voice
programmes via the Responsible Business Committoe

A capy of the standard letter of appointment for a Non-kExecutive

Director s avallable from the Company Secretary. Durning the year,

the Non-Executive Uirectors meet penodically without the Executive
Directors present and also without the Char,

Senior Independent Director

Image removed

GRAINGER PLC ANMUAL REPO21 AND

Acts as a sounding board for the Chair and serves as anintermediary for the other Directors where
necessary. The Senor Independent Director witl meot Shareholders f they have concerns, and where
contact through the normal channels has not resolved the ssue or is inappropriate The Senior
Independent Director leads the annual performance review of the Chair

ACCCUNTS 2023 &1
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COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION AND EVALUATION
THE NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPCRT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Nominations Committee
report for 2023 which details the main activities we
) undertook during the year.

The Nomrinations Committee plays a fundamenta! role
in ensurtng we sclect and recommend strong candidates
for appo ntment to the Board. The Committce monitors
the balance of skilis, experience, independence and
knowledge of the Boarc and its committees, with any
changes recorrmended Lo the Board for ils review ana

Image removed
decision. The Committee is also responsio.e for successior
planning, and monitors talent development at senior
management level,

Key responsibilities
The key respeonsihilities of the Commiittee are to.

o review Lae size, balance and coastitution of the Board,
including the diversity and balance of skills, knowledge

and experience of the Nor-Exccutive Directors, considering
) length of serv ce of the Board a= a whole and looking for
membership to be reqularly refreshed;

“The Nominations Committee « maintain an effective succession plan for Board and
ensures that the Board has enor manaarment
the right balance of skills, " Candisaen t0 Al Board vacancin, and orears trar

- apocintments to the Board are subject to a formal,
exper:lence and knOWI?,dge r\Zo?orLs and St)f a?wgpare?j p(of‘ecuré; o A
to guide the Company.

« ensyre tnat both appointments and succession plans are

Mark Clare based or merit and objective criteria and promote diversity
Chair of the Nominations Committee of gendcr, sotial and ethnic backgrounds and cognitive and
personal strengths and warks closely with the Resoonsible
Attendance table Business Committee with regard to the wider diversity and
i out g inclusion stratcay and agenda.
Non-Executive Mt > Mestingg
Directors AT Aneed « review annwally the fime commitment required of Non-
Mark Clare Executive Directors,
([Committes Cha'r) Fobrsasy 2017 7 7
e make recommendations to Lhe Board, in consultation with
Justin Pead March 2017 2 ? the respective committee Chairs, regarding membership of
Reh Wilkinson May 2017 , . the four Board comm tiees; and
Janotte Bell Sebruary 2019 2 2 = conduct an annual evaloation of the Board, considering its
i - - compasizion, d versty and how effectively members work
Larot Fu fctaber 2321 2 < together to achieve ohjectives and whother each Director
Michacl Rrodtman January 2023 i 1 continues to contribute effectively.

Process for Board appointments

Before making an appointment, tne Nominatians Comm tiee
HOW THE COMMITTEE SPENT ITS TIME will evatuate the balance of skilis. krowledge ard expenence
currentiv on the Board Following th's, a specification

of the persona. attriputos, experience and capabil'tics
reasired to perform the relovant appomtment 1s produced

In arcumstances whore extarnal recruizment or benchmarking
of a~ interna. candidate 15 appreorniate, an independent
external search consu tancy will be engaged Lo suppor!

tne process Arecommendation s then made o the Board
concerring the appomntment of any Director. The Cormmittae
a.so suppe-ts the Board i the aopointment of the Comoany
Secretary wren cequired.

Crars remeyed

® Corar oo ety

® Coocirnance
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Rob Wilkinson retired from the Board at the AGM in
February 2023, having comipleted seven years’ service,
Michael Brodtman took up his role as Non-Executive
Director en 1 January 2023, following an extensive and
rigorous selection process invelving external consultants and
interviews with the whole Committee and is already having a
positive impact on the Board.

Board composition and independence

In accordance with the Code, al current Directors will stand
for re-election at the 2024 Annual General Meeting (‘AGM)

Main activities of the Committee during the year

The Committee met formally on two occasions during
the year to 30 Septemboer 2023, supplemented by other
d'scussions to support the work of the Committes, At the
formal meetings the Committee considered a number of
standing agenda items relating to its key responsibilities
detaled above. In applying those responsibil ties, the
Committee made decisions on a range of matters during
the year, the most significant of which are referenced in
this repart.

invitations to attend Committee meetings extend to the CEOQ,
Chief Peopie Officer (CPO’} and others as necessary and
appropriate. Details of the Directors are set out on pages 72

and 73 together with a summary of their experience and skills.

The Board reviews Non-Exccutive Director independence
annually, and takes into account each individual’s professional
characteristics, their behaviour at Board meetings, and their
contribution to unbiased and independent debate. The Board
agreed that | was independent on my appointment as Chair,
The Board considers all the Mon-Executive Directors to

be independent.

Board performance evaluation

This year, the review of the effectiveness of Grainger’s Board
was carried out externally by Board Alchemy, an independent
specialist board consultancy he review was broadly

Based with no specific arcas of focus or scope timitations.
The cffectiveness of the Committees was also considered as
part of the review. Individual director performance has been
conducted by the Chair drawing on the findings from the
external board effectiveness review,

The review approach involved the completion of a detailed
questionnaire by Board members, certain operational
agirectors/membeoers of the Executive Committee and the
Company Sacretary followed by one-to-cae interviews with
each of them. Board Alchemy also reviewed recent Board
and Cornmiltee papers and observed the September 2023
Board meeting. Board Alchemy’s work was facilitated by
the Company Sccretary’s team. The Chair and the Senior
Independent Director made themselves readily avallable to
Board Alcherry during their work in the event that issues had
ariscn that neceded prompt escalation

Board Alchemy previously conducted external board
effectiveness reviews for Grainger in 2017 and 2020. As a
safeguard tc the iIndependence and chjectivity of Board
Alchemy's lead reviewer who led the previcus reviews, a
second reviewer (an experienced external board evaluator
with his own practice), was extensively involved in the 2023
review to provide challenge and a different perspective to
the lead reviewer from Board Alchemy.

Board Alchemy’s repart concluded that the Board and
its Committees were operating offectively. A selection of
findings and recommendations are sct out belovs,

I'mage removed
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COMPOSITION, SUCCESSION AND EVALUATION
THE NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE REPORT
(CONTINUED)

Composition, succession and evaluation

Year 1 Year 2
2023 External 2024 Internal

Year 3
2025 Internal

Year 4
2026 External

Findings

of the non-executives and executives,

without defensiveness

appropriate Terms of Reference.

tho Chair nas a constructive relationship with the CEO.

» The Board's role 1s well understood, with good clarity between the role

« Management provide effective support to the Board, producing
high quality papers and responding *o non-executive challenge

= The Board's Committees work effectively by undertaking more
detailed work in support of the Board; the Committees have

+ Thereis a gocd baiance of skills and experience, and an appropriate
level of independence, on the Board. Board members recognise the
importance of having a diverse board, and there is generally good .
diversity reoresented including that of gender and eth-ucity

+ The Charr leads tne Board well; good board dynamics are evident anc

Principal recommendations

» The succession plan for the whole Board
should be reviewed in 2024 having
regard to their espeactive tenuras
as appropriate.

» The Chair’s cormnmitrments sholld be
formaily reviewed in light of feedback
from some Sharcholders.

Further opportunities should be created
for Board members to spend time
together informally.

The Chair should andertake annual
performance agpraisals for Non-
Exccutive Board members and hold cne-
to-one sessions with cach of them

o The SID and the Chair should formalise
mactings going forwards

The Board has developed an action plan to address the recommendations arising from the external board review.

Progress will be monitored regularly.

Induction and professional development

Michael Bredtman's induction programnme was completed,
invoiving a cormprehensive programme of meetings with
senior Grairger team members. key contacts from our
brokers, bankers. valuers. consultants and aud tors

Theo Board is updated cn a range of matters throughout the
year Subects include the business of the Group. legal and
regulatory responsibil ties of the Compary (including updates
to the legislative landscape) and changes to accounting
reqguirernents, This takes the form of presentaticns by
Grainger seqior imanagernent. exterral and internal audito-s
and other professicnal adwisers, and Board papers and
briefing materials

We also expect indivicual Directors tedentify therr own
traning needs, and to ensure they are adeguately infermed
about the Group ard their resoonsibylities as a Drecter

The Board is conficert that all its merrbers nave the
knowtedge, ability and experence to perform the functions
required of a dircctor of a listed company

Committee changes

It1s our pol .y o have all Non-cxecdtive Directors as
members of all of the Boara cormmtices, as woe have a small
Board and we corsicer tnat this arrangement gives good
visibil'ty across the Company’s activitios In line with this
policy, Michaecl Brodtman was apoointed as a member of the
Nominaton, Remuaneration, Aadit and Responsible Business
Committees upon joining m January 2023

B84

Diversity

The Directors ace committea to having a diverse group of
cmployces This starts with having a talanced Board which
includes diversity of perspectives, skills, knowledge and
background, For gender diversity specifically, the Roarc
continues 1o supporl the aspiration of the Hampton -
Alexander Review to promuote greater female represertation
on bisted company boa-ds.

We have mstructed our recruitment agents Lo provide us w th
a diverse range of candidates. We make all appo'ntments

to the Grainger Board cn merit, and within this context the
Directors will continue to follow best practice on the 1ssuc

of diversity as 't develops further. At the date of this report,
female represertation at Soard level was at 42% e current
level exceads the 33% level recemended by the Hampton-
Alexander Review

The onjective for tha Goard and the Committee s to
cansistently have at least cne-third of the Boaro ceing
female Directers

The Beard s also mincful of the Parxer Review regarding
otnnic diversity on JK boards that was publishec in 2017

The Review reccmmends that eacn FTSE 250 board should
Fave at least one direcror of colour by 2024 The Board meets
tne recommendation of the Parker Review

Tneresponsioility for civersity and inclusion across Grarger’s
wider enployee basis is now within the remit of te
Responsible Business Cormmittee. For deta'ls an tne activ ties
in this area, please see nages 86 ana 87,

GRAINGER PLC sk~ RE2ORT ANT ATICLNTD X
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Succession planning

The Committee received a detailed presentation from the
CPO in relation to our succession plans for key people in

the business and related retention strategies for them.
Specifically with regard to succession planning of sen'or
executives, a number of scnior appointments were made
during the year. including Henry Gervaise-Jones as Director of
Group Finance.

The Committee also received prosentations from the CPO in
relation to the Cempany’s talent management initiative, which
seeks to itdentify and prepare future (eaders of the business
and the Civerse Talent Acceleratior Programme under which
we are igentifying individuals from diverse backgrounds

and supporting therm in developing and progressing their
careers at Grainger. This includes putting in place learmng
apportunities and interventions which add the most value,
ncluding external coaching

Time commitment

The Board, supported by the Nominations Committes,
carcfully considered the external commitments of the Chair
and each of the Non-Executive Directors. The Board is
satisfed that each Director committed enough time to be aole
to fulfil their duties ard has capacity to continue daing so.

As mentioned in the Board performance evaluation and as
stated at page 81 the SID leads the annual performance
review of the Chair. For the year under review. the Chair
was found to be performing effectively and to a very high
standard In particular Board colleagues considered that
Mark Clare had suficient time and capacity ta perfarm
his duties as Chair, and was extremely well prepared for
Board and Committee meetings. Further, this assessmoent
was carried out having due regard to the Cha'r's ather
professional commitments and appointments, and there
was no ‘ndication thal these impinged upon his Grainger
duties and execution thereof

Justin Read, Senior Independent Director

Re-election of Directors

We continue to adept the recommendations of the Code that
all Directors offer themselves for re-election annually, even
though the Company’s Articles of Assaciation only require this
cvery three years. Therefore, all current Directors will stand
for re-election at the 2024 AGM,

In light of the performance evaluation, the Board
recommends that all Directors proposed are so elected or
re-clected

Access to independent advice

All Directors have access to Lthe advice and services of the
Cormpany Sccretary, who ensures we follow Board processes
and maintain high carporate governance standards.

Any Director who considers L appropriate may take
ndependent, professional advice at the Company's expense.
None of the Directors did so in the current year,

Balance of knowledge, skills and experience

The Directors have wide-ranging experience as senior
business people. The Board has particular expertise in finance,
property and the listed company environment.

Mark Clare
Chair of the Nominations Committee

21 Novernber 2023

Image emoved
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS
RESPCNSIBLE BUSINESS COMMITTEE

Image removed

“The Responsible Business
Comumittee has allowed the
Board to allocate more time to
Jocus on strategic ESG issues.”

Carol Hui
Chair of the Responsible Business Committee

Attendance table

Meetirgs
Non-Executive Mormbior olg b ens
Directors FIIATAN] at-ond
Carol Hul
({Committee Chaint Match 2022 2 2
Janetle Bell March 2022 2 2
Mark Clare Mar ~h 70122 2 2
Justin Read March 2022 2 2
Rob wWilkinson March 2022 1 1
Mickael Brodtrman Janaary 2023 2z 2z

HOW THE COMMITTEE SPENT ITS TIME

® Mot rerocarbor

® -5SC progress

® Comnmunity ana

Chart removed soclal impact

® Docraity & Inclusion

® Vowce of the Coleague
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Dear Shareholders,

1am pleased to present Grainger’s Responsible Business
Committee report. Established in 2022, the Committee
oversees a broad remit of responsible business topics
including climate change, environmental, sustainability,
social impact, employee engagement and diversity and
inclusion. This report summarises the main activities
undertaken during the year.

Key focus areas during 2023

During the year, the Committee reviewed reports from
managemoent and received updates from colleagues across
Grainger's business or topics including progress towards
Grainger’s net ze~o carbon commitments, establishing an
cembodicd carbon target, our charty engagement strateqgy,
our colleague wellbeing strategy and aur progress towards
the National Equality Standard to further develop our
d'versity and inciusion {‘D&1'} approach. The Commitlee
awso received a report from me on the roundtables that |
conductad to gather employee lezdback

The Committee had tne opportunity to meet Grainger
colleagues and to see our Living a Greener Life customer
engagement campaign in action at site visits to Enigma
Square and Solstice Apartments in Milton Keynes.

Key responsibilities
The key responsibilities of the Committee include:

» Agreeing and measuring progress against the Cornpany's
sustainability strategy, commitmenrts and targets

= Overseeing and rronitoring the development and
implemeantatior of the Company’s net zero carbon
transition plan

Monitoring the arcas and activities Likely to impact
Grainger’s perfermance and reputation as a
responsib.e busness

Reviewing and approving responsible business-related
policies anc disclosares

Monitorirg stakeholder engagement ar relevant issues

= Gathering and consicering the views of the workferce
through Voice of the Colleague

Morrtoring the developrnrent and imiplernentation of
the Cor~pany’s Diversity & Inclus’on Strategy. olans
and commitmenss

= Monitoring charitable and colleague vo.unteering activities

sSupporting tne Audit Committee in reviewing resporsible
business-related risks and controls and the Remuneratior
Corrmittee in sett' ng responsite business-related Group
objectives and approving the 1 TIP scoring .n re.aticn

Lo these.

— THE FULL TERMS OF REFERENCE FOR THE COMMITTEE
ARE AVAILABLE ON GRAINGER’S WEBSITE AT:
HT RS CLOPFOCRATE GRAIMIGERFEC 20 Uk 1N TOFS
GO TR ANCE BOARD-COY Y ITTZE5YTA3=FELPONL 3L=-
BUSIIESS-COMMITTEE

SESOTTAND AT LN pa 237

~J
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Since the Committee was established, it has allowed the
Board to allocate mare time to discuss strategic FSG topics.

—» FOR MORE INFORMATION ON ESG TOPICS,
PLEASE REFER TO PAGE 44.

ESG progress

The Committee assaessed progress against the Group 2023
ESG objectives reported on page 103 in the Directors’
Remuneration report and workstreams in support of the
business’s long-term ESG commitments, reported on pages
44 and 45 in the Sustamavibity secton.

The Committee recerved regular reperts on the progress
made with cur "Living a Greener Life’ initiative, more detail on
which is provided on page 51 of the report.

An update on regulatory changes and ESG risks was
provided to the Committee, which included an overview of
the forthcoming Sustainzbility Disclosure Requirements
and Grainger’s plans to ensure compliance, a summary of
biod versity related regulation and an update on the climate
change risk deep dive.

Net zero transition

The Committes reviewed the business’s Lpdated net zero
carbon pathway and was pleased to see strong progress made
in measuring and reporting Scope 3 GHG emissions, including
the results from the successful implementation of the
customear emissions strategy which the Committee approved
in 2022

Embodied carbon continued to be a key focus with Grainger
experiencing a record periad of development delivery and
the Commmitiee reviewed and appioved Grange s emibodied
carbon roadmap and an embodied carbon reduction target
for Grainger’s direct development projects, reported on
page 52.

Community and social impact

The Committee nformed and reviewed the development
of the Company’s new operational community and charity
programme and received an update from Grainger’s
resident services teams on the taunch of the programme,
the social impacts it has delivered and the feedback from
Grainger’s custormers.

Diversity & inclusion

D&l are integral parts of cur people strategy, and wo are
committed to creating an environment where everyone feels
they belong and can bring their ‘whaole self’ to work every
day. To support our D&! ambitions, this year we committed
to working towards achieving the National Equality Standard
(NES), an external benchmark that will help guide and steer
further enhancements and improverments. As Chair of the
RBC, | was interviewed for the National Eguality Standar
assassment, and colleagues from Grainger's Diversity ang
Inclusion network participated in one of the five focus group
sessions held. Full visibility of how we will work towards
achieving the NES 1s overseen by the Responsible Business
Committee and Grainger’s Diversity and Inclusion Steering
Committee which is chaired by our CFO and made up of
Executive Committee members. Qur colleague-led Diversity &
Inclusion Network held a range of events including an inter-
faith event, International Women's Day panel and activities
throughout Pride month, Events celebrating diversity and
inclusion were also integrated into our Residents Events
Committee calendar of events for our customers and the

GRAINGER PLC ANNUAL REPGRT AN AZCCUNTS 20213

Committee enjoyed hearing abolt the range of activities
delivered and the enthusiastic participation from colleagues.

Following the launch cf our first D& dala guestionnaire,
we have since 1ssued It for a second year and we now hold
diversity data for 82% of our colleagues.

Due to the success of our mentoring programme which
launched last year, we were delighted to openit up for a
second round and doubled the number of participants

Voice of the Colleague

The Veice of tne Colleague has been led by me as Grainger’s
decignated Non-Executive Direclor wilh responsibility as
Chair ol the Committee. Cur approach to support colleague
engagement is desigred to enable colleagues to speak up,
share their feadback and contribute views on what they are
experiencing from an engagerrent perspective. During 2023,
| held two roundtable events wnich were held in person

and remotely as an open forum for colleagues to give their
views in a safe environment. Colleagues who joinec the
focus groups represented a range of differont roles across
Grainger and shared their feedback Through the roundtable
discussions it was noted that a number of initiatives have been
rolled cut that have enhanced communication. Tnensight
gathered from these sessions has been incorporated into
future engagement plans as part of our broader listening
strategy. Please see page 46 of the People section for more
examples around actions taken following the round table
feedback sessions,

I have joined reqular all Company calls which has provided
opportunities to hear updatoes from col.cagues in different
parts of Grainger’s business and to listen to the questions
raised by colleagues and the answers given to them.

A deep dive into our cmpoyece survey engagement results
was delivered by our Chief People Officer which gave further
insight intc our culture across the Grainger teams and will
continue to be shared with the Committee at both full
engagement and pulse survey points. Analysis and colleague
feedback from the survey resulted i action plans being
devised for each arca of the business including supporting
colleague wellbeing, assisting career development and
developing ocur inclusive culture

Looking ahead

The Committee’s key activities for 2024 will include further
monitorng and challenging progress against ESG objectives
and the new LTIP carbon metrics, approving a Scope 3
emissions reduction target and D&I stralegy including work'ng
lowards the National Equality Standard.

Carol Hui
Chalr of the Responsible Business Committee

271 Novemnber 2023
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AUDIT, RISK AND CONTROL
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT

Image removed

“The Audit Committee
supports the Board in risk
management, internal controls
and financial reporting.”

Justin Read
Chair of the Audit Committee

Attendance table
Mot s

Non-Executive Mermbyer elgpeto Meatings
Directors =0 are.ong arreng.o
Roh wWilkinson rebruary 2076 Z Z
Justn Read March 2817 4 4
Janette Bell Mebruary 2019 1 4
Ca-oltu Octoper 2021 4 4
Michael Brodtmran Januar ; 2023 3 3

HOW THE COMMITTEE SPENT ITS TIME

® Financal reporting

® Irtenatcontrol
and audi:

® Ris< managemeant
ard conmpliarce

Chart remeowed

® Govermance
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the Audit Committee report
for the year ended 30 September 2023,

The Company and its basiness has proved te be hughty
resitient in a challenging and uncertain wider economic
environment. The Committec's role within the Company's
governance framework, incwding supportung the Board in risk
managoment, nternal control and fimnancal reporting remamns
of fundarnental importance

This report provides an overview of the significant issues the
Committee considerad, and its assessment of the Annual
Report and Accaunts as a whole, including how we have
reviewed the narrative reperting to ensure it is an accurate
reflection of the financial statements.

Governance

As a matter of course, the Committee considers its terms of
reference each year, taking into account changes ta Grainger
and to external governance requirements. In this regard,

we have during the course of tne year been mindfu. of the
evolving requirements of the Government's reform agenda for
the corporate governance regime, and notwithstarding a level
of uncerta nty over the details of this reform, the Corrpany
has been doveloping its audit and assurance regime in

s regard.

Risk and controls

A key responsibility of the Committee is ensuring that

the Company operales an effeclive rsk assessment and
managenent process and has an appropriately robust control
framework in place. We were helped by tne Internal Audit
team at PwC, whick reported airectly to us, and which worked
to an agreed plan to ensurc controls were effective. This year
we have spent time reviewing our risk appoetite and tolerance
across our principal risks

The Comrittee has also supported the Board in considering
the principal risks of the Company. We urdertock a thorough
review of the control envirenment during this period and it
remains robust We provide details of the risk management
framewaork, principal risks and key mitigants on pages 62

to 67,

Financial statements

Cne of the Committee's other key responsibi ities wnich we
carried out during the year 1s ensuring the Groun’s publ'shed
financial statemenrts show a true and “ar view ard are

cons stent witn accountirg and governance requirements.
We also considered the vabilily siatement closely, having
regard to the continded progress of the imu.ementation of
our rental market strategy. the overall strategic horizon and
the current uncertaint.es of tre UK and glooal economic
and political envirorments. This included interrogating the
financial models and related senstivity analysis of various
cconomic scenanios and amalgamations of these scenarios
Inaddit.on, we have corncentrated on the farr, balarced ana
understandabie requiraments for the Annual Report.

In this regard. we arc heloed by rece’ving a number of
appropnate pagers from the Chef Financal Cfficer and
his teamn, and by tno indeopendont work of our interras and
cxtornal auditors

As welt as our planned work programme, we respord o
key matters as they anse Examples of this dur'ng the year
included: rovisiting Granger's inte-nal control environmert
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and dssurance appetite in light of tne consuitations and
guidance emerging from the Government and the FRC:
reviewing the operation of the Audit Committee itself in
light of the FRCs consultation and publication of the Audit
Committee Standard; and reviewing a maturity assessment
an Risk processes preparcd for the Commiittee by R5M
Risk Assurance Services, Tha Committee noted the recent
Governmeont announcement that the proposed changes
to corporate reporting requirements have been withdrawn
to be replaced with simpler proposals in the future, and
will continue to monitor and engage with tne Governmaent,
reforms as they progress

Auditors

The standard of auditing is of crudial importance to Grainger
and the Cornrmittee has received briefings and carefully
considered the further cevelopments in this area in the last
12 months

The Committee is cognisant of the praposed review of the
UK Corporate Governarce Code and the transilion {rorm

the FRC to the Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority
(ARGA) The Committee has also received reports on the
assoclated changes in internal controls reguirements and our
preparations for this are well advanced and progressing.

| believe the regular constructive challenge and engagemenrt
with managemeant, the external auditor and the Internal Audit
team, together with the timely receipt of high-guality reports
and information from them, has enabled the Committee to
discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively.

This year we undertook our external audit tender process and
following a competitive tender process we reappointed KPMG
More detail s provided on page 92

Justin Read
Chair of the Audit Committee

21T Novermber 2023

Significant matters relating to the Group’s 2023
financial statements

The most sigrvficant matters considered by the Commitlee
and discussed with the external auditor in relation to the
Group's 2023 financial statements were as follows:

1 Property valuations

Property valuation continues to be the most significant
mat:er for consideration. In th s respect, we receved
reports and presentations directly from the valuers and
maragement on the assumptions utilised in valuing the
Group's property assets, the suggested discount rates for
reversionary assets and the valuations We cansidered the
prevaiting valuation methodology and process.

wWo were content, after close scrutiny and debate.

with the assumptions and judgements applied to

tho valuations. We also considered that the external
valuers were sufficiently independent and capable and
required that they present directly to the Committee.
KPMG also independently reviews the valuation process
and results, The results of Tne vawations form the basis
of management’s assessment to support the carrying
value of investments in subsidiary companies by the
parent conrpany.

2 Recoverability of inventories

Management utilise the valuation information referred

to above to perform an assessment of recoverability of
inventories Inventaries comprisc mainly residential trading
property held for sale in the normal course of business,
The valuations include references to comparable market
evidence of simitar transactons along with the Group’s
own evidence and experience in sales of simiiar assets.
Along with our assessment of property valuations, we have
considered management’s assessment of recoverability of
inventories and arc satisfied that the approach adepted,
and results, are appraopriate.

Image removed
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AUDIT, RISK AND CONTROL
AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT (CONTINUED)

Invitations to attend meetings

There s a standing nvitation to the Chair of the Board and
the Exccutive Dircctors. who in turn attended a.l of the
Comm ttog’s meetings during the yoar, The Girector of Croup
Finance and representatives of the intornal and exterral
auditors also attended meetings of the Committee. and both
sets of auditors met privately wth the Comrmuttee durirg the
year. Our valuers attend Committee meetings to expla n ther
methodology, processes and conclusions directly

Role, responsibilities and experience

“he Committee’s role ard responsibilities are concerned with
francial reporung, narrative regarting, whistleblowing and
frauc, internal control and risk management systems, internal
audiz and external audt.

Justin Read has recent and reevanl financial experience as
requirad by the Code, The Committee as a wnole has the
competence relevant to the sector in which 1t gperates.

Please rcfor to pages 72 and 73 for skills anct experience of the
Directors and page 82 for the Nominatiens Committee report.

Terms of reference

The Committee's tarms of reference are approved by the
Board. We confrmed duning the year that they cortinued to
be appreariate We propose to continue our annual revicw of
the terms of refarence going forward. The Committee's termis
of referonce comply with the Coge and they can be found on
the Group's website

Objectives

Tne Board has delegated autnority to the Cormitiec to
oversee and review the,

¢ Group's financial report:ng process:

« system of internal control and management of
business risks,;

internal audit process;

exterral audit process and relationship with the externa.
auditor; and

s Company's process for manitaring comoliance with
applicable laws and cxternal regulaticns

Fina. responsibility for inancial repertirg, compliance with
taws and regulations and nisk managemaent rests with the
Board, to which the Committee reports regularly,

Meetings

The Committee’s mam work follows a structured programme
af activily agreed at Lthe start of the vear, As well asits man
work, the Committee undertakes zdd tional wark in resparse
to the evelving audit landscape. Page 82 stows anor-
cxhaustive List highlighting the Committec’s wor« during the
year under review
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Fair, balanced and understandable

The Conrmittee has undertakan a detailed review in assessirg
whaother the 2023 Annual Report and Accounts is fair,
balanced and understandahile, and whethor 't providas the
necessany information to Sharehaldors to assess the Group's
position and performance, business model and strategy.

The Committee revicwed and maoe suggestions about

the orocesses pLt in place by management to provide the
necessary assurance that they have made the approprate
disclosures. “he Committee considered management’s
assessmicnt of items included in the financial statements and
the prommence given to those items. 7 his review also included
receving a inal draft of the Annual Reportin advarce of the
Navember 2023 Committee mecting. This was accompanicd
by a reminder of tne arcas the Committee should focus on
having regard to the Audit Committec Institute guidarce,

and now it can be apelied 1o the draft Anrual Report

Tne Comrittee, and subscquently the Board, we:c satisfied
that, taken as a whnle, the 2023 Annual Repart and Accounts
is farr, balanced and unde-standable.

Going concern and financial viability

The Committee reviewod the appropriateness of adopting
the going concern basis of accoanting in preparing the full
year financial stalements and assessed whether the business
was viable in accordance with the requirerrents of the Code.
The assessmant included a review of tho principal nisks facing
the Group, ther fnancial impact, how thoy were managoed.
the avallab’lity of finance and covenant compliance, together
with a discussion as to the appropriate penod for assessment
The Group's viability staterrent is on page 68

External auditor objectivity and independence

The objectivity and independence of the external auditor

are critical to the intege ty of the Group's audit. During the
year, the Cormmittoo reviewead the oxternal auditor’s own
policies and procedures for safeguarding its objectivity and
independerce. There are no contractual restrictions on the
Group appointing an external auditor. On Lthree occas ors
during the year the aud't ergagement partner made
representat'ons to tne Carnittee as to the external auditor's
independence This also confirmed tnat KPMG's reward and
remunesation structdre 1ncludes no INncentives for the audit
partner to cross-setl non-audit services to audit ciients

K=2MG duly applies the requirement to rotate audit partners
every five years. This will be the Afth and fral audit conducted
under Richara Kelly. the current partner anc the Committee
oversaw the process of appoimting Craig Steven-Jenairgs as
the new aud-t partrer who s working with Richard to ensure
an effectve handover and smooth trans tion.

The Comrittee appraisec KPYIG's performance by assessing
its add plan, the qualty and consistency of its team and
reparts receved and d scussions held with the Committes
the Cormittee considered the FRCs guidance and noted
the steps taken by KPMG in this regard which mnclude Faving
a separate ALdit Beard. In addit or, we receved feedback
front the firance tearm We aso considered tho tore of
K2MG's relationshio with the Execdtive. which we assossed as
constructive and professioral yet independant and rooust
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Inrespect of KPMG's ‘ndependence, the Committee apples
its policy for the use of external auditors for non-audit
services. This policy substantially restricts the types of non-
audit services that can be rendered and specifies the Iimited
circamstances in which an engagement can be made.

Services the external auditor 1s prohibited from providing Lo
the Group include, amorgst others

» bookkeeping and preparing financial information;

¢ the design, supply or implementation of financial
information systems;

» appraisal or valuation services;
o internal audit services; and
» actuarial services.

Regarding potentially permitted non-audit services,

key criteria that must be eviderced to the Commitiee’s
satisfaction is that the external auditor is best suited to
undertake the relevant services and that the engagement
will nct jeopardise external aaditor independence

The ecngagement of KPMG for the provision of non-
audit services requires prior approval from the Audit
Committee Chaur,

The non-audit services provided by KPMG, set out in the
table below, related primarily to their review of our half year
reportirg. This was approved by the Committee in 2023

In making thor decision. the Committee was duly satisfied
that the;

« key criteria noted above had been satisfied;
» non-audit services policy had been appl ed; and

« appointments werc in the best interests of the Company
and its stakeholders.

The Cormmittee considerea the FRC Revised Ethical Standard
2019 and noted that tnis activity is permitted. The Commiltee
was also satisfied that the overall levels of audit related and
non-audit fees were not of a matenal level relative 1o the
income of the external auditor firm as a whole.

External auditor tenure

The Company confirms that it has complied with the
Compctition and Markets Authority’s Order for the year.
Following this year’s audit, KPMG will have been the Group's
auditor for nine years. in line with best practice guidance to
promote competition in the Audit market, the Committee
considered that it was appropriate to tender the external
audit early to allow time for other potential bidders to

oxit non-audit engagements with the group and establish
independence. The Cormmittee approved the approach to the
tender process and a tender committee was formed, led by
the Chair of the Audit Committee and including Grainger’s
CFQ, Director of Group Finance and Group Financial
Controller. The CEOQ also attended tender presentations

and participaled in tne evaluation process. The process was
undertaken in full compliance with the requirements of the
Companries Act 2006 and the Code.

The tender committee recommended to the Committee
that KPMG and PwC were put forward to the Beard for
cansideration, with a recommendation that KPMG he re-
appointed The Committec adopted this recommendation
and the Board likewise agread Subject to shareholder
approval at the 2024 AGM, KPMG are ta be re-appointed
as the Company’s external auditors

Internal controls

The Board, assisted by the Audit Committee, is responsible
for reviewing the operation and effectiveness of the Group's
internal controls. This internal control system is designed to
manage risks as far as possible, acknowledging that no system
can climinate the rick of fallure to achieve business objectives
entirely The Board did not identify any significant failings or
weaknesses in the year.

The Board is also responsible for ensuring that appropnate
systems are in place to enable it toidentify, assess and
manage key risks The preparation of financial statements and
the wider financial reporting precess and control system are
maonitored by the adoption of an internal control framework
to address principal financial reporting risks. The Code
requires us to carry out a robust assessment of emerging
risks as well as principal risks, explain in the Annual Report
what procedures are in place to identify emerging risks and
explain how these risks are being managed or mitigated
Please sec pages 62 to 67 for details of how we addressed
the requirements.

The effectiveness of the controis is evaluated by a
combination of review by all of the Grainger management
committees and boards, and theinternal and

external audtors

The performance of the Committee is reviewed as part of the
Board cffectiveness roview, mare information on which can e
found at page 84.

Internal Audit

. PwC iz appointed by the Company as Internal Auditor,

working with our internal audit rescurce in a co-sourced
maodel. Internal Audit focuses on the arcas of greatestrisk to
the Caompany. Audits are considerad during an annual audit
planning cycle. This s informed by the results of current and
previous audit testing, the Company’s strategy, performance
and the risk managemenl process, Additional audits may be
identified during the year in response to changing priorities
and requirermnents,

The Committee approves the plan and monitors progress
accordingly. All Internal Audit indings are graded, appropriate

. remedial actions agreed, and progress monitored and

reported to the Committee,

Year ended

30 September 2023

Schedule of fees paid to KPMG £

Statutory audit of Grainger Group 546,000

Total audit fees 546,000

Half year revicw 57,600

Total non-audit fees 57,600
GRAINGER PLC ANN AL REPGRT AND AZCOSNTS 20032 a1
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Key activities

November 2022

Received a presentation from the independent external valuers
of Grainger's reversionary and market rented assets
Considered and receved matters retating to the 2022 full year,
including:

- rnanagement’s surnmary of the accounting positions,

- KPMG's year end audit report,

- going concern and viability review of the business: and

- thedraft Annual Report and Accounts

Cansidered KPMG's independence and recommended to the
Board KPMG's re-appointment,

Received an audit plan update and Internat Audit reports o

- T key controls; and

- site audits of Windlass and Apex Gardaons

February 2023

.

Received ar internal audit plan update and review of the
provision of services in future and Internal Audit reports on
procurerment and contractor management;

In respect of risk, considered

- acompliance update. and

- whistleblowing arrangements

Reviewed the Company’s Madern Slavery Staterment,
Received a report on audit and governance reform,
Considered KPMG's plan for its review of the 2023 half
yoar results

Reviewed and approved the Committee's terms of reference
Conducted a post-completion review of the Apex Gardens
development scheme.

Carred out a detaited evaluation of the performance of
the extornal auditors Considered it to be eflective and also
dentified certain arcas for future improvernent

Revicwed a detalled paper on the external audit tender process

May 2023

Considered issues regarding the 2023 half year results,
including.

- thedraft hall year inancial staterments and announcement:
- managament’s Judgements and assessment,

- KPMG's half year review report. and

- feedback from the valuer hatf year reports.

Conducted a post-completion review of The Framents and P
Yard development schemes.

Recewvead Internal Audit reports on:

- insurance,

- lreasury;

- Sales

- RACM review; and

~ site audit reports on Pin Yard and Argo.

September 2023

.

»

Considered the 2023 draft viab Lty statement and

related analysis.

Considered KPMG's audit strategy memeorandurm and
engagemaent regarding the audit for the full year 2023
Considered and approved the forward Internal Audit plan
Rayvigwed the bmetable for production of the Annual Report
and Accounts

Roceved Internal Audit reports on.

- HR and Wellbeing,

- Dataprotection,

- cyber attack prevention,

- site audits for The Forge. Abbeville and Gilders Yard

- progress of completing actions from previous internal audits
Roviewed reports on Risk and Internal Controls including

- puncipal and ernerging risks, including climate change risk,
- whistlebiowing;

- internal controt framewaork, and

- legal and regulatory comphance

Receved an update on the proposed Corporate Governance
reform agenda including the emerging requirements for an
Audhit and Assurance Policy

Considered the TCFD teport contents

Receved areport onemerging climate retated reporting
requirements and cansidered the level of assurance appropriate
for chimate related disclosures

Intarnal Audit has a direct reporting Line to the Charr of the
Audit Committec We assess the effectiveress of Internal
ALdit by reviewing its reports. fecdback from tne Chief
“inanciat Cfficer, anc through mectings with the I~ternal
Auditer w.thout maragement bheing present,

The Internal Audit programime for 2023 included reviews of:

nsurance

Humar Resources and welbemng
Treasury

Cybier securnty

Data orotection

« Payrol.

Refurbishments

The trternal Audit plan for 2024 has a particular focus on:

Custormaor experience

Block management

Frauc

Cyber security

Procurement and cortract management

« Health and safety

Lease oxtensiors
Business centinuity

“neroling programme of site audits

Looking ahead

The Comeittee looks ferward to providing continuing support
<o the Board ard Company r tne coming year, and will he
focusng on furtner strengther'ng the Company's report’ng.
risk manageraent and assurance activities,
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“Our focus this year has been on
implementing our Shareholder-
approved Policy to ensure pay
outcomes are appropriately
aligned with the delivery of
our strategy and Company
performance.”

Janette Bell
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present on behalf of the Board the
Directors’ Remuneration report for the year ended
30 September 2023. As in previous years, the report
has been divided into the following three sections:

+ This Annual Statement, which summarises the
remunaration outcomes for the year ended 30 September
2023, the koy decisions taken by the Remuneration
Committee duning the year and how the Directors’
Remuneration Policy will be operated in the following
financial year;

» The Directors’ Remunerat’or Policy ((Policy’}, which sets out
the remuneration policy for Executive and Non-Executive
Directors which was approved by Shareholders at the 2023
AGM, and

s The Annual Report on Remuncration, which discloses
how the new Pelicy was implemented ir the year to
20 September 2023 and how the Policy will be operated
in the year to 30 Septomber 2024,

wWe were delighted to rece’ve strong support from
Shareholders for our Policy wilth over 95% of shares castin
favour. | set out below a summary of business performance
during the year, incentive cutcomes for 2023 anc our
approach for 2024

1. Annual Statement

2023 business context

2023 was another successful year for Grainger. Our strong
performance in delivering rental growth continued. and whilst
keeping a very close eye on overall customer affordability
levels, we delivered 8.0% growth in like-lor-like PRS

rental income.

The management tearm delivered exceptional operational
performance across all areas of the business and particularly
in the completion and lease up of our new schemes.,

Sales remained robust, valuations continued to demonstrate
resilience, and our balance sheet remained strong throughout
the year

" we are due to complete 1,207 new bulld-to-rent homes in
C FY23, with a further 439 in the remainder of the calendar

year, across seven new schemes which will drive a further
step change in EFRA carnings and bring our total operational

" portfolio to over 10,000 homes These new homes are being

delivered in one of the strongest occupational markets we
have seen Current leasing at cur newly-opened schemoes

Is exceeding underwriting and we continue to drive a step
up m rental incorme across our national portfolio. However,
we remain rmindful of protecting our customers' rental
affordability and, therefore, continue o ensure that rental
growlh across our portfolio moves broadly in line with national
wage inflation. Occupancy was at a recerd high of 98 6%
(PRS) in 2023, Our measure of customer satisfaction {NPS)
has increased by 26% to +43 and staff encagement has also
improved. This is a significant in-ycar improvement achicved
by the delivery of a wide reaching customer cxperience
orogramme and 1t provides a strong underpin to customer’s

. perception of the value for money of renting with Grainger.

Our strong operational performance is coupled with a robust

" balance sheet, positioning us well in the current market.

We have fixed the cost of our debt in the mid 3% range for the
next five years Our asset recycling programme continues at
an clevated lovel in line with our previously reported plans.
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We have made strong progress 'n the measurement of our
scopes 1-3 carbon footprnint and in progressing our net-zero
carbor pathway, as well as our chantable framework and E5G
and D&| focus including progressing towaras the Nalional
Equality Standard.

2023 incentive outcomes

The 2023 annual bonus comprised a combination of PRS net
rental incorie (35%:), adusted carnings (35%). and strategic
targets {(30%) These measurcs, consistent with those used

N ar:or years. ensured Lthere remained a continued focus on
improving profit and rental income growth whilst focusing on
key non-financial deliverables (including ESG) wh'ch underpin
our strategy

Stretching targets were setin the context of a period of
heightened uncertanty “ollowing the Government's mini
budget in Sestember 2027 The leadership team pat ir place
an autpertormance plar which delivered a 4% increase in
adjusted earnings (£97.6m) and 16% growth ir PRS net -ental
inceme {£82 2m) Both outcomoes were above the maximum
targets set by the Committee.

This outperformance pian was achicved through the
in-house teams’ focus on speed of lease up, cfficiency

of void management, cost savings and increased sdles
volume into a more challenging market. The resalting
cutperformance was dospite the headw nds of schermco
delays by third parly developers and rising costinflation and
interest rates impacting on sales and 1s considerca to be ar
outstanding performance.

The Commitiee consicdered whetner the financial berus
outcome was a fair representation of Cormpany and
management performance during the year and concluded
that no adjustrnent was ~cquired. In doing so, the Comm ttee
was mindful of the level of customers’ affordability roting
that rental growth across the portfolio movea b oadly in tine
with national wage inflation and occupancy was at a record
high of 88 6% In additior. Customre- satisfact’'cn as measured
by NPS improved by 26%.

When combine with performance against the strategic
targets, annual bonus was calculated at 98% of the
maximumnr available.

The LTI® award granted to Helen Gordenir Decemoer
2020 will vest on 10 December 2022 based on throe year
performance, with 50% measured against relative Total
Shareholder Return (' TSR') over the three years from grart
ard 23% each measures agairsl abselute Total Prozerty
Return (TPR') and Secu-ed PRS Investment targets ovor
the three years ended 30 September 2023 As disclosed
previcusty. Roh Hudsor received a Recruitmeont Aveard
upnon joining Grairger, a tranche of which is bazcc on the
performance ¢riteria attacheod to the Decemper 2020 LTIF
award and wnich will vest or 1 Felirvary 2024

£s the TSR measure s based or porfaormance to December
2023, this has been estimated Lo vest at nil based on
performance to 18 October 2023 The TR threshold target
has been achieved resulung 11 27% vesting and The Secured
PRS Investrient targets were met ir Tull The cveral. expecice
vesting 15 ¢ 31.7% albeit thiz s subject to changs depending on
the fnal TSR vesting ouicome

The Corrmittee believes these bonus and expected LTIP
cuicemes are appropriate and reflect the vory strang
performance af the business over the relevan: performance
periods Therefore, no discretion has been appled to the
formulaic outcomes.

94

Applying the Policy in 2023/24

Details of the Committec’s preposed iImplementation of the
Faolicy in respect of the year ending 3C September 2824 are
set out nelow.

Executive Director base salary levels

As set outin last year’s report, when the Committee carcied
out a rovicw of the Directors' Remuneration Policy last

yoar, It became clear to the Committes that Helen Gordon's
base salary had ot kect pace with Grainger's increased

size ard complexity or tsstrong operational and financial
perfarmance We therefore consulied major Sharenolders on
a two-step nerease to Helen's Dase salary with a 9% increase
applying from January 2023 {te £557,500) and a 6% ncrease
frons 1 Zanuary 2024 (to £591.000) The second Increase

was subject to continu'ng strang individual and Company
performance On the basis that kelen has continued to
derronstrate strong leadership and Grainger has again
delivered significant value th-ough high like-for-like rental
growth ard 98 6% occupancy which remains at recaord highs,
the Committee has concluded that the second ncrease

of 6% wili apply from lanuary 2024, In recognibicn of the
ongoing cost of living 1ssues being expenenced by colleagues,
particularly those onlower pay, the average workfo-ce
ircrease will be between 5% and 6%, with 8% focused onour
lowest paid employees These increases will be effective from
1 sanuary 2024,

Rob Hudson’s salary wiltincrease by 5% from 1 Lanuary 2024,
This increase reflects Fis continued strong performance 1n
the rale.

Annual bonus

=ob Hudson's current bonus opportunity 1s 120% of salary
ard the approved Policy permits hint a nonus maximum

of 140% of salary, in line with the CEQ's opportunty

The Commitice is proposing to increase Rob's bonus te 1402,
in 2023, having considercd the fol.owing

* Rob cort'nues to sertorm strongly in the CFO roic,
in January 2023 hc took on the additional responsitil 'ty
for the procurement ard sustainability tearrs Since ther,
under his leadership, significant cost savings have boen
delivered in procurermoent and good progress has been made
in delivering a robust base.dne position for ESG reporting
abligation<. There is catentia. for ongoing improvement in
Doth areas. Rather than increasing bass salary to reflect
the adait onalresponsiblinies and performance. the
Committee’s vreference 1s to recognise this by increasing hus
bonus potental. and

s Although barcimark data s used by the Commmittoo with
a high degree of caution, the Committea consders Rob's
fixed pay to be market aligned However the Committee
believes that Rob's cverall variable pay (being a 120%, of
sala~y annual bonus potential and 175% of sa.ary LTIP
grant} is we.l behind market norms given that 2 150% of
calary maximum bonus acpears to be almost universat
far Exacutive Directors across the sector anc the median
CrO LTIP grantis 200% of salary. The Committae believes
itis appropnate tu address one of these and 15 procosing
ToIncrease Rob's anraal benus opportunity to 140% of
salary inline with that of the CEC’s nonus potential As the
Committee considars Rob to be a seasancd board director
and vith over 29 years' experience in finarce, the charge
to his bonus will help to cnsure his package is positicnad
more appropriately against the market to refiect his plc and
sector expernnnce,
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The Committee is consulting its largest sharehalders on

the proposed change to Rob’s bonus opportunity and
iLwillincrease to 140% of salary in 2024 only if there is
suffictent support from shareholders Helen Gordon's bonus
opportunity will remain at 140% of salary. For both directors,
75% of any bonus earned will be payable in cash and 25%
deferred into shares

70% of the bonus will continue to be based on adjusted
earnings and PRS net rental income targets weighted
cqually. The remaining 30% wilt be split with 10% based
solely on ESG-related targets and 20% wili be based ona
smaller number of key strategic and operational measures
based on business resilicnce, customer satisfaction and
funding and investment The targets. and the performance
against them, will be disclosed in next year’s Directors’
Remuneration report.

Long Term Incentive Plan

It is expected that LTIP awards will continue to be granted
aver shares equal in value of up to 200% of salary for the
CEO and 175% of salary for the CFO.

Over the last year, the Committee has considered how best to

incorporate sustainability objectives into the 2024 LTIP grant.
It s proposed that the existing measures of PRS Secured
Investrnent, relative Tolal Shareholder Return (TSR and
total property iIncome return are retained for 2024 {each
reduced from a 33.3% weaighting to 30% weighting) with the
rerraining 10% based on reducing Carbon as follows:

« Secured PRS Investrment (303%) - Given Grainger’s
arrbit'ous growth agenda, this metric will continue to be
based ocn aggregate three-year Secured PRS Investment
oppartunities with 75%, vesting for achicving threshold
increasing on a straight-line basis until a maximum streteh
target is achicved.

Relative TSR (30%) - The TSR comparator group will
continue to be based an a bespoke group of real estate
peers with 25% vesting for redian and 100% of this part
vesting for upper quartile performance or better.

Total Property income Return {309%) - Given the continued
uncertainty affecting capital values in the short term

and the difficulty in setting a robust three-year TPR

target range, the Committee wishes to retain the Total
Property Income Return ( TPIR') measure for a further
year. The Committee intends to revert to absolute TPR {1,
capital return puus income return) when market conditions
stabilise and visibility improves

« Carbon Ermissions (10%) - to include two equally

weighted measures:

- areduction in the embodied carbon intensity of Grainger’s

direct development projects in design by 2026

— areduction in the operational carbon intensity of
Grainger’s PRS portfolio

Woe took forward to your suppart on the resclution reiating
to remuneration at the AGM on 7 February 2024

Janette Bell
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

21 November 2023
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How the Committee spent its time

® Governance and reparting

® Irnvestor comnmunication

® [xecutive share plans

Chart removed ® Performance monitoring
and review

® Senior management
remuncration and
retention

® Dircctars’ Remuncration
Policy review

® Implementation of the
Remuneration Policy

@® V/doer cmiployeo
remuneration and cost
of Living

Committee considerations

Consistent with the six factors set out in Provision 40
of the 2018 UK Corparate Governance Code, when
determining Executive Director Remuneration Policy
and practices, the Committee has continued to address
the following:

Clarity - the current Policy 1s well urderstood by our
Dircctors and has been clearly articulated to Sharehotders
and proxy voting agendcies.

Simplicity - the current market standard remuneration
stracture is simple and well understeod \We have
purposefully avoided anv complex striuctures which have
the potential to deliver unintended cuicomes

Risk - our current Policy and approach to target setting
seek to discourage inappropriate risk-taking. Measures are
a blend of Shareholder return; financial and non-financial
objectives and the targets are appropriately stretching.
Malus and clawback provisions apply

Predictability - executives’ incent've arrangements are
subject to individual participation caps. An indication of

the range of values in packages is provided in the reward
scenario charts on page 99.

Proportionality - there is a clear Unk between
individual awards, delivery of strategy and our long-
term performance

Alignment to culture - pay ard policies cascade
down the organisation and are fully aligned to
Grainger's culture
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REMUNERATION
DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION REPORT {CONTINUED)

2. Directors’ Remuneration Policy

This part of the Directors’ Remuneration report sets out the Directors’ Renunerat:on Policy {the ‘Policy’) which was approved
by Sharcholders at the 2023 Annual Genera! Meeting and toak efect from the date of that meeting Following approval

by Shareholders, all payments to Directors during the three-year lie of the Policy period will bo consistent with the

approved Policy

The following table summarises the mam elements of the Executive Directors’ Renmuneration Policy, the key features of each
ciement, their purpose and linkage to our strategy Details of the remurcerat cn arrangements for the Non-Exacutive Directors
arc set out or page 101,

Base salary

Purpose and link To enable the recrutment and retention of incividuals of tne necessary calibre 1o execute the Comrpany s
to strategy busiress strategy

Operation Reviewed anrually and tymically effective from 1 Jaruary Changos to sa.ary levels will take nto account the
- role exponcnce, responsibiet-es and perseral performance,
- avarage change i total workforce sa.ary,
- total organisalional satary burdgets, and

- Company performance and other cconamic or market conditions.

Salanes are benchmarked periodically and are set by reference to compaties of a serlar size and complaxty.

Opportunity Salangs will be etigible for increasns dunng the trrce-year period tnal the Remunerat on Folicy operates

Luring th s t me, salares may be ncreased sach year Un percentage of salary terms) anc will Lake into account
neredsos granted ta the wice workforce,

Increases beyend those grantod to the wider viorkforce (n percentage of salary termist mav be awarden n certan
circumstarces such as where there s a change i responsibitty, experience or a significart increase ir the scale of the
ro.c and/or size, value and/or comulexity of the Comoany

YWhore new jeners or recent promotions have been placed ona below market rate of pay mitally, a seres of increases
above those granted to the w cer workforce {n percentage of salary terms) may be given over the followng few years’
subyect toindradual performance and development in tre role

Framework to assess The Committoe considors individual salaries at the appropriate Comrmittee meoeting each year after havirg cueregard

performance to the factors notea~ operating the saary pouacy,
Benefits
Purpose and link To ard recrwetment and retontian of high-guality executives

to strategy

Operation Laccut ve Directors may recanve a nenefit package which ncludes a car allowarcn, private rmechcal irsurance, u'e
assurdance 1 healtr incom: protection, travel msurance and heath choeck-up

Crher ancillary berefizs { noluding relecation oxpensest may be offered, as reguired

There is ro maxirium as tne value of benefits may vary from vear ta vear dependirg on the cost to the Company from
thirc-pacty providers

Opportunity

Framework to assess A
performance

Pension

Purpose and link To adrecrutment and retention of bigh-gualily exacutves ard enable lorg-term savings tarough pensicn prav sion
to strategy

Operation TreCampdn, May contribu e Qrectiy Mo an eocupat enal pension scheme {an Exccative Director’s personal pension
prany ¥ ¥ i
or pay asalary suopemart inLau of aonsior IFapprapnate asalary sacnfice arrangzrment can apply.

Opportunity

107 of sa ary (war<force augrad,

Framework to assess ;A
perfoermance
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Annual bonus

Purpose and link
to strategy

To reward and ncentivise the achievernant of annual targets linked to the delivery of the Company's strategic
priorities for the year.

Operation

Opportunity

Framework to assess
performance

Bonus measures and targets are reviewed annually and any payout 15 determined by the Committee after the end of
the financial year, kzased on performance against targets set for the financial pernod

Up to 75% of any bonus that becomes payable 1s normally paid in cash with the remainder deferred into shares for
three years. Deferred bonus share awards typically vest subject to continued employment.

Individuals may be able to recove a dividend equivalent payment on deferred bonus shares at the time of vesting
eaual te the value of dividends which would have accrued during the vesting perind. The dividend equivalent payment
may assurnc the reinvestment of dividerds on a cumulative basis,

140% of salary

Bonus performance measu-es are sat annually and will be predommantly hased on challenging financial targets set
in Line with tae Group's strategic priorities and tailored to cach individual role as appropnate, for exampte, targets
relating to adjusted earnings. For a portion of the bonus, strategic and operational and/or FSG sbjectives may operate

The Commuttee has the discretion to vary the perfarmance measures used from year to year depending on the
economic conditions and strategic priorities at the start of each year. Details of the porformance measures used
for the current year and targets set for the year under review and performance against therm will be providedin the
Annual Report on Remuneration.

I or financial targets, and whoere pract:cable in respect of strategic and operational targets, bonus starts to accrue
once tne threshaold target s met (0% payable) rising on a graduated scale to 120 for streteh performance.

lhe Committes may adjust bonus outcomes, based on the application of the bonus formula set at the start of the
relevant year, iIf it cansiders the quantum to be inconsistent with the performance of the Company, business or
individual during the year For the avadance of doubt this can be to zero and bonuses may not exceed the maximum
levels detalled above. Any use of such diseret.on would be detailed in the Annual Report on Remuneration

In the event that theore was (1) a misstaternent of the Cormpany s results, (i} a miscalculation or an assessment of any
performance conditions that was based on incorrect nformation, {u) misconduct on behall of anindividual, (v} the
occurrence of an insolvency or administration event, {v; reputational damage. or {vi} scrious health and safety events:
malus and/or clawback provisions may apply (to the extent to which the Committea considers that the relevant
indradual was involved {directly or through oversight) in such events) for three years from the date o payment of any
bonus or the grant of any deferred bonus share award (which may be extended by the Remuneration Committee for 2
further two years to allow an nvestigation to lake place),

Long Term Incentive Plan {‘'LTIP’)

Purpose and link
to strategy

Operation

Opportunity

Framework to assess
performance

To neentivise and reward the delivery of strategic prioritics and sustamed performance over the longer term.

To provide greater alignment with Sharenolders’ interasts.

The LTIP provides for awards of froe shares {i.e 2ither conditional shares or nil-cost options) nermally onan annual
basis which are eligible to vest aftor three years subject to continued service ana the achievemnent of challenging
performance conditions,

Vosted awards are subject to a two-year post-vesting holding penod In exceptional circumstances such as due to
regulatery or legal reasons, vested awards may also be settted in cash.

Dividend equivalent payments may be made on vested LTIP awards and may assume the reinvestment of dividends, on
a cumulative basis

200% of salary for the Chief Cxecutive, and

175% of basic salary for other Executive Directors.

The Committee may set such performance conditions on | TIP awards as it considers appropriate ¢(vhether financial or
non-financial (including ESGY). The choice of measures and their weightings will be determined prior to each grant

25% of awards will ves? for threshold performance with full vesting taking place for equalling, or exceeding, the
maximum performanrce targets. No awards vest for performance below thresheld. A graduated vesting scale aperates
belween threshold and maximum performance levels,

The Committee may ad st LTIP vesting outcomes, based on the result of testing the performance cond.tion, if if
considers the quantum to be inconsistant with the performance of the Company, husiness or individual during the
three-year performance paenod For the avoidance of doutit, this can be to zero. Any use of such discretion would be
detailed in the Annual Report on Remuncration

In the event tnat there was () a misstatement of the Company's results: (1) a miscalculation or ar assessment of any
porformance canditions based on incorrect infaormation: (g nusconduct on beha’f of anindividual, {iv) the occurrence
of aninsolvency or admimistration event, {v) reputational damage, or (vij senous health and safety events malus and/
or clawback provisions may apply (Lo the extent to which the Commitlee considers that the relevant individual was
mvolved {directly or thraugh aversight) in such events) for three years from an award becoming cligible to vest {which
may be cxtended by the Remuneration Commuttoe for a further two years Lo allow an investigation to tako place).
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Savings related share schemes

Purpose and link To cncourage emplovess to make 4 lorg-torm investment im the Company's shares
to strategy

Operation Aucmpiovees, ncluding the Cxccutive Directors, are eugible te paricipate on the same terms in the Company’s Save
AsYou Barn (SAYE') screme and Share incentive Plar ((SIPY, cotn of which are approved by 1HHMRC and subject tc the
limits prescribed.

SAYE Participants may Irvest up to £3580 per month (or such other amount as may be permitted oy HMRT from time
to Lime) for three or five-year peniods n order to purchase shares at the end of the contractual period at a discount of
up Lo 20% to the markel price of the sharas at the comnigncement of the saving pered

Opportunity

SIF: Participants can imvest up 1o £150 permonth (or such other amount as may be permitted oy HMRC from tire to
tre) in shares in the Company, and the Company may then, subject to certain imits double that nvestirent

The Campany miay also allocate free shates annuatly on a corcestage of basic pay, subject to a maximum of £3,60C (or
such otrer amount as may be pormitted by HMRC from time to time}

Dividend payments un 5P shares are relnvested and must be heloin trost for hree years

Framework to assess N/A
performance

Shareholding guidelines
Under the sharrholding guidelines, Executive D rectars arc expected to build up over time a shareholding equivalent to 200% of

ther base salary Executive Directors are required to retain all the after-tax number of vested LTIP and deferred bonus awards
Lo sabisfy the guidelnes. In addition, the Commuites’s general expectation is that the guidelines will be met within five years
of its intreduction, although the Commrittee reservas the nghi to take into account vesting levels and personal circumstances

when assessing progress against the guidelines

A post cessat on shareholding guideling operates. Executive Directors are expected to retain the lower of actual shares held
and shares equal to 200% of salary for Lwo years posl cessalion in respect of shares which vest from grants of deferred bonus
and LTIP awards made since the approval of the 2020 Policy al the 2020 AGM. Buyodt awards and own shares purchased are
excluded from this

Notes to the Policy for Executive Directors

Choice of performance measures and approach to target setting

Tne annual bonus measures are selected to provide drect alignrment with the short-term operational targets of the Campany
Care s taken to onsure that tho short-tarr performance measures are always supportive of the long-term objectives This 15
cspecally important in a business which has a long-term nvestment horizon. The LTIP performance measures are selectea to
ensure Lhat the Fxecutives are encodraged in, and apprapriately rewarded for, delivering agairst the Company's key long-term
strategic goals sa as to ensure a clear and transparent aignment of interests between Executives and Shareholders and the
generation of long-term sustainable “eturns, The performance metnics that are used for annual bonus and long-term incentive
plans are normally a sub-set of the Group's KPIs,

Discretion

Tne Committee operates the anncal bonus plar, LTIP and al-empleyae clans accerdirg to thewr respective rues and 'n
accardance with the recvant Listing Rules ard HMRC rules consistent with market practice The Commuttee retars discrelicn,
within the confines and epportun ty detailed above, in a number of respects with the aperatior and administration of these
plans. These include:

= thendividual(s) participating 1- the plans:

« tne tiring of gran: of awa-d and/or payment.

» “hesize of an award anc/or nayment.,

» the determination of vesting,

» dealing with a cnange of contro. (o ¢ the tning of testing perforrance targets) or restructuring:

« determinaton of a ‘goas/pad leaver’ far 1ncentive plan purposes nased on the rules of each plan and the appropriate
Treatrent chosen:

adjJstments reqaired in cetaim arcumstances (e.g rights issues, corporate restructuning and special d'vidends),

« the annual review of performance conditions “or the annual bonus plan and LTI, and

the ability tc adjust ‘ncentive outceres, based o the ~esult of testing tne performarce cond tion, if it considers the quantam
to be inconsistent with the performance of the Comuany, business o7 rdividua.,

The Committee a.so retairs the abil 'ty to adjust the targets, and/or set different measu-os and alter waightings for tha annual
benus plam and to adjJst targets for the LTIP f events cocus (c.g material divestment of a Group busimessy v ch cause i to
determ’ne that the conditions are ne longer approoriate and tre amendmant is requived so tnat the conditions achieve their
original purnose and are rot matenally less aiffcult to satisfy
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Peer Group

In assessing Grainger’s pay practces. including structure, quantum and performance metrics and remuneration pelicies, the
Committee’s primary reference point are the following FTSE 350 Real Estate companies Assura plc, British Land Company plc,
Big Yellow Group PLC, Capital & Regional plc, CLS Holdings plc, Derwent Londen plc, Great Portland Estates plc, Hammersen
ple, Land Securities Group PLC, LondonMetric Property Ple, Safestore Holdings ple, SEGRO ple, shaftesbury PLC, Sirius Real
Cstate Limited , The Unite Group ple and Workspace Group PLC.

Reward scenarios for Executive Directors

The Company's Remuneration Policy results in a significant proportion of remuneration received by Exccutive Directors being
dependent on Company performance. The compaostion and total value of the Executive Directors’ remuneration package for
the financial year 2023/24 at minimum, on-target, maximum performance and maximum with share price growth scenarios are
set out in the charts below.

Assumptions used in determining the level of payout under given scenanacs are as follows:

« Minimum = base salary at 1 January 2024, estimated 2023/24 benefits and pension contribution of 10% of salary (fixed pay).
+ On-target = 60% payable of the 2024 annual bonus and 62.5% vesting of the 2024 LTIP awards

o Maximum = 100% payable of the 2024 annual bonus (based on a maximum of 140% of salary for the CEOQ and CFO} and
100% vesting of the 2024 LTIP awards {based on a face value of 200% of salary for the CEO and 175% of salary for the CFO)
The 140% of salary bonus cppartunity for the CFO assumes there is sufficient support from shareholders as part of the
cansullation exercise being undertaken by the Commuittee at the time of signing off this report.

» Maximum with share price growth = as per maximum but with a 50% share price growlh assumed on LTIP awards,

Chart removed Chart remaved
@ Tt hesorerwnerat on ® @ “otabxes rertunerat on ®
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How the Executive Directors’ Remuneration Policy relates to the wider Group

The Remuneration Policy provides an overview of the structure that operates for the Company's Executive Directors and senior
executive population. However, it 1s highlighted that there are differences in guantum within this determined by the size and
scope of individual positions.

The Committee is made aware of pay structures across the Group when setting the Remuneration Policy for Executive
Directors. The key difference is that, overall, the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors is more heavily weighted towards
variable pay than for other employecs.

Basc salaries are operated under the same Policy as detailed in the Remuneration Policy table with any comparator groups
used as a reference point. The Committee considers the general basic salary increase for the broader Company (f any) when
determining the annual salary review for the Executive Directors.

The LTIP is operated at the most senior tiers of Executives, as this arrangement is reserved for those anticipated as having the
greatest potential to influence Company-level performance.

However, the Committee believes in wider employee share ownership and promotes this through the operation of the HMRC
tax approved all-employee share schemes which are open to all UK emiployees.

How the views of employees are taken into account

The Committec takes due account of remuneration structures elsewhere in the Group when setting pay for the Executive
Directars. For example, consideration is given to the overall salary increase budget and the incentive structures that operate
across the Company.

The Chief Executive Officer holds ‘all-employee’ conference calls to give cur people an overview of Company strategy and
provide our peaple with the opportunity to ask any questions. In addition, the CEO and Beard members regularly visit offices
and meet with our people to gauge overall opinions.
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The CEQ has regular meetings with our people inctud'ng breakfast moet'ngs with now employees. Annual employee
engagement surveys and nalf year interim annual pulse surveys are carried out, the results of which are presented to the Board
by the Chuel People Officer. The issug of pay ratios, including executive pay, was discassed at our staff roundtable sessions.

In additicn, as noted on page 87 Janetre Bell was the designated Non-Executive Director for employee engagerment and
consultation until the 2022 AGM when Carol Hul taok aver that role, as part of the Responsible Business Committee remit
Carol Hur was appointed to the Board on 7 Cclober 2021, As well as joining the Remuneration, Audit and Nominaticns
Committees, Carol oversaw the establishment of the Company’s Respansible Business Committee and became Chair

of 1t. This Committee provides Board-level oversight of the delivery of the Company’s ESG strategy and its diversity and
inclusion plans.

How the views of Shareholders are taken into account

The Rermuneration Committec considers Shareholder feedback received in relation to the AGM cach year and guidance from
Shareholder representative bodies nrore generally. This feedback, plus any additional fecdback recerved curing any meotings
held with Sharcholders from time to time, is then considered as part of the Commitzee’s on-going review of Rermuaneration
Policy (as has been the case in relation to the most recent Policy changes).

Major Shareholders and the main representative bodies were consulted on the proposed changes to the Remruneration Policy
in advance of the 2023 AGM and its futurc implementation and 1t was clear that there were strong levels of support for the
prooosals No changes were required to the original proposals and this was reflected in the voting outcome

Approach to recruitment remuneration

When setting the remuneration package for a new Executive Director, the Committee will apply the same principles and
Impement tne Policy as set outin tne Remuneration Pelicy table.

Base salary will be set at a level appropriate to the role and the experience of the Exccative Director heing appointed 11 certain
cases. this may include setting a salary betow the market rate but with ar agreemoent on future increases up to the marxet
rate, In Line with increased experience and/or responsibilities, subject to good porformance, where 1t is considered appropriate.
Pension provision, in percentaqge of salary terms, wid be aligned to the general werkforce tove !,

The maximum leve. of variable remuner ation which may be granted (excluding buyout awards as referred to below) 15 an anrual
bonus of 140%: of salary and LTIP award of 200% of salary (as per th2 iimits in the Policy table),

Ir relation to external appointments, the Committee may offer compensation that it considers appropriate to take account of
awards and benefits that will or may be forfeited on resignation from a previous position. Such compensation would ofloct
the performance requircments. timing and such other specific matters as the Committee considers relevant This may take
the form of cash and/or share awards. The Policy 15 that the maximum payment under any such arrangements (which may
ban addition to the normal vanasle remuneration) should be ro more than the Committeo considers is required to provide
reasonable compensation to theincoming Executive Director. If tie Executive Director wilt be required to relocate in order

to take up the position, it s Lhe Company’s policy to allow reasonable relacation. travel and subsistence paymenls. Any such
payments will be at the discretion of the Commitiee

In the case of an employee who ts promoted to tne position of Exccutive Director. the Policy set out anove would apply from
the date of promation but there would be no retrospective application of the Policy in relaticn to existing incentive awards or
remuneration arrangements. Accerdingly, prevailing elements of the remuneration package for an existing employee would
be honoured and form part af the on-going remuneration of the employee. These woula be disclosed to Shareholders n the
following yea~’s Annual Report on Remuneration

Non-Executive D rector appomntments w U be through letters of appointment. Non-Fxecutive Direclors’ base fees. including
those of Lhe Chair, will be set at a competitive market level, reflecling experience, responsioil ty and fime comm tment
Addizional fees are payable for the charrmanshia of the Audit, Remuneratior and Responsible 3usiness Committess and for the
additiona. responsibilities of the Sen or independent Director ard the Non-Executive Birector fur Empioyes Engagemaent.

Directors’ service contracts and provision on payment for loss of office
Executive Directors’ service contracts are terminable by the Company on up to one year’s notice and by the Direclor on at least
5% months notice.

If an Executive Director's emplayrment is to be termirated. the Cormrittes’s policy in -espact of the contract of emp.oyment,

Ir the absence ¢® a breach of the service agreerenl by Lhe Executive Jiector is to agres a term nat on payment based on the
value of base salary and contractual pensior arrounts and benefits thal would have accrued to the Executive Direclor curing
th= contractual notice penod. The policy is that, as s considered appropnate at tne time, the departing Execut ve Director may
work, or be placed on garden leave, for all or part of thai- not'ce pernoc, or regeive a payntent inlieu of notice In accordarce with
tho service agreement The Committec w ll also seek to apply the princpte of mtigaticn where possible <o as 1o reduce any
terminat on paymrent to a leaving Execut ve Dircctor, having had regaro to the circumstances

Inacditicn, the Comrmittee may alsc rmake payments inrelatior to ary statutory ent-tlerents, to settle ary claim against
the Companry (e.g.in relation to breach of statutary emiploymrent rights or wrongful dismissal} or ma<e 2 meeast prov siorn n
respect of logal costs or outplacerent foes,

Tne Comrpany Pas an enhanced redundancy pol cy allowing redundancy amounts to be calculated by reference to actual has ¢
woekly salary and the policy may be extended to Executive Directors where relevart.
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With regard to annual bonus for a departing Executive Director, if employmient ends by reason of redundancy, retirement
with the agreement of the Company, itl health or disability or death, or any other reason as determined by the Committee (ie.
the individual is a ‘good leaver’), the Executive Director may be considered for a bonus payment. If the termination is for any
other reason, any entitlerment to bonus would normally lapse Under any circumstance, it is the Committee’s policy to ensure
that any bonus paymenrt reflects the departing Executive Director’s pet formance and behaviour towards the Company.

Any bonus payment will normally be delayed until the performance conditions have beoen determined for the relevant period
and be subject to a pro rata reduction for the portion of the relevant bonus year that the individual was employed.

The treatment for share-based incentives granted to an Fxecutive Director will be determined based on the relevant plan rules
The default treatment will be for outstanding awards to lapse on cessation of employment. In relation to awards granted under
the Company's long-term incentive plans, in certain prescribed circumstances, such as death, injury or disability, redundancy,
transfer or sale of the employing company, retirement with the Company’s agreement or olher circumstances at the discretion
of the Committee {reflecting the circumstances that prevail at the time], ‘good leaver’ status may be applied

If treated as a good leaver, awards witl e eligible to vest subject to performance conditions, which will be measured over the
criginal performance period (unless the Committee elected to test performance to the date of cessation of employment), and be
subject to a pro rata reduction {unless the Committee considered it inappropriate to do so) to reflect the preportion of the vestng
period actually served. Where awards vest wathin two years of cessation, the post vesting holding period will continue 1o apply
until the second anniversary of cessation There will be no holding pernod far awards vesting more than two years after cessation.

Any LTIP awards which vest pre-cessation bul which are still subject to the two-year holding period will need to be retained by
the individual (either on a post-tax basis or as unexercised awards) post cessation, until the relevant two-year holding period
has expired.

With regard to the deferral of annual bonus, deferred share bonus awards wile normaliy lapse on cessation of employment other
than where an Exccutive Director is a ‘'good leaver” (as detalled above) with awards then vesting on the norma. vesting date.

Itis the Company's pelicy to honour pre-existing award commitments in accordance with their terms

Where Lhe Executive Directer participates in one or more of the Company's HMRC approved share plans, awards may vesl o7 be
excrasable on or following termination of employment in certain good leaver circumstances, where permissible, in accardance
with the rules of the plan and relevant legislation.

External appointments
Executive Directors are permitted to accept external non-executive appointments with the pricr approval of the Board. It s
normal practice for Executive Directors to retain fees provided for non-executive appointments

Non-Executive Directors’ letters of appointment

The Chair and Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment for an initial fixed term of three years subject to earlier
termination by either party on written notice. In each case, this term can be extended by mutual agreement. Non-Executive
Duecctors have no entitlement to contractual termination payrents The dates of the initiat appointments of the Non-Executive
Directors are sct out in the Annual Report on Remuneration.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
The poticy on Non-Executive Directors’ fees is set out below:

Non-Executive Directors

Purpose and link To orovide a competitive fee which will attract those high-calibre mdividuacs who, through their experience, can

to strategy further the interests of the Group through their stewardship and contribution to strateaic development

Operation The fees tor Non-Fxecutive Directors (including the Chair) are typically reviewed every second year or more frequently
if required,

I ee levels are set by refercnce to the expecled time commitment and responsibility and are penodically benchmarked
against relevant markct comparators as appropriate, reflecting the size and nature of the role.

The Chair and Non-Executive Directors are paid an annual fee which is paid at least manthly in cash and do not
participate many of the Company's incentive arrangements cr receive any pension provision.

The Non-Executive Drectors receive a basic Board fee, with additional fees payable for chairmanship of the
Company’s key Commuittees and for parforming the Senior Independent Director role

All Mon-Cxecutive Directars are reimbursed for travel and related business expenses reasonably incurred in
performing their duties.

The Comnuttoe rocommends the remuneration of the Chairman to the Board.

The Chair’s fee s determined by the Commitiee {during which the Chair has no part in discussions) and recommended
by it to the Board The Non-Execulive Directors’ fees are determimed by the Chair and the Executive Directors

Opportunity Fee lavels will be eligible for increases during the period that the Remuneration Policy operates 1o ensure that they
continue to appropnately recognise the ime commitment of the role, increases to fee levels for Naon-Executive
Directors in general and fee levels in companies of a similar size and complexity

Framework to assess N/A
performance
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ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

Annual Report on Remuneration

This Annual Report or Remuneration sets out details of how the Cornpany’s Rermuneration Pelicy for Directors was
imolemented during the inancial year ended 30 September 2023, This report has been prepared in accordance with the
provisions of the Contpanies Act 2006 and related Regulations. A singlo advisory resolution te approve this report (and the
Annual Staterment) will be put to Sharenolaers at the AGM on 7 February 2024

3. Single total figure of remuneration for each Director

The remuneration of Dircctors showing the breakcown between compaonents with comparative figures for 2022 snown below

This table and the details set out in Notes 3 1o 9 on pages 102 to 10/ of this report have been auaited by KPMG LLR

Salary Taxable inc:l:‘tai\rl: Annual LTIP Pension Total Fixed Total Variable
and fees’ benefits? plan benus? awards*  henefits® Total Remuneration’ Remuneration®
2023 £000 E£'000 £'000 £000 £'000 E£'000 £'000 £'000 £'Q00
Executive Directors
Helen Gordor 546 16 2 749 264 61 1,638 625 1,013
Rob Hudson 434 16 2 510 205 43 1,210 495 715
980 32 4 1,259 469 104 2,848 1,120 1,728
Non-Executive Directors®
Mark Clare 183 - - - - - 183 183 -
Justin Read 72 - - - - - 72 72 -
Janette Bell 83 - - - - - 63 63 -
Rot Witkinson 18 - - - - - 18 18 -
Carol Hu 63 - - - - - 63 63 -
Michael Brodtmar 40 - - - - - 40 40 ~
439 - - - - - 439 439 ~
Totals 1,419 32 4 1,259 469 104 3,287 1,559 1,728
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7022 LOTT £00 £000 £rooc £oa0 20038 BO0C
Executive Directors
Helen Gorden 5C9 Ta 7 To2 717 2022 [SIES A1y
Rob Hadson <16 il - 497 367 1332 4/35 859

G925 33 2 1,194 1,084 3,356 1,078 2278
Non-Executive Directors®
Mark Clare 174 - - - - - 174 174
Andrew Cars-Locke et - - - - - 24 21 -
Jusun Read &3 - - - - - 55 55 -
Janetta Bell 56 ~ - - - - 52 52 -
Reb Wilkinsan =0 ~ - - - - 50 2 -
Caradtfu 56 - - - - - ) 55
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4. Annual bonus awards - performance assessment for 2023

In detenmining the bonus outcomes for 2023, the Conmittee took into account the Company’s fnancial performance and
achievements against key strategic and operational cbjectives established at the beginning of the year. 70% of the bonus
was based on adjusted earnings and PRS NRI performance (with cgual weightings) with the remainder based on ach’evement
against strategic objectivas. The targets applying to each financial measure and performance against the targets for 2023 are
set out in the table below.

Financial performance (70% of the 2023 annual bonus ocpportunity)

Threskeld larget. M %I 2023 Out-turn (% of

Massure We ghting (ST o t-rn) {NST s out-turni 1007 cut-tarn) performance max element)
Bonus

Adjusted earnings 35% £66.6M £74.0m 371 4m £97.6m 100%
Threshold Targe® M axim. ™ 2023 Out-turn {% of

Meaasure We ghling (0% Cut-turni 160%, out-turnt (100% out-tu m} performance max element)
Bonus

PRS MNRI 35% £72.3m £76.1m £79.9m £82.2m 100%

Stretehing targets were set ir the contexl of a penod of heightened uncertainty following the Governmenl’s mini budget
In September 2022. The leadership team put in place an outperformance plan which delivered a 4% increase in adjusted
earnings (£97.6m) and 16% growth in PRS net rental income (£82.2m). Both outcomes were above the maximum targets set by

the Committee.

This oulperformance plan was achieved through the in-house leams’ focus on speed of lease up, efficiency of void
management, cost savings and increased sates volume into a more challenging market. The resulting cutperformance was
despite the headwinds of scheme delays by third party developers and nsing cost infiation and interest rates impacting on sales
and is considerad to be an outstanding performance.

The Committee considered whether this cutcome was a fair representation of Company and management perfermance durirg
the year and concluded that no adjustment was required In doing so, the Committee was mindful of the level of customers’
affordability noting that rental growth acress the portfolio rooved broadly in Une with naticnal wage inflation and occupancy
was at a record high of 98 6%. In addition, Customer satistaction as measured by NPS improved by 26%. This s a significant
n-year improvement achieved by the delivery of a wide reaching custemer experience programme and it provides a strorg

underpin to customer’s perception of the value far money of renting with Grainger.

As aresult of the strong performance against the financial object ves, the fuil bonuas of 70% became payable.

Non-financial performance (30% of the 2023 annual bonus opportunity)

In respect of the strategic targets set for the Executive Directors, the targets and Committee’s assessment of porformance
against the targets was as follows.

Objective

Measure

Performance assessment

1 Customer
Satisfaction

2 FsG

Achieve delivery of customer engagement programme as cutlined to the

Board in Junc 2022

Maintain NPS score at +34 and target for 2023 15 +34 1% to +37 2%

Custo;{er touch pomnts
a) Minimum target 1200 to 0.5% Maximum 1500 to 1.5% (straight line;

b} Touchpoint surveys and online surveys te show continuing progress

Complete the diversity and inclusion ('D&') independent reviow against
National Eguality Standard and agree actions

Mantan One Star overall for the employee satisfaction

To implemenl a strategy for engaging with local chanties in each of
odr operational locations to support local communitics and aligned to
our vatues.

Deliver by year end

a) Bascline carbon emissiens for Scope 1 1o 3 1o be agreed, aud ted
and publ:shed

b) Plan to be agreed and published that takes us through to 203C for
Scope | and 2 as per aur external commitment

¢l Longer term plan to be agreed for Scopo 3 emissions

o} Approach to tackle embedded carbon to be published based on
best practice

GRAINGER PLC ANMNUAI REFCRT a8 ACCOUNTS 2023

Achiowved in full {1.5%) with the customer
engagemznt programme completed and
presented to the September Board
Achieved in full {2%) with N@S score
ngreased 1o +43, ¢ 26% increase

Achieved in full {1 5% with the final year end
touch peint survey being 1569

) Achieved ia full (%) Comploted NES review

with a streng plan to deliver outstanding
standards in 2024

Achizved in full (12e), Reached One Star and
only three points off Twa Stars

Achioved nfull (13; wath -s-L-r;Lé“(jy_;chleved
and presented to the Responsible Busingss
Cammittee n September 2023

Achioved in full (2946
Achieyved in full (296)

Achieved in full {1.5%)

Achieved in full {1.5%;
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Objective Measure Performance assessment
3 Health and a) Fire Safety works to be progressed Al sites costed and roadmag to Achieved in full {4%) All fire safcty work
Safety delivery agreed pathway mapped and costed included in the
b} Health and Safety Structure and culture improvements to be delivered September 2023 Board Repart
with the now team and structure embeadded New Health and Safoty team structure
¢} Retam and improve Safety Chimate Survey 5co-eindependently by cmaedded and new strategy prosented to
Heallh and Salely Execulive {ex-Health and Safety Laty the Board Survey scores increased
4 Feople Complete deliver vy of high-level plan in accerdance with the strategy Achieved in full (1%} People stiategy
) delivered ard presented to the Board
S Business Nelivery of procurement and other cost savings outlinec to the Soard Achieved in full {29} wath cost saving of
Resilience In September f2 3m achieved

Measurement at end of financial yoar
Target £71-2m (£1m = 196 and £2n = 29%)

To accelorate sources of funding wndrease headroom and fund growtn aj Achieved in part (1% out of 3%, F194m of
cppartunities it the absence of equity ramses total sales including vacant regulated sales
Measurement at end of inancial year and £134m assel recyciing
a) Asset Recycling targetrange as outlined m ravised budget 1120-150m Bl Achioved in ful. {294) Capex reduction
b Capex reduction £8Cm from September budget in budget was {82 7m, ahead of the
¢} Secure 3 opportunities for 2025726 requining less thar 13% of £80m target

capital commitment cr Actioved i full (3%) Four epportunit'es

including TL sites, three requiring less
than 10% of capital

Pursuant to the above assessment, totalling the above percentage outcomes, the Committee deterrmined that 28% of the
maximum 30% of this part of the bonus woulo be payable and was appropriate in the circumstances.

When combinea with performance against the strategic targets, annual bonus was calculated at 98% of the
maximum available,

It s the Committer’s approach to view the performance in the round at the end of the year. The Committee belicves a total
bonus of 98% of the maximum bonus opportunity is representative of strong perfarmance during the year.

2023 Bonus earned

bonus payable Bonusearned - - deferred

{out of 100% payable inshares for

Bonus opportunity maximumj} in cash three years'

Helen Goraon 140% of salary - 98%  £561,797 = £187,266
Rob Hudson 1202 ar salary 98% £382,684 £127,561

Tredomcrasd bomLg "Fare Ay 373 o be G 3="60 31700 1o AN s ca T enT or onu sl e al--
5. LTIP/Recruitment awards vesting
LTIP and recruitment awards vesting in December 2023 and February 2024
The LTIP award granted to Heten Gordon in December 2020 is due to vest on "0 December 2023 and a tranche of the
recruitment award granted to Reb Hudsen o1 11 Octobher 2021 on sim'lar terms is due to vest on 1 February 2024,

These awards are based 0% on a relative TSR concition, 25% on a TPR condition and a 25% on a Secured PRS condit:on
measured over a three-year perod. Performance agamst the original targets can be summarnsed as follows

Out-turn
Threshold Maximum Actual {% of max
Measure Weighting (25% vesting) {100% vesting) performance element)
) N L o
Relative TSR versus a bespoke goun of 50% Median Upper quintile TSR of -14.0% 0.0%
Roal Estate pouvrs ranking ranking currently {estimated)
or better places
Grainger below
median )
TPR {anqual average grawth) 25% 5% p.a. 8% p.a. 5.1% p.a. 27.0%
Secured PRS 25% E650m £750m £837m 100.0%
Total estimated vesting 100% 31.7%
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At the time of signing this report, the T5R performance period has not concluded. Based on performance to 16 October 2023,
Granger s ranked below median This gives an indicative vesting of nit for th s part of the award Actual TSR vesting will be
hased on parformance cver three years from grant {10 Decenrber 2020) and the nal performance, vesting outcomae ane value

of LTIP for sirgle total figare of remuneration purposes will be shown in next year's =eport.

“heaverage TPR over three-year period was 5 1% (2027, 7.5%, 2022, 7.5%, 2023 0.4%6) This resuted inperformance just ahead
of the threshotd target.
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The Socured PRS Investment metricis effectively a measure of the value of the Company’s pipeline of future development
opportunities and provides a clear focus on driving growth in the long-term  The metric and targets were agreed at the
time of grant or a cumulative threshold target of £650m and a maximam target of £750m lor the Lthree-year period ended
30 September 2023, The actual value of investment secured during the period was £837m and was made up of:

+ £158m in FY21 (Millwrights Place, Bristol, Becketwel, Derby; and The Forge, Newcastle)

o £252min FY22 (Exmoulh Junclon, Exeter; Redcliff Quarter, Bristol; and West Way Square, Oxford)

» £427rm in FY23 {Merrick Place, Southall; Southall {TfL, 51% share), Montford Place (TTL, 51% share); Arnos Grove (TTL, 51%
share); and Nine Elms (TfL, 51% share)

The Committee evaluated the quality of investments in determining the PRS Investment vesting outcorme. Firstly, the
Committee considered the extent to which there was any material unapproved variation from the basis upon which any
indvidual scherre was initially approved. Secondly, a post investment review for stabilised assets was undertaken with reguiar
monitoring of schemes to ensure that investments remained of sufficient quality in light of then current market conditions.

The estimated vesting is 31.7% of the total award. The value of these awards shown in the single figure table are as follows:

Face value
NMumber of Number of Estimated of shares Impact of
shares shares value of shares expected share price
expected expected vesting? to vest’ at vesting®
Executive Director Shares granted to lapse to vest £'000 £7000 £'000
Helen Gordon' B 350,496 239,230 111,266 264 314 (50)
Kob Hudson 271,987 185,644 86,343 205 243 (38)
ToLTIRPaward granteg o 17 December 2320
2 Rearatrest award groantedon V1 5arabe 2021 wath tne same parformasie largets @, tre 17 Lecember 2725 LT12 2wsrd
30 Based o tee gusage thize mantt charapr e oo 30 September 20253 of 237 56
2 Bawedartoaprovalngsharapoce at theelewartgran zata
3 TrediTarerte Lolwoon tqo y oo 2F tea shdares Loger v args yes' w] and the cal iz of ©ar sharos at graan

Vested awards are subject to a two-year post vesting hold ng period

LTIP and recruitment awards vested in February and March 2023

The awards made to Helen Gordon on 6 February 2020 vested on & February 2023 and were based 50% on reiative TSR, 25%
on TPR and 25% on Secured PRS Investment. A tranche of Rob Hudson's recruitment award was based or the same measures
and targets and vested on 11 March 2023.

Grainger ranked betweer median and the upper guartile of the TSR peer group which resulted in 81.2% of this part of the
award vesting {compared with a projected vesting of 46 1% disclosed in last year's report), TPR performance resulted in 69.9%

of this part of the award vesting and the Secured PRS Investrent measure was achieved in full. In aggregate, 83 1% of Lhe
December 2018 LTIP award vested in February 2023 comparad to an estimated vesting of 65.5% disclosed in last year's report.

The value of these awards shown in the revised 2022 single figure table included in this Annual Report and Accounts is based
on the share price at the date of relevant vesting dates (6 February (261 &p) and 11 March 2023 (239.4p) and also includes the
value of dividend equivalents on vested awards

6. Share awards granted during the year
The following LTIP and DBSP awards were granted to the CEG and CFQ 10 the year ended 30 Seplember 2023

LTIP share awards
{12 December 2022}

LBSP share awarcs
117 December 20220

Face value bace value

Number £G00 unther £000

Helen Gordon B . 417,297 ~ 1,023 71609 145
Rob Hudson 298,616 732 50157 123

The face value of LTIP share awards for Helen Gordon (200% of salary) and Rob Hudson (175% of salary) is based on a price of
245.08p, being the average share price for the five business days immediately preceding the award being made on 12 December
2022. The awards will vest three years afler grant and a two year holding period will apply.

The awards will be cligible to vest three years after grant, dependent upon continued employment and satisfying performance
criteria. Three measures apply. each with one-third weighting - a relative TSR condition (measured against a group of real
estate companies), a Total Property Income Return condition and a Secured PRS Investment condition.

The relative TSR performance condition requires Grainger’s three-year relative TSR performance versus the comparator group
to be at least at medan for 25% of this part of the award to vest. with vosting then increasing on a straight-line basis to 100%
for upper quartile relative TSR performance.

As explained in tast year’s report. a Total Property Income Return condition was set in place of TPR for this award due to the
uncertainty affecting capital values at the time the awards were granted. The targets arc based on annual average like for like
rental growth over the three year performance period. For this part of the award, threshold (25% vesting) has been set at 3.5%
annual average growth, and the maximum target at 5.0% annual average growth.
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The targets for the Secured PRS Invesiment conditon were agreed during a period of significant uncortanty which was
expected to impact the potential for raising equity to finance new acguisitions and increase the cost of raising debt to grow
Secured PRS Investment. The Largets were sat assuming funding sole .y from™ cur engoing asset recycling programme.
operational cash flow generatior and with LTV in mind. The targats were also set on the provise that should the equity markels
reapen, and we generate proceeds from debt or equity in the per'ed, the related investments will either be excluded from
the assessment of perfermance against the original targets. or the target range would be increased to reflect the funding
to ensure the targets remain at least as stretching as the oniginal ones As the financial year progressed, we were able to
secure substantial pipeline in a captal efficient way leading to the target be'ng achieved In the year Reflecting this strang
porformance. the Committee felt it was appropnate to revisit the target rarge Accorcingly, at the end of the FY23 year, the
Corrmittes increased the target range to ensure the targets were as stretching as the orginal ones based on tnhe carrent
markat outleok. The revises targets will bo disclosed at the time of vosting

Inrelation to the Sccured PRS Investmoent maasure attached to the 16 December 2021 LTIP awards, twa years of the three year
performance perod have comrpleted ana performance is an track for vesting at the upper end of the target rarge, assuming
further PRS investiments arc securced dusing the remainder of the pernod.

The acferred bonus share plan ({DESP’) awards relate to a 25% deferra. of the FY2022 annual bonus into Company shares and
is based on a price of 245p. being the average share price for tne three business days immediately preceding the award oeing
madc on 12 December 2022 The awards will be clig'ble to vest after three years subject to continued employment,

7. Payments for loss of office and to past Directors

No payments for loss of office or payments to past Directors were made 'n the year ended 30 Soptemoeor 2023

8. Directors’ shareholdings and share interests

Past share awards

Maximum

outstanding Maraet prze

Max mum Agancs Awaics awards at it clae ot
Ayrards award visted lapsed 30 Sep 2023 venstirg vostog
grariea Numter Numbe - ~embe- Number fie8 date
Helen Gordor LTIP shares On Fob-20 330116 2/4.231 558585 - 2016 Oe-fon-23
LTIP shares 10-Dec-2 350436 - - 350,496 - 10-Cec-23
[ TIP shares 18-Doc-20 3256600 - - 325,665 - 12-0ec 24
LTIP shares 17-Dec-2 417,237 - - 417,297 12-Dec 25
Dose’ 10 Dec-13 16,425 T 429 - - 247G 18-Dee-22
DREP 10-Bec-20 43,327 - - 43,397 - 10-Dec-23
RSP To-Dec-2 38,238 - - 38,238 - 18-Dec-24
DSk 12-Der-22 71809 - - 71,609 12-Bec-25
Rob Hudsor _TIF shares T1-Ce-2d “84.537 153257 31240 - 2334 11-Mar-23
_TIP skares 11-Oct 21 271987 - - 271,987 - G1-Fcb-24
[ TIP shares Te-Dec-21 233,045 - - 233,045 - le-Dec-24
L1IP snares 12-Dee-22 298016 - - 298,616 - 12-Dec-25
DgsP 1£-Dee-21 2233 - - 2,233 - 16-Cec-24
DBAP 12 Dec-772 L0197 - - 50,197 - 12-Dec-23
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All-employee share options under SAYE

lagsed Tyarzcod

Srarioc d. g durirg
nogear yaar sEAr
tnasw Share
CLten.at Esz-Cine options Exeroing
[ Oty i at 30 Sep prac B
2722 Mlone- o Mz Murhor i 2023 L clar
Faoen ‘:;A\(g G320 - - - 345 BIERS - 1930 01-Sep 22 C1-Mar-22
Gordon Sayg 7,238 - - Q2= - - - - - - - -
SAYE 3 BEH 2030 - - - - - 8,866 2630 31-Sep-26 07 -Mar-27
Reb
—odson SAYE 17 096 - - 20 - - - - - - - -
SATE - 74778 PIERE - - - - - 14,778 O30 O1-5ep 28 11-Mar-7%

[he closing trade share price on 29 Septerber 2523 was 233.60. "he highest trade share price during the year was 277 80 and
the lowest vias 205.4p.
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All-employee share awards under the SIP

Qrdinary shares of Spcach

1ot 2022 30 Sept 2023’
shares shares

Executive Directors
loten Gordon " | S eee 10342
Rob Hudson o - 1,478

1 Grce 30 Seplomber 2027 —awen Gordonard Bob Hudsoe aaa 1o 39ares 10 e Lo pary threngh e fSramger Emplo,ee Bhare lncent ve Sobeme D220 ordinury spsmaras oo

Shareholding at 30 September 2023

Directors’ share interests and shareholding requirements are set out below. In order that ther interests are aligned with those
of Shareholders, Executive Directors are expacted to build up and maintain a personal shareholding equal to 200% of basic
salary in the Cormpany. The table below scts out the Directors’ interests in shares,

Beneficially Tata interests
owned shares at Viosted bot Total interests bold at Sharchoding
30 Sep unexereised Lrvestied  held at 30 Sep 30 %ep a5 % of basic
Ir thousanrds (GI0) 2023 SMAre aveards Share anarcs 2023 2032 salary
Executive Directors ) ) - )
loten Gordon 603 201 1256 2,150 IRRAE: 3173
RobHudson _ 14 247 871 1,232 1003 130.4
Non-Executive Directors B - )
RobWianson NA - - NA L ad N/A
Mark Clare S 161 7 - - 161 LS T Y7
justinRead o o 21 - - 21 21 N/A
Janette Bell - 7 2 B - - 2 N 2 NiA
Carol bui o 7 5 - ) - 5 - i N
Michael Brodtman 20 - - 20 - N/A

1T Tratstalanterostanctuns honefoa ly awrod saz e sharcs beldin the 512 tros 1 vestea bus wurcsors 2od 2narat a0 anvested share anards

I Thesalus b sharey hel

el e gt ar 29 3esteroer 2023 wher tre _hare proee wae 2 42 bo) ine usas sharas oer
Bass)and the e currnased unoe: the SR If unvested DBS2 anady fwn ok vest Labject to connirund emplayment
farwaicn oertarma nasdlready peentsned and est Mated e respect ¢f tne T2 3 condition® veere tu be incla
cfbauc salary ntre s ¢ Helan Gardea 1f Lneostea DBIP awards (s ioh vest sub ot 1o cont nued tmoloy
Lz ant rrated calue of SuLout awards cae ty wostinFabr ar, 2024 we o 1o berc uded thaalie of shares he o fonanosl ichas s
Fob A dean

enshoally, vested but unexer e d “Raragnirns 100 a poit tse
s ds b Deseraber 2020 L51P dus }
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9. Performance graph
Total Shareholder Return

This graph shows the porcentage change by 30 September 2023 of £100 investad ir Grainger plc on 30 September 2013
compared with the value of £100 invested separately in both the FTSE 250 Index and the FTSE 350 Real Estate Supersector
Index. These indices have been chosen as Grainger 15 a censtituent in each.

Chart removed
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ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

10. Chief Executive single figure

Chiet E«ncot s comens award rates

cingle fgL-e ot
total remuare as

Arpaal vanaole  Longtermances: e
vestirgrates
aga slmuam. T

ancorlunity
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IGAINSL ATEXIrum
opPOorUN Ly
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2023 Helen Gordon 1538 L] 32
2032 llelen Gordons 2322 98 3
202 Heler Gordan 16371 07 a8
2020 Heler Gordon 1,688 74 7
2079 Helen Gordon 1185 27 36
2018 Helen Gardor 1174 77 8
2017 Helen Gordor 285 il MN/A
20167 Helen Garaon (frem 4 January 2016} 282 73 N/A
2016 Ardrow Curningham {to 4 January 20161 370 -
2015 Andrew Cunmingharnm /185 - 13
2014 Androw CUHITIﬂéhdr‘ﬂ 2477 G4 10C
Trutiaos A Rgures fa 20 Loratee
2Tt s Imuee e L “gle figuee b o
PooHelan Gorera, arg e fguee o7 tbtal renomerat IoadlLde rgeinnd ST Skt eecut ee dengnste alrng b dndiga Do g o s s Chict Zeecative
At TE Y thore —ac e enent OF dauh o 2o tag e o s pgle Tgurs of Fat 12 nriation fo =]

11. Percentage change in remuneration of Chief Executive and employees

The annual percentage change in remuneration ever the last four years, excluding LTIP ana pension contributions, for the
Chief Fxecutive, Crief Financial Officer, Non-Fxecutive Directors and for the average of all other employees in the Group was

as follows:

Forenrbags cmangs 2019-2027 Pareariaga chang=2 202821 Percertige cnang: 2021-22 [ecestupe o ~ange 2022-23
Bas= AN aa Base  Taxabls  Annual Basa  Taxable  Annual Bas  Taxakle  Ancua
Executive Directors sally [l silary  beoertls benu: sality  berefits benus salary, benehts [SReTaNE
Fialon Gordon T 162 375 Thew (21 (2 6% 20%  {02Pe s02% 0% {027 (6.8)%
vanossa S mms’ 25 0% (100.0)% T390 (43 1% - - - - - - -
Rab Hudson: - - - - - 20% WGy L02% 50% 1001%  (38)%
Non-Executive Directors
Mark Clare AN M 159% A NAA T0% A NIA GO Mo N/A
Andeew Cars Lacke? 2 5% VY KA 1 5%, N/A NYA NAA N/A NiA Ny MN/A
Justin Read: PELTH MA SRS 4%, N A& MNA 16 4%, N AA [N ¢ 0% MNA NyA
Janarte Bell? 2 5% N NS R RSN MAA Ta8% A [NRES o 0% NiA NyA
Rob wilkinson® 2 5% N2 Mis 13% INAA SR 20% NTA MNAA 0%, A MR
Carcl Hu YA [N NEEY NSA N /A A N/A A NS o 0% Ny N
Michiae! Bradtman® NSA INJA NA NS /A e NSA AR NIA N& A NFA
Employee population 2 8% 0.8%  13.7% 2 3% {C.70% 33 3% 2 5% {C 5% 4 6% L3 s 2 6o
lunonn 2L caan tne e o e da oo, e '
DRl buann red g3 Alguet 2920 TR gecasnar e anara b oo e L el [ PN A ST

Tommitton

<k an paccnbobegy 2023

-+ Cteprasdonen froo
o Cainow SAasappa el Ty the o o SV Tha Sftre e pere ol Dy oo
fo el an o asra Boa c ol L Ly 2723

12. Chief Executive pay ratio

u

Ao gt Rl ter st T

e Cor relt-e

The table bolow compares tne 2023 single total figure of rerruneration for the CEO as shown in Note 3 on page "02 with the
Group's employees paid at the 25L0, SOth ara 75th percertiles:

Financial year Method 25th percentile 50th percentile (median} 75th percentile

2013 A 511 31341 19:1
Total pay and benefits £31,830  Total pay and benefits £49,900 Total pay and benefits £85,792
Salary £26,882 Salary £44,447 Salary £63,495

2025 A 631 41 231
Tetal pay ard beneSts £31,831 Total pasard benefits £47 327 Total pay and beaefits £87 1RG0
Salary £25.747 Salary £35 500 Sa.ary £72.116

2021 I 421 331 22
'otal pay and berehts £32,/1° Tota. pay and nenefrs £48 540 lutal pay ana oenefits £
Salary £25.000 Salary £42.223 Salary 24770

2020 A L8 1 341 231
lotal pay and benefits £28968 Total pay and benalits £14 /48 Total pay and benefits £/2 196
Sa.ary £27703 Salary £37,8%8 Salary £63,338
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Our calculations were made on 10 Movemnber 2023 using Oplion A as the most statistically accurate method

fn underta«ing our calculations, no adjustments were made to the figures other than determining the FTE remuncration for alt
employees within the Group over the financial year. No non-salary employee remuneration components have been omitted.
laowners, leavers. employees on a period of statutery leave (such as maternity, paternity and shared parental leave) and long-
term absences during the financial year were excluded

Total FTE remuneration was calculated on the same basis as the CEO single figure table and includes annual base salary,
taxable benefits (private medical insurance, car allowance), matching shares under our Share Incentive Plan, annual bonus
for performance delivered in the Ainancial year and paid in Decerrber 2023, emplayer pension contributions, and taxable
share plans.

The Committee considers that the median CEOQ pay ratio s consistent with the pay, reward and progression poticies available to
our employees. We operate an in-house service maodel, directly employing colleaques for ansite roles in our growing portfolio
of developments and our employee population at this level will continue to increase as wo resource appropriately [tis therefore
difficult to compare our ratios with those in the property industry who do not operale under a similar model.

13. Relative importance of spend on pay

The difference in actual expenditure between 2022 and 2023 on rernuneration for all employees, in comparison to profit before
tax and distributions to Shareholders by way of dividend, 15 set out in the charts below. Profit before tax s considered to be an
appropriate fnancial metric as it s not impacted by changes in tax rates which are outside of the direct control of the Company.

Profit before tax Dividend Total employee pay
{frm) (Em} (£}

-£271.2m +£4.9m +£3.2m
-91% H1% +12%

2023 £274m 2023 £491m 2023 £296im
(2022 £248.6m*; (2022 £4472m) {2022 £26.4m)

“Inclades £27 2rmocne o ipsct cesu g
fromprepete tewws Loatan. e 2022

14. Statement of implementation of Remuneration Policy for 2024

Base salary

As set out in last year's Directors’ Rermuneralion Report ("DRR"), when the Commitlee carred out a review of the Directors’
Remuneration Policy in 2022, 1t became clear to the Committee that Helen Gordon’s base salary had nol kept pace with
Grainger's increased size and complexity or its strong operational and financial performance. We therefore consulted major
sharehclders on a two-step increase to Helen's base salary with a 9% increase applying from January 2023 {to £557,500) and a
6% increase from 1 lanuary 2024 (to £531,000). The second increase was subject to continuing strong individual and Company
performance. On the basis that Helen has continued to demanstrate strong leadership during a continued challenging
macrocconamic and political environment and Grainger has again delivered significant value through high like-for-like rental
growth and with occupancy at record highs, the Committee has concluded that the second increase of 6% will apply from
January 2024 In reaching this decision we also considerad the salary increase for the wider workforce. In recogmition of the
ongoing cost of living issues being experienced by colleagues, particularly those on lower pay, the wider waorkfarce will receive
an average increase of between 5% and 6%, wilh 5% focused on our lowest paid employees Rob Hudson's increase will be 5%.
Changes to salaries will be effective from 1 January 2024,

Pension
A workforce aligned 10% of salary pension contribution will be payable to the CEQ and CFO.

Annual bonus
The structure and metrics to operate for the 2024 annual bonus are as follows:

Chief Executive: 140% of salary

Chief Financial Officer: 140% of salary (subject to major Sharcholders being supportive of the proposed increase from 120%
of salary)
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REMUNERATION

ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION (CONTINUED)

The table below sets out tne performance measures and their respective waightings for 2024

Metric Weighting Rationale and description

PRS NRI 35% Qental imcome from FRS after property aperabting expenases ncentivises managemant to focus on
growetig roome ard redadimg cost

Adjusted earnings 353% Incentivises operatianal success in ach-eving rental grow th, mcome from sales and recucticn

Strategic and Operatiopal 20%
objectives

ESG 1G%¢

‘noperaticnal ana finarce costs relative to a challenging budget The targots for Y24 are
challenging and have taken mte account theimpact ot the reducing size of our regulated tenancy
pordelio and the mpact of scheme delverios

Specific ohjectives relating 1o Custamer Sanisfacvon, Busmess Resilience and Funding and
Investment wili apply Due to matters of commaraial sensitivity it woud not be ir tho interests
of the Company o disclose the oraase operational targets for the annual bonus at the date of
production of this report, Detals of the onectives and the performance achioved wall be disclosed
retrospectealy i tne 2024 Apnual Repost

Incentivises deavery of Granger's corporate stratagy and commitments in respect of Community
Envirarmert, Governance and Pooole including Healtn and Safety)

In lime with our Policy, 25% of any bonus earned will be delivered as a deferrea bonus share award which will vest after

three years

LTIP

It s expected that the LTIP awards to be maoe to the Exccut've Directors in the year ending 30 Septembier 2024 will be at the

levels detailed below and sub’ect o a two-year holdirg pencd

o Chiet Exccutive 200% ot salary
« Chicf Finarcial Officer 175% of salary

The performance measures to apply for the 2023 LTIP will be as follows:

Metric Weighting Targets

Relative TSR (versus a 30 Parformance (evel Ranking Vesting (of this part of an awarg)

bespoke groun of rea. Below threshoid Below madian 0%

estate peers) Thireshiold Median 25%

Max nmur Lipper quartye T e

Total Property Income 30% TPIR 15 based on a shding scale of annual average lke-for-like rental growth aver the three-year

Relurn perfarmance penod
Perfarmance level TPIR vesting (of this part of an award)
Below threshold " Relow 3.5% V%

Ihreshold 3 5%, 28t
Maximim 5% 1C07%

Secured PRS Investinent: 304 The actial targets are conaidercd to be corrmarcialy sensitive at tus time bt a gualitative
assessmert of progress w ll be provided in the 2024 and 2025 remuneration reports and full
retrospective aisclosure of tae targets and achievemert will be set outin tne 2026 :eport

FLG-Carbon 108, Operancnal carbon 5% woighting) - achieve a 8% {thieshold) 1o 129 (max) reduction in

anerational carben por m2 for the PRE port®olio by 2026 (ncludes buillding related enrissions for
Scepes 1,2 and 3

Embaoded carbon (5% weighting) - acnieve a 6% threshold) to 12% (max) reduction in embod cd
cashon for direct doveooment projectsan dosign by 202

e

IR

N e 2?

Stree gt TIR A b eiane to T s ot

C Ay
c b

Tne Zommittee will ~etain the nghs to reduce overall pay outcomos if 17 considers the vaniasle pay result does not reflect
broader Company performance over the relevant performance periods.
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Non-Executive Directors’ fees

The Mon-Executive Directors’ {NED') fee levels will increase in line with the typical employee population increase by 5% with
effect from 1 January 2024. Current fee levels are as follows:

1 January 1 Jaraary
2024 2523
Basic Non-Executive Direclor fee £55,512 L52.869
Additional fee for chainng Board committee S £11,221 £10.687
Additional fee for Semar Independent r_)|r(<__tordut|<_ﬂ,_ T £9,448 £8 4G5
Chairman’s fee £194,881 185607
15. Directors’ service agreements and letters of appointment
Executive Directors Contract commencement date Notice period
Heten Gordon November 2015 12 months
Rob Hudson 31 August o2 & months
Non-Executive Directors Date of initial appointment
Mark Clare February 2017
Rab wilkinson o Qctober 2015 S
Justin Read ’ February 2217
Janette Bell - Fcbrua-r)-/ 2‘-3-1-‘_5-“ o i
Carol Hui - 1 October 2021
Michael Brodiman 1 January 2023 o
16. Details of the Remuneration Committee, advisers to the Committee and their fees
The Remuneration Commuittee currently comprises the Company Chair and four independent Non-Executive Directors.
Detaits of the Directors who were members of the Committes during the year are as follows:
Meetings
Meetings eligible
Committee member Member since attended to attend
Justin Read {Committee Chair o 9 February 2022} May 2017 77
Mark Clare S May 2017 7 /
Janette Bell iCommittee Char from 8 February 2022) May 2000 7 7
Rob Wilkinson (until February 2023) - May 2017 3 4
Carol Hui ('Ciommlttee moember from 9t eb-ruary 2022} November 2021 o 7 7

The Company Secretary, the Chicf People Officer and other memizers of the senior management team may be invited te attend
Committee meetings as appropriate. No Directors are involved in deciding their own remuneration.

FIT Remuneration Consultants LLP were appointed by the Rernuneration Committee to provide advice on executive
remuneration matters. Total fees paid or payable (as applicable} to FIT for services to the Committec duning the 2023
financial year werc £121,954 (2022 £71,745) The increased fee was in relation to work in respect of the remunceration pelicy
review, engagement with stakeholders and benchmarking for the Executive Committce members, FIT are signatories to
the Remuncration Consultants’ Group Code of Canduct and any advice provided is governed by that Code. The Committee
reviews the adviser relationship periodically and remains satisfied that the advice it receives from its advisers is independent

and objective

17. Statement of voting at general meeting

At the AGM held an 8 February 2023 the Directors’ Remuneration report and Policy received the following votes

from Shareholders.

Crrectors’ Rermrune aticn repert (2023)

Remuneration Colizy (2023}

icral numhber % of Total nurnker faab
of v vl cast of votes vaTes cast

for 5/90/8117 9351 599,740,550 S5 06
Agamst A0171,451 .49 ~ 31,191,167 454
Total votes cast {for and againsty _ 100 63C931.717 100
Votes withheld T1.623,356 34667
Janette Bell
Chair of the Remuneration Committee
21 Novernber 2023
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In accordance with the UK Financial Conduct Avthority's
Listing Rules {'LR"), the information to be ncluded in the

Annual Report and Accounts, where applicable under LR 9.8.4,

i< set out in Note 15 to the financial slatements on page 146
in relation o the dividend waiver arrangenments.

Information incorporated by reference

The Corporate Governance Statement on pages 70 to 116
forms part of this Directors’ report and is incorperated inta
this Birectors’ repert by reference,

Directors’ interests in significant contracts

No Directors were materially interested in any contract
of significance

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities in respect of
the Annual Report and the financial statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Repaort
and the Group and parent Company financial staternents in
accordance with applicable law and regulaticns.

Company law requ-res the Directors to prepare Group and
parent Company Ninancial statements for eack iinancial
year. Under that law they are required to prepare the
Group finarcal statements in accordance with UK-adopted
international accocunting standards (IFR5) and applicable
law and have elected to prepare the parent Company
financial staternents ir accerdance w.th UK accounting
standards and applicable law, incluging FRS 107 Reduced
Disclosure Framework

Under cormpany law tne Directors must not approve the
financial staterments unless they are satisfied that they give
atrue and fair view of tne state of affairs of the Group and
parent Company and of the Group's profit or loss for that
periad. In preparing each of the Group ard parent Cornpany
financial statements, the Directors are requied to-

select suitable accourting policies and tnen apply
therr consistently;

make Judgements and estimates that are reasonable,
retevant, reliable and prudent;

for the Groupn firancial stalements, state whether they have
been prepared N accordance with UK-adeptea mternational
accountng standards (IFRS);

for the parent Company fnancial statements, state whether
applicable UK accounting standards have been followed,
subject to any materal departures disclosed and explained
in the parent Company finandia. statements.

.

assess the Group and parent Company's ab'lity to continue
as a going concarn, disclosing, as applicable, matters relates
to going concarn; and

= use the going concerr bas s of accounting unless they either
intend te ligu'date the Group or the parent Cempany or

10 cease operdbions, or have ne realistic aternative but to
do 5o,

112

+ The Drrectors are respansible for keeping adeguate
accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the parent Company’s transactions and disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any t'me the financial
position of the parent Cormpany and enable them 1o
ensure that its financial staterments comply with the
Companies Act 2008. They are responsible for such
Interna. control as they determine 15 necessary to enable
the preparation of financial statements that are free
fram material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error, ard have gensral responsitility for taking such
steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the
assots of the Group and to prevert and detect fraud and
other irreguiarities.

Under applicable law and regulatiors, the Directars are
also responsible for preparing a Strategic Report. Directors’
Report, Directors’ Remuneratior Report and Corporate
Governance Statement that complics with that law and
those regulations

The Directors are ressonsible for the manterance and
integrity of the corporate and financial informauoen included
on the corrnany’s wehsite, Legislation in the UK governing the
preparaticn and dissemination of financial statemants may
differ from .egislation in other jurisdictions.

In accordance with Disclosure Guidance ard Transparency
Rule 4 1.14R, the financial statements will form part of the
annual financial repert prepared using the single electronic
repcrting formal under the 1D ESEF Regulation The auditor's
report on these financal statements provides no assurance
aver the ESEF format.

Responsibility statement of the Directors in respect of
the annual financial report

We confirt that to tne best of our knowledge:

+ the financial statements, prepared in accordance with the
applicabic set of accounting standards, give a true ard far
view of tne assets, labiutics. financial nosition and profit or
loss of the Companry and the undertakings included in the
consolidation taken as a whole; and

+ the Strategic repart includes a fair review of the
development and perforrrance of the business and the
position of the ssuer and the undertakings included in the
corsolidatien taken as a whaole, together with a descriction
of the principal risks and uncertaintics that they face.

We consider the Annual Repeort and Accounts taken asa
whole, Is falr, balanced and understandable and provides the
infermation neceszary for Shareholdars to assess the Group's
position and pe-formarce, business mode! and strategy.

By arder of the Beard

Rob Hudson
Director

21 Movember 2023
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Financial risk management
Details are included in Note 27 to the financal staterments

Directors’ indemnities and insurance

The Company has in place contractual entitlerments for the Directors of the Company and its subsidiaries to claim
indemnnification by the Company for certain liabilities they might incur in the course of their duties. We have estallished these
arrargerments, which constitute qualifying third-party indermnity provision and quaiifying pension scheme indemnity provision,
in compliance with the relevant provisions of the Companies Act 2006. They include provision for the Company to fund the
costs incurred by Directors in defending certain claims against them in relation to their dutics. The Company also maintains an
appropriate level of Directors’ and officers’ Lability insurance.

Sustainability

Comprehensive disclosure on Lhe Company's Environmental, Social and Governance performance is available on our websiie at
wwiw.grainge-plc.co.uk/responsibility.

Streamlined Energy and Carbon Reporting Disclosure

Scope 1 and 2 Global GHG emissions data for period 1 October 2022 to 30 September 2023,

Uy 2023 Trengd 2022 2023 T ond
locaticn- location- Il ator- market- market- markot-
Emissions itonnes of CO-e “rom aased based based based based based
Scope 1 {(Fuel com_b_giuon in vehicles and buwldmgs)_ ) _ 1.031 767 -26% 1,021 767 -26%
Scope 2 (Electriaity) - 1047 1,150 W% 314 170 -46%
Total footprint B ) 3073 1,917 8% 1,345 937 30%
Cutside of Scopes (Biogenic miss:ions) 654 1,228 88% 7 1,228 38
Company’s chosen 'nte",s,',ty measurement: B ) o
Ermussions reported above per m2 Gross Internal Area 0.0029 0.0026 -9 8% 00019 0.0013 -32.0%
Erissions reported above per ownad umt ) 02281 0.2048 =10 1% 01480 0.1002 -32.3%
Ermissions reported above per cnplovee” o B 0614 5.1532 -10 0% 39327 2.5188 -35 0%

Scope 3 Global GHG emissions data for period 1 Ociober 2022 to 30 September 2023

Ermissions itannes of CO o) fren 2322 2023

Purchased ggggirsr.rand serrwrcres' N 8 184 7,272

Cap-tal goods” ) 52,063 62,367

Fuel ard energy-re ldtC‘d acliv est ~ ) 648 " ee7

Upstream transportation and d|er|buI\0n o 25 3.2

Waste gencrated in operations” ) ) 02 0.2

Busiress travel {air, rail, vehicles and hotels, o - 110 183

Emp.oyee commuting” - 142 533

Upstream leased assets (office energy use)™ o 1C2 90

Sngmstreérﬂ::{riénsportauon and distribution B 7' 7 o ) N7 N/A

Processing of sold products ) o N B N N/A

Use of sold products o o - AL 262

End-of-life trcit[rjeritfo;;g@ products - N B T 55 88

Bownstream leased assets (Cqs_t@j_e_{ energy uscy'” _ o )
PRS B - - 702 12,670 89%
Regulated tenarcios - 7 a o 10‘87;_ 3,657 -20%
Commerciat o _ o o 830 905 9%
Total o 23,403 22,232 -5%

Franchises o L - NSA N/A NSA

Investments (Residential - mortgages "CHARM') © - o 826 7Y 1%

Total Scope 3 emissions ' 466805 94,466 2%

Groo s InTorral Avva ber Grasnges sresidentin portiol o
Bamber of cwredur tsdunng the Tnsnomaly2ar e lidiegun ts oweec in L oind ventures thul are s n I aieger's snecalionul Zentro

Tota. rumber of emipuoyees of Grarnger plo or the 'ast day of the nancia. vear
sd e spard aata usnrg CEDA oy

This hiss beencalzuared based o cpard 2ol usmg CLDA 2risy ons Taclors ara o uees sl 2ipits! exoen? Lo

e es o

Ths hasbeonoalued By S FACtars urg e et J opeattand’ srpae fitors

Iecludes, Wil er
Poeluddes ermsans £30 cour o sec et falou ed Fror apena gat o

s frore fuels and elocric Sy tranrisaon and 9453 bat 00 arses

SR

& cluees wisie generales Fom Lo Oflies 1ol Gramgsr leases Tam s leed ords sne et rates wasie for uhes ofice,

kg oz rame o ss ors 202 0 d5%a was esoeeeted frors g oenchie arking ool

9 Er-gloyes conrmuung has beer astmated iom anemployee uivey and 1. vdec

13 Imcluses lardliord obramed avssions rom tvo offiite, that Cranger ease: framit. Lang aras

11 Incluzesir as2 ang @ad-o'- ik eveaons far sroper leq so din e year that Sranger deveioped o0 o wb oo for 2222 comrpr ses 35 uars at The Boalrouse, C zpare Quay, Yourg
street and chared owressnip hermes e tre Grainger Trostportiol o

e rewdential ard commorsal b ldnges whehhas boon calouiated fram a
rmancs Lerhiicates CFP <) ard CIBS [; bonchrrarke Z4% of data v as ca cula =c

Dowemsiroar leascd assets  Include, et ted castomrer energy 150 for Grargzs s parifolaof les

sanmib 1t enet aciua. mnier readings extraoolation o’ aciual g il ang et anadl on feom Lnerqgy Per
fear actual meter readings

13 Erss ons fram she THARM per-folic of rewidertia monigages calou amas us g tie PCAF methodolage for Granger's quity shace

GRAINGER PLC ANNUAI RFEFGPIT AND ATTZOULN IS 2023 113



GOVERNANCE REFORT

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
(CONTINUED)

Underlying global enorgy use aata for period 1 Octobor 2022 to 30 September 2023

Fracg, use kW) 222 2023 Tre i
Sectnoty 5371804 5,531,207 3%
Natural gas 6,837,406 8,572,053 25
District neating 18,040 24833 389
Biomass 474,556 934,81(5 A%
Transport fuel 120142 177,160 45%
Total energy use 13521948 15,240,063 139

Summary

As a quoted company incorporated in the UK, Grange-
corplics with the Companics Act 2006 (Strategic Report
and Dirccters’ Report) Regulations 2013 and the Comipanics
(Directors’ Report) and Limited liability Partnerships (Energy
ard Carbon Report) Regulations 2018. Crainger reports all
matcrial GHG emissions us.ng 'tannes of CO, equivalent’
(tCO.e 1 as the unit of measurement and reports cnergy

uso in kWh Our reporting period s 1 Qctober 2022 to

30 September 2073 and we report energy Use and emissions
for the previous year to snow trends,

We repart on all energy use ard GHG ermissions far the
ooecrations within too boundarios of our financial staterments,
Al energy use and emissions data relates to emissions in the
UK and offshore area,

Between 2022 and 2023, energy consumption from ours
property portfolio has increased by 119% Granger’s total
location based GHG emissions have decreased by 8%, and
market-based ermissions have decreased by 30%.

In 2023 we have enhanced our Scope 3 emrissions reporting to
incwde the following addiuonal categories Purchased goods
and services, Capital gooas, Upstrearm transportation ana
distrioution, Waste from operations, Employee commuting,
Use of sold products, End of Ufe treatment of sold products
and Investments This mecans we are now reporting on

all retevant Scope 3 categorics We have used anew
metnodology to calculate estimated customer em’ssions from
Downstream leased assots. using actual data where this s
available to improve the accuracy of the reported emissions
We have also restated all 2022 comparables accordingly.

All categories are calculated using methodologios in ine witk
the Corporate Yalue Chain (Scope 3) Standard.

Trends

Energy The overallincrease nencrgy use can be attributed
o the increase in gas usc comnared to the previods yoar

This increase 1s primarily due to the acquisition of three
proper Lies which were not included during the previous
reporting pericd, which contributed 18% of natural gas use
across the portfolio this vear. Inadditior, the UK experienced
asligrtircrease in the rurmber of cooling-degree days
corparcd 1o the same poriod in 202122 O a ke-for-like
basis, only considering proper ties which were fully active
across the two years. there bas been a 6.6% recuction

ir natu-al gas use Lectricity use has remamed largely
consistent, showing only a shight increase. whilst on a like-for-
like bagis there Fas beena 1 5% reduction

Emissions” Qur 5cope 1 emissions have significantly
decreasod. In 2022 we switched o number of propertizs to a
green qgas tariff mc-year, which i backed by biogas instead of
natural gas. In 2023 these sites have been on this tanff for the
full year and so Scope 1 emissions have “educed Localion-
based Scope 2 emss’ons have ingcreased from the previcus
year. This 13 due to a combinatior of increased electrizity use
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{3%;) from acquisitions anc the increase in the UK e.actricity
grid intensity (7%). Mariket-based Scope 2 emissions have
decreased. This is due to the continued increase ir coverage
of renewable electnoity at our locations, with 89% of our
sortfolio meters raw covered by a renewable clectricity tarniff.

Methodology

Grainger uses the GHG Protocol Corporata Standard (revised
cdition), Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines
2019 and 1SO14064: Part 1 standard for its reporting, using
the operational control approach We have used the UK
Governmant Conversion Factors for Company Reporting
2023 for emissions calculations, including location based
Scope 2 reperiing. For our market-based emissions we have
usec contractual instruments where there s data readily
avalable and I unavailable, the Association of Issuing Bodies
Eu-gpean Residual Mixes 2022 for market-based reporting
for 2023, We used enissions factors from the same sources
in 2022 We have reported on all energy use and enussions
scurces required undcer the regulations We purcnasc

100% renewable electricity tariffs for 89% of our portfolio
meters, representing 90% of electriaity consumption, which
has resulted in lower Scope 2 emissions using the market-
nased approach comparod to the location-basoed appreach,
Where no contractual data is available, we use reaidual mix
emissions factors,

Scope 1 data

This includes landlord-obtained gas and ticmass heating
corsamed in cormron areas and by lenants on an urmetered
basis, gas consumed in Grainger’s offices, as well as fuel
corsurmption in vehicles owned or leasec by Grainger
Fugitive emissians are not included as they have been
assessed o be immaterial

Scope 2 data

This includes lardlord-obtaincd electricity and d-strict ncating
consumed in common areas and by tenants on anunnetered

basis as well as cioctricty consumed by Grangor inits offices

Scope 3 data
This includes al. relovant Scope 3 categories.

Errissions from Purchased goods and services and Capital
goods have been reported for the frst t me and are calculated
from spend data using CECA emissions factors

Fuel ang encrgy related activites inc.udes weli-to tank
emissions from fuels and emissicns from the transrmission and
distribution of electricity

Waste generated from operations and Upstream leased
assets emissions nave been calculated front waste and energy
data provided by wandiods for Grange~'s occupiec offices
Where waste data was unava'lable it nas been estimated
us.ny available waste data and employee occupation Agures.

Business travel emissions have been calculated from
actual mreage records and spena data and includes notel
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stays. Employce commuting has heen estimated from an
employee survey and warkforce data and incluces ermissions
from employees working from home For FY22 employee
commuting emissions were calculated primarily using a
benchmarking tooland in FY23 they were calculated using
more actual employce survey data. This has seen omissions
INCrease year onyear and comparisans between the two years
should be cautionary.

Sold products consists of units developed by Granger for sale
which include units at The Boathouse, Clippers Quay, Young
Street and shared ownership units on the Grainger Trust
portfolio. Use of sold products emissions have been estimated
from actual energy used in Grainger's leased properties on the
same estate or from EPCs where no actual data s available.
End-of-lifc treatment of sold products emissions have been
estimated using data from Whole | ife Carbon assessments
undertaken on similar Grainger properties

Downstream leased asscts includes emissions from energy
used by Grainger’s customers in our buildings and uses a
cormbination of actual energy data, extrapolalion of aclual
data to fill gaps in data for the same asset, and proxy data for
simiar assets. Where no actual data or suitable proxy was
available, emissions have been estimated using data from
EPCs and CIBSE bencnmarks.

Investment includes emissions from a portfolio of residential
martgages ‘CHARM' calculated using the PCAF methodology,
and are reported for Granger's equity share.

Energy use data

This includes purchased electricity, natural gas, biomass,
district heating and transport fuels {petrol and d'esel, which
have been converted to kWh from mileage records using
the UK Government conversion factors). Grainger has solar
photovoltaic panels generating electricity on a number of
properties, but the energy generated is exported to the grid
or used to supply building communal areas and is unable to
be reported.

Restatements and estimation

We have recalculated emissions for 2022 as we have been
able to obtain mere accurate and complete data for Scope

1 and Scope 2 emissions from energy consumption in our
property portfolios. Properties which were completed in 2022
for which no data was available for the prior year’s reparting
have been included and a smalt number of recently completed
propertics are excluded from 2023 reporting because data

is not yet available. We will gather data in 2024 to include
these properties inour future reporting Where Grainger-
obtained utility consumption data is partially unavailable or
unreliable for an asset, estimation has been undertaken by
extrapolating, first using data from the current reporting
pericd and if unavallable, data from the previous reparting
pericd. For 2023 3% of energy from fuels for Scope 1
erissions and 2% of electricity for Scope 2 emissions data has
been estimated.

During 2073 we catculated our baseline emissions for all

relevant Scope 3 categories. All Scape 3 emissions for 2022
have beer restated to reflect the methodology Lsed which
has been applied consistently for 2022 and 2023 reporting.

Intensity metrics

We have used three intensity metrics: emissions per residential
gross internal area (tCO.e/m2), emissions per the number of
owned units (tCO,efowned unit) and emissions per number

GRAINGER PLC AMNNJAL K=BO2" AND ATICUNT S 023

ol ernpluyees (CO. c/employee) to abign with our financial
reporting The floor area of our portfolio has ncreased
hetween 2022 and 2023 due to acquisitions. This coupled
wilh the decrease 'n combined Scope 1 and 2 market-based
emissions has caused a decrease in the emissicons per m2 by
32%. Cur investment in naw anergy efficient housing delivery
has increased the number of homes in tha portfolic whilst
the efficiency of the partfolio has improved. resulting in a
reduction in cmissions per owned unit of 32%. There has been
an increase in the numbper of ennployees due to an increase

i the number of buildings, which coupled with the reduction
N ernissions has resulted in a 36% decrease in the emissions
per employee.

Energy efficiency measures

4s part of our long-term asset management activities, we
undertake comprehensive refurbishments to the common
parts of our buldings and have a programme of rolling
refurbishments for units. These refurbishments include a
number of energy efficiency rmeasures. For Commion parts
a typical refurbishment includes a lighting upgrade with
installation of tighting controls, and fabric upgrades where
required We have undertaken major refurbishments to the
common parts of 8 assets tnis year, which included lighting
upgrades, window replacements and roof insulation. We have
identified reductions in energy consumption at & of these
bulldings where works have been completed, achieving 4%
savings in the year-on-year figures.

Refurbishments undertaken to individual units incude
many energy eficiency improvements including window
replacements, instatlation of more efficient heating
systems and insulation The resulting reductions in energy
censumption are experienced by our customers in their
directly-purchased energy usage, and are reflected in our
estimated customer cnergy use and emissions

Customers energy use and emissions

Grainger’s customers purchase therr own energy and data

privacy laws make it challenging to obtain actual customer
encrgy data which can be used to calculate actual Scope 3
emissions. Between 2022 and 2023 Grainger has rolled out

. agreen lease clause to enable customer energy data to be

collected ana used for reporting purposes Mcter readings
have been taken when properties ace void and during
property inspections whare customers have provided consent.
The actual customer energy dala Lthat has been collected has
been extrapolated to fill gaps at simila- properties in the same
asset and to similar assets in the portfolio. Where no actual

" datais available we have used estimated energy consumption

data off Energy Performance Certificates or CIBSE
benchmarks. These figurcs do not take into account actual
residents usage patterns and the actual data gathered from
Grainger's portfolio suggests our properties arc operating
more efficiently than predicted. We intend to increase tne
coverage of properties with actual data over time to enhance
the accuracy of our emissions reporting. Grainger has a
customer engagemenl campaign 'Living a Greener Life” which
aims to engage our customers on greener lving and support
them in reducing their environmental impacts. For more
information see page 57,

Supply chain emissions

This year for the first time we are reporting supply chain
emissions from Purchased goods and services and Capital
goods. These crmissions are calculated using spend data and
CEDA emissions factors for specific spend categones and
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do not use supplier specific emissions data. Enr ssicns for

both categones have decreased 1n line with ermissions factar
decreases as annual inflation rates are factored in. In 2024 we
are continuing our suppler engagement programme to obtain
sunplier specific emissions data and explore opportunites to
reduce emissions with key supply chain partners

Capital goods include emissions from bulla to-rent
develonment projects. 2023 was a record year of
developriient activity with 1,237 new units comnpleted across

s x schemes and a furtner 439 scheduled to complete in
calendar year 2023, These emissions therefore represent

a significant prooortion of our emissions for this yoar.

Using spend data to estimate these emissions provides us
with an nit'al aseline. We have commenced a programme 1o
undertake Whole Life Carbon assessments To mare accurately
measure these emissions and olan te amend tne methodolagy
used to calculate emissions from Capital goods in the future
to reflect the findings of these assessments. See page 52 for
morg infarmation on our approach to measuring and reducing
errbodiad carzon from developrrent projects.

Third-party review

EcoAct has reviewed and analyseu the data provided by
Grainger and has carried out calcu.ations m-line with best
practice (see Methodology section) A scparate EcoAct team
comp.cted verificaton of the following emissions categories
using the ISC 14064-3 standard:

GHG emissions 2023 GHG emissions (tCO:e)

Scope 1 emissions 767
Scope 2 emissions (location-based) 1,150
‘Sc_up@ 7 emisainrs narket-based) 170
Total (location-hased) 1,917
Total {market-based) 937
sScope 3 emissions Category 1 7,272
Scope 3 emissions Category 2 62,367
Scopc 3 amissiors Catogory o 161
Scope 3 emissions Catogory 73 22,232
Total verified Scope 3 emissions 92,032

The full verificaticn statemert 1z available on Grainger's
website at www graingerplo.co vk/responsibility.

A mara detalled breakdown of ocur 2nergy consamotion

and carbon foctprint for cur proper ty portfolios and the
mecthoantogy used is avallathe in our EPRA Sustamability
Porfarmarce Measures Recort, also avarllable on our wensiie

Health and safety

Granger has a wel-doveloped bealth and safcty managemaont
systemn for the internal and external cortrol of health and
safety nisks, managed by tne Seath and Safety Director

vus inclades using anline rsk maragement systems far
iertifying, mitigating and reporting real time healt~ and
safety management mfermation. The Heaith and Safety
Comrmutles & responsible far overseeing health and safely
maragement. |t cons sts of members of staff from across

e arganisatior. The Committee continues to monitor

lega’ compliance in beadh and safety through audit and
irmalemerntatior of improvements, to enable the Group to
bocome 'bestin class’ Furtner oversight is alse carried cut by
the Operations doard. In addizion a health and safety report
1s provided to eact mectirg of the Board of Drectors, ana the
Health and Safety D rector gives a presentation to tre Board
atlgast once ayear,
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Employment of disabled persons

The Company gives full and fair consideration ta applications
for employment madc by disabled persons, having regard

to their particular aptitudes ana abilities. In the event of an
emplayce hecoming disabled, overy effort is made to ensure
the'r enrployment within the Company continues, and that we
arrange appropriate training where necessary. Itis Company
solicy that the training, career development and promotion of
disabied perzens should, as far as possible, be identical to that
of other employess.

Employee engagement

The Group places considerable value on the engagerment of
itg employeas and bas cont nued its practice of keeping them
informed on and involved in business and strateg’c matters,
for example through team mcetings, presentations vy senior
management and regular all-staff conference calls hosted by
the bxccutives T he Responsible Business Committee. chaired
by Carol Hui, has responsinility for the employes engagement
and Voice of the Collsaguc in the boardroom issucs

For more information on our people and the activities of the
Responsible Business Committee, see pages 86 and 87.

Independent auditor and disclosure of information
to auditor

As far as each Direclor s aware, there s o relevant audit
information of which the Company’s aud lor 1s unaware.
Each Director has taken the steps they ought to have taken
as Directors, to make themselves aware of any relevant audn
informaticn, and to establish tnat the Company’s auditor is
aware of that information

Political donations

In accordance with the Comaany’s policy, we made no political
donations in 2023 (2022 inl}

Takeover directive

On a change of cantrol, the mam hank facility (ncludecin
Note 26 to tne Frianaial staterrents) will becorre repayable
should alternative terms for cont'nuing the facilities not

be agreed with the lenders within 45 days 0 addition, the
corporate bond lalso referred to 1in Note 26) may become
repayable following a change of cortrol. Thore are no other
matarial matters relating to a cnange of cantrol of the
Company foilowing a takeover bid,

The Directors have confirmed approval of the Directors’
report.

By order of the Board.

Adam McGhin
Company Secretary

21 Novenber 2023
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GRAINGER PLC

1. Qur opinion is unmodified

We have audited the Anancial staternerts of Grairger ple (“the Company™) for the year ended 30 Septermber 2023 which
cormprise the Cansolidated Income Staterient. the Consolidated Staterment of Comprebensive Income, tne Consclidated
Statemcent of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Eouity, the Consolidated Staternent of Cash Flows,
the Parent Company Statement of Firancial Position, the Parent Company Statement of Changes in Equity, and the related
netes, inc.uding the accounting policies on pages 137 to 133 for the Group and pages 170 and 171 for the parent Company
financial statements,

In our opinion:

e the Fnancial statemrents give a true and fair view of the state of tne Group's and of tne parent Company’s affairs as at
30 September 2023 and of the Group’s profit for the year then ended:

= the Group inancial slatements have been properly prepared in accordance with UK-adopted rternational
accounting standards:

= the parent Company fnarcial statements nave been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards,
including FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framewu-k; and

« tre firancal statements have beon prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Basis for opinion

We conducted our aucit in accordance with Internaticnal Standards on Auditing (LK) ("I1SAs {UK)") anc applicabie law
Qur responsibilities are described below. We beleve that tne audit evidence we have oblaineg is a sufficient and appropriate
basis for our opinion. Sur augit opinion 1s consistent witn our report to Lhe audit commitiee

We were first appointed as auditor by tne Shareholders o1 5 February 2015 The pened of total uninterrupted engagement

is far the nine financial years ended 30 September 2023 We have fulfiled cur ethical responsibilities under, ard we remain
independent of the Group in accordance with, UK ethical reguirements inctuding the FRC Ethical Standard as applied to listed
public interest entilies. No ron-audit serv.ces prohibited by that standard were provided.

Overview

Materiality:

Group financial staternents as a whole 34 Om (2322 £37 0} D 9% (7077 G 9% of total assots

Coverage 1007 (2022 100%) of Group tolal assets

Key audit matters vs 2022

Recurring risks Valuation of propertios A
Recoverability of parert corrpany’s nvestment i subsidianies a4k

2. Key audit matters: our assessment of risks of material misstatement

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional ;udgement, were of most significance in the audit of the finandiat
statements anc include the most significant assessed risks of material nusstaternent (whoether or not due to fraua) identified
by us. including those which had the greatest offcct or the overall audit strategy, tne allecation of resources in the audit;

and directing the efforts of the engagement team wWe summarise below the key audit mmatters (unchanged from 2022), in
decreasing order of audit significarce, in arriving at our audit opimion above, together with our key audit procedures to address
those martters and, as -equired for public interest entities, our results from these procedures These matters were addressed,
and our resdlts are based on procedures Lndertaken, in the context of, and solely for the purpose of, our audit of the inancial
statermnents as a whole, and in forming our opimnion thereon, and consequently are incicenta. to that opinion. and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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The risk

Our response

Valuation of
properties
Investment properties
[£2.948 9m, 2022

£2,775.8m)

Trading properucs at
EPRA market value
(APM) £734 3m; (2022,
£8730m)

Refer 1o page B2
tAudit Committee
Report), pages

133 to 136 (critical
accounting estimates
and judgernents; and
pages 146 to 147
and 150 {accounting
policies and financial
disclosures)

Subjective valuation:

The valuation approach adopted by the

directors varies between portfalios,

- For propertios let into the private rental
market, and affordable housing properties,
the valuation s dernved by applying a gross
nitial yield Lo the estimated rental value
of the property Yield s based on market
evidence and 15 an inharantly judgemental
input Theres a risk that applying an
inappropriate yield coud lead to a material

difference in the vawation wWhere relevart,

valuations are reduced to reflect the

estimated costs of planned remedial works

relating to fire safety. Theras a risk that
not atl works are identified or that cost
estimates are nsufficient,

- For properties under construction which
are to be let into the private rental market
a consistent valuation methodology is
adopted. Additienal adjustments arc then
made for capital expenditure not yet

incurred, and development and stabilisation

risk. There s an additional risk that those
adjustrments could be inappropnate
and result in a material difference in the
valuation

- Forreversionary properties, the valuation
15 determined by estimating a vacant
possession (WP value and appiving
a discount to reflect the fact that the
property 1s tenanted The VP value and
the discount applicd are estimated with
reference Lo comparable evidence, which
N sorne cases may be bnited This means
the valuation is inherently subjective and
susceptibe ta misstatement

- Residental trading proparty 1s carried in the
statomert of inancal position at the tower
of cost and net realisable value The Group

does howevor, inits principal non-GAAP net

asset value measures. include disciosure of

trading proper ty at market value. because it

is an important disclosure of these accounts
The market value 1s derived using the same
valuation methods as set out above for the
corresponding property types This means
the valuation s inherently subjective and
susceptible to misstatement in disclosure

- For the Tricomm portfolio and shared

ownershup alfordable housing. the valuatron

i< based on a discounted cash flow model
praducad by an external valuer Thereisa
risk that the house price inflation ("HP1™}
and discount rate assumpticns could

be inappropriate which coula lead to a
rmaterial riisstaterment invaluation.

The effect of these matters is that, as part
of our risk assessment, we determined that
the valuation of investment propertics and
the disclosed fair valug of trading properties
carred at the lower of cost or net realisable
value has a high degree of estimation
uncertainty, with a potential range of

outcomes greater than our materiality for the

financial staterments as a whole, and possibly
many times that amount The iinancial
statements Note 2 disclose Lthe sensitivaty
estimated by the Group

Our procedures in respect of all proper ty types identified included:

- Methodologies: with the assistance of our own propeorty
valuation specialists. we challenged the methodaolagies used for
the specific portfolios with reference to market practice.

- Assessing valuers’ credentials: we assessed the chjectivity,
professional guabifications, indegendence and expenence of
the exterral valuers engaged by the Group. through rescarch,
discuss.on with them and by reading tharr valuation reports
and terms of engagement letter for lee arrangement and other
ncentive terms,

- Attendance at Group valuation meetings: wo attonded the
Group's meetings with their external valuers and challenged the
market evidence presentad by the valuers with the help of our
own property valuation spocalists.

- Historical comparisons: we compared the 2022 year end
valuation with the sales price achieved for property sales in the
current year,

- Assessing transparency: wc assessed whether the Group's
disclosure about the sensitivity of far value changes in key
assumptions reflected the uncertainties inherent in the
propoerty valuations.

Qur addit:onal procedures in respect of private rental sector

propertios and affordabie housing proper ties included:

- Yield rates: with the assistance of our own property valuation
specialists. we challenged the yield rates apptied using our
understanding of tne nature of the assets and comparnng to
avallahte market data,

- Fire safety works: we critically assessed the Group's work to
identify required works and compared estrimated costs with
corresnondence relating to inspections and third-party cost
reports

Cur add-tiona: procedures in respect of propertics under construction

which are to be let into the privale rental marxet.included

- Test of details: for a sample of properties. we agreed the
adjustmants made for caprtal expenditure not yel incurred to Lhe
latest third-party supplier funding assessment

- Our valuation expertise: using our property valuation
speclalists, woe critically assessed the adjustments made for
devetopment and stabilisation risk with reference to sector
practice,

Cur additional procedures inrespect of individual properticos

included:

- Comparing valuations: challenged the inputs used in valuations
and compared valuations to recent comparable transactions

Cur additional procedures in respect of the Tricomm portfolio and

the shared ownersnip affordable housing propertics included

- Benchmarking assumpticns: we compared the HPl assumption
ncluded in the discounted cash flow model to markot ndices
and discount rates to market information including gilts and
benchmarked risk premiums.

Vie performed the tests above rather than seeking to rely on any of
the Group's cantrols because the nature of the balances are such
that we would expect to obtam audit evidence primarily through
the detailed procedures descrnibed

Our results

We found the valuation of investment propertios and disclosure of
EPRA trading property at market value (APM) to be acceptlable
(2022, acceptable)
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GRAINGER PLC

(CONTINUED]
The risk Our response
Recoverability of lLow risk, high value Wi performred the tests below rather than seeking to raly o any of
parent company’s The carrying amount ¢f the parent tne parent Company’s controls becaudse the natuie of the balance s
investrnent in Compary s investmenrt in subsidiaries such that we woula cxpect to obtain audit ovidence primanity through
subsidiaries represents 90% (2022 83%) of the parent tne detalled procedures gescribed
(£2.3359m, Company s total assets Our procedures included
2022 £1.784.6m) - Test of details: we compared the carrying anmount of 100% of
Their recoverability 1s mot al a high risk Imvestments with the relovant subsidianes' draft balance sheets to
Refer 1o page 170 of signifizant misstatement or subyect dantify whether thor net assots, which are measured at far value
{accounting policy} to significant judgement Howaver, dus ard being an approximation of thoir recoverabie amaount, werein
ard paye 171 e their matenality in the cantext of tho oxeess of tho r carrymg amount
{financial disclosures)  parent Company Anancal statements - Assessing transparency: we assassed the adequacy of the parent
this s considerad ta be Lhe area tnat bad Company's disclosures inrespect of the nvestmentin subsidiares,
the greatest effect on our cverall parent
Cormpany audit, QOur results

We found the balance of the Company's myvestments n
subsidianes to be acceptable
12022 accepiabie).

3. Qur application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit

Materiality for the Group finanaial statoments as a whole was set at £34.0m (2022: £32.0m), determined with a referenze to a
benchmark of total assets (of wheh it represents 0 9% (2022 0.9%),

Matoriality for the parent Company financial stazemaents as o whole was set at £30.0m (2022 £17.0m) determinad with a
reforence to a berchmark of the parent Company’s net assets of which 1t represented 1.9% (2022: 1 3%).

In line with our audit methodology. our procedurcs on individual account balances and disclosures were performed to a lower
threshold. performance materiality, 30 as to reduce to an acceptable level the risk that individually immaterias misstatements in
individual account balances add up to a matenial amount across the financial statemerts as a whole Performance materality
was set at 75% (20220 75%) of matenality for the financial statements as a whole, which eguates to £25.5m (2022: £240)

for the Group and £22.5m {2022 £12.75m) for the parent Company We applied this percentage in ou- determination of
perfarmance materalily necause we did not Centify any factors indicating an elevated level of nisk,

In additon. we applied a matenality of £3.5m {2022: £2.5m) and porformance mateniality of £2 6 (2022, £2.6m) to

specific income statement accounts, namely ret rental income, profit on disposal of trading properties, profit on disposal of
investment properlies, fees and olher income, finance costs (2022: gross rental income, profit on disposal of trad'ng proper ties,
administralive expenses, fees and other income, other expenses, income from financial inlerest in proper Ly assets, finance
costs, finance ncome, share of profit of assocates and share of profit of joint ventures) for wh ch we believe misstatement

of a lesser amount than materiality for the financal statements as a whola could be reasonably expected to influence the
Cormpany's memners’ assessment of the finandial performance of the Group

We agreed to report to the Audit Committes any corrected or ancorrected identified misstaterments exceeding £1.7m
(2022: £1.6m) in addition to otheridentfied messtaternents that warranted reportng on qualitative grounds.

The scope of the audit work pecformen was predominately substantive as we placed Uimited reliance upoen the Grouap's internal
control over inancial reperting.

The Group team porformed the audit of the Group as ¥ it were A single aggregatec set of Ainancial information. The aadit was
performed using Lhe materiality levels set out above

Thart removed

The scope of the audit work perfarmed was prodorminately substantive as we olaced Umited reliance upon the Groug's 1nternal
contral over financial reporting
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4. The impact of climate change on our audit

In planning our audit we have considered the potential impacts of climate change on the Group's business and its financial
statements. Climate change impacts the Group in a number of ways through its own operations (including potential
reputational risk associated with the Group’s delivery of its climate related initiatives), through its portfolio of properties and
the greater emphasis on climate related narrative and disclosure in the Annual Report. The Group’s main potential exposure
to climate change in the financial staternents is primarily through the carrying value of its propertics as the key valuation
assumptions and estimates may be impacted by climate risks

As part of our audit we have made enquires of directors and the Group's Corporate Sustainability tcam to understand the
extent of the potential impact of climate change risk on the Group's financial statements and the Group’s preparcdness for this
We have performed a risk assessment of how the impact of climate change may affect the financial statements and our audit,
in particular with resgect to the valuation of investment properties and net realisable value and valuation of trading proparties.
Given that these valuations are largeiy based on camparable market evidence we assessed that the impact of climate change
was not a significant risk for our audit nor does it constitute a key audit matter. We hela discussions with our own climate
change professionals to challenge our nsk assessment.

We have also read the Group's disclosure of climare related information in the front half of the Annual Repart as set out on
pages 44 te 53, and considered consistency with the financial statements and our audit knowledge. We have not been engaged
Lo provide assurance over the accuracy of these disclosures.

5. Going concern

The directars have prepared the financial staterments on the going concern basis as they do not intend Lo liguidate the Group

or the parent Company or to cease their operalions, and as they have concluded that the Group’s and the parent Company’s
financial position means Lhat this is realistc. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertanties that could have
cast sigruficant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern until at least 31 March 2025 (“the going concern periad”),

We used our knowledge of the Group, its industry, and the general economic environment to identify the inherent risks Lo its
business model and analysed how those risks might affect the Group and parent Company’s finarcia. resources or ability to
continue operations over the gaing cancern period. The risks that we considered most likely to adversely affect the Group and
parent Company’s avallable financial rescurces over this period were:

« decline In the property market leading o reduced sales activity

s declining valualions of property assets,;

o sigrifieant cosUiniflation,

« reduction in demand in the private rental sector, leading to reduced rental levels, and

e increasing interest rates.

We considered whether these risks could plausibly affect the liquidity or covenant compliance in the going concern period by

comparing severe, but plausible downside scenarios that could arise from these risks individually and collectively aganst the
level of available financial resources and covenants thresholds indicated by the Group's financial forecasts.

We also assessed the completeness of the going concern disclosure.
Our conclusions based on this work:
» we consider that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial staterments
Is appropriate;
e we have not identified, and concur with the directors' assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related to events or

conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubst on the Group’s or parent Company’s ability to continue
as a going concern for the going concern peried,

+ we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to the directors’ statements in both Note 1 to the Group and
parent Company financial statements on the use of the going concern basis of accounting with no material uncertaintics that
may cast significant deubt over the Group and parent Company's use of that basis for the geing concern peried, and we found
the geing conzern disclosure in both Note 1 to the Group and parent Company firancial statements to be acceptable; and

s the same statements are materially consistent with the finanaial statements and our audit knowledge.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in cutcomes that are
inconsistent wilh judgerments that were reasonable al the time they were made, the above conclusions are nol a guarantee that
the Group or the parent Company will continue in operation.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GRAINGER PLC
(CONTINUED)

6. Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations - ability to detect

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to fraud

To dentify risks of matenal misstatement due 1o fraud (“fraad risks™) we assessed events or conditions that could indicate an
incentive or pressure To comrit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our nsk assossment procedures included

« Enguiring of directors and the audit conrmittee, as to the Group's high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect
fraud, including the Group's charnnel for “whistle blowing” as wel: as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected
or alleged fraud:

Reading Beard minutes and attending Group audit corimittee meetings;

Consigering rernuneration incentive schemes and performance targets for directors and management including the ad;usted
earnings and total property return: and

« Using analytical procedure Lo dentify any unusual or unexpected relationships.

We communicated dentified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud throughout
the audit.

As required by auditing standards ard taking into account possible pressures Lo meet profit targels we perform procedures

to address the nisk of management override of controls and the risk of fraudulent revenue recognitior, in particular the risk

that disposals of trading property are recorded in the wrong accounting period and the risk that Group management may be

in a positon to make inappropriate accounting entries and the risk of bias In accounting estimates and judgements such as
significant assumptions used in the valuation of Investment properties, including estimated rental values and market based
yiclds. On this audit we do not believe there is a fraud risk related to revenue recognition, other than to the property sales made
close to the year end as these could be recorded in the incorrect pericd, because of the relative simplicity of revenue strears.
We did not identify any additional fraud risks.

we also performed procedures including:

¢ Identrfyiny journal entries to test using cata analytical tocls based an nsk criteria and comparing the ident:fied entries
to supportirg documentation These included those posted to unusual accounts and those posted by sen.or finance
management; and

» Asscssing whetner the judgements made in making significant accounting estimates are indicative of a potential bias

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations

We identified areas of laws and requlations that could reasonably be expected to have a materiac effect on the Anancial
staterments fromr ou” general commercial and secior experience, through discussion with the directors and other management
(as required by auditing standaras), and from inspeclion of the Group's regulatory and .egal correspondence and discussed with
the direclors and other management the pol ces and procedures regarding compliance with laws and regulat'ons

As the Group is regulated, our assossment of nisks involved gaining an understanding of the contra: environ-rent including the
entity's precedures for complying with regulatory requirements.

we communicated identificd laws and regulations throughout our team and rerrained alert <o any indications of non-
cormpliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of those taws and regulatiors on the financial statements varies considerabiy

Firstly, the Group 1 subject 1o laws and regulations that directy affect the financial statements including financral reporting
legislation {including retated companies legislation). distributable proats legislation and taxation legislation and we assessed
the extert of compliance with these laws and regulations as part of our procedares on the related financial statoment items

Secondly, the Group s subject 2o rmany other laws and regulations where the corsequences of non-compliance couid have a
matcrial offect on amounts ar disclosures in the financial statements, for irstance through the impos-bion of fines or litigation,
We identified the following areas as those most Ukely to have such an effect: health and safoty, data protect on laws, anti-
bribery. envirermenrtal and sustanability regulations, lardlo~d and tenant legislation, fire safety legislation, property laws
and building legislations and certain aspects of company tegislation recognisirg the nature of the Group's activities and ts
legal ferm.

Aaditing standards it the reavired audit procedures to identify non-compliance wth these laws and regulations to enguiry
of the directors and other management and inssection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if ary Therefore, if a broach of
operatonal regulations s not disclesed to us or evident fram relovart corresponognce, ar audit wil not detect that breach. i
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Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent bmitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable rsk that we may not have detected sorme material
rmisstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit in accordance
with auditing standards For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the events
and transactions reflectad in the financial statements, the less tikely the inherently limited procedures requited by auditing
standards would identify it

in addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud. as these may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Qur audit procedures are designed to detect
material misstaternent We are not responsible for preventing non-compl'ance or fraud and carnot be expectec to detect non-
compliance with all laws and regulations

7. We have nothing to report on the other information in the Annual Report

The drectors are rospansible for the other information presented in tne Annual Report together with the financial statements,
Qur opinion on the finanaal statements does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do nat express an audit
opinion ar, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Cur responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial statements audit
work, the informaton therein 1s materally misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or our audit knowledge.
Based solely on that waork we have not identified maternal misstatements in the cther information.

Strategic report and directors’ report
Rased solely on our work on the other information:

= we have not identified material misstaterments in the strategic report and the directors’ report.
« Inour epinion the information given in those reports for the financial year is consistent with the financial statements, and
+ inour opinion those reports have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006

Directors’ remuneration report

In our opinion the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006,

Disclosures of emerging and principal risks and longer-term viability

We are reqdired to perform procedures to identify whether there 1s a matenal inconsistency between the dircctors disclosures
in respect of emerging and principal risks and the viability statement, and the finandial staterments and our audit knowlodge.

Based on those procedures, we have nothing matenal to add or draw attention to in relation to:

» the directors’ confirmation within the viability statement on page 68 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the
ermerging and principal risks facing the Group, inciuding those that would threaten its business model future performance,
solvency and liguidity;

 the Principal Risks and Uncertainties disclosures describing these nisks and how emerging risks are identified. and explaining
how they are being managed and mitigated, and

« the directors’ explanation in the viability statement of how they have assessed the prospects of the Group. aver what
period they have done so and why they considered that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they
have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue In operation and meet iLs liabilities as they fall due
over the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary gualifications
or assumptions.

We are also required to roview the viability statement, set out on page 68 under the Listing Rules. Based on the above
procedures, we have conctuded that the above disclosures are materially consistent with the financial statements and our
audit knowlcdge.

Our work is limited to assessing these matters in the context of only the knowledge acquired during our financial statements
audit. As we cannet predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomeos that are
inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the absence of anything to report on these
statements is not a guarantee as to the Group's and parent Company's longer-term viability.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GRAINGER PLC
(CONTINUED)

Corporate governance disclosures

We are requirad to pertorm procedures to identify whether there s a raterial iInconsistency between the directors’ corporate
governance disclosures and the financial statements and our audit knowledge

Based on those srocedures, we have concluded that each of Lhe following 1s maternially censistent with the financia. statements

and our audrt knowledye:

» tne directors’ statement that they consider that the annual report and francial statements taken as a whole is far,
balarced and understandable, and provides the informalion necessary for Sharenolders Lo assess the Group's position and
performance, busness model and strateqy;

» the section of the arnual report describing the waork of the Audit Committee, including the significant issdes tnat the audit
committec considered inrelation to the financial statemoents, and now these 1ssues were addressed, and

the section of the annual report tnat describes the review of tno effectiveness of the Group’s risk maragement and internal
contral systems

We arc reqguired to review the part of the Corporate Governance Statemoent relating to the Group's cempliance with the
provisions of the UK Corperate Covernarce Code speciicd by the Listing Rules for our review. We have nothing to reportin
this respect

8. We have nothing to report on the other matters on which we are required to report by exception

Lnder the Caompanics Act 2006, we are required to repor to you if, i our opimaon

« adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or

= the parent Company financal statemoents and the part of the Directars’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns, or

= certam disclosures of airectors’ remuneration specified oy law are not made; or

» we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.
We have nothing to report in these respects.

9. Respective responsibilities

Directors’ responsibilities

As oxplaired more fuily in their statoment set cut an page 112, the directors are respansible for the preparation of tne francial
staterrents including being satisficd that they give a true and fair view: such internal control as they determine is necessary

Lo enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from matenal messtaterrent, whether due to fraud or error;
assessing the Group and parert Company's ability to continue as & going concer, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
geing concern; and using the going concern basis cf accounting unless they either intend to liguidate the Group or the parent
Company or to cease operations. or have no realistic alternative but to do sc.

Auditor’s responsibilities

Cur abjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whethe- the financial statements as a whole arc free from material
raisszatement, whether due te fraud or error. and to issue our opinicn I an auditor's report. Reasonable assurance is a

high level of assurance, but does not guarantes that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a
material misstatement when 1< oxists Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are cons'dered material if, individually
ar in aggrogate, they could reasonably be expected torfluence the econamic decisions of useors taken on the basis of the
financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provideo on the FRC's website at www fre orguk/auditorsrespansibilitios.

The Company is regured to include those fingnoal statements 'n an annual francial report prepared uzing the single electroric
reporting farmat specified in the TO ESEF Regulaticn This audtor’s report provides ne assarance over wnether the annual
Anancial reporthas been prepared in accordance wth that format.
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10. The purpose ol our audit work and to whom we owe our responsibilities

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members those matters we are reguired
to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or
assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company’s members, as a body. for our audit work, for this
report, or for the opinions we have formed

Richard Kelly (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor

Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Square, Canary Wharf
London E14 5GL

21 November 2023
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER

2023 2022

MNote: fm rr

Group revenue > 2671 2792
Netrental ncome 5 96.5 833
Proft on disposal of traaing property 7 54.8 G4 4
Profit on dispasai of iInvestment property 8 3.3 17
Incorme fram financial interest in oroperty assets 20 4.6 5.0
Fecs ard other incoms a 5.0 4.4
Administrative expenses (33.5} {31 8)
Qthear expenses {1.2) (102
Goodwill impairmont (0.1} -
{Imparmonti/revarsal of imparment of Inventorios Lo not realisakle value 22 (1.0} 1.5
Operating profit 128.4 122.2
Met valuation (lessesifgans onainvestirent property 16 (68.8) 1290
Met valuat.on gams oninvestment proparty reclassifications 2,16 - g12
Finance costs 12 (34.0} (346)
Finance inceme 12 2.2 13
Shara of {loss)fprafit of associates after tax kES (0.1} 12
Share of lass of joint ventures after tax 19 (0.3} (A
Profit before tax 11 27.4 2986
Tax Charge 13 (1.8} eS|
Profit for the year attributable to the owners of the Company 25.6 224
Basic earnings per share 15 1.5p 31 3p
Diluted earnings per share 15 3.5p 30 9p
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER

2023 2022
R ootes £m Erm

Profit for the year 3 25.6 22591
ftems that will not be transferred to the consolidated income statement:
Remeasurement of BPT United defined benefit pension scheme 28 (1.1) 57
ftems that may be or are reclassified to the consolidated income statement:
Changes in fair value of cash flow hedges {16.1) 47 3
Other comprehensive income and expense for the year before tax {17.2) 53.0
Tax relating to components of other comprehensive income:
Tax relating to items that will not be transferred to the consolidated income statement 13 0.3 1 4)
Tax relating to items that may be or are reclassified to the consolidated income statement 13 4.0 (119)
Total tax relating to components of other comprehensive income 4.3 (133)
Other comprehensive income and expense for the year after tax {12.9) 397
Total comprehensive income and expense for the year attributable to the owners
of the Company 12.7 2691
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER
2023 2022
TS £m £
ASSETS
Non-current assets
[nvestment property 15 2,948.9 2,775.9
Property, plan: and egJipment 17 8.6 42
Investnent In gssocates 18 15.8 107
Imvestrnenbin jomt venturcs 19 75.2 385
Finarcial int@rest in property assets 20 67.0 591
Ratirement benefits 8 9.6 98
Doferred tax assats 13 3.7 12
Intangiole assets 2! 1.0 05
3,129.8 2,915 3
Current assets
lwventories - trading property 22 3922 453.8
Trade and other receivablos 23 34.0 405
Dervative financal instruments 27 45.3 5G5S
Cur-ent tax assets - Thh
Cash and cash equivalents 27 121.0 95 2
592.5 6533 2
Total assets 3,722.3 35731
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
interest-bearing loans and barrcwings 26 1,533.5 1317 6
Trade anc other pavapes 25 6.9 22
Provisians for other liabi nies and charges 4 1.1 11
Deferrec tax liabilitos 13 122.3 1349
1,663.8 TAST R
Current liabilities
Interest-beanng loans ana Sorrowings 25 - 400
Irade and other payablos 23 120.7 1059
Pravisions for other Labilitics and charges 24 B.6 86
Current tax Liakulitios 0.6 -
129.9 Th4 5
Total liabilities 1,793.7 1,612.3
NET ASSETS 1,928.6 1,96¢ &2
EQUITY
Issuzd share capital 29 372 377
Share premiuns account 817.8 217 6
MOTYOr roserve 31 20.1 201
Capital redempnion resorve 0.3 a3
Casn flow hedge -escrve 3 20.0 320
Retained earsings 32 1,033.2 1.3626
TOTAL EQUITY 1,928.6 1862 8

The financial staterments 01 pages 126 to 158 were approved by tne Board of Drectors an 21 November 2023 and were s gned
on their henalf by:

Helen Gordon Rob Hudson
Director Director

Company registration rarber: 125575
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT CF CHANGES IN EQUITY

152 ued Share Capital Cash flow
share prettium rederiptior fedipe Fetained Iotal
capiral ai count rosorve rescrve carn rys ety
MNetos £ fm £ £rn Ern £m

Balance as at 1 October 2021 371 817 3 0.3 (3.3) 3675 1,73%9.0
Profit for the year 3 - - - - 2294 2294
Other comprehensive income for the year - - - - 354 43 397
Total comprehensive iIncome - - - - 54 2337 2691
Award of SAYE shares 79 - 0.3 - - - - 0.3
Purchase of own shares 79 - - - - - {3 3) (3.4)
Share-basad payments charge 3G - - - - 17 1.7
Dividends paid 4 - - - - - 10.0) 40 0)
Total transactions with owners recorded
directly naguity - 03 - - - (41.6) {41.3)
Balance as at 30 September 2022 371 817.6 20.1 0.3 321 1,059.6 1,966.8
Profit for the year 3 - - - - - 25.6 25.6
Other comprehensive loss for the year - - - - {12.1} (0.8) {12.9}
Total comprehensive incermne - - - - {12.1) 24.8 12.7
Award of SAYE shares 29 0.1 0.2 - - - - 0.3
Purchase of own shares 29 - - - - - (7.9) (7.9)
Share-based payments charge 30 - - - - - 2.4 2.4
Dradends paid 14 - - - - - {45.7) (45.7}
Total transactions with owners recorded
directly in eguity 0.1 0.2 - - - (51.2) {50.9)
Balance as at 30 September 2023 37.2 817.8 20.1 0.3 20.0 1,033.2 1,928.6
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER

2023 2022

MoTas £m £
Cash flow from operating activities
Profil for the year 256 224
Depreciation and anortisation 1 1.1 0s
Geodwill impainment 0.1 -
Net valuation Wossesf(gans) on nvestment proper ty 16 68.8 11280
Net valuation gains or investmiart property reclass icatians 2,16 - (812}
Net financeo costs 12 31.8 333
Share of lass of associates ard joint ventures 12,193 0.4 05
Profit on disposal of investment praporty g (3.3) (1.73
Share-based pay'rents charge 30 2.4 17
Income from finanaial interest in groper ty assets 29 {4.6) (50)
Tax chargs B 1.8 62
Cash goncrated from operating activities beflore cnanges in woking capital 124.1 171
Decrease/lincrease) in trade and othor recevables 6.5 {12
Increase in trade and other payatles 37.0 55
Increase in provs ons for liabilities and charges - 54
Decrease in irventonics 81.6 24 8
Cash generated from operating activitics 229.2 155 3
Interest paid (46.9) 420
Tax received/{paid) 2.7 (12 3
Payments to defiied benefit pension schanic 28 {0.3) (2 8)
Net cash inflow *rom operating activities 184.7 1024
Cash flow from investing activities
Proceeds from sale of investment property 8 63.5 2049
Praceeds from finandial irtorest in praperty assets 20 6.7 8.6
Dividends recewed from assoniates 18 0.8 -
Investment in jonl ventures 19 (34.0) G4
Loans advanced to jo'nt ventures 19 (3.0) (4 43
Acauisition of mwvestinent propecty 16 {302.0) {7832}
Acquisition of aroperty, plant and equipmenl ard intangible assots 6.1) (3.7
Net cash outflow from investing activities (274.1) {274 2}
Cash flow from financing activities
Awara of SAYE shares 249 0.3 03
Purchase of own shares 29 (7.9} {33
Praceeds from new borrowings 330.0 142
Payrment of loan costs {2.3) “n
Cash fows relating to new derivatives / settiemant of dervatives (4.9) 1137
Repayment of borrowings {155.0) 0.9
Diradends paid 14 (45.7) 472)
Net cash infloyy{out low! trom financing aclivitigs 114.5 {49 3}
Net increase/{decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 25.1 (22717}
Cash and casn aqunalents at the beginning of the year 27 95.9 3176
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 27 121.0 b 4
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Accounting policies
Accounting policies applicable thraughout the financial statements are shown below. Accounting policies that are specific to a
component of the financial staternents have been incorperated in the relevant note.

{a) Basis of preparation

Grainger plcis a company incorporated and domiciled in the UK. It is a public limited liabiiity company listed on the Londan
Stock Exchange. The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidianes, together referred
to as the ‘Group’, and equity accaunt the Group's interest in joint ventures and associates. The parent company financial
statements present informat-on about the Company and not the Graup,

The Croup financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following asscts and
liabilities, and corresponding income staterment accounts, which are stated at ther fair valuc: investment property, denvative
finandial instruments; and financial interest In property assets.

The Group financiat statements have been prepared and approved by the directors in accordance with UK-adopted
international accounting standards {IFRS) and applicable law. The Company has elected to prepare its parent company
financial staterments in accordance with FRS 101; these are presented on pages 169 to 174,

The Group and Company financial statements are presented in milions of Pounds Sterling (Em) because that is the currency
of the principal econormic environment ir which the Group opérates

In preparing the financial staterments, management has considered the potential impacts, risks and opportunitics of
climate change, taking into account the relevant disclosures in the Strategic Report, including those made in accordance
with TCFD, and considercd the impact of the issues identified to ensure they are appropriately reflected into the financial
statements. The impact of cimate change and of climate change related changes in markets and regulation arc considered
in the valuation of invastment properties. These issucs are also considered when projecting future cashflows of the Group
and In sensitivity analysis. Management feel that climate change related issues are appropriately considered in these
financial statements.

Going concern

The Directors are required to make an assessment of the Group's ability to continue to trade as a going concern for the
foreseeable future. Given market volatility ever the past 12 months and the impact on the macre-econemic conditions in
which the Group is operating, the Directors have placed a particular focus on the appropriateness of adopting the going
concern basis in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 30 September 2023

The fnancial position of the Group, includ.ng details of its financing and capital structure, is set out In the financial review on
pages 37 to 42 In making the going concern assessment. the Directers have considered the Group's principal risks (see pages
64 to £7) and their impact on financial performance The Dircctors have assessed the future funding commitments of the
Group and compared these to the lovel of committed (oan facilities and cash resources over the medium term. In making this
assessment. consideration has beer given to compliance with borrowing covenants along with the uncertainty inherent in
future financial forecasts and, where applicable, severe sonsitivitios have been applied to the key factors affecting financial
performance for the Group.

The going concern asscssment is based on forecasts to the end of March 2025, which oxceeds the required period of
assessment of at least "2 months in order to be aligned to the Group's interim reporting date, and uses the same forecasts
considerad by the Group for the purposes of the Viability Statement. The assessment considers a severe downside scenario,
reflecting the following key assumptions:

» Reducing PRS occupancy to 92% by 31 March 2025

« Contraction inrental levels of 375% p a.

+ Reducing property valuations by 17.5% by 31 March 2025, driven by either yield expansion or house price deflation

« 20% development cost inflation

« Operating cost inflation of 20% p a

o Anincrease in SONIA rate of 5% from 1 October 2023

The Group’s forecasts incarporate the Likely impact of climate change and sustainability reguirements including costs to

deliver our climate related targets This includes EPC upgrades across the portfolio and investing in energy efficient sclutions
for contral heating systems.

No new financing s assumed in the assessment period, but existing lacilities are assumed to remain available. Evenin this
severe downside scenario, the Group has sufficient cash reserves, with the loan-to-value coverant remaiming no higher than
55% (facility maximum covenant ranges between 70% - 75%) and interest cover above 2.94x {facility minimum covenant
ranges between 1.35x - 1.75x) for the period to March 2025 to align with reporting periads, which covers the required period
of at least 12 months from the date of authorisation of these financial statements,

Based on these considerations, together with available market information and the Directors’ experience of the Group’s
property porttolio and markets, the Directors continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the accounts for the
year ended 30 September 2023.

GRAINGER PLC ANMLAL REPORT AND ATCCUNTS 2023 13



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED]

1. Accounting policies continued

(b} Basis of consolidation

i) Subsidiaries - Subsidiaries are ail entities over wh.ch the Group has conliol. The Group controls an entity when tne Grous
is exposed to. or has rights to, variable returns from its involvernent with the ent'ty and bas the abilily to alfect those returns
thraugh its power over the entity

Subsidiaries are [ully consolidated from the aate on which cantrolis transferred ta the Group. They are de-consolidated from
Lhe date control ceases.

Intra-group baances and transactions, and any unrealised iIncome ard cxpenses arsing fromintra-group transactions,

are eliminated. Unrealisea gains ansing from transactions with equity-accounted investees are eliminatea against the
investment to the extent of the Group's interest in the invastee. Unrealised losses are eiminated in the same way as
unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of imparrment. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

ii} Joint ventures and associates - Joint ventures are thase entities over whaose actvities Lhe Group has joint controt,
established by contractual agreement. Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not
control, genarally accampanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the votirg nghts. Where the Group owns less
than 50% of the voting rghts but acts as property and/or asset manager an assessment s made as to whether or not the
Group has de facto control over an investee. This includes a review of the Group’s rights relative to those of another invester
or investors and the apility the Group has to direct the investecs’ relevant activities (further details a~e provided in Note 18
and Note 19)

Investments in joint ventures and associates are accounted for vy the equity method of accounting and arc initially
recognized at cost, anad the carrying amount ‘s in¢reased or decreased to recognise the Group's share of the profit or loss
after the date of acquisition. The joint venture and associate results for the 72 months to 30 September 2023 and the
financial position as at that date have been equity accounted in these financial statements

The Greup's share of 1ts joint ventures’ and associates’ post-acquisition profits or losses is recognisad in the income .
statement, and its share of post-acquisition nrovements in reserves is recogrised in other comprehensive income Where the

Group’s interest has been reduced to £nil, additional losses are provided for, and a lability is recognised, only to the extent

that the Group has incurred legat or constructive abligations or made payments on behatf of the joint venture or associate

The cumulative poast-acquisibion moverments are adjusted agamst the carrying amount of the investmert

Urrealised gains on transactions between the Group ard its joint ventures and associates arc eliminated to the extent of tre
Graup's interest in joint vertures and associates The accounting politics of joint ventures and associates have been charged
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

i) Business combinations - At the time of acquisition, the Group considers whether cach acquisiuon represents the
acquis.tion of a business or the acquisition of an asset. The Group accounts for an acquisition as a business combination
wncre anintegrated set of activities are acquired In addition to the proverty. Consideration is also given to the concertration
test permitted under IFRS 3 Business Combinations.

When the acquisition of a subsidiacy does not represent a businecss, itis accounted for as an acquisition of assets and
liabilittas The cost of acquisition is allocated to tho assers and liakbilitres acquired basea on thei- fair values, and no goodwill
or deferred tax is recognised

A business combinaticn may also reguaire the recognition of identifiable intangble assets by the Group, An intangible asset s
deemed to pe identifiable if it is able to be separated or divicee from the othar assets acqguired in the business combinaticon
and sow. Leensed or exchanged for something else of value, even if the irtertion to do seis not prosent on behalf of the
Graup Where an ntangible asset s not indvidually separable, 1t may still meet the separability crterion if it is separabe n
combination with a related contract, identifiable asset or Labil ty

Business combinations are accodnted for uzing the acquisiton method. The cost of the acquisitior s measured as the fai
value of the assets given anc equity instraments issused Tdent9able assots acquired and vabilities and contingent latbilities
assumoed in a business combimation are measureg intialy at ther fair values at tne date of acquisition Goodwill represents
tne excess of the cost of an acquisit.on over the fair value of the Group’s share af th= net dentifiable assets, including
intangibie assels. of the acqui-ed entity at the date of acguis bon If the cost of the acquisition is less than the farr value of
Lne net assets of Lthe subsidiary acguired, the difference s recognised directly 'n the ncome siatemrent. Costs attributable to
an acqguisition of a business are expensed ir the corsolidated nceme stalerrent under the heading Olher expenses’,

Goodwill on acqu.sition of sussidianies 1s ncluded within this caption in the consolidated staterment of financial positien,
Coodwill on acquisitor of joint ventures and associates is \ncluded in investments in joint ventures and associates

Goodwillis allocated to cash gererating units for the purpose of impairment tost ng and is tested annually for impairment
and carried at cost less accumuiated tmparrment sses. mparment losses on gaodw L ars ot reversed. Ga.ns anda losses on
tre disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the enuty sold.
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{©) Adoption of new and revised International Financial Reporting Standards and interpretations

The following new standards and amendments to standards were 1ssued In the year and have ne material impact on the
financial staterments:

« Reference to the conceptual framework (amendments to [FRS 3);

« Onerous contracts - cost of fulfilling a contract (amendments to [AS 37);

+ Annual improvements to [FRS Standards 2018-2020;

+ Property. Plant and Equipment: proceeds before intended use (amendments to 1AS 16)

The following new standards and amendments to standards have been issued but are not vet effective for the Group and
have not been carly adopted

« Classification of habilities as current or non-current (amendments Lo |AS 1}
« |[FRS 17 insurance contracts
« Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors: definition @mendments to 1AS 8)

« Presentation of financial statements and making materiality judgements (amendments to IAS 1, IFRS Practice
tatement 2)

« Deferred tax related to assets and Liabilities arising from a singte transaction (amendments to 1AS 12]

The application of these new standards and amendments are not expected to have a matcerial impact on the Group's
financial statements

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

The Group’s significant accounting policies are stated in the relevant notes to the Group financial staternents. The preparation
of financial statements requires management to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies. [t also reguires
the use of estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses.

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and vanous other factars that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assels
and liabilities that arc not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. Estimates and
assumptions, including those associated with climate change, are reviewed on an on-going basis with revisions recognised in the
period inwhich the estimates are rovised and in any future poriods affectad.

The arcas invelving a higher degree of judgement or complexity are sct out below.

Estimates

1) Valuation of property assets

Residential trading property 1s carnied in the statement of financial position at the lower of cost and not realisable value and
Investment property is carried at fair value. The Group does, however, inits principal non-GAAP net asset value measures, EPRA
NRY, EPRA NTA and EPRA NDV, include trading property at markel vatue. The adjustment in the value of trading property is
the difference between the statutory book value and its market value as set out in Note 4. For mvestrment property, market
value is the same as fair value. In respect of trading properties, market valuation is the key assumption in determining the net
realisable value of those properties.

The results and the basis of each valualion and therr impact on both the statutory financial statements and market value for
the Group's non-GAAP net asset value measures are set out below. This includes details of key estimates and assumptions,
alang with which an independent professional adviser has been utilised to determine valuations for each asset category. Inall
cases, forming these valuations inherently includes elements of judgement and subjectivity with regard to the selection of
unobservable inputs.

The methodelogy for the year end valuation process for capitalised yield-based valuations is consistent with the prior year.
This is considered to be the most appropriate method for valuing assets that are likely to be held as long-term investments and
represents 71% of our property assets relating primarily to PRS blocks, including new build PRS assets.

The remaining 29% of property assets are valued based on current house prices, reflecting the prevailing market conditions as
at the reporting date.

Where appropriate, sustainability and environmental matters are an integrat part of Lhe valuation approach. “Sustainability’
is taken to mean the consideration of such matters as environment and climate change, health and well-being and corporate
responsibility that can or do impact on the valuation of an asset. In a valuation context, sustainability encompasses a

wide range of physical, social, environmental, and economic factors that can affect value. The range of issues includes key
environmental risks, such as flooding, energy efficicncy and climate, as well as matters of design, configuration, accessibility,
legislation. management, and fiscal consideration.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued

% of properties for

PRS Reversionary Other Total which external valuer
Hotes £m £m £m £m Valuer provides valuation
Trading property 10.4 348.9 329 392.2
Iavostment property 2,928.9 20.0 - 2,9439
Financial asset (CHARM) - 67.0 - 67.0
Total statutory book value 2,939.3 435.9 32.9 3,408.1
Trading property
Residentral (1} 9.6 673.3 - 682.9 Allsop LLP BaA%
Cevelopments nn - - 514 51.4 CBRE Limited 98%
Total trading property 9.6 673.3 51.4 7343

Investment property

Allsop LLP/

Residential 1) 329.5 20.0 - 349.5 CBRE Limited 100%
Developments {1} 74.7 - - 74.7 CBRE Limited 100%
New build PRS () 2,203.3 - - 2,203.3 CBRE Limited 100%
Affordable housing {1v) 178.7 - - 178.7 Allsop LLP 100%
Tricomm Housing w) 142.7 - - 142.7 Allsop LLP 100%
Total investment property 2,928.9 20.0 - 29489
Financal asset (CHARM} {wn) - 67.0 - 67.0 Allsop LLP 100%
Total assets at market value 2,938.5 760.3 51.4 3,750.2
Statuter y book value 2,939.3 435.9 329 34081
Market value ad;ustment? {0.8) 324.4 185 3421
Total assets at market value 2,938.5 760.3 51.4 3,750.2
Met revaluation loss recogrised in the meame
statement for wholly-owned properties (68.8)
MNet revaluation loss relating to joirt ventules
and associates [ {0.5)
Net revaluation loss recognised in the year’ (69.3)

e the vansal et n W Ie ity he Lt
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i} Residential

Trading probderty: The Group's own in-house qualified tearm provided a vacart possession value for the major'ty of the Group’s
residential properties as at 30 September 2023 & structured sample of these in-Fouse valuations was reviewed by Allsoo LLP,
an external independent valuer. Valuing the large number of properties in this portfolio is a significant tas«. ror this reason it

is undertaken on an cxternal inspection basis orly Invariab.y, when the in-house valuatiors arc compared with thosc of the
external valuer, around /8% (2022: 79%) of the valuations are withir a sra.l acceptabie tolerance. Where the difference is more
significant, this s discussod with the valuer to determine the reasons “or the difference Tymically, the reasons vary, but it could
bo, for example, that further or better information about Interral condition 1s avalable or that respective valuers have placed
adifferent inerpretatior or comparable sales. Once such reasons have been identiled, the Grouap and the valuer agree the
appropriate valuation that should be adopted as the Directors’ Valuatior

Allsop LLP has provided the Directars with the following opirion on the Directors’ Valuation:

Property held in the resident’al portfolic was valued as at 30 Seplember 2023 by Gra'nger’s in-house surveyors

These valuatiors were reviewead and approved by the D rectors Allsop LLP kas undertaken a comprehensive review of the
Directars’ valuation and they are satisfied vith the process by which the in-house valuations were conducted. Alisop LLP valied
approximately 84% (2022: 74%) of the res’dental portfolio. independently of the Group. Baseo on the results of that roview,
Allsop LLP nas concluded that they have a high degree of conficence in those Direclors' Valuat ans

Allsop LLP alss recaormimends a discount to apply to the vacant pessession valdatiors to estabush the market value of each
property, wth the discounts ranging from 5 0% 10 17 5% (2022 "5 .C% 10 17.0%) Tre discounts are estaolished by tenancy type
and region anag are based or evidence gathered by Allsop LLP from recent transactional market evidence, The Directers bave

adopiec the discounts recommended oy Allsop LLP.

Irvestment property PRES bloks are valued or anincome cap’talisation basis, having regacd to prevailing market conditions
and evidence, and with close rogard to tne relativity between the market value and the aggregate vacant possessior value
The valuation has beern prepared in accerdarce waith RICS Professional Valuation Stanca-ds where fair valae s the same

as markel value CRBRE Limited valued 73% (2022 69%) of recidental investrent property, with Allsop LLP valuing 17%
(2022, 19%) or tnis basis. Gross vields adoptec in the valLatons broad.y range frorm 4.9% to 8 5% (2022: 4.5% to 7.2%).
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The rermaining 109 (2022 1295) of residential property is valued in ling with the trading property approach, with nlder
propertics and groups of individual umits valued by Alisop LLP on a discount to vacant possession value basis on the assurmption
these assets would be sold individually. Residential reversionary assets discounts adopted ranged from 109% to 17 5%
{(2022:15.0% to 17.0%), whilst the residential PRS discount to vacant possession value was 5% (2022: 5%).

ii) Developments

Trading property Development trading property of £514m (2022 £70 1m) relates to the Groun's legacy strategic land assets.
The current market value has been assessed by CBRE Limitec, Their valuation, representing 98% (2022: 96%%) of total value, is
on the basis of fair value as defined In the RICS Professional Valuation Standards where fair value is the same as market value
The remaining 2% (2022 4%} of the portfolio is a Directors’ Valuation

Investment praperty: CBRE Limited assessed the fair value of the direct development schemes in the course of construction

These schemes are valucd on an income capitalisation basis, with gross yields adepted in the valuations ranging from 4.7% to
51% (2022 4 9% to 6 4%} As the assets are under construction, the vatuation takes into account estimated costs required to
reach completion.

iii} New build PRS - CBRE Limited asscssed the far value of the completed assets and assets in the course of construction.

The principa. approach was to valde the properties on an incoms capitalisation basis, having regard to prevailing market
conditions and evidence, and with close regard to the relativity between the market value and the aggregate vacant
possession vatue.

Whera applicable, estimated costs required to complete construction have been taken into account. The valuation has been
prepared in accordance with RICS Professional Valuation Standards where fair value is the same as market valuc.

The pnimary unobservab.e input within the valuation relate to assumpuons for gross yields adopted with respect to comparabie
market evidence, with gross yields ranging from 5.3% to 6.3% (2022: 4.6% to 5.7%) acrass the portfolio. For assets under
construction, a discount to market value to reflect stabilisation and construction risk in the remaining build process is applied
on an asset by asset basis depending on stage of completion.

iv) Affordable housing - For propertes et on affordable rents, social rents or sold on shared ownership leases, Allsop

LLP valued the assets on the basis of Existing Use Value for Socal Housing (EUV-SH') in Line with RICS Global Standards.
Properties subject to intermediate rents have been valued at market value as these assets are not restricted as sccial housing
N perpetuity.

The primary unobservable input within the valuation relates to assumptions for the income capitalisation rate of net rent,
which is determined on a tenure basis. The gross yields adopted for 30 September 2023 valuations range from 4 4% to 5.7%
(2022: 4.2% to 4.6%).

v} Tricomm Housing - Allsop LLP provided an investment vatuation as at 30 September 2023 for the property assets owned
by the Group and let under a long-term lease arrangement with the Secretary of State for Defence under a PFI projact
agreement The investment valuation is in accordance with RICS Professional Valuation Standards, and is based on a discounted
cash flow model.

Significant uncbservable inputs within the valuation relate to assurmptions for house price inflation and the discount rates to
apply to the cash flows. The assumptions adopted for house price inflation are: -5.0% in 2024, Mlin 2025, and 2.75%-4 0%
thereafter. The discount rates applied to the cash flows range between 5.0% (2022, 4.4%) non-corc MOD income and 6.5%
(2022: 6.5%) on reversion.

vi) Financial asset (CHARM) - The valuation methodology adopted for the CHARM asset 1s set out m Note 20 to the financial
statements. CHARM is valued using projected cash flows and applies key unobservable inputs being house price inflation and
discount rates

As such it s classified as a level 3 asset (Note 27} The assumptions used to value the asset reflect an increase in house prices
of between nil and 7.19% p.a (2022 017% and 7.79%). A disceunt rate of 4.5% (2022: 4 5%;) has bcen applied to the interest
income and a rate of 6.5% (2022, 6.5%;) has been applicd to the projected proceeds from sales of the underlying properties,
reflecting the risk profile of cach individual income stream.

Credit risk arises from the credit exposure relating to cash receipts from the financial instrument. All of the cash receipts are
payable by the Church Commissioners, a counterparty considered Lo be low risk as they have no history of past duc or imparred
amaounts and there are no past duc amounts outstanding at the year end.

vii} Joint ventures and associates — For Vesta LP, CBRE Limited valued the asset on the same basis described for completed
new builld PRS asscts. Property assets in other joint ventures including the Connected Living Londen Group and Lewisham
Grainger Holdings LLP are held at cost reflecting the current early stages of each development

The Directors consider the valuations provided by external valuers to be representative of fair vatue.

As required by RICS Professional Valuation Standards, the external valuers in the UK mentioned above have made full
disctosure of the extent and duration of their work for, and lees earned by them from, Lhe Group, which in all cases are less

than 5% of their total fees.
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(CONTINUED)

2. Critical accounting estimates and judgements continued

2} Net realisable value cof trading property

The Group's residential trading properties are carried 'n the consolidaled statement of fnancial position at the lower 07 cost
and nel realisable value

Net realisable value s the ret sales proceeds which the Group expects or sale of a praperty with vacant posscssion, with
vacant possassion being determired nline with the approach detalea in Note 2.10). The Grouo has a net realisable value
provision of £4.8m as at 30 Septerrber 2023 {2022 £4 1m). The provision includes spec hc properties which are vacant and
properties expected to become vacant in the future on the assumptior of an average annual vacancy rate of ¢.8% over the
next ter years Consideration has been g'ven in respect of house price inflation, being the primary assurmption relevant to tis
calculaton, with the provision for propertics expacted to become vacant in future assuming nil inflation over the next ten years

Sensitivity analysis

Changes to key assumptions could impact both the income and financial pos tior of the Group The impact of changes to key
assumptions fs considared for the valuation of property asscts and the net realisable value of trading property using a range
of reasonable changes and have been applied to asset categories where sensitivit'es could have the largest imoact. The Group
mcasures 1ts market risk exposure nternally by running various sensitivity analyses The Directors consider that the range of
potential movements set cutin the table below represent reasenably poss ble changes

The table below sets out potential impacts that may result fram changes to cortain assumptions’

Increase Locr2ase

Statement of Steremeer af
Income financial iN¢Co e arancia
statement position stateent posit o
impact impact mpact impact
£m £m frr £

Residential itradng properLy) 1002 change in house prices
RY proseian mmpact) 2.5 2.5 {15} (45)
Rosidontal {(tnvestmant proper iyl 0 5G% change in gross yinid (48.6) {48.6) 5/ 6 570G
Residential (vestmaent propet ty) 5 0% cnange in net rental :ncome 31.4 314 {314) (31 4)
Developirents (investirent proparty) G 50% change in gross y eld (27.8) (27.8}) 332 324
Developments inyostmert praperty) S 0% change in net rental incame 16.3 163 (16 3) (16 3)
New build PRS 0.50% change in gross vield {153.0) (153.0) 1807 1807
MNow build PRS 5.2% changs in net rental ircome 100.9 100.9 10 9) (1009
Atforcable housing 2 50% cnange 1 gross yield (17.1) (17.1) 213 213
Afforgable nousing 5Ol change ir ret rental income 8.7 8.7 (8.7) ghn
Jont veatures and asscdates G 30% charge in gross vield (1.2} (1.2) 15 15
Joint ventu-es and associates 5 0% change n net rental income 0.8 0.8 08 (cg)
Tricormm Housing 10.0% change in hause prces 5.7 5.7 37 57
Tricomm Housing 0 /5% change @ discount rate (0.3) {0.3) N3 03
Einancial asset (CHARM) 10 0% change in house prices 5.7 5.7 57 (5 /)
Firancia. asset (CHARM) 075% charge in d.scount rate (3.2) {3.2) 3.4 3.4

Jrarer s e am ATt rologes e Croup e share of orosary cey st o e o
Judgements

1} Distinction between investment and trading property

Ihe Group considers thoantention at the outset wher each property is acquired in order 1o classify tie proserty as either

an investment or a trading property \Wnere the intention is eithe- to trade the property or where the property 15 held for
ImmMeaiate sa.e uncn receiving vacant pessession within the ordinary cou-se of business, the property is classified as trading
property. Where the intention is to hold the praperty for i£s leny-terme rental y eld and/or captal apprec ation, the proporty
is classificd as aniavestrent property The classfication of the Group's procerties is a significant judgeront which directly
impacls Lhe statutory net asset positior, as trading p-operies are hewd ar the lowar ¢of cost and net realizable value, whiel
investment preper bies are held at far value, with gains or losses Laken through Lhe conselidated mcome staterment.

The Group cortinually revicws properties for crarges in Lse that could subseqguently change the cassification of propertics.
£ change inuse occurs if property meets. or ceases to meet, the definition of nvestmans: groperty which 15 more than a
change ir management’s intentions. Tne fact patterns associated with changes in the way 10 wh ch properties are utilised
are consicerec on acase by case basis and to the extent that a cnarge i~ use s establishes, oreperty reciassifiicanions are
reflected approoriately.

There nave been ro property reclass fications in the year. Duning the p- or year, fodr property gortfolios were reclassif ed lrom
Lrading property to investiment properly where changes in use had been idertiie¢ Trading property witr acost of £116.5m
and market value of £7977m was reclassified as investment prope-ty, resu ting ' valuations gains of £81.2m on reclassfication
wh £h were recagnised in tne censclidated income staterrent. I addizon, £20.3m contingent tax on tradmg property was
reclassified as deferrec tax on invastment property in our EPRA NAY metrics wh ch increasca EPRA NTA oy 3p per share.
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3. Analysis of profit before tax

The table below details adjusted earnings. which 1s one of Grainger’s key performance indicators The metric s utilised as a key
measure to aid understanding of the performance of the continuing business and excludes valuation movernents and other
adjustments, that are one-off In nature, which do not form part of the normal on-geing revenue or costs of the business and,
either individually or in aggregate, arc material to the reported Group results.

2023 Ry

Other Adjusted Orher Ad)usted
£m Statutory  Valuation adjustments earnings  Statutory Valuation adjustironts SAnngGs
Group revenue 267.1 - - 267.1 2792 - - 2792
Net rental income 96.5 - - 96.5 86.3 - - 263
Profil ondisposal of trading property 54.8 (0.3) - 54.5 64 4 (C.8) - 63.6
Proiit on d sposal of investment property 3.3 - - 3.3 T - - 1.7
Income fram financial interest
n property assets 4.6 0.1 - 4.7 6.0 (1.2} - 48
Fees and other income 5.0 - - 5.0 44 - - 4.4
Adminstrative expenses {33.5) - - {33.5) (318) - - {31.8)
Other expenses (1.2} - - {1.2) (10 3} - 95 08)
Goodwill impanrment {0.7) 0.1 - - - - - -
(Impairmentiieversal of impairment of
inventories to net realisable value (1.0) 1.0 - - 15 {15) - -
Operating profit 128.4 0.9 - 129.3 1222 (3.5) 95 128.2
Net valuation {losses)/gains
on investmaont property {68.8) 68.8 - - 1250 (129 0) - -
Net valuat-on gains oninvestment proper ty
reclassifications - - - - 812 (81.2) - -
Change in fair value of derivatives - - - - - - - -
Finance costs {34.0) - - {34.0) {34.6) - - (34.5)
Finance INCOMe 2.2 - - 2.2 13 - - 1.3
Share of {loss)/profit of associates after tax {0.1) 0.5 - 0.4 12 {0.9) - 03
Share of loss of jaint ventures after tax {0.3} - - (0,3) (1.7, - - .73
Profit before tax 27.4 70.2 - 87.6 2986 214.6) G5 93.5
Tax charge {1.8) (62.2)
Profit for the year attributable
to the owners of the Company 25.6 2294
Basic adjusted earnings per share 10.3p 10.2p
Diluted adjusted earnings pershare 10.3p 10.2p

Profit before tax in the adjusted columns above of £97.6m {2022: £33.5mj is the adjusted earnings of the Group.

Adjusted earnings per share assumes tax of £21.5m (2022: £17.8m) in line wilh the standard rate of UK Corporation Tax 22.0%
(2022: 19.0%,), divided by the weighted average number of shares as shown in Note 15, The Group’s IFRS statutory earnings per
share is also detailed in Note 15. The classification of ammounts as other adjustments 15 a judgement made by managernent and
is a matter referred to the Audit Committee for approval prior to issuing the financial statements. There have been no other
adjustments in the current year. In 2022, the £9.5m cost within other adjustments comprises fire safety expenses including
remedial work in respect of legacy assets. These transactions do not form part of the Group's ongoing activitics and. as such,
have been classified as other adjustments
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

4. Segmental information

{a) Accounting policy

IFRS 8, Operating Segments reguires operat ng segments to be identified based uoon the Group's internal ~eporting to the
Chief Operating Decisicn Maker ({CODM’} so that the CODM can make decisions about resources to be allocated to segments
and assess thair performance. The Group's CODM are the Exscutive Birectors,

The two significant segmenrts for the Group are PRS and Reversionary. The PRS sagment includes stabitised PRS assets

as well as PRS under construction due to direct development and forward funding arrangermrents, both for wholly-ownea
assets and the Group's interest inJoint ventu-es and associates as relevant The Reversicnary segrmrent includes regulated
tenancies. as well as CHARM The Other segrient includes legacy strateqic land and development arrangements, along w'th
administrative cxpenses

Tne key aoperating performance measure of profit or loss Lsed by the CODM 15 agjusted sarnings before tax, valuation and
other adjustments.

The principal net assel value ('NAV’) measure reviewed by the CODM 15 FPRA NTA which is considered to becore the rmost
relevant, and therefore the primary NAY measure for the Group. EPRA NTA refiects the tax thal witl crystallise inrelat.on to
the trading portfolio, whilst excluding the volatility of ark te market movemants on fixed rate debt and derivatives which
are unlkely to be reabised. Other NAV measures include EPRA NRV and EPRA NDV which we report alongside EPRA NTA.

A full deseription and reconcitiation of these measures is included in tho EPRA performance rmeasure section on pages 175
to 178 of tnis report.

Information relating to the Group's operating segments s set out in the tables below, The tables distinguish between ad.usted
earnings an a segmertal nasis. Valuation and other adjustments are not reviewea by the CODM on a segmental basis and
snould be read in conjunction w th Note 3,

2023 Income statement

£m PRS Reversionary Other Total
Group revenue 121.5 123.8 21.7 267.1
Segment revenue - external

Net rertal income 82.2 134 0.9 96.5
Piofit o1 disaosal of trading proper ty {0.5) 54.2 0.8 54.5
Profit on disposal of investrment proper ty 3.3 - - 3.3
Income from linanoial interest in property asscts - 4.7 - 4.7
Fees and olner micome 4.6 - 0.4 5.0
Administrative expenses - - (33.5) {33.5)
Other expenses {(1.2) - - (1.2)
Met finance costs {24.8) {6.2) (0.6} (31.8)
Share of trading profit of joint ventures a~d associates after tax 0.1 - - 0.1
Adjusted earnings 63.6 66.0 {32.0) 97.6
Valuation movements, (70.1) {0.1) - (70.2)
Othe- ad,ustments - - - -
Profit before tax (6.5) 65.9 (32.0} 27.4

A reconciliation frem acgjusted carnings to £PRA earnings s detalled in the table below, with further details snown in the TPRA
pe-formance measures on page 175

£m PRS Reversionary Other Total
Adjasted carmings 63.6 66.0 (32.0) 97.6
Frofit or disposa. of trading prope-ty 0.5 (54.2) {0.8) {54.5)
Profiton disposal of investme~t praper iy (3.3) - - (3.3)
EPRA earnings 60.8 11.8 (32.8) 39.8
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2022 Income statement

£m CRS Roversigrary Othar “otal

Group revenue 1032 1505 255 279 2

Segment revenue - external

Net rental income 708 15.2 03 363

Profit on disposal of trading property (0.1} 61.7 20 36
Profit on disposal of investment property 16 Q1 - 17

Income from financial interest in property assets - 48 - 48
Fees and ather income 38 - 06 44

Administrative expenses - - (318) (31.8)
Other expenses 0 8) - - C8a)
MNet finance costs {747} 173} (RN {33 3)
Share of trading loss of joint ventures and associates afror fax {14 - - {1 4)
Adjusted earnings 152 740 (2971 935

Valuation movements 133, {02} - 1334

Yaluation mavements on property reclassifications 81727 - - 812

Other adjustments - - (3.5) [9%)
Profit before tax 2640 738 1352) 98 B

A reconciliation from adjusted carnings to EPRA earnings is detailed in the table below:

i PRS Roversionary Othar Total

Adjusted earmings 492 74.0 (297) G35

Profit on disposal of trading property 01 ol Ty (2Q) (63.6)
Profit on disposal of investrment property (16) {0.1} - .73
EPRA earnings 477 12.2 131.7) 257

Segmental assets

The net asset value measures reviewed by the CODM are EPRA NRV, LPRA NTA and EPRA NDV. These measures reflect the
current market value of trading property owned by the Group rather than the lower of historical cost and net realisable value
These measures arc cansidered to be a more relevant reflection of the value of the assets owned by the Group.

CPRA NRY is Lhe Group's statutory net assets plus the adjustrment required to increase the value of trading stock from its
statutory accounts value of the lower of cost and net realisabie value to its market value In add'tion, the statutory statement
of financial position amounts for both deferred tax on property revaluations and derivative financial instrurments net of
deferred tax, including those In joint ventures and associates, are added back to statutory net assets Finally, the market value
of Grainger plc shares owned by the Group are addec back to statutory net assets

LPRA NTA assumes that entities buy and sell assets. thercby crystallising certain levels of deforred tax liabilities. For the Group,
deferred tax in retation to revaluations of its trading portfolio s taken inte account by applying the expected rate of tax to the
adjustment that increases the value of trading stock from its statutory accounts value of tho lower of cost and net realisable
value, to its market value. The measure also excludes all intangible assets on the statutory balance sheet, including goodwill.

EPRA NDV reverses some of the adjustments made between statutory nct asscts, EPRA NRY and EPRA NTA. All of the
adjustrents for the value of derivative financial instruments net of deferred tax, including those in joint ventures and
associates, are reversed. The adjustment for the deferred tax on investment property revaluations excluded from FPRA NRV
and EPRA NTA are also reversed, as 1s the intangible adjustrment in respect of EPRA NTA, except for goodwill which remains
excluded. In addition, adjuslments are made to net assets to reflect the fair value, net of deferred tax, of the Group’s fixed
rate debt.

Total Accounting Relurn (NTA basis) of -1.8% is calcutaled from the closing EPRA NTA of 305p per share plus the dividend of
5.65p per share for the year, divided by the opening EPRA NTA of 317p per share.

These measures are sot out below by segment along with a recenciliation to the summarised statutory statemoent of financial
position. Additional EPRA disclosures are included on pages 175 to 178,

2023 Segment net assets

Em PRS Reversionary Other Total Pence per share
Total scgment nat assets (statutory) 1,729.8 151.7 47 .1 1,928.6 260
[olal segment net assets (EPRA NRV) 1,839.2 476.9 431 2,359.3 318
lotal segmeant net assets (EFRA N1A) 1,835.1 395.0 37.4 2,267.5 305
Total segment net assets ([PRA NDV) 1,729.2 395.0 208.7 2,3329 314
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4, Segmental information continued
2023 Reconciliation of EPRA NAV measures

Adjustments Adjustments
to market to deferred Adjustments
value, and to derivatives,
deferred contingent fixed rate
Statutory tax and EPRA NRV tax and EPRA NTA debt and EPRA NDV
£m halance sheet derivatives balance sheet intangibles balance sheet intangibles balance sheet
Investrment propet ty 2,948.9 - 2,948.9 - 2,548.9 - 2,948.9
Investment in jaint venturas and
associates 91.0 - 1.4 - 91.0 - 81.0
Financialinterest in property assets 67.0 - 67.0 - 67.0 - 67.0
Inventories — trading property 392.2 3421 7343 - 7343 - 734.3
Cash and cash equivalants 121.0 - 121.0 - 121.0 - 121.0
Other assets 102.2 (33.7) 68.5 {1.0) &7.5 45.9 113.4
Total assets 3,722.3 308.4 4,030.7 (1.0} 4,029.7 459 4,075.6
Interest-bearing ivans and borrowings (1,533.5) - (1,533.5} - {1,533.5) 182.1 {1,351.4)
Deferred and contungent tax lahties {(122.3) 122.3 - {90.8) {90.8) {162.6) {253.4)
Other babilitics {137.9) - (137.9) - {137.9) - (137.9)
Total liabilities (1,793.7) 122.3 (1,671.4) (90.8) {1,762.2) 19.5 (1,742.7)
Net assets 1,928.6 430.7 2,359.3 (31.8) 2,267.5 65.4 2,332.9
in order Lo provide further analysis, the following table sets out EPRA NTA by segment:
£m PRS  Reversionary Other Total
EPRA NTA
lrvestmont property 2,928.9 20.0 - 2,948.9
Investiment in joint ventures and assocaics 72.8 - 18.2 91.0
Financial 'mterest in property assets - 67.0 - 67.0
Inventones — trading property 9.6 673.3 51.4 734.3
Casn and cash eguvalents 94.8 239 2.3 121.0
Other assets 13.4 8.4 457 67.5
Total segment EPRA NTA assets 3,119.5 792.6 117.6 4,029.7
Interest-bearing loans and horrowngs (1,201.3) (303.1) (29.1) (1,533.5)
Deferred and cortungent tax habibiuies (4.2) (81.9) (4.7) (90.8)
Other Labilities {78.9) (12.6} (46.4} {137.9}
Total segment EPRA NTA liabilities {1,284.4) (397.6) {80.2) (1,762.2})
MNet EPRA NTA assets 1,835.1 395.0 37.4 2,267.5
20272 Segment net assets
frr PRy Re,oinicnay Stner Tetal Pence per starc
Total segment nat assets (statatory) 1001 19457 64 4 19068 205D
Total segmert net assets (EPRA NRV) 183370 584.9 52.7 2,1700 333p
Total scament net assets (EPRA NT/ 18275 4356 58 23500 EXNIS)
Totar segment ret assets (EPRA NIV 17120 485 6 2854 2,483.0 3340

2022 Reconciliation of EPRA NAY measures

AuusTrents to
ruareet LoLs

Tary cetorrec tax PoRA RS ronT ent s AN A Bt A NV
i s sheet andcercatves baaniestest ard ntang blss aalince sheer aag atargibles balange sheet
Investrmeant prope -ty 27755 - AFINY - 27759 - 27754
Irvesiment in jont ventares
and assuciatos 552 - bz.7 - 552 - 552
Financal interest in prooer by assats 69 EER - 697 - 5901
Inveritanes - trading praperty <538 4597 3730 2730 - 5730
“ash and cash equivalents 959 - 2h g - 959 95.5
Cther assets 1292 (514) 778 {075 773 587 133.8
Total assets 35791 IR7 .8 39469 (S5} 3,945 4 565 4.002.5
Inierest-beaning loans and horrovangs (11,3576} i1,357.2, - (73574 Jr30 [1,094.6]
Deforred and contingsnt tax Uabibios (1369 1350 (9 (1711 {(112.0; 19z 5 327 ¢}
Other abilties {117 2 - (178 - (1377.20 - mav e
Total liabilities (1,612 3) 1350 14453, 111 15874 275 15194
Net assets 19668 503 24/06 {706 2.359.0 1246 24830
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Ir order to provide further analysis, the following table sets out restated EPRA NTA by segment:

i PRS Ravers orary Other Total
EPRA NTA

Inyastment propearty 2,753 5 224 - 2./7159
Investment in joint ventures and associates 371 - 18.1 5572
Financial interest in property assets - 691 - 6491
Inventories ~ trading property 139 /89.0 701 8730
Cashk and cash eguivalents 712 224 23 35.9
Other assats 162 17 49 4 77.3
Total segment EPRA NTA assets 75919 3146 1399 3,946 4
Interest-bearing loans and borrawings (1.008 &) (315.7) 132.3) (1,357 G}
Deferred and contingent tax liabilities (5.4) (99.3) {7.3) (1120)
Other Batulities (50 3) (13.0) 54.5) {1778}
Total segment EPRA NTA liabilities {1,064.3) {2290 (94.1) (1,%8/.4)
Net EPRA NTA assets 1,8276 435.6 45.8 2,3590

5. Group revenue
Accounting policy

Revenue I1s measured at the fair value of the consideration received or recervable anc is stated net of sales taxes and value
added taxes. Gross proceeds from disposal of trading property and fees and other income are recognised in accordance with
IFRS 15 Gross rental income s recagnised in accordance with IFRS 16,

2023 2022

£m frm

Gross rental income (Note &) 133.7 1214
Gross procecds from disposal of trading property (Note 7) 128.4 1534
Fees and other income (Note 9) 5.0 4.4
267.% 2797

6. Netrentalincome
Accounting policy

Gross rental income s recognised on a straight-l'ne basis over the leaso term on an accruals bass. Directly attributable property
managament, repair and maintenance costs are deducted from gross rental incorne to determine net rental income.

2023 022

£fm Em

Gross rental income 133.7 121.4
Property cperating expenses (37.2} (251}
96.5 86,3

Net rental income presented above refllects the total net rental income across all assets of the Group. Within Lhis, gross rental
income of £129.8m and property operating expenses of £33.7m generating gross to net performance of 25.5% retated to the
Group's stabilised assets {2022 gross rental income of £116.17n1 and property operating expenses of £29.6m generating stabilised
gross to net performance of 25.5%).

7. Profit on disposal of trading property
Accounting policy

Proporty 1s regarded as sold when performance obligations have been met and control has been transferred to the buyer.
This is generally deemed to be on legal completion as at this point the buyer is able to determine the use of the property
and has rights to any cash inflows or outflows in respect of the property. Profits or losses are calculated by reference to the
carrying value of the property sold. | or a development property, this is assessed through the use of a gross margin for the
site as a whole or such ather basis that provides an appropriate allocation of costs.

Contract revenue and expenses are recognised over time in the consolidated income statement, with performance
obligations satisfied continually across the peried In which the asset s created or enhanced. Control of the assetis
transferred to the custormer acrass the construction pericd rather than upon completion of the asset in its entirety as, per
the contract in place, this is when the customer gains their residual interest. The input method used to measure progress is
Lhe value of work completed, denoted by the costs incurred to date, and revenuae is subseguently recognised at the margin
stipulated in the contract. This is also when the Group become entitled to the consideration anising from the contract.
Revenues are recognised as contract assets in trade and other receivables (Note 23) and are recovered on completion of
the development.
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7. Profit on disposal of trading property conzinued

2023 222

£m £

Gross proceeds from dispesal of trading oroperty 128.4 1534
Selling costs {2.8) {42}
MNet proceeds from disposal of tradirg property 125.6 1434
Carrying value of trading praparty seild (Note 22) (70.8) (52 2)
54.8 541

Nil contracrt reverue has been reccgnised in the pericd (2022: nil).
8. Profit on disposal of investment property
Accounting policy

[nvestmen: property is regardec as scld when the recipiert obtams control of the property, which 16 gererally deemed to be
on legal completion, Profits or losses are calculated by reference to the carrying value of the property sold.

2023 RIGRY!
£m I
Gross proceeds from disnasal ot investment praperty 65.3 213
Selling costs (1.8) (3.4)
Met proceeds from disposal of Investment property €3.5 2049
Carryi~g value of investmant prope-ty sold (Note 19) {(60.2) {19 2}
3.3 17

9. Fees and otherincome
2023 Py
fm £
Property and asset management fee income 3.2 27
Cther sundry incorme 1.8 17
5.0 44

Included within other sundry income inthe currert year 's £16m (2022: £1.1m) liquidated and ascertained damagoes ((LADs"
recorded to compensate the Group for lost rental income resulting from the delayed completion of construction contracts

10.Employees

2023 2022
£fm fr
VWaqes and salaries 233 20
Sonal secunty costs 2.4 24
Other pension costs - defired contribution scheme (Note 28) 1.5 14
Share-based payrents (Note 30} 2.4 1.7
29.6 2o

The average monthly number of Group employees during the year (ncluding Executive Directors) was:
2023 2022
Number Numbor
Operatigrs 235 217
Snared services 107 oz
Group 15 14
357 323

Details of Directors’ remoneration, incuding pension costs, sharc opuions and interestsin the LTI are praviced in the aud tec

1A

sectior of the Remureration Commrittes report ¢n pages 93 o 111

Information about benefits of Directors
The felowng amownts ace disclosed in accordarce voth Schedu’e 5 of the Large and Medium-Sized Companies and Grouns
{Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008

2023 2.2

£000 L0

Aggregate Dirsctors’ remrunaration 2,818 2723
Aggregate amount 6” gans or exsrc se of sharc opt ons 5 8
Aggregate amount ¢f money or assetls rece’ved or recaizatle under scheme nlerests 1,084 571
3,907 3,302
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None of the Directors (2022 nong) were members of the Group defined benefit scherme or the defined contribution scheme

Key management compensation

2023 2022
£m frm

Shart-term employeo boeneits 7.8 7.0
Post-employment pencfits 0.5 o
Share-tased paymaonts 21 [

10.4 Gl
Key management figures shown above include Executive and Non-Executive Directors and all internal Directors of
specific functions,
11. Profit before tax

2023 2022

£m fm

Profit before tax s stated aftor charging:
Depreciation of pioperty, plant and equipment 1.1 CS
Rad debt experse Q.9 17
Operating lease payments 0.2 2
Auditar's remuneration (see below) 0.6 CS
The remuneratior. paid to KPMG LLP, the Group's auditor, is disclosed below
Auditor’s remuneration

2023 2922

£'000 £OnG
Services as aucitor to the Company 323 229
Services as auditor to Group subsidiaries 223 257
Group audit fees 546 A86
Audit related assurance services 58 40
Non-audit fees 58 <0
Total fees 604 H26

The relevant proportion of amounts paid to the auditor for the audit of the financial statements of joint ventures s £20,500

(2022: £18,000).

12.Finance costs and income

2023 2022
£m £m
Finance costs
Bank loans and mortgages 17.3 121
MNon-bank fimancial institution 8.4 24
Corporale baond 22.6 226
Interest capitalised under |AS 23 {17.5) {12.0)
Other finance casts 3.2 3.5
34.0 346
Finance income
Interest recevable from joint ventures (MNote 34) (0.9) 07
Other interest receivable (1.3) 0e)
{2.2) 13)
Net finance costs 31.8 333
The weighted average interest rate applicable to capitalised interest is 3.88% {2022: 3.63%)
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13.Tax

Accounting policy

The taxation charge for the year represents the sun of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. The charge s
recognised In the income statement and statement of comorehensive ncome according “o the accounting treatment of the
related transaction.

Current tax payable or rece vable 15 based on tne taxable ‘ncome for the period and ary adjustmient 'n resoect of prior
periods and is calculated using tax rates that have becn enactad or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period

Tax payable upon the realisation of revaluation gains recagnised in prior penods 15 recorded as a current tax charge with a
release of the associated deferred tax,

Deferred ncome tax is recognised. using the Liability metvod, on tempoerary differences arising between the tax bases of
assets and liabilives and ther carryirg amounts in the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax 15 determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substartively enacted at the enc of the reporting penod and are
expected to app.y when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferrea income tax liabil'ty s settled
Deferred income tax assets are rocognised only to the extent that 1t is probable that taxable prefit will give nse to a future
taxdability against which the deferred tax assets can be recovered,

Deferred ncome tax 15 provided on temporary d fferences arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
where the timing of tne reversal of the temperary difference 1s controlled by the Group and it s probab.c that the temporary
difference will not reverse ir the foresceable futare.

Deferrec income tax assets and Labilit es are ofset when there is a .egally enforceable nght to offset current tax assets
agamnst current tax Cabilitics and when the deferred incomie Lax assets and Liahilitios relate to mcome taxes levied by the
same tax authority on etner the taxable entity or different taxable entities where there s an intention te settle the balances
onanet basis

The tax charge for the year of £18m (2022: £69.2m) recogn sed in the consobdated ircome statement comprises:

2023 2022
£m [
Current tax

Corparation tax on profit 18.9 1/.8
Adustments relatirg to prior yoars {4.3) (5 2)
14.6 to6

Deferred tax
Ornig' nation and reversal of temporary d Ferences {14.2}) 517
Adjustrments relating to prior years 1.4 40
(12.8) 56
Total tax charge for the year 1.8 632

The 2023 current tax ad ustmenss relating to prer years -eflect adjustmenrts which have been incitded in subm tted tax returns
and represent movemonts hetween deferred and current tax n relation to 1mvestrment proportios and capital allowances

The Groun works in an open and transpare~t manner and maintains a regular dialogue with HM Revenue ard Customs
This approach 15 cons’stent with the “low risk” rating we have been awarded by t+M Revenue and Customs and to which the
Group s comrmitted

The Gragp's results for this year are taxed at an efective rate of 22.0% (2022- 19.0%),

The tax charge for the year1s lower (2022 higher) than the charge for the year der ved by applying tne standara rate of 22.0%
(2022, 19.0%) to tne profit before tax. The differences are explamed balow

2023 2022
£m f=
Profit before tax 27.4 298¢
Income tax atarate of 22 0% {2052 "2 0%) 6.0 567
Expenses not deduchiole “or taz porpases 03 02
Share of joint venturas and assciates after tax 0.1 G
Effect of futore tax rates gver cuirent tax rates {(1.7) W24
Adjustrrent inrespect of prior periods (2.9) (123
Amountc recognised in the income statement 1.8 T
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In addition to the above, a deferred tax credit of £4.3m (2022 charge of £13 3m) was recegnised within other comprehensive
INcome comprising:

2023 2022
fm £m
Remeasurarnent of BPT Limited defined benefit pension scherme {0.3) 1.4
Farr value movement in cash flow hedges {4.0) 119
Armounts recognised in other comprehensive income {4.3) 133
Deferred tax balances comprise temporary differences attributable to:
2023 2022
£m fm
Deferred tax assets
Short-term temporary difierences 3.7 12
3.7 12
Deferred tax liabilities
Irading property uplift to farr value on business combinations {5.2) (0.3)
Investrment property revaluation {95.2) {108 %)
Shart-term temparary differences {13.2) (8.6)
Fair value moverment in inancial interest in property assets {1.1) {1.2)
Actuarial gain on BRPT Limited defined benefit pension scheme {0.9) (1.2)
Fair value movarmnent in dervative finandal instrurments {6.7) {10.7)
(122.3) {132.9)
Total deferred tax {118.6) {135.7)

Deferred tax has been calculated at a rate of 25 0% {2022 25 0%) in line with the enacted main rate of corporation tax
applicable from 1 April 2023

In addition to the tax amounts shown above, contingent tax hased on EPRA market value measures, being tax on the difference
between the carrying value of trading properties in the statement of financial pesition and their market value, has not been
recognised by the Group This contingent tax amounts to £85.5m, calculated at 25.0% {2022: £104.8m. calculated at 25.0%),
and will be realised as the properties are sold.

It 15 not possible tor the Group to identity the timing of movements In deterred tax betwoeen those expected within one year and
those expecled in a period greater than ane year. This is because movements in the main balances, both assets and liabilities,
will be determined by factors outside the control of the Group, namely the vacation date of properties and interes! yield curve
movements. However, given the long-term nature of our properly ownership, we anticipate that the balance will predominantly
be crystallised in a period greater than ane year,

14.Dividends

Accounting policy
Dividends are recognised through equity when approved by the Company’s Shareholders or on payment, whichever is earlier.

Dividends paid in the year are shown below:

2023 2022
£m £m

Ordinary dividends on equity shares
Final dividend for the year ended 30 September 2021 - 3.37p per share - 246
Interim dividend for the year ended 30 September 2022 - 2 (0dp per share - 15 4
Final dividend for the year ended 30 September 2022 - 3.82p per share 28.8 -
Interim dividend for the year ended 30 September 2023 - 2.28p per share 16.9 -
45.7 G0

Subject to approval at the AGM, the final dividend of 4.37p per share {(gross) amounting to £32.2m will be paid on 14 February
2024 to Shareholders on the register at the close of business on 29 Decermnber 2023 Shareholders will again be offered the
option to participate in a dividend reinvestrment plan and the last day for election is 24 January 2024, Aninterim dividend of
2.28p per share amounting to a total of £16.9m was paid to Sharcholders on 3 July 2023.
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15.Earnings per share
Accounting policy
Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to the owners of the Company by the
weighted average number of ordinary snares in1ssue during the year. exclud'ng ordinary shares purchased by the Group and
held both in Trust and as treasury shares to meet its obiigations under the Long Term Incentive Plan {'LT12") and Deferred
Banus Plan {{DBEPY) on wh ch the dividends are being waived.

Diluted

Diluled earnings per share 15 calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares in issue by the diutive effect of
ardinary shares that the Company may potentially issue relating to its share option schermes and contingert share awards
under the LTIP and DBP, based upon the number of shares that would be ssued if 30 September 2023 was the end of the
contingency period. Where the effect of the above adiustments is antidilutive, they arc excluded from the calculation of
ciluted earnings per share.

30 September 2023 30 Seplember 2022
Waighted Wbt
average Jd4OTAGE
Profit for number of Earnings Foofe for numbar of
the year shares per share thayey 3TArss
£m {millions) {pence) £ IRNUGLIS
Basic earnings per share
Profit attributable to equity holders 25.6 739.9 3.5 2249 4 7405 310
Effect of potentially dilutive securities
Share options and contingent shares - 2.5 - - 2.6 (0.1}
Diluted earnings per share
Frofit attributable to equity holders 25.6 742.4 3.5 2294 7437 209

16.Investment property

Accounting policy

Property that is held for lang-term rental yieles or for capital appreciation, or botr, and that is not cccupied by the
companies ‘n the consolidated Group, is classified as investment property.

Invastment property is measured inally at its cost. including refated transaction costs

Afterirmial recogntion, investment property 1s carried at fair value Fair value is based on active market prices, adjusted, if
necessary, for any difference in the nature. location or condition of the specified asset If this information is not available, the
Group uses alternative valuation mathods such as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections.
Investrrent property falls within Level 3 af Lhe fair value hierarchy as defined by IFRS 13 Further details are given in Note 27,

Subsequent expenciture is includea in the carrying amrount of the property when it is probable that the future econamic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the iten can be measared reliably Al other
repair and maintenance costs are charged te tne consolidated income statement cunirg the financial period in which they
are incurred

Gairs or losses arsing from changes in the farr value of the Group’s investment properties are included . the consolidated
income statement of the period Iin which they atise.

When the Group begins to redevelop an ex sting trading property for contirued future use as an nvestment property. the
prope-ly s transferred to irvestment properly and beld as a nor-carrent asset. The property 1s remeasured to fair vawe as
at the date of the transfer with any gain or ioss being taken to Lhe income statement.

Where specifcinvastmert properties are expacted to sell within the next 12 months their fair value is snown under asscts
classified as held-for-sale within cur-ent assets. Any loss on the reclassification of these assets from investment properties to
assets held-tor-sale is cnarged to the consolicated incorrc statement of the oericd i1 which th's occurs.

2023 2002

£m fre
Cpering baance 2,775.9 21732
Acgu stions 98 44
Capcag. expeaditure - comp.etad assets 20.4 w7
Cap:ta. expenditure - assets under constructior 271.8 2656
Total additions 302.0 2837
Trarsfar fromanventarios (kote 2, page 135) - LRET
Disposals (Note 8) (60.2) 19.2)
Met valuation (losses)/gams on investment proper bies (68.8) 122G
Mot valuation gains on investment property reclassifcations (Nate 2. pa e 138) - 817
Closing balance 2,948.9 27752
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Information relating to the basis of valuation of investrment property, the use of external independent valueors, and the
judgermnerts and assumptions adopted by management 1s set out in Note 2 *Critical account:ng estimates and judgements’.
The valuation of investrment properly Lakes into account the prevailing market conditions as at the reporting date, inciuding
sustainability and chmate related considerations associated with the properties.

The histonical cost of the Group’s investrmoent property as at 30 September 2073 s £2,548.1m (2022: £2,315.0m).

Direct proporty repair and mantenance costs arising from investment property that generated rental income during the year
were £5 3m (2022: £4.4m).

17. Property, plant and equipment

Accounting policy

Property. plant and equipment are stated at cost less residual value and depreciation and comprise office leases, fixtures,
fittings and equipmenrt. Deprecialion is chargec to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated useflul
Ufe ranging from 3-5 years, with office leases depreciated over Lhe life of the lease.

18.Investment in associates

2023 20772

£m frm

Opening balance 16.7 155
Share of (loss) / profit for the year (0.1} 1.

Dividends paid in the year (0.8) -
Closing balance 15.8 167

The closing balance comprises share of net assets of £1.2m (2022; £2.7m) and net loans due from associates of L14.6m
{2022: £14 6m). At the balance sheet date, there is no expectation of any matenal credit losses on loans due,

As at 30 September 2023, the Group’s interest in active associates was as follows

% of ardinary share
cap.cal helt Country of ncarpoaration Accountirg peniod end

Vesta LP 200 LK 30 Soptemoer

In relation to the Group's investment in associates, the aggregated assets, liabilitics, revenues and profit or loss of associates is
shown helowe

2023 Summarised income statement

£m VestaLP
et rental income and other income 23
Administration and other expenses {0.5)
Operating profit 1.8
Revaluation loss an investment property {2.5)
Loss before tax {0.7)
Tax -
Loss after tax {0.7)

2023 Summarised statement of financial position

£m VestalP
Investment property 77.0
Current assets 3.0
Total assets 80.0
Current Liabilities {1.2)
Non-current habilities {72.5}
Total liabilities {73.7)
Net assets 6.3
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18.Investment in associates continued
2022 Summarised income statement

£ Vesta Ll
MNet rental income and other ‘ncome 2.2
Administration and otner expenses {2.3)
Operating profit 1.7
Revaluat on gains on investrent property 4.4
Profit before tax [l
Tax -
Profit after tax £

2022 Summarised staterment of financial position

f'r YesTa o
Investment property Esar
Current assets 57
Total assets 852
Current hanilities {17}
Non-currant liabilities (72,6}
Total liabilities (74 3)
Net assets 1.9
19.Investment in joint ventures
2023 2027
£m £
Opening halarce 385 254
Share of loss for the year (0.3} (1.7
Further investment’ 34.0 2
Loans advanced to ot ventures 3.0 4 4
Closing balance 75.2 385
I Crang=r e vemded 820 3 argCaracat by amber i kil raed e beyoan 2 2z tpd e
The closing balance comprises share of net assets of f46.9m (2022 £13 2m) and net loans due from joint ventures of
£28 3m (2022° £25.3m). At tne batance shoet date, there s no expectation of any matenal credit losses on loans due,
AL 30 September 2023, the Group's interest in active joint ventures was as follows:
Tt ordirsy share
capity. hed Cou-try of incorporauoar Accounting oerncd end
Cannected Living London (2 1R} Limited L LK 30 September
Curzon Park Linited S0 UK 31 March
Lewisham Gramger Haldings L1 P 50 UK 30 Septemboer
Inrelatien to the Group's Investment in joint ventures, tne aggregated asscts, Liabilitics, revenues and profit or loss are
snown below,
2023 Summarised income statement
Connected Lewisham
Living Londan Curzon Park Grainger
£m (BTR) Limited Limited Holdings LLP Totat
Ad-orinistration and other expanses (0.4) (0.1} {0.1) {0.8)
Loss before tax {0.4) {0.1) {0.1) {0.6)
Tar - - - -
Loss after tax {0.4) {0.1) {0.1) {0.6)
2023 Summarised statement of financial position
Investment property 88.5 - 10.2 98.7
Carrant assots 6.8 36.6 - 43.4
Total assets 95.3 36.6 10.2 142.1
Current Labilinies {2.8) (36.6) {10.5) (49.9})
Net assets 92,5 - (0.3} 92.2
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2022 Summarised income statement

Connected Lewisham
Living London Curzon Park Grainger
o {BTR} Limited Limited Holdings LLP Total
Administration and other expenses (3.3) - - 23
Loss before tax (3.3] - - 33
Tax - - - -
Loss after tax (33 - - 33
2022 Summarised statement of financial position
Investment property 256 - /G 32.0
Current asscts 573 367 - 420
Total assets 3G9 367 s 74.6
Current liabilities 47 {36 /) (7.2) (48.6)
Net assets 262 - 02y 20.0

20.Financial interest in property assets (‘\CHARM’ portfolio)

Accounting policy

The CHARM portfolio is a financial interest in equity mertgages held by the Church of England Pensions Board
as mortgagaec.

It s accounted for under IFRS 9 and is measured at fair value through profit and loss.

It s initially recognised at fair value and subsequently carried at fair value Subsequent tonitial recagnition, the net change
ir value recorded is as follows: i) cash received lrom Lhe instrument in the year is deducted from the carrying value of

the assets; and i} the carrying value of the assets is revised to the net present value of the updated projected cash flows
arising from the instrument using the effective interest rate applicable at acquisition. The change in vaiue arising from i)
above is recorded through the corsolidated income statement and i1s shown on the line ‘Income from financial interest in
property assets’.

2023 022

£m £

Operng balance 69.1 717
Cash received from the instrument {6.7) B6)
Amourts taken to ncome statemant 4.6 o0
Closing balance 67.0 691

The CHARM portfolio 1s considered to be a Level 3 finandial asset as defined by ITRS 13. The key assumptions used to value the
asset are set out within Note 2 ‘Critical accounting estimates and judgements’, and the financial asset is included within the fair
value hierarchy within Note 27

21.Intangible assets

Accounting policy
Intang ble assets comprise computer software and goodwill.

Costs incurred In relation to computer software that the Group has exclusive right of use to are capitalised and amertised on
a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the asscts from the date they are available for use The effective lifeis
assessed In accordance with the period that the Group expects benefits from its investment in fechnology to be consumed.
Amortisation 1s charged to the consolidated income statement

Costs incurred in relation to computer software that the Group does not have exclusive right of use to, including 1ts Software
as a Service 'SaaS) arrangements, are not accounted for as intangibxie assets. Corfiguration and customisation costs
Incurred prior to receiving services are prepaid and expensed to the Corsolidated Income Statement once the service isin
use. All other expenditure in relation to non-exclusive Saas is expensed to the Consolidated Income Statement as incurred

Goodwillis tested for impairment based on a value in use calculation at each reporting date.
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22.Inventories - trading property
Accounting policy

Tenanted residentiac propertics held-far-sale in the normal course of dusiness witnin the PRS and Reversionary segments
are snowr In the financial stalements as a current asset at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costinciudes legal and
surveying charges and introducer “ees incurred during acquisition together with improverment costs.

Legacy land and development property held withir the Other segment of the business are shown in tne financial statements
at the lower of cost and net realisable value

Cost represents the acquisimion price including legal and other professional costs associated with the acquisition together
with subseguent development costs net of amounts transfer-ed to costs of sale

Net realisable value is the expected sales proceeds that the Group expects on sale of a property or current markel vaiue net
of associated selling costs

2023 2022

£m £r

Opening Lalance 453.8 b 2
Additions 10.2 586
Transfor to mvestment groperty (Note 2, page 136) - (116 5}
Disposals (Note ) {70.8) (55
(Imparrmens)/reversal of imoairment of vyventores to nel real sahlo value (1.0} 1%
Closing balance 392.2 453 8

The clasing balance above reflects the lower of historical cost and net realisable value of inventory owred by the Group rather
than the current market value Market valuc s considered to be a more relevant reflection of the value of inventory awned by
the Group ke valuation of trading property in our EPRA NAY metrics take into account the prevailing market conditions as at
the reporting date, including sustainability and climate related considerations associated with the properties.

The segmental allocation of PRS, Reversionary and Development inventory, as weil as additiona’ information including their
market valae is detalod In Note 4

Information relating to the Juagements and assumptions adopted oy management in relation to inventories is set out in Note
2 *Critica, accounting est'mates and judgements' Itis not possible for the Group to identify whicn propertics will oe sold with'n
the next 12 menths. The size of the Group's property portfolio does result ina relatively predictab.e vacancy ~ate However,
ITs ot possible to predict inadvance the specihc properties that will become vacant As the Group expects to realise trading
property in ‘ts ordinary oporating cycle, it is shown as a curront asset in the consolidated statement of inancial position

Amodnts relating to inventories that Fave boer recognised as an oxpense in the consalidated income statement are as follows
€|

2023 Ay

£m fr

Carrying value of trading property sold {Note 7} 70.8 8510
Impa’ rment/irevessal of irpan rert of Inventones to net reatisable value 1.0 %3
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23. Trade and other receivables

Accounting policy

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
intcrest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment in trade receivables is established when thereis
an expectation of cash shortfalls cver the expected life of the amounts due. The movement in the provision is 1ecognisad in
the consolidated income statement.

2023 2022
£m £m
Rent and other tenant recevables 3.0 47
Deduct Provision far impairment {1.5) 15
Rent and other tenant receivables - net 1.5 3.2
Contract asscts - 1.5
Restricted depasits 10.2 143
Other raceivables 17.9 17
Prepayments 4.4 40
Closing balance 34.0 405

The Group's assessrment of expected credit losses involves estimation given its forward-looking nature This is not considered
to be an area of significant judgement or estimation due to the balance of gross rent and other tenant receivables of £30m
(2022: £47m). Assumptians used in the forward-looking assessment are continually reviewed to take into account likely

rent deferrals.

At the balance sheet date, there is no expectation of any matenal credit losses on contract assets

Restricted deposits arise from contracts with third parties that place restrictions on use of funds and cannot be accessed on
demand. These deposits are held in connection with facility arrangements and are released by the lender on a quarterly basis
cnce covenant compliance has been met.

The fair values of trade and other receivables are considered to be equal to their carrying amounts The credit quality of
financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired is discussed in Note 2/ 'Financial risk management and derivative
financial instruments’,

24. Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Accounting policy

Provisions are recagnised when i) the Group has a present obtigation as a result of a past eventiii) it 1s probable that an
outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and i) a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of
the obligation.

2023 ey
£m £m
Current provisions for other liabilities and charges
Opening balance B.6 2
Additions 0.3 27
Utilisation (0.3) N
8.6 86
Non-current provisions for other liabilities and charges
Opening balance 1.1 11
1.1 1.1
Total provisions for other liabilities and charges 9.7 97

Within current provisions. £8.6m (2022 £8 6m) has been provided for patential fire safety remediation costs relating to a small
number of legacy properties that Grainger historically had an involvement in developing and may require fire safety related
remediation works Where appropriate, the Group is seeking recoveries from contractors and insurers which may reduce the
overall lability over time.
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25. Trade and other payables

Accounting policy

Trade and other payables are recognised inttialy at farr value and sabsequently measured at amortised cost using the
cffective interest method. Refer to Nete 35 for accounting policy in relation to lease Labilities

2023 o2l
Em o
Current liabilities

Deposits received 10.7 107
Trade payables 15.9 228
Lease liabilities (Mote 35} 0.2 0.8
Tax and sowal security costs 3.0 a7
Accruals 81.9 038
Deferred incoms 9.0 7.7
120.7 105 3

Non-current liabilities
Lease iabilities (Note 35) 6.9 22
6.9 32
Total trade and other payables 127.6 108 7

Within accruals, £6C.2m comprises accrued expenditure in respect of ongoing conslruction activities (2022: £43.0m).

26. interest-bearing loans and borrowings

Accounting policy

Borrowings are initially recognised at the farr vaiue of consideration received. net of transaction costs incurred
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemnotion value is recognised in the consolidated income statement over tae period of the borrowings using the
offective interest method.

Borrowings are classificd as current Uabilittes unless the Group has an anconditional right to defer settlement of the lability
for at least 12 manths after tne consolidated statement of financial poesition date.

2023 202
Em £
Current liabkilities

Banx loans - Pounds Sterlng - 400
- 40.0

Non-current liabilities
Bank lodans - Pounds Sterling 490.1 27572
Bank loans - Buros 0.9 0.2
MNon-bank financial institution 3473 3472
Corpotate bonds 695.2 6943
1,533.5 1.317.6
Closing balance 1,533.5 13276

(a) Bankloans

Sterling bank loans inciuge vanable rate lcans bearing interest at rates betweer 1.5% and 1.8 above SONIA anc Suro bank
loans include variable -ate loans bearing interast at arate of 1.6% above EURIBOR. Gross bank loans of £459.2m are due "o
mature in the year ended 30 September 2028, witk a furthe £40.C maturing in the year ended 30 Seotember 2029,

The weighted average variable ntercst rate on 2ank .0ans as at 30 Septemner 2023 was 6.8% (2022, 3.4%). Bank loars are
secured by fixed and floating charges over specitc proparty and other assets of the Greup

Unamra-tised costs in relatior <o pank loans of £8 2m {2022: £8.1m) wall be amortised aver the Ufe of the loans to when
thay relate

Durning tne year tha Grouo exerc sad cptions to exterd the maturnity dates on certaim oank loans by onea year Thea extension of
maturity dates has been deerred o be a non-substartial modification
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(b) Mon bank financial instituticn
£350 0m is funded by fixed rates loans from Rothesay Life PLC across three tranches: £75 Om maturing July 2026, £75.0m
maturing October 2027 and £200 0m maturing July 2029,

The weighted average interest rate on non-bank loans as at 30 September 2023 was 2.4% (2022: 2.4%) Unamortised costs in
relation to these fixed rate loans of £2.7m (2022: £2.8m) will be amortised over the life of the loans to which they relate.

(c) Carporate bonds
In 2018, the Group 1ssuad a ten-year £350.0m corporate bond at 2.375% due April 2028. In 2020, the Group 1ssued a ten-year
£350 0m corporate bond at 3.0% due July 2030.

As at 30 September 2023 unamortised costs in relation to the corporate bonds stood at £2.9m {2022 £3.5m), and the
outstanding discount was £1.9m (2022: £2 2m).

(d) Other loans and borrowings information

The above analyses of lwans anc borrowings are nat of unamortised toan issue costs and the discount on issuance of the
corporate bonds As at 30 September 2023, unamortised costs totalled £13.8m (2022: £14.4m) and the cutstanding discount
was £1.9m (2022, £2.2m).

Im accordance with I1AS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, the Group is required to detail any changes in liabilities that arise from
financing activites throughout the year. These changes are detailed below

2023 FLov
Derivatives used for Der vatives ased for
hedging the liabitities redgng tre gaaliney
from financing fram fnanang
activities activr s
Leans and Interest _3ans i Interest
£m borrowings payable Assets  Liabilities boricw rgs payable Assets Lol e
Opening balance 1,357.6 9.0 56.5 - 1,347 5 2.8 - 4.5
Changes from finanang cash flows
Proceeds from loans and borrowings 330.0 - - - 142 - - -
Repayment of borrowings {155.0} - - - {09 - - -
Transachion costs related to loans,
borrowings and derivatives {2.3) - 4.9 - e 1; - 137 -
Total changes from financing cash flows 172.7 - 4.9 - /2 - 137 45
Other changes
Gross interest acerued - 47.2 - - - 42.2 - -
Grass interest paid - {46.9) - - - (42.0) - -
Arnortisation of borrowing costs net of preniums 3.2 - - - 2.9 - - -
Cnanges in fair vatue of dervatives through
hedging rescrve - - {16.1} - - - 428 (4.5}
Total other changes 3.2 0.3 {16.1) - 2.5 02 428 (4.5}
Closing balance 1,533.5 9.3 45.3 - 1,357 6 90 L b -
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27. Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments

Accounting policy
Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash cquivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other shart-term highly Lguid
investments with onginal matuntios of throe months or loss Demand ceposits that canrot be accessed and have restrictions
onuse arsng from contracts with third parties are reflected in trade and other receivabies

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative instrumients to help manage its ‘nterest rate risk In accordance with its treasury policy, the Group
docs not hold or issue derivatives for trading surposes. Der'vat'ves are classifiedl as current assets and curront liabilities

The derivat ves are recognised initially at fair value. Subsequently, the gain or tass on re-measurement to fair value is
recognised immediately in tne consolidated income statement, urless the derivatives qualify for cash flow Fedge accounzting,
and have been designated as such. in which case any gar or loss is taken to equity in a cash flow hadge reserve via other
comprehensive income.

In order to qualify for hecge accounting. the Group is required to document in advance the relationship betweer the item
beng hedged and the hedging instrument The Group s also required to demonstrate that the hedge will be highy effective
on a1 on-gaing basis. This effectiveness testing 1s re-performed at each period end to onsure tnat the hodage remains

highly effective,

Wnen a hedaing imstrument expires or 15 sold, or wher a nedge no longer meets the ¢ritena for hedge accounting, any
cumulative gair or loss existing in egquity at that Lime ‘s immediately transferred te the consclidated income staternent.
Fair value estimation

The fair values of interest rate derivatives are based on a discounted cash tlow model using nrarket informaticon

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Derecognitior 1s the paint at wnich the Group romaoves ar asset or bability from its consolidates statement o financial

positior, The Groap's policy is 1o derecogn se financral assels only when the contractual right ta tae cash flows from the

financial assel expires The Group also derecogrises financial assets that it transfers to another party provided that the

transfer of the asset also transfers the right ta receive cash flaws from the finarcal asset When the transfor does not result ‘
in the Group transferring the right to roceve cash flows from the financial asset bat it does result 1 the Grodp assuming a
corresponding obligation to pay cash flows to another recipient, the financal asset is dereccgnised

The Group derecognises inancial Labilities only when s obligation is discnarged, is cance.led or expires.

Firancial assets classifGed as fair value through proft and loss (previously avallable for-sale) are the financial mterest in
properly assels.

Derivative financial instrumenls not in hedge accounting relat.onships are classified as farr value through profit and loss.

Categories of financial instruments
Asumimary of the ¢lassiiicabons of the Francial assets and la% bties neld by the Group « set out in the following tabte:

2023
Loans and Assets at
receivables/ fair value
cash and through Derivatives Other
cash profit and used for financial Total book Fair value
£m equivalents loss hedging assets value adjustment Fair value
Non-current assets
Financial interast ' procerty assots - 67.0 - - 67.0 - 67.0
Current assets
Trade ana other recvablos
exLUQING Prepayrents 29.6 - - - 29.6 - 29.6
Cash and cash eguivalents 121.0 - - - 121.0 - 121.0
Dervatve financ al instruriorts - - 45.3 - 45.3 - 45.3
Total financial assets 150.6 67.0 45.3 - 262.9 - 2629
Loansand Liabilities at Other
receivables/ fair value financial
cash and through Derivatives  liabilities at
cash profit and used for amortised Total book Fair value
£m equivalents loss hedging cost value  adjustment Fair value
Non-current {iabilities
Trads anu other payables - - - 6.9 6.9 - 6.9
literest-beanng loans and Borrowngs - - - 1,533.5 1,533.5 (182.1) 1,351.4
Current liabilities
T-ade and othe: pavables - - - 120.7 120.7 - 120.7
Total financial liabilities - - - 1,661.1 1,661.1 (182.1) 1,472.0
Net financial assets/{liabilities) 150.6 67.0 45.3 (1,661.1) (1,398.2) 182.1 (1,216.1)
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227
Loans and Assets at
rocewvaklos,” “air valua
e Aastand thraugh Cermatives {ror
cash profit anc usee for finaczial Total ook Fairwa uc
Em 2quivalants loss hedging azsets vaiue adjusliment Fair value
Non-current assets
Financial interest in property assets - 59.1 - - 6591 - 651
Current assets
Irade and other receivables
axcludmng prepaymaents 365 - - - 305 - 65
Cash and cash eguivalents 359 - - - 959 - 949
Dervative financiai instruments - - 565 - 55,0 - 565
Total financial assets 132.4 659.1 56 5 - 258.0 - 2530
Lgars and dabltesat Qther
recorsables) fan value francial
cashand through Denvatives Lalnlities at
cash profit and used far amartised lotal bock I air vulue
Im equivalents less kedaing TOST Va.Le adjustrment tairvalue
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payabics - - - 22 22 - 2.2
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings - - - 1,017 6 131786 (2630} 10546
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables - - - 1259 1059 - 1045 G
Derpvative financial iInstruments - - - 40.0 40.0 - 0.0
Total financial liabilities - - - 14657 14657 (263.0] 1.202.7
Net financial assets/{liabilities) 1324 6591 b5 o 1.AGS 7) (1,207 7) 2630 (944.7)

The fair value differerce relates to the Group's corparate bonds and the non-bank loans. which are stated al amortised cost in
Lhe consolidated statement of financial position. The fair value of the bonds is calculated as £576.4m (2022, £523.9m) based
on quoted prices in traded rmarkets. The farr value of the ron-bank loans 1s calculated as £291.6m (2022 £263.1m) and is
calculated by independent financial advisers (Centrus Group) by reference to quoted iBoxx index rates. There 1s no requirement
under IFRS @ to revalue these woans to fair value in the censolidated statement of financial position

Included in cash above 1s £12.8m (2022 £14.5m) retating to cash held on behalf of tenants, leaseholders and clients comprising
service charge and sinking fund balances, tenant deposits and cash held on behalf of joint ventures. These cash amounts

are held by the Group in clicnt bank accounts and are excluded from net debt. In addition, £4.7rn {2022: £8.6m} of the cash
balance is restricted in use, either by underlying inancing arrangements or other commercial agreements comprising either
reserve fund amounts or amounts where the release of cash is cantingent upon proof of qualifying expenditure or quarterly
cash waterfalls

Financial risk management

The Group's abjectives for managing financial risk are to minimise the risk of adverse effects on performance and to ensure the
ability of the Group to continue as a going concern while sccuring access to cost effective finance and rmaintaining flexibility to
respond quickly to opportunitics that arise.

The Grouap's poticies on financial risk management are approved by the Board of Directors and implemented by Group treasury
Written policies and procedures cover interest rate risk, credit risk, the use of derivative and non-derivative financial instruments
and investment of excess liquidity. Group treasury regularly reports to the Audit Committee.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to financial risk but does not take positions for
spcculative purposes.

The sources of financial risk and the policies and activities used to mitiyate each are discussed below and include credit risk,
liquidity risk and market risk, which includes interest rate risk, credit avaitlability risk. house price risk in relation to the Triconrm
Housing portfolio and cur financial Interest in property assets, and capital risk

Financial risk factors

1) Credit risk

Credit risk I1s the risk of financial loss due 1o a counterparly’s failure to honour its ebligations. The Group’s principal financial
assets incwude its inancal interest in property assets, bark balances and cash, trade and other receivables and derivative
financial instruments. The carrying amount of inancal assets recorded in the financial statements represents the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit nsk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained,

The Group’s financial interest in properly assets (CHARM) relates Lo a financial interest in equity mortgages held by the Church
of England Pensions Board. The Group's cash receaipts are payable by the Church Commissicners, a counterparty considered

to be low risk as they have no history of past due or impaired amounts and there are no past due armounts outstanding at the
year end.
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27. Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued

The Groun someatimes enters nto land sales contracts under which a proportion of the consideration s deferred and recognised
within othor receivables (Note 23) Each purchaser is suoject to ‘mnancial due diligerce prior to sale. At 30 September 2023, £ril
(2022 £017m) was cutstanding

The Group also has credit r sk relating to trade recevables. Under IFRS 9, the Group 1s required to provide far ary expected
credit iosses ansing from trade receivables. For all assured shorthold tenancics. credit enecks are performed orior to
acceptance of the tenant Regulated tenants are incentivised through the benefit of their tenancy ag-eoment to avoid acfault
on ther rent Lifetime tenancies are generally at low or zero ment and nence suffer minimal cred 't risk Rent deposits and
perscnal guarantecs are neld in respect of some leases. Taking these factorsinto account, the nsk to the Group of individual
terant defauit ana the credit risk of trade rece’vaues are considered ow, as 1 borne out by the low lovel of trads recevables
written off Sothar this year and in prior years

Tenant deposits of £94m (2022 £8.2m) are held that provide sorre secur ty against rental arrears and property dilaoications
caused by the tenant, The Graup dgoes not hold any other collateral as security Of the net trace receivables balance of £7.5m.
wo carsider £ril to be not due and not impaired Al of the £17.9m other recelvables balance are considered not due and

not impaired

As at 30 September 2023, tenant arrears of £1 5m within trade receivables were impaired and fully provided for (2022 £1.5m)
The ‘mpaired receivables are based on a revicw of expected crodit losses, which is dotailed in Note 23, Impaired receivables
and recovables rot considered to be imparred are not material to the finarcal statements and, therefora, no further analysis
15 prov ded.

The credit risk on liquid funds and derivative finarcial instruments is managed through the Group's policies of monitoring
counterparty exposure, manitoring the concentration of credit risk through tne use of multiple counterparties ard tho usc
of counterparties of goad financial standing. At 30 September 2023, the farr value of all interest rate derivatives thal had a
positive value was £45.3m (2022 £56.5m).

AL 30 Septemnbor 2023, the combined credit exposure arising from cash held at banks, money market deposits and interest rate
swaps was £ 166 3m (2027 £152 4m), which ropresents 4.5% (2027 41 3%} of total asscts. Deposits were placed with financial
institutions with A- or better credit ratings.

The Groap has the following cash and cash equ valents

2023 S22

£m e

Pounds Starling 120.0 91.8
Euros 1.0 11
121.0 BERS

Al the year end, £79 6m was placed on deposit i 2022 £42.5m) al effective interest rates between 1.5% and 4.6% (2022. 0 1%
and 2.2%). Remaming cash and cash eqdivalents are he.d as cash at bank o in band, The Group has an averdra®t faolity of
E10nvas at 30 Septeiber 2023 (2022, £1 0my

2} Liquidity risk
The Group ensures that it maintains continuity and flexioility through a spread of maturities.

Although the Group’s care funding is subject to covenants requiring certa r levels of LTV with respect to the enuties in the
Group of obligors, and to maintain.ng a certar level of interest cover at the Greup level, the loans are not securec directly
against any property allowing cperational flexikility

The Group ensures that it mamtains sufficent cash for eperational reguirements at all tiries. 7ne Group also ensures that it
has sufficient undrawn comm tted norrowing facilities from a diverse range of banks and other sources to alow for operational
“exiblity ard to mect committed expenditure The ousinass is tughly cash generative from its sales of vacant properties. gross
rents and maragement fees ir adverse trading conaitions, tenanted anc cther sales can be ingreased and new acguizit’'ons can
be stopped. Consequanty. the Group 's able tereduce geanng (L) leves and immprove Liguid Ty gu'ckly

Tne Group's credit rating is carrenty provded by Fitch and S&F Fitce and S&P's most recent assessments on the Group

were issued ir une 2023, Fitch assigred the Group a long-termissuar default rating of ‘BEE-" and the Group's Carpaorate
Bonds' senior sacured issuc ratings of *BBB’ S&2 a*firrred the Group's long-term issuer default rating of B8+ and the Group's
Corporate Bonds™ senior securec issJde ratings o 'BBE . Both Fitch & $&7 assigned the Group’s credit outlook as "Stab e’

The Group’s stable credit outlosk suggosts toerz s currently very little risk of a credit rating downgrade to the Group.

The Group montors cat ng agency metrics to ensure wo maintaim or mprove upan the Grodap’s current credit ratings.

Ir the event of & credit rating dowrgrade, there may be an increase in the coupon payable on the Group's Corporate Bongs
shauld the senior secured 1ssue rating fall below BBB- This could result inanincrease in the Group's annual intarest chargo of
£87m Howover, the coupon woud revers 1o the orig na. coupor payable shou.d the credit rating ~ecover to BER- or higher,

This increase M interest costs would also affect the Group's Interest cover anancial covenant, However there ‘s significant
heacrcom on our facility financial covenanis and the Group has determired that we woulcd remain compliant and retain
significant covenant headroom despite this increase in interest costs No other debt facilities or inancial covenanls of the Group
would be affected by a credit rat ng downgyrade.
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Cortain borrovangs and facililes qare sbructured as ESG funding comprising of cither green loans or sustamnability-linked finance.
As at the year end, £125m of the Groups fac’lities are Linked to FSG requirements of which £50m are designated as green {oans
and £75m are sustainability-linked finance. Green lcan allocations are made on a use-of-proceeds basis where investment
outcomes are expected Lo achieve certain minimum EPC ratings. Sustainability-linked facilities include targets to achieve
certain EPC targets in the Groups PRS portfolio As at the year end, the green loans were fully allocated, and all targets under
the sustainability-linked facilitics are being met. Achieving these targets resuits in the Group recciving a margin benefit on
borrewings under ther respective loans and facilitics. In the event of not achieving a target, the Group may experience a similar
margin penalty. As at the year end, the maximum possible penalty for missing a target could result in a further finance charge
of less than £0 Trm.

The Group's fixed -ate borrowings are stated at amortised cost in the inancial statements and there is currently no requircment
undaer IFRS 9 to revalue these borrowings in the financial statements of the Group. Therefore, there would be no ‘mpact to the
Group's measurement of borrowings in the event of a credit rating downgrade

in accordance with IFRS 13, the Group measures derivatives at fair value includirg the effect of counterparty credit risk.

Where derivatives have been designated in a cash flow hedge relationship, the Group carries out hedge effectiveness testing

in azcordance with IFRS 9. In the event of a credit rating cowngrade, there may be an impact on the fair valuc of the Group’s
derivative contracts as the ¢redit guality of the Group decreases which may give rise to a requirement to recognise some hedge
ineffectiveness in the financial statements However, in accordance with hedge effect’veness requirements under IFRS 9, credit
valuation adjustments included in the measurement of dernivative fair values would need to dominate movements in far value
before creating hedge ineffectiveness. The Group does not consider that a crodit rating downgrade will impact derivative fair
values and give rise to a material level of hedge ineffectiveness.

The following table analyses the Group’s inancial liabilities and net-settled derivative financial liabilities at the consolidateo
staterment of inancial position date into relevant maturity groupings based on the remaming period to the contractual
maturity date The amounts disclosea in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows using yield curves as at

30 September 2023,

Between Between
Less than 1and Zand More than
£m 1 year 2 years 5 years 5 years Total
At 30 September 2023
Interest-bearing loans and borrawings (Nate 26} - - 9445 589.0 1,533.5
Interest on berrowings 66.2 63.6 172.7 25.2 327.7
[nterest on derivatives (20.9) {11.6) {18.5) {0.2) (51.2)
'rade and other payables 120.7 1.2 0.7 5.0 127.6
At 30 Septermnber 2022
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings (Note 26} 400 - 3245 9731 1,357 &
Interest on borrowings 537 h3.9 137.6 2.0 2912
Interest on derivatives 2.6 [16.9) {(23.2) (15) (51 2}
Trade and otner payables 105.9 22 - - 1581
The Group's undrawn committed borrowing facilities are monitored against projected cash flows.
Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities
2023 2022
fm tm

Expiring

Between one and two years - -
Between two and five years 415.8 59C 8
Over five years - _

415.8 59C.8

3) Market risk

The Group 1s exposed to market risk through interest rates, the availability of credit and house price movements relating to the
Tricomm Housing portfolio ana the CHARM portfolic The approach the Group takes to cach of these risks is set out below.
The Group is not significantly cxposed to equity price risk or to commodity price risk

Fair values

[FRS 13 sels out a three-tier hierarchy for financial assets and liabilities valued at fair value These are as follows:

= Lovel 1 - quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

e Lovel 2 - inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, cither directly or
indirectly: and

= Level 3 - uncbservable inputs for the assel or Uability
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
{CONTINUED}

27. Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued
The following table presents the Group's assets and labilities that are imeasured at fair value:

2023 2573
£m Assats Liabilities Asniots Ldbalties
Level 3
CHARM 67.0 - £9.1 -
nvestient property 2,948.9 - 27759 -
3,015.9 - 2.845.0 ~
Level 2
Interest rale swaps - in cash flow Fedge accounting relaucnships 45.3 - 225 -
45.3 - 56y ~

The significant unobservable mputs affecting the carrying value of the CHARM portfol'o are house price inflation and discount
rates Assumpticns usedq are detaied in Note 2 and reconcilianion of movements and amcunts recognised in Lhe consolidated
income statemenrt are detal'ed in Note 20.

The investment valuations provided by Allsep LLP and CBRE Limited are basad on the RICS Professional Valuation Standards,
but include a number of unobservable inputs and other valuation assumptions and are detailed in Note 2.

The fair value of swaps and caps werce valucd in-house by a speaalised treasury management system, using a discounted cash
flow model and market information The fair value is derved from the present value of future cash flows discounted at rates
obtained by means of the current yield curve appropnate for those instruments. As all s'gnificant inputs required to value the
swaps and caps are observabie, they au fall within Level 2

Intorest rate swaps and caps arce all classified as either current assets or current babilities

The notional principal amount of the outstandirg intorest rate swap and cap contracts as at 30 September 2023 was
LA27 Am (2022 £283 3m)

i accordance with [FRS 9, the Group has reviewsd 1ts interest rate hedges. In the absence of hedge accounting, movements

in fair value are taken directly to the consolidated income statement. However, where cash flow hedges have been viewed as
heing effective, and have been designated as such. any gains or losses nave been taken to the cash Mow hedge rescrve via other
comprehansive Income

The reconcitiabion botween opening and ciosing balarces for Level 315 detailed in the table balow,

2023 07
Assets —Level 3 fm in
Qpening balance 2,845.0 22503
Amounts taken o rcaime statemoenrt (64.2) 21¢ 2
Other movemsnts 2351 3773
Closing batance 3,015.9 28450

The following assets and labilitics are excluded from tho above table as far vatue is not the accounting basis for the Group's
fnancial statements, but 1s the basis for the Croun’s EPRA NRY, EPRA NTA and EPRA NDV measures.

2023 PISEY]
fn- AL LN b e Clasarfizationd tar a Baok value Fair value Houn waluc < .
Inventories — trading property 1ovier of cost ard =ot
realsahe value Lesel 2 392.2 7343 a53.8 a:30
Corporate bonds Armortised cost Leval 700.0 576.4 1000 230
Non-bank leans Amartised cost Leyvel 3 350.0 291.6 3500 2630

(a) Interest rate risk -~ The Group’s interest rate <isk anses from the risk of fuctuatiors ininterest charges on floating rate
borrawings The Group mitigates this risk through the use of vaniable to fixed interest rate swaps and caps This subjects the
Group te fair value sk as the value of tne finarcal dervatives fluctuates in Line with vanations ininterest rates Howcever, the
Group secks to cash fiow hedge account whors applicalbie The Group s, however, driven oy commaercial considerations wehan
hedging its inlerest rate nak anda is not driver by the stnct requirements of the hedge accourting rules under IFRS G if this is Lo
the getrimert of ach eving the best commercal arrangement.

Heaging activities are carried cut under the torms of tho Group's hedging pobicies ard a-e regularly reviewed by the Board to
ensure compliance vith thus nolicy. The Board reviews 1ts policy on interest rate exposure regularly with a view Lo establishing
that it is still relevant in the prevacling and forecast econgmic emviranirent. The current Group treasury pohicy s to mairtain
floating rate exposure of ne greater than 30% of expected borrowing. As at 30 Septerrber 2023, 95% (2022 97%) of the
Group’s gross borrew ngs were cconarmically Fedged to frea or capped rates.

Based on the Group's interest rale profile at 1ne statemrent of inancal postion aate, 3 19 nise innieres! rales would decrease
arnual profits by £0.5m (2022: £0.3m), Similarly. a 1% fall woula increase annual profits by £0.5m (2022: £0.3m).
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Based on the Group's interest rate profile at the staterment of financial pnsition date, a 1% increase in interest rates would
increase the Group's equity by £11.3m (2022: £717.2m). Simitarly, a 19 fall wou.d decrease the Group’s equity by 17 2m
(2022 £11.2m;.

Upward movernents in medium and long-torm interest rates, asscaatod with higher interest rate expectation, increase the
value of the Group's interest rate swaps that provide protect’on against such moves. The converse is true for downward
movernents in the interest yield curve Where the Group's swaps qualify as effective hedges under IFRS 9, these movements in
fair value are recognised directly in other comprehensive income rather than the consolidated ircome statement.

As at 30 Septomber 2023, the market value of donvatives designated as cash flow hedges under IFRS 9 is a net asset of £45.3m
(2022° £56 5m) No amount is recognised within the incorme statermnent for ineffectiveness of cash flow hedges (2022: fnit)

The fair value movement on derivatives not In hedge accounting relationships resulted in a charge of £nil {2022 £nil} in the
consolidated income statement.

AL 30 September 2073, the market value of dervatives not designated as cash flow hedges under IFRS 915 £nil (2027 fril).
The cash flows cccur and enter in the determinaton of profit and loss until the malurity of the hedged debt

The table helow summarises debt hedaed

Hedged debt
2023 022
fm £m
Hedged debt maturing
Within one year - -
Botween one and two years - -
Between two and five years 387.4 2833
Qver five yaars 40.0 -
427.4 2833
Interest rate profile - including the effect of der'vatives and amortisation of 1ssue costs
2023 2022
Weighted Weighted
average average
interest Average Gross debt nterest Ayerage Grows debt
rate maturity Sterling Euros total rate maturity Sterling Eurcs total
% years' £ £in £m A il s £ b tm
Fixedrate 3.1 5.4 1,050.0 - 1,050.0 3.1 6.4 10500 - 10508
Hedged rate 28 4.9 427.4 - 427.4 3.5 4.7 2833 - 2833
Variable rate 7.2 4.9 709 0.9 71.8 4.0 4.7 400 04 409
3.2 5.2 1,548.3 0.9 1,549.2 3.2 5.6 13733 03 1,374.2
T A ayerratont, eers eclad g orenson o0uans Inthidimg exlEnan o an- b the exlateon Lo be gy agreedbeiweor (ne Gooup and the erdars Lig agerage matunly

yrars = b byaars (2022 b years

At 30 September 2023, the fixed interest rates on the interest rate swap contracts vary from 0 36% to 1.51% (2022- 0 69% tc
2 00%;); the weighted average rates are shown in the table above.

(b) Credit availability risk - Credit availability risk relates to the Group's ability to refinance its borrowings at the end of their
terms or to secure additional financing where necessary The Group maintains relationships with a diverse range of lenders
and maimntains sufficient headroem through cash and committed borrowings. On 30 September 2023, the Group had available
headroom of £518 7m, with the next dobt maturity not until April 2026, although extension options are available to extend this
by a further year.

(c) House price risk - The cash fiows arising from the Group's financial interest in property assets (CHARM} and the Tricomm
Housing portfolio are related to the movemert in value of the underlying property assets and, therefore, arc subject

to moverments in house prices However, consistent with the Group’s approach to house price risk across its portfolic of
trading and investment properties, the Group does not seek to eliminate this rick as it is a fundamental part of the Group’s
business model.

{d) Capital risk management — The Board manages the Group's capital through the regular revicw of cash flow projections;
the ability of the Group to meet contractual commitments; covenant tesls; dividend cover; and gearing {LTV"). The current
capital structure of the Group cornprises a mix of debt and equity. Debt is typically both current and non-current interest-
bearing loans and borrowings as set out in the consclidated statement of financial position. Equity comprises issued share
capital, reserves and retained earnings as set out in the consolidated statement of changes in eguity.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(CONTINUED)

27. Financial risk management and derivative financial instruments continued

Group loans and borrewings have associated covenant requirements with respect to LTV and ICR. The covenants operate
on a facility by facility basis, with max mum LTV ranges between 70% - 75% and m'nimum ICR cover of 135x - 1.75x% As at
30 Soptember 2023. the minimam headrecom based on individual facilities s a 28.5% increasen LTV and 41 5% reductionr
ICR. At the year end. Group LTV was 36.8% (see page 180 for calculation) and Group ICR was 4 1x.

“he Board reqularly reviews all current and pro,ected future levels to monitor anticipated compliance ana available headroom
against key thresholds. _TV 1s reviewed in the context of the Boara's vicw of markets. the prospects of, and risks relating to, the
portfolic and the recuring cash flows of the business. The Grous deems ararge of LIV of up to 452% to be appropriate in the
medum term

The G-oup monitors i1ts cost of debt and Weighted Average Cost of Capital (WACC) on a regular basis. At 30 September 2023,
the weighted average cost of debt was 3 3% (2022: 2.19%). [vvestment and development epportunities are evaluated using a ris<
adjusted WACC in order to ensuie long-torm Sharehelder value is created

28. Pension costs

Accounting policy

i) Defined contribution pension scheme - Gbligations for contributions to defined centribution pension schemes are
recognised as an oxpense In the income statement in the penod to which they relate

i) Defined beneht pension scheme - The Group currently contrnibutes to a defined benefit pension schemre that was closed
to new mombers and future accrual of benefitsin 2003 The full deficit in the scheme was recognisec in the statement of
financal pos'teon as at 1 October 2004,

An actuarial valuation of the schemc is carried out every three years The cost of proviaing benef.ts s determirad using
the Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuaral vaiuations being carried cut at each consolidated staterment of financial
position date by a qualified actuary, for the purpose of getermining tne amounts to be reflected 1n the Group's financial
statements upder JAS 19

[he defined benefit obligation is valued by projecting the best estirrate of future benefit outgoings (allowing for future
salary increases for active members, revaluation to retirement for deferred members and annual pension increases for all
membars) anc then discounting to the consolidated staterrent of finandial posiuon date

The pension scheric assets comprise mvestments in bonds ard cash, managec by Rathbones Investmaort Managemaent
Limited and insurance policies managed by Friends Life Thesc assets are measured at fair value in the statement of
financial position

The amount shown in tae statement of Anancal positon is the net of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and
the fair value of the scheme assets Whon thereis a surolus the Group considers the requirements of IFRIC 14 ard whether
there s econam ¢ bereht avalable as a refund of this surplus, or through a reduction in future contributions. When an
unconditional right to future ecoromic beneft exists. there is no restricucr on the amount of surplus recognised

There are no current or past sorvice costs as the scheme s closed to now membeers and future accrual. The net interest
amount. calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit liabiiity, is reflected in the income statement
each yoar

Actuarial gains and losses net of deferred income tax are reflected 'n other comprehensive income cach year.

(a) Defined contribution scheme

The Group operates a defined contrbution pension scheme for its employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of tne Group in indeperdently admin stered funds. The Group has no legal or conslructive obligations to pay further
contributions if the funds do not hold sufficent assets to pay all emoloyees the benefits relating to employee service in the
current and prior perods Pensicn arrangements for Directors are disclosed in the repor? of the Remuneration Commitiee

ard the Directors’ Remuneration repert or pages 33 to 111 The pension cost charge in these finarcial statements represents
contrbutions payable by tho Group

Tae charge of £1.5rm (20220 £1.4m s roluded witnin emuloyes remaneration in Nate 10.
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{b)} Defined benefit scheme

in addition to the above, the Group also operates a final salary defined bensfit persion scheme, the BPT Retirernent Benefits
Scherme The assets of the scheme are held separately in funds administered by Trustoes and are invested with Rathbones
Investment Management Limited, an independent investment manager. Pension benefits are linked to the members’ final
pensionable salaries and service at their retirement date (o1 date of leavirg if earlier] The Trustees are responsible for running
the scheme in accorcance with the scheme’s trust deed and rules, which sets cut their powers The Trustees of the scheme
arc required to act in the bestinterests of the benefciaries of the scheme, There s a requirement that at least ene-third of the
T-ustees are nominated by the members of the scheme.

There are three categories of pension scheme members

« Active members: currently emptoyed by the Group. No benefits have accruea since 30 June 2003, although active members
retan a final salary link

¢ Deferred members: former employees of the Group

« Pensioner members: in receipt of pension

The defined bencfit obhligation s valued by projecting the best est mate of future benefit payments (allowing for future salary

increases for active members. revaluation to retirement for deferred members and annual pension increases for all members;

and then discounting to the statement of finarcial position date 11 the period up to retirement, benefits receive increases

Linked to Consurmer Prices index (‘CPI') inflation (subject to a cap of no more than 5% p.a.). After rebirement, benelits receive

fixed increases of 5% p.a. The valuation method used is known as the Projected Unit Credit Methed. The approximate overall
duration of the scheme’s defined benefit cbligation as at 30 September 2023 was 16 years.

The |AS 19 calculalions for disclosure purposes have been based upon the results of the actuanal valuation carried out as at
1 July 2022, updated to 30 September 2023, by a qualiied independent actuary.

i) Principal actuarial assumptions under 1AS 19 (p.a.)

2023 KieE)

% %,

Discount rate 5.6 50

Retal Price Index (RPIY inflatior 3.5 38

Consumer Prices Index {CPI'1inflation 2.8 3.0

Salary increases 4.0 4.3

Kate of Increase of pensions in payment 5.0 5.0

Rate of increase for deferred pensioners 2.8 3.0
i) Demographic assumptions

2023 027

Martality tables for pensioners S3PA base tables CMI 2022 mortality S2PA base tables CMI 2021 mortality

projections 1.25% p.a. long-term rate projections 1 25% pa long-teom rate

Maortality tables for non-pensicners As for pensioners &5 for pensioners,

iii) Life expectancies

30 September 2023 30 September 2022

Male Female Male Female

Life expectancy for a current 60-year-old [years) 86 8% a5 29

Life expectancy at age 50 for an indrvidual aged 45 (years) 87 90 27 90

Risks

Through the scheme, the Group 15 exposead to a number of risks:

« Changes in band yields: a decrease in corparate bond yields would increase the fair value of the scheme's defined
beneht obligation.

= Asset volatility: the scheme invests in Government and highly rated corpaorate bonds, the value of which fluctuate,
par licula-ly in response to movements in market interest rates.

« Credit Risk: the scheme’s assels are primarily UK government and highly rated corporate debt through which the Group is
exposed to the credit risk of these highly rated counterparties,

« Inflation risk: some of the scheme's defined benefit obligationiis linkec to inflation, therefore higher inflation wall result in a
higher defined benefit obligation (subject to the appropriate caps N place). The scheme holes a proportion of index-linked
gilts in its asset portfolio to partially mitigate this risk.

+ Life expectancy: if scheme members live longer than expected, the scheme’s benefits will need to be paid for longer,
increasing the scheme’s defined benefit obligation.
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28.Pension costs continued
The Trustees and Group manage risks ir the scheme through the following strategies:
« Investmenl slrategy: the Trustees regularly review the investment strategy and in 2023 undertoox a rebalancing of the

portfal.o to secure a surplus funding position through the purchase of a portfolio of nominal and Index-linked Goverrment
and highly rated corporate debt that's expected to closely nurror future changes in the scherne liabilities.

« Diversification: investrments ir cornorate debt are diversified, such that the fa'lure of any single investment wou:e 1ot have a
material impact on the overall level of assets

Market value of scheme assets

The assets of the schome arc invested in a diversified portfouo as foilows:

30 September 2023 30 Septerrler 2022

Market value % of total I 3rhet vl A oof tete.

£m scheme assets £ st nem=acsets

Fauities - - 125 2

Bonds 24.0 84 1./ 37

Cash 2.6 9 18 7

insu'ance po.cies 20 7 273 3

Total value of assets 28.6 100 288 100
[he actualreturn on assels over the y2ar was 0.7 1.2

Tha assets of the scheme are held with Rathbones Irvestmoent Management Limited in a rranaged fund. All of the assets Listed
have a quoled market price in an active mar<el with the except on of the insurance policy asset where its value has beer set
egual to the secured pensioner lability

The change ir the market value of the scneme assets aver the year was as follows:

2023 prev
Em £
Market vatue of schomoe assots at tho start of the yoar 28.8 13
Inerest income 1.5 06
Empioyer contrinutions 0.3 06
Actuanal retura on assets less intarest (0.8) (57
Benefits pad (1.2} n
Market value of scheme assets at the end of the year 28.6 88
The change in value of the defined vencfit obligation over the year was as follows:
2023 ST
£m foe
value ot defined beneft abegation al the start of tha year 19.0 304
Intarest on pension scheme babl Lies 0.9 06
Remeasurerrent of changes in inanclal assampticrs 0.3 (128)
Renafits pad {1.2) (12
Value of defined benefit obligation at the end of the year 19.0 B
Amounts recogrised in the canso.dated staterent of comprehensive ‘ncome:
2023 2027
£m £
Actuaral return on asses less interest (0.8) o
Rermeasurement of defired boncfit ebhigaton (0.3) 108
(1.1} 57

The loss snown in the above table of £1 1 (2022 gamn of £5.771) has been 1nc.uded in the consolidated stalerment of
comprehensive Income o1 page 127

The surplusis recognised becaase the Group considers thorn s cconomic benefit available through a reduction in futlre
cortributions or the eventual return of the surplus,
Future funding obligation

Tne Trustees are required to carry oLt an actuanial valuazon every three yoars. The last actuanal valuation of the scherre was
performed by the Actuary for the Trustees as at 1 July 2022 This valuation revealed a fundirg shortfall of £nil and as a result of
“his valuation, the Group agreed to cease tne ex'sting recovery p.an and pay ro additional centributiors,
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Sensitivity analysis
Set out below s an analysis of how the scheme deficit would vary with changes to the key actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate movement of G 75% p.a. Increase/(decrease} in deficit of £2.0m/(£2.2m)
Salary moverment of 1.00% pa. Increase/(decrease) in deficit of £0.TmAL0.Tm)
Life expectancies movement of cne year  Increase/(decrease) in deficit of £0.8m/(£0.8my)

29.1ssued share capital

Accounting policy

Ordinary shares are classifed as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuc of new shares or apticns are
shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Acquisition of and investment in own shares

The Group acquires its own shares to enable it Lo meet its abligations under the various share schemes in operation. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit ar loss on the purchase, sale, issue or canceltation of the Company’s own shares. The acquisition
cost of the shares is debited to an investment in own shares reserve within retained earnings.

Where the Group buys back its own shares as treasury shares it adopls tne accounting as described above. Where il
subsequently cancels them, issued share capital s reduced by the nominal value of Lthe shares cancelled and this same
amodnt s transferred to the capital redemption reserve,

Issue of share capital

2023 2027
£m £

Allotted, called-up and fully paid’
743,042,056 {2022 742921734 ordinary shares of bp each 37.2 37.1

During the year, The Grainger Employee Benefit Trust has acquired 3,000,000 shares at a cost of £7.8m (2022: 1,000,000
shares at a cost of £3.2m). The Group paid £0.1m (2022: £0.1m) to the Sharc Incentive Plan during the year for the purchase
of matching sharcs and free shares in the scneme The total cost of acquiring own shares of £7.9m (2022: £3.3m) has heen
deducted from retained carnings within Shareholders’ equity.

As at 30 Septernber 2023, share capital included 3,440,348 (2022: 699,878) shares held by 1he Graingsr Employce Benefit
Trust and 506,300 {2022, 1,506,300) sharcs held by Grainger ple as treasury shares. The total of these shares is 4,946,648
{2022: 2,206.178) with a nominal value of £247.332 (2022: £110.309) and a market value as at 30 Scprember 2023 of £11 6m
(2022 £5.1my).

Movements In issued share capital during the year and the pravious year were as follows

“lom ralvalue

Numhior £030
At 30 September 2021 742,776,687 37,139
Options excrcised under the SAYE scheme {(Note 30) 145,053 7
Al 30 September 2022 742,921,734 37,146
Options exercised under the SAYE schee (Note 30 120,322 6
At 30 September 2023 743,042,056 37,152

30.Share-based payments

Accounting policy

The Group operates a number of equity-settled, share-based compensation plans comprising awards under a Long-Term
Incentive Plan CLTIP"), a Deferred Bonus Pian ('DRPY), a Share Incentive Plan ('SIP') and a Save As You Earn (SAYE') scheme.
The fair value of the employee services receved in exchange for the grant of shares and options is recognised as an
employee expense. The total amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of
the shares and options granted.

For market-based conditions, the probability of vesting is taken into account in the fair value calculation and no revision

is made to the number of shares or options expected to vest. For non-market conditions, each year the Group revises its
estiniate of the number of eptions or shares that are expected to vest. It recaognises the impact of the rev'sion to origimal
estimates, if any, in the consolidated income staternent with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

Awards that are subject to a market-based performance condition are valued at fair value using the Monte Carlo simulation
rnodel. Awards not subject ta a market-based performance condition are valued at fair value using the Black-Scholes
valuation model

When options are cxercised the proceeds received, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to share
capital {(nominal value) and share prermum.
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30.Share-based payments continuad
Share awards

LTIP DBSP D8P EDBP SAYE
12
12 December
December 2022
2022 Nen- 12 12 12 1duly 2023 1July 2023
Market- market- December December December 3-year S-year
Award gane based based 2022 2022 2022 scheme scheme
Number of shares on grant 421,562 843,124 218,225 65,177 28,764 378,204 156,787
Exorcise price £} - - - - - 2.03 2.03
vastirg penod from datn of grant
years) 3 3 3 1-2 1-5 3 5
txercise period after vesiung iycars) 7 7 3 3 3 - -
Share price at grant (1) 2.48 2.48 2.48 2.48 2.48 2.27 227
Fxpecled rs«< froe rate {2o) 33 33 N/A N/A N/A 5.1 4.7
Expacted divdond yield (96) N/A N/A 2.7 2.7 2.7 2.7 2.7
Expectad valatility (%) 28.6 28.6 N/A N/A N/A 271 24.6
Fair value (f) 1.37 2.48 2.48 2.48 2.48 0.56 0.61

The expected volatioty figures used .n the valuation were calculated bassa on the hstanic volatility over a period ecual to the

expected term from tne date of grant,

The share-based payments charge -ecogrised in the consolidated income statenrent s £2.4m (2022 £1.7m)

{a) LTIP scheme

For the awards granted in or after December 2022, 33% of the awards under the LTIP scheme are subject to an absolute Total
Shareholder Returr performrance condition measured cver three years from the date of grant, 33% arc subject to annual
growth in “otal Property Income Return measured over three years from the date of g-ant. and the finat 33% are subject to
achieving Secured PRS Investrment targets rneasured over three years from the date of grant

For the awards granted ir o~ after Decemboer 2671, 33% of the awards under the LTIP schenre are subjoct to an ansolute Total
Sharcho.der Return petformance condition imeasured over three years from the date of grant, 32% are subject to annua.

growth in Total Property Return measured over three years from the date of grant. and the final 33% are suls,ect to achicving
Secured PRS Investment targets measured over thres years from the date of grant.

For tne awards granted in or after February 2020. 50% of the awards under the LT scheme are subject to an absclute Total
Sharcholder Return performance condition measured over three years from the date of grant, 25% are subject o annual

growsh in Total Property Return measured over three years from the date of grant. and the fina! 25% are subject to achicving
Secured PRS Investment targets measared over three years from the date of grant.

For previcls grants, 50% of the awards are subject tc ar absolute total shareholder return performarce conditicn and 50% a¢
subject to annual growth in Total Property Return, both measured over threo years from the date of grant Tne movement in

LTIP awards during the year 1s as fo.lows

Coening Awards Awards Awards Closing
Ageards balarge granted vested lapsed balance
LTIP
26 Sopternber 2313 31,694 - {31,694) - -
& February 7020 - (109,906) (78,282) 274,231
A0 D cemer 2025 - - - 490,967
11 October 2027 - - {31,240) 518,664
15 Cecemoer 2021 - - (23,077) 828,407
28 September 2002 - - - 61,712
12 Docember 2022 - 1,264,686 - - 1,264,686
Total 2248 180 1,264,686 (141,600) {132,599) 3,438,667
TFgrane | I R e T ik [ S NS [T RN TR PO € soieoon e
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(b) DBP scheme

Awards granted under tne DBSP relate to the compulsory deferral of 25% of any bonus paid to Executive Directors as described
In the Remuneration Committae report. Shares granted in this scheme have ne further performance conditions other than
continued employment. There is a three-year vesting period from the date of grant, after which time participants can cheose to
exercise their awards

Awards granted under tne DEP scheme have no specific performance conditions other than employees in the scheme
continuing to be employed. Thereis a three-year vesting period from the date of grant One-third of the awards vest at the end
of cach year Participants can choose to exercise their awards on vesting or to retain their awards within the plan untl the end
of the third year at which point a 50% matching element is added to their award entitlement,

In addition to the DBP scheme, an enhanced DBP scheme ((EDBPY) is also provided. The enhanced scheme operates in exactly
the same way as the normal DBP scheme except that if participants retain their awards within the plan until the end of the fifth
year, a further adeitional 50% matching award is added to their award entitlement Awards under the DBP/EDEP have been
valued based on the share price at the date of the award less the dividena yield at the award date as there is no entitlement to
dividends during the vesting period.

Ihe movement in DBR/EDBP awards during the year is as follows

Oponng Awards Awards Awards Closing
AWATCS ba ance granted exercised lapsed balance
DBSP
1 December 2079 32,887 - (16,458) - 16,429
12 December 2020 61,313 - - - 61,313
16 December 2021 105955 - - {10,641) 95,314
12 Decembor 2022 - 218,255 - - 218,255
DBP
1/ December 2019 26058 - (26,058) - -
10 Decermnber 2020 34,298 - - - 34,298
16 December 2021 40,800 - - - 40,800
12 Decomber 2022 - 65,177 - - 65,177
EDBP
21 Decernber 2017 36.826 - (26,933) (1,675) 8218
17 Decombor 2018 7720 - (15,232) (2,812) 59,166
17 December 2019 57172 - (10,720) {3,752) 42,700
10 Decernber 2020 657,452 - (13,304) {4,080) 50,108
16 Decernber 2021 17.864 - - - 17,864
12 December 2022 - 28,764 - - 28,764
Total 557,875 312,196 {108,705} {22,960) 738,406

(c) SAYE share option scheme

Awards under the SAYE scheme have been valued at far value using a Black-Scholes vawation model. The number of shares
subject to options as al 30 September 2023, the periods in which they were granted and the pericds in which they may be
exercised and the movernent during the year are given below,

Awards

Exercise price Exercice Openirg Awards Awards lapsed/ Closing
foerca) pericd balar-e granted exercised cancelled balance

SAYE
2017 1899 2020-23 26,847 - (26,847) - -
2019 1930 20272-25 134,224 - (88,775} (5,036) 40,413
2020 2450 2023-26 196,544 - {4,700) (98,851) 92,993
2021 2340 2024-27 117,201 - - (46,555) 70,646
20027 22480 202%-28 240302 - - {183,678) 93,624
2023 2030 2026-29 - 534,991 - (18,324) 516,667

752118 534,991 (120,322) (352,444) 814,343

Weighted average exercise price
{pence per share) 2331 203.0 194.3 242.2 215.2

Eaprorne pooe bave beor adjastea tarefecithe rmopac of tre 2005 nghts swue
For those share options exercised during the year, the weighted average share price at the date of exercise was 248.4p
{2022 274 Bp). For share options outstanding at tne end of the year, the weighted average remaining contractual life was 2.5
years (2022: 2 1 years) There were 51,366 (2022 115,995} sharc options excrcisable at the year end with a weighted average
exercise price of 2450p (2022: 192 .3p).
{d) SIP scheme

Awards under the SIP scheme have beer based on the share price at the date of the award.
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31.Changes in equity

The consolidated statement of changes in eqguty 1s shown on page 129 Further information relating to reserves < provided
below Movements on the retained earnings resarve are set cut m Note 32

(a) Merger reserve

[ne merger reserve arpse when the Company issued shates in partiac consideration for the acquisition of City North Groun plc
in the year onded 30 Septemboer 2005, The issue satisfied the provisions of Section 612 of the Companies Act 2006 (formerly
Soction 131 of the Companies Act 1985) and the premium rewating to the shares issued was crodited to a mergar reserve

() Cash flow hedge reserve

The fair vaiue movements on those derivative fnanciat instrurrents qualifying for hedge accounting under IFRS 9 are taken to
this reserve net of tax.

32.Movement in retained earnings

The retamed earnings reserve comprises various elements, includirg:

Treasury shares bought back and cancelied

Included within retamea carmings at 3C Septentber 2023 15 a balance of £78m (2022, £7.8my) relating to treasury shares bought
back and cancelled

Investmentin own shares

Included within retained earnings at 30 September 2023 is a balance of £4.8m {2022, £0.9m) relating to inrvestmrents in

own snares

33.List of subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

A full list of all subsidiar.es, joint ventures, assocates and otner retated undertakings as at 30 Scptember 2023 15 set out in the
Naotes to the parent Company financial statements on pages 173 to 174,

Tne fovowing subsidiaries will take advantage of the audit exemption set out vathin Section 4794 af the Compan es Aot 2006
for the year ended 30 September 2023

Companies House Companies House
Company registered number Company registered number
Allantic Melropehtan (U K ) Linnted 07528078 Granger Maderhead Limited 3739575
BET (Bradford Property Trasty amited 0252992 Cramger MNewbury Limited (35041336
BPT (Residential Investiments) Limited 00359346 Sranger OCCC Limited C755L7056
BRI Limiled 0428289 Grawngor Propertes Limitea 03910945
Bromloy Property Floldngs Lirnited 04137693 Grainger RAMP Limited C7,60835
Beomleoy Property lovestmoents Limited 040645331 Ceanger Read Bstate Lunted 4170172
Crossco (No 103) Eimited (229000 Grainger Residential Management Limited GAvTI62/
Derwent Levelopments (Curzong Limated 05887200 Grainger PRS Limted 05/893%/
Derwent Dovelopmenits Lirnitea 1399218 Granger Seven Sisters Limited £6111428
Grainger (Hallsville Block D) Dirmited 12170847 Gra nger Treasury Property (2006} {imitao 1325497
Gra.nger (Hallsville Residental) umited 14660820 Liab.lity Partnership
Grainger (Hallsville} Limited 11834099 Granger Treasury Property Investmants Linwled LECTIS-LG
Grainger (Hurnsey) Limited 04810257 Parinersh p
Grainger Assnt Managermoen: Limited 0a41/232 Grainger Tnbe Dimited 11025318
Grainger Bradley Limited 0832494" Greir | irited 5788577
Gramger Dovelopment Mar:ag?me'wtlwmted 03146573 GRIF UK HOL’J!HGS Lirmited 10175072
Grarger Developments Limited U146 GRIP Uk Praperty Dovelopments cimirlea 106265824
Granger Cmployees Limited LG4 35 Margrave Estates Limited 0332564
Zraingor Eurape Limited 299783 MREP I Newcastle Qoerations Linited TD66TE7

Gramgar Finance {Tricommy Liruted 451352 PH- Lim-ted Cu734419

Grainger Homas (Gatesmcad, Linited Paortland House Hald 1gs Limutea 02421234
Granger Homes L'mited osta (Goneral Paring ) Lmated CIE39967
Gramger Holsing & Develcpmants Lim.ted Warren Court Lirtod L 310810
Grainger Invest No 7 Limited Lakl by Partnarsmp 00312947 West Waterloovile Develepments Lin ted £3047254

Sraimger Mvest No 2 Limited Liab, ty Partnershp OC317913

Granger Kensington 8 Cnelsea lim ted 05131245

Tne parent Company has guarantezed the debls ana habilives of the apove subsdiarios as al 30 Septernber 2023 in accordance
with Sectior 2720 of the Companies Act 2006, The parent comrpany has assessed Ure probability of loss under the guarantees
as remote.
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34.Related party transactions

Duriny the year ended 30 September 2023, the Group transacted with 1ts associates and Joint ventures (details of which are set
outin Notes 18 and 19) The Group provides a number of services to its associates and joint ventures These incude property
and asset management services for which the Group receives fee income, The related party transactions recogrised in the

income statement and statement of financial position are as foliows:

2023 A0Z2
Fees Year end Fees Yeasend
S 0QCU recognised balance recogmised 2ala-ze
Connected Living Landon (B1 R} Limuted 1,455 480 1,303 596
Leowisham Grainger Holdings LLP 307 368 319 -
Vestal P 838 227 743 207
2,600 1,075 2,365 803
2023 P
Year end Yodr ong
Interest lean Interest Intores: loan interest
recognised balance rate recegn sed balance rate
£'000 fm % £000 m %%
Curzon Park Lirited - 18.1 Nil - 181 MNil
Lewisham Grainger loldings LLP 871 10,2 11.2 602 72 6.9
Vesta LP - 14.6 Nil - 14 6 Mil
871 429 1292 399

Details of the Group’s other related parties are provided in Note 10 in relation to key management compensation and Note 28

in retation Lo the Group's rebrement benefit pension scheme.

35.Leases
Accounting policy

i) Group as lessor - Rental income from operating leases is recagnised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The net
present value of ground rents receoivable is, in the opinion of the Directors, immaterial. Accordingly, ground rents receivable

arc taken to the consolidated income staterent on a straight-Une basis over the period of the lease. Properties leased out to
tenants are included in the consolidated staterment of financial position as either investment proparty or as trading property

under inventories.

i) Group as lessee - The Group occupies a number of its offices as a lessee. The net present value of the lease liabilities
is recorded in the consclidated staternent of financial position within trade and other payables. The leased office space is
included in the consolidated statement of inancial position as a right-of-use asset in property, plant and cguipment and

depreciated over the life of the lease,

(a) Group as lessor

The future aggregate undiscounted lease payments due to the Group under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2023 7022
£m fm

Operating lease payments due:
Not later than one year 32.2 273
Greater than one year but less than two years 2.4 43
Greater than two years but less than three years 2.0 20
Greater than three years but less than four years 1.7 17
Creater than four years but less than five years 1.4 15
Greater than iive years 70.2 741
109.9 11C 9

There are no contingent rents recognised within net rental income in 2023 or 2022 relating to properties where the Group

acts as a lessor of assets under cperating leases. The Group’s non-cancellable operating leases exclude regulated tenancies
Under these agreements, tenants have the right to rermain in a property for the remainder of therr lives. Should the tenant
require the lease to be cancelled for any reason, they are able to do so generally with immediate elfect, in which case we take
vacant possession for subsequent disposal of the property. As such, regulated tenancies are excluded from the above analysis.
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35.Leases continued
(b) Group as lessee
The future aggregate .ease payments payable by the Group under nen-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2023 202
£m tm

Operating lease payments due:
Not later than one year 0.2 08
Later than cre year and not {ater than five years 1.9 0.2
Later thar five years 5.0 13
7.1 30

Leases relating to office space usod by the Group have initial terms of varying lengths, betweaen one and ton years. Rent reviews
generally take place every five years.

36.Contingent liabilities

Properties in certain subsidiary companies form a ‘guarantee group’ with a market value of £2,301.0m and provide the security
for the Group's core debt facility and Corporate Bonds.

Barclays Bark LT and | loyds Bank PLC have previded guarantees under performance bonds. As at 33 September 2023, lotal
guarantees amounted to £3.2m (2022: ££.3m).

37. Capital commitments

The Groap has current comrutments under a number of 1ts PRS projects, The Groun's commitmerts, acludng its relevant
share of commitments to joint ventures and associates, are as follows

2023 2022

£m £

wholy-owred Group subsidianes 397.8 5289
397.8 67832
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PARENT COMPANY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

AS AT 30 SEPTEMBER
2023 2022
Motes £m fm
Fixed assets
Investments 2 2,335.9 17846
Current assets
Trade and ather receivables 3 238 3240
Cash at bank and in hand 64.4 £1.8
88.2 365.8
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 4 {48.3) 83}
Net current assets 399 357.5
Total assets less current liabilities 2,375.8 20421
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Interest-bearing loans and barrowings 5 (832.6) 18319}
NET ASSETS 1,543.2 13102
Capital and reserves
lssued sharo capital 3] 37.2 37.1
Share premiurm account 817.8 8176
Capital redemption reserve 0.3 3
Retained earn-ngs 687.9 455.2
TOTAL EQUITY 1,543.2 1,210.2

The financial statemerts on pages 169 to 174 were approved by the Board of Directars on 21 November 2023 and were signed

on their behalf by

Helen Gordon

Parent company statement of changes in equity

Rob Hudson
Director Director

Capital
lssued snare Share redempt:on Retamea Total
capital premiam resorye earnings equity
fr fn £ £m im
Balance as at 1 October 2021 37.1 8173 3.3 466.9 11,3216
Profit for the year - - - 299 259
Award of SAYE shares - 0.3 - - 0.3
Furchase of own shares - - - {13 (3.3
Share-based payments charge - - - 17 17
Dividends paid - - - (40.0) (40.0)
Balance as at 30 September 2022 371 B17.6 0.3 455.2 1,310.2
Profit for the year - - - 2839 283.9
Award of SAYE shares 0.1 0.2 - - 0.3
Purchasc of own shares - - - (7.9) (7.9)
Share-based paymeants charge - - - 2.4 2.4
Dividends paid - - - {45.7} (45.7)
Balance as at 30 September 2023 37.2 817.8 0.3 687.9 1,543.2
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NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Company accounting policies

{(a) Basis of preparation

The financial statemenls have been prepared in accordarce with financial Reporting Standard "01 Reduced Disclosure
Framawork {'FRS 10717 The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis under the hstoncal cost
convention, in accordance with the Companies Act 20C6.

In preparing these financial statements. the Company applies the recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
UK-adepted international account'rg standards (I=RS), but makes amendments where recessary in order to comply with the
Companies Act 2006 and has set out below where advantage of the FRS 1071 disclosure exemptions has been taken

The exemptions that have beer applied ir the preparation of these fnancial statemrents are as follows:

+ Acash flow statement and related notes have not been presented.

Disclosures in respect of new standards and interpretations that have beer issued but which are not yet effective have not
been provided.

s Disclosures inrespect of transacticns with wholly-cwned suksidianes have ncl been made.

Cerrain d'sclosures requited by IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement and the disclosures regured by IFRS 7 Financial
Instrurnents: Disclosures have not peen made.

Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2 Share-based paymens {details of the number and weighted average exercise
prices of share cptions, and how the far value of goods or services recetved was determined).

s The requirements of paragraphs 17 and 18A of 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose key management
porsonnel campensation.

The Company has taken the exemption allowed under Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 from the requiremens
to present its owr profit and loss account The profit for the year was £783.91 (2022: profiz of £29.8m) These financial
statements present ‘nformation about the Company as an indivicual undertaking and not about its Group,

The following accounting policics have been aoplied consistently in dea.ng with items that are cons'dered materia’ in
relation to the Comrpany's financial statements

(b) Going concern

The financial staten~ents have been propared on a go'ng concern basis which the Directars consider to be appropriate for the
fotlowing reascns

The Company has net assets of £1.543.2m at 30 September 207 3 and has generated a profit for the period then ended
of £283 9. The Directors of Grainger plc marage the Group's strategy and nisks on a consolidated basis, rather than az
an individual eruty level. Similarly, tne firancial and operating performance of the basiness 1s assessed at a Granger plc
cporating segment level. For these reasons, the Directors oo not propare cask flow forecasts at anindividual entity levol,

In making the going concern asscssment, on a conscldated basis, the Directors have considered the Group's principal risks
and their impact on financial per formance. The Directors have assessed the future funding commitments of the Group
and comrpared these to the level of committed loan faciltios and cash rescurces over the med um torm. In making this
assessmoent, consideration nas been given to compliance with barrowing covenants along with the uncertainty inheorent in
future financial forecasts ard, where applicable, severe sensitwinies have been applied to the key factors affecting M'nancial
performance for the Group.

Further details of the Groun's going concern assessment, including the key assumotions applied, 1s sot out in Noto Ma) on
paga 131

Based on these considerations. the Directors continue to adopt a going corcern bas's n preparing the fnancal statements
far the year orded 30 September 2023,

(@) Investments

Investments in subsiaianes arce carried at histencal cost less arovisior for .mpairment based upen an assessmens of the
nat recoverable amount of each investment The net recoverablo amount is determined by tne statutory net azsets of the
subsidhay, adjusted for farr value movements relating o trading property whichis hale at cost, as well as ar associated
delerred tax charge or the farr valde agjustrents This approach provices tne most retevant indication of tne net
recaveranle armourt of asubsidiary as it provides a far value net asset positen as at the aate of assessment. To the extent
that the assessment of The recoverable amount improves due to changes ir econom’c conditions or estimates, impairment
provisions ae reversed, wth all provision movements recogrized in proft and loss,

170 GRAINGER PLC AR 4 =0 f ST ANML ~ 77 L TD 22



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(d) Tax
Carporation tax s provided on taxable profits or losses at the current rate

Deferred tax s recogmised in respect of all temporary differences that have originated but not reversed at the ond of the
reporting periad, whore transactions or events that result in an ebligation to pay more tax n the future or a right to pay less
tax in the future have occurred at that date,

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the tempaorary
differences arc expected (o reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.

{e) Own shares including treasury shares

Transactions of The Grainger Ernployee Benefit Trusis are included n the Company’s finanaial statements. The purchase of
shares in the Campany by each trust and any treasury shares bought back by the Company are debited direct to equity.

(f) Share-based payments

Under the share-based compensation arrangerments set out in Note 30 to the Group financial statements, employees

of Grainger Employees Limited have bheen awarded options and conditional shares in the Company These share-hased
arrangements have been treated as equity-settled in the consclidated financial statements. In the Company’s financial
statements, the share-based payment charge has been added to the cost of investment in subsidiaries with a cerresponding
adjustment to equity

(g) Borrowings

Baorrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs incurred.
Borrowings are subsequently stated at amortised cost. Any difference between tha proceeds (net of transaction costs)
and the redemption value is recognised in the income statemont over the peried of the borrowings using the offective
interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current tiabilitios unless the Group has an unconditionai nght to defer settlement of the liability
for at least 12 months after the staternent of financial position date,

2. Investments

2023 2022
Co-tofvestmrent £m £rm
At 1 October 2,750.0 1,302 3
Additions 1,032.3 14477
Disposals (23.7) -
At 30 September 3,758.6 27500

2023 PRy
Imparront £m £m
At 1 Oclober 965.4 755
Additional provisions 461.0 850.0
Reversal of impairment provisions (3.7) 01
At 30 September 1,422.7 Yok 4
Net carrying value 2,335.9 17846

The Directors beliove that the carrying value of the investments is supported by their recoverable amount which reflects the
fair value of the property portfolio. The recoverable amount is not regarded as a significant estimate in1tself as 1t 1s based on
the underlying valuation of the property portfolio. The impact of changes Lo key assumptions to the valuation of the property
portfolio is shown in note 2 of the group financial statements.

Additions and disposals dunng the year principatly relate to ongoing internal restructuring of the Company’s subsidiary
undertakings After an assessment of recoverable amounts a net impairment of £457.3m (2022: £889.9m) has been rmade
The most significant elemert of the overall net impairment was an imparment of £334.8m which resulted from a reduction in
the net assets of Grainger Finance Company Limited following distributions made in the year,

A list of the subsidiaries of the Company is contained within Note 9 on pages 173 to 74,

3. Trade and other receivables

2023 2022

£m Em

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 233 3234
Other receivables 0.5 0.6
23.8 324.0

Amounts due in both 2023 and 2022 are all due within one year. The Company’s assessment of expected credit losses on
amounts owed by Group undertakings is not considered to be an area of significant judgement or estimation duc to sufficient
liguidity in the Group. As such, there is no expectation of any material credit losses at the balance sheet date.
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4. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2023 2022

£m ire

Amounts owed to Group undortakings 39.7 -
Accruals and deferred inconre 8.6 B3
48.3 33

Amounts owed to Graup urdertakings relates to an urscecured loan with a year end balance of £392.7m (2022, balance of
£303.9m owod to the Company). The loan bears interest at a waighted rate of 4,48% (2022: 4 36%) in the year and is repayable
on demand. Interest receivable for the yeas amounted to £6.6m (2022 £2 2m).

5. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2023 2022

£m £

Yarnable rate - loars 140.0 140.5
Unamortised ssue costs (2.6} (2 4y
137.4 1376

Corporate bonds 700.0 7000
Unamortisod 1ssu0 costs (2.9) {35}
697.1 596 Y

Unamartised bend discount (1.9) 20
Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings 832.6 83714

The variable rate loans arc sccured by floating charges over the asscts of the Group, The (gans bear interest at rates between
1 5% and 1.8% over SONIA.

In 2018, the Group 1ssued a ten-year £350.0m corporate bond at 3.375% due April 2028, In 2020, the Group issued a ten-year
£350.0m corporate bond at 3.0% due July 2030

As al 30 September 2023 unamortised costs in relalion to the corporate bonds stood at £2.9m (2022: £3.5m}. and the
outstancing discount was £1.9m {2022 £2 Zmb.

6. Issued share capital

2023 2022
Em fm

Allotled, called-up ard fully pad
743 042,056 (2022, 742.921,734) cramary shai2s of 5o each 37.2 371

Dotails of movements inissued share capital auring the year and the previous year are provided in Note 29 1o the Group
financial statemonts on page 163

Details of share options and awards granted by the Company are providod in Note 30 to the Group financial staternents on
pages 163 to 166 and discussed within the Remuneration Conim’ttee’s report on pages 93 to 171

7. Contingent liabilities

The Company has guaranteed the debts and liab'lities of certan of 1ts subsidiaries as at 30 Septerrber 2023 in accordance with
Section 479C of the Companies ACt 2006 as detaied in Note 33 to the Group financial statements on page 166. The Company
Fas assessed the probatility of loss under the guarantees as remote

8. Otherinformation

Dividends

The Company's dwidend policy is aligned to our strategy 1o grow renta. income, with 50% of net rental income baing
distrbuted. Around ene-tnird of tne payment is made through the interim dividene based on half year results, with the balance
paid through the final dividend, subject to aporoval at the AGM. The Company has aistrizutab.e reserves of £6507m to support
tis policy Information on dividends paid and declared s g'ven in Note 14 to the Group financial statements on page 145

Subect to approval at the AGM, the final dwv dend of 4.37p por snare (grosst amounting to £32.2m will be paio or 14 February
2024 to Sharcholders on the reg'ster at the close of business ¢n 29 Cecemaoer 2023, Sharcholders will again be offered the
option o participate ir a dividend reinvestmoent plan ana the last day for election is 24 January 2024, An interim dividend of
2.28p per share amountirg te a total of 116 2 was paid to Shareolders on 3 July 2023,

Auditor's remuneraticn

Armounts recovable by the Company's auditor ard 1ts associates in respect of services to the Corpany and 1ts associates. other
than tne aunit of the Compary's financial statements, Fave not been discicsoo as the information is reauired instead to be
disclosed on a consolidated basis in the consolidated financial statements

Directors’ share options and share awards
Details of the Directors share options and of their share awards are set out:n the Remmuneraton Commiliee’s report.

172 GRAINGER PLC ShMNiJa: STRTRT MO ATCCLNT D 2 29




FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9. List of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures

A full list of the Group’s subsidiaries as at 30 September 2023 Is set out below.

% effective Direct/

% effective Direct/

Company holding Indirect Company holding Indirect
Broxden House, Lamberkine Drive, Perth, PH1 1RA Grainger Housing & Dovelopments Limited . 100% Indirect
Faside Fstates Limitod 100% Indirect Grainger Invest {No. 1 Haoldeoy Limited 100% Indirect
Langwood Properties | imited ™ 100% Indirect, Gramnger Invest Nol 100% bcirect
Citygate, St James’ Boulevard, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE1 4JE Linnted Liazility Partnarship
19 Ifield Road Management Limited’ 1009 Indirect Gramger Invest No 2 100% tndirect
3¢ Finborough Road Management Limited 100°% Indirect Lirmited Liability Partnarship
45 Ificld Road Mandgement Limited 7% Indirect Grainger Kensingtan & Chelsea Limited 100% Direct
Atlantic Metropolitan (U ) Lmitad 100% Threct Graimger Land & Regercration limeted 100%, indirect
ROT (Assurcd Homes) Limited 100% Indircct Grainger Maidenhead Limited 150% Indirect
RPT (Rradford Property Trust) [imited 1000 Indirect Grainger Newbury Limited 100% Inclirect
BPT (Residential Investmentsi Limited 100 Indirect Grainger QCCC Limited 100% Indircet
BPT Linuted 100% Direct Gramger Pzarl Holdings Limited 100% Indirect
Berewcod Estate Management Limited!- 100% Indirect Graunger Pearl Limited 100% Indirect
Brierley Green Management Company 100% Indireet Grainger Pearl (Salford) Limited 100%, Indirect
Limited Grainger Properties Limited 100% Indirect
Bromley Property Holdings Linutad 100% Diract Graimger PRS Limited’ 100% Indirect
Bromley Property Investments Limited 10094 Indirect Grainger RAMP Limited TO0%, Indirect
Cambridge Place Management Company 1004 Indirect Grainger Real Estate Limited T00% Indirect
Limited- Grainger REVT 1 Limited 100% indirect
Chnsdell limited 100% Indirect Gramgoer REN 2 Limited 100% Indirect
City North 5 Limited 100%% Inchrect Gramnger REIT 3 Limited 100% Indirect
City North Group Limited’ 100% Direct Grainger Residential Lirmited 100% Indirect
City Narth Proper ties Lirmited? 100°% Indirect Granger Residential Managerment Lim'ted 100% Direct
Connected Living London Limited 100°% Indirect Grainger Seven Sisters Limited 100% Indirect
Crofton Estate Management Compary binuted”  100% Indirect Grainger Southwark Limited 100% indirect
Crossco (No 103) Limited 100% Indirect Graimger Treasury Property 100% indirect
Derwent Developmoents (Cueon) Lirniled 1009, Indirect Investments Dimited Partrisrship
Derwent Developmants Limited 100% Inclirect Grainger Treasury Property (2006) 100% Indirect
Frincon Holdings 1986 Limitag: 100% Indirect Lim ted Liability Partnership
GIP |imited 100% Indireet Grainger Tribe Lirnited 100% Indirect
Globe RBrothers Fstates Limitod” 100%, Indirect Granger Trust Limited 100% Indirect
Grainger ‘Aldershot) Limited 1000 Incdirect Graingar Unitholder No 1 Limited 100% Direct
Grainger (Clagham) Limited 100% Indirect Grait Limited 100% Direct
Grainger {Hallsville} L'mited 100°% Indirect GRIZ REIT PLC 100% Indirect
Graingor (Hallsville Block D1} Limited 1009% Indirect GRIP UK Holdings |imited 100% Inclirect
Grainger (Hallsvilie Residential) Limited 100% Indirect GRIP UK Property Developmenits Limited 00% Inchrect
Grainger {Hormseys Limited 1009, Indirect GRIP UK Property Investments Limited 100% Indirect
Grainger (London} Limted? 1000 Direct H | Tricomm Holdings Limited- 100% Incirect
Grainger (Octavia Hill) Limited 1007 Indirect Harborne Tenants Limited- 100% Indirect
Grainger (Peachey) Limited? 100% Indirect Infrastructure Investars Defence Housing 100% Indirect
L & oy ] ira it
Grainger Asset Managemrent Limited 100% Indrect (Bristol) _I{m\tgd —
Granger Bradley | imited 0% ndirect Ingleby Court Management Limitad 100% Inchrect
— Jesrmond Place Management Leented” 0% Indirect
Graunger Development Management Linited 1009 Indirect - .
Gramger Developments Limited 100% Indirect ngs Dock Mitt (Lwyer;)ool) Managemaent 100% indirect
c m— Lmred — - Company Limited -
o 25 i Fagv) L o8
TAINGer Trptoyecs Limite 106 Direct Macaulay & Porteus Managemaont 100% Indirect
(frral?ggr Enfranchiscment Na. 1 {2012} 1007 Indirect Company Limited™”
e =" " i Manor Court {Sotihull; Managerment Limited” 100% Indirect
franchisement ] 04 -
Elrri:r;egdcr nfran Nt NG, 2 (2012) 100 Indirect Margrave Estates Limited 100% Indiract
' 1 {ay
Gramger Europe (No. 3) Limitad? 100% par—— MREF 11 NjwcastLe‘Opera‘_(foms Limited ‘IODGA Imjwec-t
Grainger Furope (No. 4} Limited 1004 Dhrect S 2 8 tO” jon ILm\/e-st:‘emtJ 182“//{) :n j”e{'t
Graingar European Ventures Limited Liability  100% Indirect ondon Limite s ndirect
Partnership: Northumberland & Durham 100% Indirqct
Grainger Europe Limited 100% Direct ErHOETLy Ir:st Limited T00%
Grainger Finance {Tricomm} Limited 100% Indirect mite 00% Incirect
. - — - Portland House Holdings Limited 100% Indirect
Gramnger Finance Company Limited 100% Dhrect - — —= Py -
Gramnger Homes {Gateshead) Limited 100% Indirect Res}wjenl\m Leases Lzm\teq p 10\): Injwerii
Grainger Homes Limited 100 Indirect Residential Tenancies Limile 100% Indirect
GRAINGER PLC ANNUAL IPCRET LND A000UNTS 20202 173



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTES TO THE PARENT COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(CONTINUED)

% effective Direct/

% effective Direct/

Company holding Indirect Company holding Indirect
Citygate, 5t James’ Boulevard, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE1 4JE Gramnger (Hadston, Limited-? 1063 Irdirect
Rotation Nnance Limitec 100% Direct Granges K&Clattings Lmited - 100%, Iraract
Suburban Homaes Limited: 100% Indirect Gramger Pimbco Limeted - 100 % Diract
The Bradford Property Trust Limited® 1009 Indirect Grainger Property Services Limited- 100% Indrect
The Sandwarren Managemert 100% Indircet NOE D Properties (Mdlands) Lirited: 100% Direct
Company | 1m tag- Park Developrcnts (Liverpoo!) Linited 100%, Indirect
Tricoinmi Housing (Holdings) | imited TO0 % Inchrect Park Estates (Liverpool) Limited 107Y% Indirect
fricomm Hous ng Lirmited 100% Indirect Sark £5tatos vestments (Lverpoal} 105% Indirect
Vi ctoria Court (Southport) Limited: 100% Irdirect Lirrited- *

AMansbeck L odge Managerment Limited- - 1009 Indirect The Owners of the Midd oshrough Estate 102% Indroct
Warren Court Limited 100% Inirect Limited” !

West Waterlooville Developments Limited  100% Inciirect Warwick Square Management Company 0% Indirect
Eschersheimer Landstrale 14, 60322 Frankfurt am Main Lirmted -

Granger FRM GrmbH A00% ncliree 218 Finney Lane, Heald Green, Cheadle, SK8 3QA

&th Floor, 9 Appold Street, London, EC2ZA ZAP Cak.cigh House (Sale) Management 532k Indirect
Bromley No 1 Haldings Linmited- 100% indirect Lompany Limited

Bromlev No 1 Limited 160% Irchiroct

Derwent Nomunees (No 2) Lirited - 100% Indliract

Frincor Holdings Limited” 100% Indirect

Afull list of the Group's assodiates as at 30 September 2023 is sct out below:

% effective Direct/

% effective Direct/

Company holding Indirect Company holding Indirect
1a Dorchester Court, Greenlands Road, Staines, TW18 4LS Citygate, St James’ Boulevard, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE1 4JE
Darchester Coudt (Staines) 6 Indirect Sixty-Two Stanhope Gardens Limnited 20% Iadirect
Residents Assaciation Limited Vesla {Gencral Pastner) Lirmited 0% Indirect
8 Five Acres, Kings Langley, Hertfordshire, WD4 9JU vesta Limited Partnership 20% Indirect
Trevor Sguare Garden T Ind-ract Portmill House, Portmill Lane, Hitchin, $G5 1DJ

Management Company | im-fed Redrubt Close Managernrent Limited 3% Indirect

317 Radipole Road, Parsons Green, Fulham, London, S\W6 5DN

Stagestar Limitod- 20% Indirect
33 Albert Square, Londeon, SW8 1BZ
33 Albert S5quare Management 24% Indirect

Company Lirngted

A full st of the Group's joint ventures as at 3¢ September 2023 1s set out below

% effective Direct/

% effective Direct/

Company holding Indirect Company holding Indirect
100 Victoria Street, London, SW1E 5JL Connccted Livng Londen (Ning Elms) Limited 5°% Irdirect
Curzon Park Linuted 205 Indirect Connacied Living London 5% Indrect
16a Castlebar Road, London, W5 2DP ool ohy Lireined
"5 Castlebar Road Mansgement Z0% {ndirect Connectad Living London
Carrpany Lirn tag- (A rnos Dirgve) Limited 5% Iddirect
Citygate, St James’ Boulevard, Newcastle upon Tyne, NE1 4JE Connecied Living London
" Ifield Roatt Managernen: Linited 50% lrdirect iCockfoslers) Lm ted 51% bdirect
31-3/ Disbrevese Road Frochold Compary Limited S0 Indirect Conrected Livirg London
P - . *Mortfard Place) Limited 513 Indirect
174 Bishops Road Limited - 50% Inchrect m
Low sham Gramg aldimgs i 5
Bresson Street Limited | iabilty Partrership a0 oot Lew sham Grainger Holdings §imited
o <t p ot Linied | ) Labil ty Pa tnarship” Indirect
105500 Stree Second Mambe e ; crec
al T T e e Sandowr {(Wnitley Bay, Manage~art Limited Irthirect
Cannected Lving _ondor (BTR) Liruted Ing racy -
- Viellesley Residents Trust Limtez Irdirect
Conrected Living Londsan {RP) (imited Ind rect
Conrected Liviag London (Limma) Lim ted 319 Indret
Connected Living Londan (Southall) Lirmited  51% Indirect
Connected Liv.ng london (CpCel Limited” 21%5 I=direct

Al subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures are incorporated ir the UK except where the registered ofice indicates otherwise

e sen b guarantes
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EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES (UNAUDITED)

1. Introduction

The European Public Real Estate Association (‘(EPRAY 15 the body that represents Europe's listed property companies,

The association s&ts out guidelines and recommendations to facilitate consistency in listed real estate reporting, in turn
allowing stakeholders to compare companies on a like-for-iike basis, As a member of EPRA, the Group 1s supportive of EPRA's
initiatives and discloses measures in relation to the EPRA Best Practices Recommendations (EPRA BPR™) guidetines The mast
recent guidelines, updated in February 2022, have been adopted by the Group.

The EPRA performance measuras and definitions are sct out below.

Performance measure

Definition

1} EPRA Earnings

Reocurring earn'ngs from core operational activities. This is a key measure of a company’s unde:lying
operating results, providing an irdication of the extent to which cur-ent dividend payments are
supported by earnings

2) EPRA NRV Net asset value adjusted to include propertics and other investmentinterests at fair value and to exclude
certain items not expected to crystallise in a long-term property business model

3) EPRA NTA EPRA NRY adjusted to include deferred tax on assets that may be sold by the busimess and exclude
intangible assets.

4) EPRA NDV EPRA NRV adjusted toinclude the fair values of 1 fimandial instruments, i debt and i) deferred taxes

FPRA NDV excludes goodwill recognised on a company’s statutory balance sheet

5i) EPRA Net Initial Yield (‘Ni1v’)

Annualised rental mcome based on cash rents al the balance sheet date, less non-recoverable property
expenses, divided by the market value of the proparty. increascd with (estimated) purchasers’ costs

5ii) EPRA ‘topped-up’ NIY

This measure incorporates an adjustment to EPRA NIY in respect of the expiration of rent-free pernods
{or other unexpired lease incentives, such as discounted rent periods and step rents)

6} EPRA Vacancy Rate

Fstimated Market Rent Value 'FRV") of vacant space divided by ERV of the whole portfolia

7} EPRA Cost Ratics

This measure mcludes alt administrative and operating oxaenses including share ot joint ventures’
averheads and operating expenses, net of any service tees, all divided by gross rental income

8) EPRALTV This measure includes all capital which 1s not cguity as debt, irrespective of 125 IFRS classification, and is
based upon proportional consolidation, tnerefare including a company's share in the net debt and net
assets of joint ventures and associates. Assefs arcincluded at far value, net debt at nominal value

Summary

2023 2022

EPRA Earnings £39.8m £282m

LPRA Larmmgs per shary 4.2p 3

TPRA NRV £2,359.3m £2,4706m

FPRA NRV per share 318p 233p

EFRANTA £2,267.5m £2,3590m

EPRA NTA per share 305p 37p

cPRANDY £2,332.9m £2,483 0m

EPRA NDV por share 314p 334p

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY?) 31% 2 9%

Adjusted EPRA NIY 3.8% 38%

EPRA "topped-us' NIY 3.1% 2.9%

Adjusted EPRA topped-up’ NIY 3.9% 3.6%

FPRA Vacancy Rate 1.6% 2%

FPRA Cost Ratio {including direct vacancy costs; 34.1% 34 0%

EPRA Cost Ratic {excluding direct vacancy costs) 32.9% 33.5%

EPRA LTV 40.0% 36 0%

Capital Fxpoenditure £345.9m F353.50m
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EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES (UNAUDITED)
(CONTINUED)

2. EPRA Earnings

2023 2027
Earnings Shares Pence per Earnmings “nares Cence por
£m millions share i milliz~s share
Earnings per IFRS income statement 27.4 742.4 3.7 2498 6 /4371 401
Adjustments ta calculate EPRA Carnings, excluds.
1 Changes invalue of mvastrment propal ties,
ceveloprrent propertics held for investment and
other intorests 68.9 - 9.2 214 2e4)
v Profits orlosses on disposal of avestmont progerties,
development propert es held for investmant and
other ntorosts (3.3} - (0.4) {17 - {02y
o Profits or losses on sales of frading proper ties inctuding
mpairment charges inrespoct of trading propurt e (53.8) - (7.3) (25 9) - W54
1wv) Tax on profits or lossas on dsposals - - - - - -
vl Negative goodwall/goodwill mparnmient 0.1 - ~ - - -
¥} Changes in fair value of inarcalinstraments
ana assocated close-out costs - - ~ - - -
VI ACOUISITan costs oa share deals and non-contrallirg
[ vEntur riterests - - -~ - - -
vy Deferred tax inresoect of EPRA adjustments - - ~ - - -
ix) Adjustments i) to vill) inrespect of jont ventures 0.5 - 0.1 09 - LN
x}  Non-contrallingirterests inrespect of the abowve - - - - - -
%1} Other adjustmantsin respect of adjustad carmags - - ~ a5 - 1.3
EPRA Earnings/Earnings per share 38.8 742.4 5.4 282 ER 35
EPRA Earnings per share after tax 4.2 21

EPRA Earnings nave been divided by the average number of shares shown in Note 15 to the Group financial statements to
calzulate earmings per share CPRA Farnings par share aftor tax is calcutated using the standard rate of UK Corporation Tax of

22.0% (2022 19.0%)
3. EPRA NRV, EPRA NTA and EPRA NDV

2023 2022
EPRA NRV EPRA NTA EPRA NDV ERPRA iy LR4ASTA “FRANDY
£m £m £m m £ fFoa

IFRS Equity attributable to Shareholders 1,928.6 1,928.6 1,928.6 19668 | 065 8 1956 8
Include/Exclude:
1) Hybrid Instruments - - - - - -
Diluted NAV 1,928.6 1,928.6 1,928.6 1,566 3 1,966 8 1.956.8
Include:
1 a) Revaluaton ot 17 09145 40 cost option s usod: - - - - - -
b Revaluatvon of IPJC Of IAS A4S cost option s used] - - - - - -
¢y Revaluation of otner non-current investments 11.6 11.6 11.6 51 5 5
Wil Revaluat'on of tenant leases hela as finarce leases - - - - -
v Revaation of rrading properties 347.3 256.5 256.5 4255 3144 314.4
Diluted NAV at Fair Value 2,287.5 2,196.7 2,196.7 2,38/ 4 2,280 3 22863
Exclude:
) Deferred tax nrelation fo fa’r valus gamns ot |P 105.8 105.3 - REL IEES -
sy Fair valoe of irancia mstrumaents (34.0} (34.0} - 142 21 (42 4 -
1) Coodwilas aresult of defencd tax - - - - - -
vinal Cougwill as per the 1IFRS balance sheet - {0.4) {0.4) - {05) (335}
by ntangible as per the 1" RS bala-ce shect - (0.6) - - -
Include:
xt Far salue of fixed interest rate cebi - - 136.6 - 1972
=} Pevalue of intangicles to fair value - - - - - B
X1} Keal estate transfar tax - - - - -
NAV 2,359.3 2,267.5 2,332.9 24706 2.359 24220
Fully diatee numrber of snares 743.0 743.0 743.0 7429 4.9 sdl T
NAV pence per share 318 305 314 333 177 3352
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4. EPRA NIY
2023 2057
£m £m
investment proparty - wholly-owned 2,948.9 20759
investment property - share of JVs/Funds 65.6 324
Trading property (ncluding share of JVs} 7343 873.0
Less: developments (617.1} (R64.8)
Completed property portfolic 3,131.7 30185
Allowance for estimated purchasers' costs 125.2 1215
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation B 3,256.9 31384
Annualised cash passing rental iIncome 140.1 1248
Property cutgoings (39.1) 33 9)
Annualised net rents A 101.0 9.9
Add rent incentives 0.3 C.2
'Topped up' net annualised rent C 101.3 91.1
EPRA NIY AlB 3.1% 29%
EPRA ‘topped up' NIY /B 3.1% 2 9%
Gross up completed property portfolic valuation 3,256.9 3.138.4
Adjustrments to completed property portfolio in respect of regulated tenancies and share of
joint ventures (740.9) (863.8)
Adjusted gross up completed property portfolio valuation b 2,516.0 22746
Annualised net rents 101.0 909
Adjustrments to annualised cash passing rental Income in respect of newly completed
developments and refurbishment activity 11.2 56
Adjustments to property outgoirgs in respect of newly completed devalopments and
refurbishment activity {3.2) 19
Adjustrnents to annualised cash passing rental ncome in respect of requlated tenancies {17.0) (189
Adjustrnents to property autgoings in raspect of regulated tepancies 4.7 Y1
Adjusted annualised net rents a 96.7 818
Add rent incentives 0.3 C.2
Adjusted EPRA 'tapped up’ NIY o 97.0 2320
Adjusted EPRA NIY a/b 3.8% 36%
Adjusted EPRA 'topped up' NIY c/b 3.9% 36%
5. EPRA Vacancy Rate
2023 022
£m fm
Estimated rontal value of vacant space A 1.8 2.0
Estimated rental value of the whole portfolio 5 112.7 957
EPRA Vacancy Rato AR 1.6% 2%
The vacancy rate reflects estimatad rental values of the Group’s stabilised habitable PRS units as at the reporting date.
6. EPRA Cost Ratio
2023 2227
£m £
Administrative expenses 335 318
Properly operating expenses 37.2 35.1
Share of joint ventures expenses (0.1) 1.4
Management fees {3.2) 27
Other operating Income/rocharges intended to cover overhead expenses (1.8) 7}
Exclude:
Investment property depreciation - -
Ground rent costs {0.2) (0.2)
EPRA Costs {including direct vacancy costs) A 65.4 637
Direct vacancy costs {2.2) 23
EPRA Costs (excluding direct vacancy costs} B 63.2 61.4
GGross rental income 133.7 1214
Less, ground rent income (0.6) 0.6)
Add: share of joint ventures {gross rental income less ground rents) 0.8 c7
Add: adjustment in respect of profits or losses on sales of propertics 58.1 66.1
Gross Rental Income and Trading Profits C 192.0 1876
Adjusted EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) AJC 34.1% 340%
Adjusted EPRA Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs) B/C 32.9% 32 7%
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GRAINGER PLC ANNL AL RZIPORT AND ACCOLNTS 2023



FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES (UNAUDITED)

(CONTINUED)

7. EPRALTV
2023
Share of Joint Share of
£m Group Ventures Associates Combined
Borrowings from Financial Institutions 849.2 - - 849.2
sond leans 700.0 - - 700.0
Met payables 93.6 6.7 14.6 114.9
Exclude:
Cash and cash equivalents {117.8) (3.5) (0.5) {121.8)
Net debt s 1,525.0 3.2 14.1 1,542.3
Investment prapetios at far value 2,433.4 - 15.4 2,448.8
Investment proparties uncer dove.oprmeant 515.5 503 - 565.8
Properties held for sale 734.3 - - 7343
Financial assets 109.9 - - 109.9
Total property value 3,7931 50.3 15.4 3,858.8
EPRA LTV % AfS 40.2% 6.4% 91.6% 40.0%
MLz
Shars of Joinr Share ¢f
£m Groap Yoty Agenriates Comibynon
Borrewirgs from Financial Instizutions C74 2 -~ B 5742
Bond loans 7000 ~ - 7000
Net payables 676 2.0 149 485
Exclude:
Cash and cash eguivalents (9% 4 20 (nn (59.2)
Net debt & 13464 33 38 13635
Imvestment propertios at far valis: 21677 ~ 159 22136
Investnent properties under development L7872 65 - 5947
Properties held for sale 8730 - - 8730
Frrancial assets 1799 G - - 104
Total property value B 3,/%/49 165 155 37923
EPRA LTV % AR 35.8% 20 0% BE 5% 38 04
8. Capital Expenditure
2023
Group

Trading Investment {excl Joint  Share of Joint
£m Properties Properties Ventures) Ventures Combined
Acquisitions - 9.8 9.8 - a.8
Devolopment 5.9 255.9 261.8 333 2951
Completed assets
- Incramcntal letung space - - - ~ -
- Noncremental lettirg space 2.7 20.4 23.1 - 23.1
- Tenant incentives - - - - -
- Qther matenal non-allocated types of expens ture - - - - -
Captaliseg intercs: 1.6 15.9 17.5 0.4 17.9
Total Capital Expenditure 10.2 302.0 312.2 33.7 3459

2822
Croup

Irading (= ot
£m Prope 3 ey e rTarss) Conty ~ed
Acutsitions; 21 145 - 145
Duvelonment 4435 283 3033 &3 3387
Completad asscts
- Incremental letting space - - - -
- No ncrenental lorting space 7.8 G2 180 - 180
- Tenant i1centives - - - - -
- Other matenial non-allocated types of expenditure - - - -
Capitalised interest 12 Mg 120 03 N
Total Capital Expenditure 586 2522 347 & 5/ 3233
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FIVE YEAR RECORD (UNAUDITED)

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2023

2013 020 2020 2022 2023

£ £n fm Em £m

Group 1evenue 2228 2140 2439 2792 2671
Gross proceads from property sales 793 144 % 187.9 1747 193.7
Gross rental Income g59 893 9/ 4 1214 133.7
Met rental income 535 736 706 863 96.5
Gross fee income 3.8 2.2 7.5 27 3.2
Adjusted carnings 82.5 81.8 535 235 97.6
Profit before tax 131.3 9.1 1521 298.0 27.4
Profit after tax 1149 878 1095 2284 25.6
Dividends paid 2527 335 368 40.0 45.7
Fence Mrence Pence Pence Pence

Basic earnings per share 1€ 2 128 162 31.0 3.5
Diwvidends per share 5.2 2.0 Y2 6.0 6.7
Fence Freepe e Pence Pence Pance

EPRA NRV per share 2090 7 3010 3164 3324 317.5
ERPRA NTA per share /83 284.7 2972 3175 305.2
EFRA NDV per share 2715 2728 2842 334.2 314.0
Share price at 30 September 245G 297 2 2050 2294 233.6
S H 7. % %

Total Azcounting Return - NTA basis 3./ 3.0 3 83 (1.8)
Total Property Return ('TPR7) 5O 54 75 7.5 0.4
Vo TAm 2020t e the tab e ances have reerinstitrn i asdnr oy ns tomparahle vatn 202 teaLUs ol a ey the Ana L2027 IFRS proecsretanons Zommn tter nub, satir s facouriryg

guittanse bar 2o ehyurg
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 SEPTEMBER 2023

Performance measure Definition

Loan to Value (‘LTV’) Ratio of net debt to the market value of properties and property related assets Thisis a kay metnc for the
Group as part of measuring gearing at both an overall Group ard individual facility level, unked to both
our risk appetite and individual facility covenants

2023 022

£m rr

Gross debt 1,533.5 1.3576

Cash texcluding client cash) (117.8) (95 4)

Net debt 1,415.7 12622

Matket vaiue of properties 3,683.2 3,548 2

Other proporty related assets 161.5 2738

Total market value of properties and property related assets 3,844.7 37787

LTV 36.8% 33.4%
Total Property Return {TPR’} A performance measure which represents the chango in gross asset value, not of capital expenditure

ncured, plus property related net income, expressed as a percentage of opening gross assel value This
15 akey metac for the Group in measuring the overall performance of property relurns on the Group's
property assets with LTIP conaimans lnked to the performance of Uws metric as oullined in the Directars’
Remuneration repor t

2023 2022
£m £r-
Het rental income 96.5 BE 2
Liguidated ard ascertaned damages ‘LAD'S 1.6 11
Profit on disposa. of trading property 54.8 64 4
Previously recagmsced profit through EPRA market value measares (54.0) B1n
Profit an disposal of Investrient praperty 33 17
Icome from Ananoal intorest in proporly assets 4.6 [
et valuation tlgssesl/gams oninvestment proverty {68.8) 1250
Net valuation gains on trading preperty (24.2) 250
Property return 13.8 2534
Investment property - openaing balance 2,775.9 21792
Financial interest i property assets - opering balance 69.1 7
lnvertories — trading prope-ty - onening baance 873.0 1307
Total opening gross assets 3,718.0 31,3876
TPR 0.4% 75%
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OTHER INFORMATION

SHAREHOLDERS’ INFORMATION

Financial calendar

AGM 7 Fobruary 2024
Payrnent of 2023 final d vidend 14 February 2024
Anncuncemant of 2024 inLerm results 6 May 2024
Announcement of 2024 final results 21 Novermnber 2024

Share price
During the year ended 30 September 2023, the range of the closing mid-rmarket crices of the Company’s ordinary shares were:

Price at 30 Septemoper 2023 233.65p
Lowest price duning the year 202.4p
Highest price during the year 271.8p

Daily information on the Company’s share price can he obtained on our website www graingerplc.co.uk or by telephone from
FT Cityline on 09058 171 690 Please note that FT Cityline 1s a chargeable service.

Capital gains tax
The market value of the Company's shares for capital gains tax purposes at 31 March 1982 was 2.03p.

Website
Website address www.graingerplc.co.uk

Shareholders’ enquiries

All administrative enguiries relating to skareholdings (for example, rotfication of change of address, loss of share certificates,
d'vidend payments) should be addressed to the Company's registrar at:

Link Group

Central Square

10th Floor

29 Wellington Street
Leeds

LS14DL

Share dealing service

A share dealing service is available to existing Shareholders to buy or scll the Company's shares via Link Share Dealing Scrvices
Oniine and telephone dealing facilities provide an easy to access and simple to use service.

For further information on this service, or to buy or seli shares, please contact: https://ww2.linkgroup.eu/share-deal/ - online
dealing +44 (0) 371 664 0445 (calls are charged at the standard geographical rate and will vary by provider. Calls cutside the
UK arc chargod at the applicabie international rate Lines arc open Monday to Friday, 8am to 4 30pm) - telephone dealing.

Please note that the Directors of the Company are not seeking to encourage Shareholders 1o either buy or scll their shares.
Shareholders In any doubt as to what action to take are recommended to seek financial advice from an independent financial
adviser authorised by the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000.

Company Secretary and registered office
Adam McGhin

Grainger plc Citygate

5t James’ Boulevard

Newcastle upon Tyne
NE1 4JE

Company registration number 125575

GRAINGER PLC ANNLUAL REPCRT AND ATCCUNTS 7023 181



OTHER INFORMATION

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Adjusted earnings

Profit before tax bhefore valuation
movements and otner adjustments
that arc conadered to be one-off In
nature, which do not form part of the
normal on-goirg revenue or costs of
the busiress

Cap

Financial mstrument which, in roturn for
a fee guarantees an upoer Umit for the
interest rale on a ioan.

CHARM

The CHARM portfolio is a financial
nterest m equity mor tgages held by
the Church of Englana Pensions Board
as mortgagee

Contingent tax

The amount of tax that would be
payable should trading property be sold
at the market value shown in the market
vaiue balance sheot,

Dividend cover

Earn'ngs pershare divided by dvidends
per share.

Earnings Per Share (‘EPS’}

Proft after tax attnbutable 1c
Shareholders divided by tne weighted
average number of shares inissue in
the year.

European Public Real Estate
Association (‘EPRA")

A not-for-profit association with a
membership of Eurnpe’s teading
property companies, investars and
consultants which sirives to establich
Besl praclices in accounting. reporting
and corperate governance and tu
provide high-quality informat.cn to
investors. EPRA published 1ts latest Bost
Practices Recornmencdations in February
2022 Furtherinformation, including
definltiors and measures adopted by
Grainger can be found on pages 175
o173

Estimated Rental Value (‘ERV’)

Tne marxet rental value of lettable
space as determined py the Group's
external valuers at the balance sheet
dzte For properves which have not
yet reached practical complstion,
ERV 15 determuned by management's
ssessment of market rents.

Goodwill

Cn acausition of a ccnrpany. the
difference betweer tne fair value of net
assets acaurred and the fai- value of the
purchase price pad

182

Hedging
The use of finarcial instruments to
protect against interest rate movements

Interest cover ratio (*!ICR’}

Profit on ordinary activities bofore interest
and tax divided by net interest payable

Investment value or market value

Oper market value of a property subject
to relevant tenancy in place.

Loan to Value (‘LTV")

Rauo of net debt Lo the market value of
properties and property related assets,
This is the primary gearing metric tor
the Group.

Net Initial Yield (‘NIY’}
Annualised net passing rents as a
percentage of the property’s open
market valus

Net Rental Income (*NRF’)

Gross rental ncome less property
operating expenses. ground rents paid
and service charge expenditure

Net Asset Value (‘'NAV’)

Net assets d vided by the number
of ordinary shares inissue as at the
balance sheet date.

Net Tangible Assets {NTA’)

NTAis the market value of property
assets after deducting defened tax on
trading assets, and exciuding intangible
assets and dervatives

Occupancy

The passing rent from PRS stabilised lot
units as a proportion of PRS stabilised
PRI as at a specific poinlin time.

Passing rent

The anmeal rental ncome recervaile on
a property as at the balance sheet date.

Potential Rental Income (‘PRL")

Passing rent from let units p.Js ERV on
vacant units.

Private Rented Sector (‘PRS’)

Housing tenure classificatior tnat
relates to residental units owned by
the private sector to provide rentat
accommodation, Th's excludes units
owned by Government adthorities and
houstng assodiations.,

Regulated tenancy

Terancy requlated unaer the 1577 Rent
Act. Rent isually sub-marketh is set

by the rent officer and the tenant has
secdrity of tenuure,

GRAINGER PLC »rn & 2777

Stabilised

Classification of existing property.

newly completed properly or property
acquired once it achieves 95%
occupancy. Once ar assct is designated
as stabilised the classification is retained
whiist itis held by the Group for future
rental income.

Swap

Fmancial instrument to protect against
Intersst rate movements.

Tenanted residential

Activity covering the acquisition, renting
out and subiseguent sale usually on
vacancy) of residential units subicct to a
tenancy agreement.

Total Accounting Returmn/Return on
Shareholder Equity (‘ROSE’)

Tne growth in the net asset value of
the Croup plus dividends paid in the
yeal, calculated as a percentage of the
openng net asset value.

Total Property Income Return
{‘TPIR’} / Like-for-like rental growth
('LFL)

The change in gross rental ncome in a
period as a result of tenant renewals or
a change in tenant. Applies ta changes
N gross rents on a comparable hasis
and excludes the impact of acquisitions,
disposals and changes resulting fram
refurbishments

Total Property Return (‘'TPR’)

A porformance measure which
represents the change in gross asset
value, nct of capital expenditure
incurred, plus property related net
incame, expressed as a percentage of
opening gross asset value.

Total Shareholder Return {*TSR’)

Return atiribdtable to Shareholders
on the basis of share price growtn with
dividends reinvested

UK-adopted [FRS

Irterrational Financial Reporting
Standards, as adopted oy the UK,
mandatory for UK-Listed comoanies for
accounting poriods erding on or after
1 Jaraary 2021

Vacant Possession (‘'VP’) value
Open market value of a property free
frorm any terancy.

Weighted Average Cost of Capital
(‘WACCY)

The weighted average cost of funding
tha Groun's activities through a

combimation ¢f Sharcholders’ funds
and dont
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ADVISERS

Solicitors

Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer
1G0 Bishopsgate

London

EC2P 2SR

Financial public relations
Camarco

40 Strand

London

WOC2ZN SRW

Banking

Clearing Bank and Facility Agent
Barclays Bank PLC

Other bankers

Aarcal Bank AG

AIB Group {(JK) PLC

ABN Amro Bank oy
Handelshanken PLC

HSBC Bank PLC

HSBC UK Bank PLC

National Westminste- Bank PLC
Natwest Markets PLC
Santander UK PLC

Wells Fargo Bank NA

independent auditor

KPMG LLP Chartered Accountants
15 Canada Sguare

Canary Wharf

London

El4 5GL

Stockbrokers

JP Morgan Cazenove Limited
25 Bank Street

london

F14 5JP

Numis Securnties Limited
45 Gresham Street
London

EC2V 7BF

GRAINGER PLC 2NN _AL RoPORT AND ATCURILINTS 2023

Registrars and transfer office

Link Group

Central Sguare

29 Wellington Strect
Leeds

L57 4DL

Corporate addresses
Newcastle

Citygate

St James' Boulevard
Newcastlo upon Tyne
Nt 418

Tel: 0197 261 1819

London

1 London Bridge
3rd Floor East
Londen

SE19BG

Tel 020 7940 9500

Greater Manchester
5 & & Waterman Walk
Clippers Quay
Salford

M50 3BF

Aldershot

Smith Dorrien House
Queens Avenue
Wellesley

Aldershot
Hampshire

GU11 2BT

View our website

wiww.graingerple.co.uk
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